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Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). All statements other than statements
of historical fact may be forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements include, among others, those statements regarding future events and future
results of Bridgepoint Education, Inc. (the “Company,” “Bridgepoint,” “we,” “us” or “our”) including, without limitation, statements regarding:
•

Ashford University’s plans for approval to operate an accredited institution by the California Bureau for Private Postsecondary Education (“BPPE”);

•

our ability to comply with changing regulatory requirements;

•

expectations regarding financial position, results of operations, liquidity and enrollment at our institutions;

•

projections, predictions, expectations, estimates or forecasts as to our business, financial and operational results and future economic performance;

•

new initiatives focused on student success and academic quality;

•

changes in our student fee structure;

•

expectations regarding the adequacy of our cash and cash equivalents and other sources of liquidity for ongoing operations;

•

expectations regarding investment in online and other advertising and capital expenditures;

•

our anticipated seasonal fluctuations in results of operations;

•

management's goals and objectives; and

•

other similar matters that are not historical facts.

Words such as “may,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “predicts,” “potential,” “continue,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “future,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,”
“estimates” and similar expressions, as well as statements in the future tense, identify forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements should not be interpreted as a guarantee of future performance or results and will not necessarily be accurate indications of the
times at, or by, which such performance or results will be achieved. Forward-looking statements are based on information available at the time those statements are
made and are management's good faith belief as of that time with respect to future events and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual
performance or results to differ materially from those expressed in or suggested by the forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause such
differences include, but are not limited to:
•

the inability of Ashford University to effectively gain approval to operate an accredited institution by BPPE, and remaining an institution that operates
by means of an exemption to that approval;

•

the inability of Ashford University to adequately resolve the findings and recommendations of the final audit report of the U.S. Department of
Education's Office of Inspector General;

•

the imposition of fines or other corrective measures against our institutions;

•

adverse regulatory changes affecting our industry;

•

our failure to comply with the extensive regulatory framework applicable to our industry, including Title IV of the Higher Education Act and its
regulations, state laws and regulatory requirements and accrediting agency requirements;

•

the inability to continue to develop awareness among, to recruit and to retain students;

•

competition in the postsecondary education market and its potential impact on our market share, recruiting cost and tuition rates;
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•

reputational and other risks related to potential compliance audits, regulatory actions, negative publicity or service disruptions;

•

the inability to develop new programs or expand existing programs in a timely and cost-effective manner;

•

economic or other developments potentially impacting demand in our institutions' core disciplines or the availability or cost of Title IV or other funding;

•

the preceding and other factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” and in other reports we may file with the Securities and Exchange
Commission from time to time; and

•

those factors set forth in Part II, Item 7, “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date the statements are made. You should not put undue reliance on any forward-looking statements. We
assume no obligation to update forward-looking statements to reflect actual results, changes in assumptions or changes in other factors affecting forward-looking
information, except to the extent required by applicable securities laws. If we do update one or more forward-looking statements, no inference should be drawn
that we will make additional updates with respect to those or other forward-looking statements.
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PART I
Item 1. Business.
BUSINESS
Overview
We are a provider of postsecondary education services. We believe that our academic institutions, Ashford University ® and University of the Rockies SM ,
embody the contemporary college experience. Our institutions deliver programs primarily online, as well as at their traditional campuses. Our institutions had a
total of 63,624 students enrolled as of December 31, 2013 .
Our institutions' delivery models, weekly start dates, commitment to affordability and the transferability of credits make their programs highly accessible.
Our institutions' online platform has been designed to deliver a quality educational experience while offering the flexibility and convenience that many students
require, particularly working adults. Our institutions are committed to providing a high-quality educational experience to their students. Our institutions have a
comprehensive curriculum development process and employ qualified faculty members with significant academic and practitioner credentials. Our institutions
conduct ongoing faculty and student assessment processes and provide a broad array of student services.
We are also focused on developing innovative new technologies to improve the way students learn, through technologies such as Waypoint Outcomes ® ,
Constellation ™ , Thuze ™ , and the development of our institutions' mobile learning platforms.
Ashford University. In March 2005, we acquired The Franciscan University of the Prairies, located in Clinton, Iowa, and renamed it Ashford University. The
mission of Ashford University is to provide accessible, affordable, innovative, high-quality learning opportunities and degree programs that meet the diverse needs
of individuals pursuing integrity in their lives, professions and communities. The institution offers associate's, bachelor's and master's degree programs online, as
well as bachelor's degree programs at its campus in Clinton, Iowa. Ashford University is comprised of four colleges: the Forbes ™ School of Business, the College
of Education, the College of Health, Human Services and Sciences, and the College of Liberal Arts. We believe Ashford University is helping to define the
modern college experience by combining the heritage of a traditional campus with the flexibility and effectiveness of online learning.
Ashford University continues to invest in enhancing and expanding the physical infrastructure of its campus. The institution encourages online students to
follow campus activities, including athletic teams, student clubs and student projects.
Ashford University is accredited by the Accrediting Commission for Senior Colleges and Universities of the Western Association of Schools and Colleges,
or WASC. For more information about Ashford University's accreditation, see the “Regulation-Accreditation” section below. Ashford University also maintains a
website at www.ashford.edu, the contents of which are not part of this report.
University of the Rockies . In September 2007, we acquired the Colorado School of Professional Psychology, located in Colorado Springs, Colorado, and
renamed it University of the Rockies. The mission of University of the Rockies is to provide high-quality, accessible learning opportunities globally for diverse
groups of individuals seeking preparation for life goals, professional practice, service, and distinguished leadership. University of the Rockies is a graduate
institution that offers master's and doctoral degree programs in the social and behavioral sciences. Classes at University of the Rockies are presented in a
progressive online format, as well as at its campuses in Colorado Springs and Denver, Colorado. Similar to Ashford University, most students at University of the
Rockies attend via the institution's accessible online platform, which is also available through our mobile applications.
University of the Rockies is accredited by the Higher Learning Commission, or HLC. For more information about University of the Rockies' accreditation,
see the “Regulation-Accreditation” section below. University of the Rockies also maintains a website at www.rockies.edu, the contents of which are not part of
this report.
Innovation and new technologies . Central to our ideal of enabling learning anytime, anywhere is the commitment to provide learning platforms and
resources that make accessible learning a reality. These innovations include Waypoint Outcomes, Constellation, Thuze and our mobile application technology.
Waypoint Outcomes provides learning and assessment software to our universities and to other education institutions nationwide. The software combines
classic rubric grading scales with easy, efficient technology to help educators teach writing,
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critical thinking and cognitive skills. Its sophisticated grading palette frees teachers to focus on meaningful, personalized feedback for students by automating
mundane and repetitive tasks.
Constellation is an innovative suite of interactive educational materials that increases both the educational quality and affordability of education for online
students at Ashford University. We developed Constellation to replace third party textbooks with digital course materials. Constellation materials are displayed in
a proprietary, browser-based platform, developed and owned by us. Constellation provides mobile access to students over the Internet as well as on a variety of
devices, including web-enabled smartphones and tablet devices. Through Constellation, we were able to significantly decrease student costs and increase student
accessibility and learning.
Thuze is a cloud-based, multi-platform, collaborative learning environment for students to interact with their course digital materials and with each other.
Thuze leverages the technology that supports our Constellation platform. Thuze provides students with the resources to work from both their desktop computers
and also from their tablets and smartphones. Our Thuze customers include institutions and resellers, and these customers utilize Thuze to deliver our textbook
content.
Ashford University also utilizes mobile application technology that empowers students and faculty to connect to their learning environment via their mobile
phones and tablet computers. These innovations have garnered significant interest within the academic community and have led to invitations for our personnel to
speak at various academic conferences.
Sense of community. We believe that a strong sense of community is important to recruiting and retaining students and differentiate us from many other
online providers. We encourage online students to follow activities on our institutions' campuses, including student clubs, student projects with our campuses' local
communities and athletic teams. The athletic teams at Ashford University compete as members of the National Associations of Intercollegiate Athletics.
All online student activity, including completing coursework and seeking support services, is initiated through each university's homepage, which also
highlights campus activities, including athletic and social events. Additionally, our institutions hold graduation ceremonies at the campuses for both the campusbased and online students. As a result, students have the opportunity to become more connected to their fellow students and to develop a stronger connection with
our institutions.
Enrollment
The following table summarizes enrollments at our institutions as of December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011:
December 31, 2013

Doctoral
Master's
Bachelor's
Associate's
Other*
Total
Ashford University Online
Ashford University Campus
University of the Rockies Online
University of the Rockies Campus
Total

December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

919
8,377
49,634
4,182
512
63,624

1.4%
13.2%
78.0%
6.6%
0.8%
100.0%

874
9,930
60,812
9,570
624
81,810

1.1%
12.1%
74.3%
11.7%
0.8%
100.0%

772
9,805
63,962
11,632
471
86,642

0.9%
11.3%
73.8%
13.4%
0.6%
100.0%

60,910
796
1,758
160
63,624

95.6%
1.3%
2.8%
0.3%
100.0%

78,874
864
1,917
155
81,810

96.4%
1.1%
2.3%
0.2%
100.0%

83,774
939
1,753
176
86,642

96.7%
1.1%
2.0%
0.2%
100.0%

* Includes students who are taking one or more courses with our institutions, but have not declared that they are pursuing a specific degree.

We define enrollments as the number of active students on the last day of the financial reporting period. A student is considered active if the student has
attended a class within the prior 15 days or is on an institutionally-approved break not to exceed 45 days, unless the student has graduated or has provided us with
notice of withdrawal.
As of December 31, 2013 , 72% of our institutions' online students were female, 49% have identified themselves as minorities and the average age of online
students was 37. Our institutions have online students from all 50 states and from the District of Columbia, and they have students from 40 different countries.
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Graduation
Through December 31, 2013 , over 66,500 students have graduated from our combined institutions. Total credits required to obtain a degree are consistent
for online and campus-based programs: an associate's degree requires a minimum of 64 credits; a bachelor's degree requires a minimum of 120 credits; a master's
degree typically requires a minimum of 30 additional credits at Ashford University and 33 additional credits at University of the Rockies. A doctoral degree at
University of the Rockies requires a minimum of 68 additional credits.
Many students have previously completed some postsecondary education and have credits that they would like to transfer to a new degree program. We
believe students should receive credit for their prior work; accordingly our institutions have worked closely with our accrediting agencies to obtain the right to
accept a high level of transfer credits.
Tuition and Fees
Our institutions generally structure the tuition and fees for programs to be below Title IV loan limits and average grant awards, permitting students who do
not otherwise have the financial means to pursue an education the ability to gain access to our institutions' programs. We recognize that private loans are
increasingly difficult to obtain, which can prevent academically qualified students from pursuing an education at institutions with higher tuition and fees. We
believe that helping to remove the financial burden of obtaining incremental private loans while pursuing a postsecondary education not only permits more
students to access our institutions' programs, but also enables students to focus more on their coursework and on program completion while in school.
The price of our institutions' courses varies based upon the number of credits per course (with most courses representing three credits), the degree level of the
program and the discipline. For the 2013-2014 academic year (which began on July 1, 2013), the price per credit is $413 for undergraduate online courses and
ranges from $539 to $1,011 for graduate online courses. Based on these per credit prices, the prices for a three-credit course are $1,239 for undergraduate online
courses and range from $1,617 to $3,033 for graduate online courses. For the 2013-2014 academic year, Ashford University charges a fixed $7,860 “block tuition”
for undergraduate campus-based students taking between 12 and 18 credits per semester. For campus-based students taking more than 18 credits, the cost is an
additional $458 per credit. For part time, campus-based students taking 11 credits or less, the cost is $458 per credit.
Revenue realized from tuition is reduced by the amount of scholarships awarded to students. For the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011, we
recorded institutional scholarships of $114.7 million, $124.4 million and $101.5 million, respectively, to students of our institutions.
Student Financing
Students finance their education at our institutions through a combination of the following financing options:
Title IV programs
If a student attends any institution certified as Title IV eligible by the U.S. Department of Education, or the Department, and meets applicable student
eligibility standards, that student may receive grants or loans to help fund their education under programs provided for by Title IV of the Higher Education Act. An
institution participating in Title IV programs must ensure that all program funds are accounted for and disbursed properly. To continue receiving program funds,
students must demonstrate satisfactory academic progress toward the completion of their program of study.
In the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011, Ashford University derived 85.6% , 86.4% and 86.8% , respectively, and the University of the
Rockies derived 87.6% , 87.3% and 85.0% , respectively, of their revenues (in each case calculated in accordance with applicable Department regulations) from
students who participate in Title IV programs administered by the Department.
Federal Direct Loans . The Federal Direct Loan Program consists of two types of loans: Stafford loans, which are either subsidized or unsubsidized, and
PLUS loans, which are made available to graduate and professional students, as well as parents of dependent undergraduate students.
With a Federal Direct Subsidized Loan, the federal government pays the interest on the loan while the student is in school and during grace periods and any
approved periods of deferment, until the student's obligation to repay the loan begins. Federal Direct Unsubsidized Loans are not based on financial need, and are
available to students who do not qualify for a Direct Subsidized Loan, or in some cases, in addition to a Direct Subsidized Loan. Loan funds are paid to our
institutions, which in turn credit the student's account for tuition and fees and disburse any amounts in excess of tuition and fees to the student. The Budget Control
Act of 2011 provided that for loan periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012, graduate and professional
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students are no longer eligible to receive Federal Direct Subsidized Loans; however, graduate and professional students remain eligible for Federal Direct
Unsubsidized Loans. The Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2012 temporarily eliminated the interest subsidy provided on Federal Direct Subsidized Loans
during the six-month grace periods provided to students who are no longer enrolled on at least a half-time basis effective for new Federal Direct Subsidized Loans
for which the first disbursement is made on or after July 1, 2012, and before July 1, 2014.
On July 6, 2012, President Obama signed into law the Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21 st Century Act, or MAP-21, which provided a one-year extension
of the 3.4% interest rate that applied to Direct Subsidized Loans made to undergraduate students for loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 2012 and before July 1,
2013. MAP-21 added a new provision that limits a first-time borrower’s eligibility for Direct Subsidized Loans on or after July 1, 2013 to a period not to exceed
150 percent of the length of the borrower’s program. The law also provides that a borrower who reaches the 150 percent limit on or after July 1, 2013 becomes
ineligible for interest subsidy benefits on all Direct Subsidized Loans.
Under the Direct Stafford Loan program, a dependent undergraduate student can borrow up to $5,500 for the first academic year, $6,500 for the second
academic year and $7,500 for each of the third and fourth academic years. Students classified as independent, and dependent students whose parents have been
denied a PLUS loan for undergraduate students, can obtain up to an additional $4,000 for each of the first and second academic years and an additional $5,000 for
each of the third and fourth academic years. Students enrolled in graduate programs can borrow up to $20,500 per academic year.
On August 9, 2013, President Obama signed into law the Bipartisan Student Loan Certainty Act of 2013, which amended the Direct Loan interest rate section
of the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended. Under the law, interest rates will be established each year for Direct Subsidized, Direct Unsubsidized, and
Direct PLUS loans for which the first disbursement is on or after July 1 through the following June 30. The interest rate, once established, will be fixed and apply
for the life of the loan. For Direct Subsidized and Direct Unsubsidized loans whose first disbursement is on or after July 1, 2013 but before July 1, 2014, the
interest rate is 3.86%, for Direct Unsubsidized Loans for Graduate/Professional Students, the interest rate is 5.41%, and for Direct PLUS loans, the interest rate is
6.41%.
Pell . Under the Pell Program, the Department makes grants to undergraduate students who demonstrate financial need. Under the August 2008
reauthorization of the Higher Education Act, students were able to receive Pell Grant funds for attendance on a year-round basis, and could potentially receive
more in a given year than the traditionally defined maximum annual amount. However, the U.S. Department of Defense and Full-Year Continuing Appropriations
Act of 2011 permanently repealed, effective with the 2011-2012 award year, the Pell Grant provision that provided an otherwise eligible student with more than
one Pell Grant in an award year. The Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2012 preserved the maximum Pell Grant at $5,550 for the 2012-2013 award year, but
changed the program's eligibility criteria. Beginning with the 2012-2013 award year, a student's eligibility to receive a Pell Grant has been reduced from 18
semesters (or its equivalent) to 12 semesters (or its equivalent). The funding for Labor-HHS-Education appropriations is part of the Consolidated Appropriations
Act, 2014 (P.L. 113-73), which was signed into law by the President on January 17, 2014 provides for full funding for the Pell Grant award year 2014-2015 of
$5,730.
Federal Work-Study Program. Under the Federal Work-Study Program, or FWS, federal funds are made available to pay up to 75% of the cost of part-time
employment of eligible students who demonstrate financial need to help meet the costs of a postsecondary education. An institution must make FWS jobs
reasonably available to all eligible students. To the maximum extent possible, an institution must provide FWS jobs that complement and reinforce each recipient’s
educational program or career goals. An FWS student may be employed on campus or, may be employed off-campus by federal, state, or local public agencies or
certain private or for-profit organizations. The Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2014, which was signed into law on January 17, 2014, increased FWS funding for
the 2014 federal fiscal year.
Non-Title IV funding sources
Other funding sources consist of cash, private loans, state grants, corporate reimbursement, military benefits and institutional loans. In the years ended
December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011, Ashford University derived 14.4% , 13.6% and 13.2%, respectively, and the University of the Rockies derived 12.4% , 12.7%
and 15.0%, respectively, of their revenues (in each case calculated in accordance with applicable Department regulations) from these other funding sources.
Financial aid processing
Our institutions have engaged Xerox Business Solutions, or XBS, formerly called Affiliated Computer Services, Inc., to provide call center and transactional
processing services for the online financial aid student populations at our institutions, including services related to disbursement eligibility review and Title IV
fund returns. We believe the engagement of XBS centralizes these processing services to improve student financing outcomes, and enhances efforts to comply with
Title IV rules
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and regulations. If the engagement with XBS were terminated, we would handle these processing services using our own resources or engage another third party
vendor.
Curricula and Scheduling
Our institutions are committed to providing their students with a rigorous and rewarding academic experience, which gives them the knowledge and
experience necessary to be contributors, educators and leaders in their chosen professions. Our institutions seek to maintain a high level of quality in curriculum,
faculty and student support services, all of which contribute to the overall student experience. Curriculum is reviewed annually to ensure that content is refined and
updated as necessary. Our institutions provide extensive student support services, including academic, administrative and technology support, to help maximize the
success of their students. Additionally, our institutions monitor the success of their educational delivery processes through periodic faculty and student
assessments. Our institutions believe their commitment to quality is evident in the satisfaction and demonstrated proficiency of their students, which is measured at
the completion of every course.
As of December 31, 2013 , our institutions offered approximately 1,570 courses, 80 degree programs and 145 specializations. Specialization areas are
comprised of a select number of courses within an existing program which supplement that program's required courses. Specialization areas focus on one area of
study and may also be offered under the designation of concentration, endorsement or track. Our institutions offer programs and specialization areas through
Ashford University's four colleges: the Forbes School of Business; the College of Education; the College of Health, Human Services and Science; and the College
of Liberal Arts; and through the University of the Rockies' two schools: the School of Organizational Leadership and the School of Professional Psychology.
Online courses are offered with weekly start dates throughout the year, except for two weeks total in late December and early January. Courses typically run
five to six weeks and all courses are offered in an asynchronous format so students can complete their coursework as their schedule permits. Online students
typically enroll in one course at a time. This focused approach to learning allows the student to engage fully in each course.
Our institutions' campus-based courses are typically nine or 16 weeks and have one start per term, with two to five terms per year. Undergraduate campusbased students can enroll in up to six concurrent courses at a time and typically enroll in at least four courses in a given semester.
Doctoral students, both online and campus-based, are required to participate in periodic seminars located on campus as well as compose and defend a
dissertation on an approved topic.
Program Development
Our institutions design their academic offerings to meet the needs of a broad cross section of prospective students. In addition to adding programs in highdemand disciplines, our institutions intend to enhance their programs through the addition of more specializations in the future. Specializations are used to create
an offering that is tailored to the specific objectives of a student population and, therefore, is more attractive to potential students interested in a particular program.
As a result, the addition of specializations represents a cost-effective way to both expand our market and to further enhance the differentiation of our institutions'
programs in that market. Additionally, our institutions intend to expand the portfolio of their master's and doctoral degree programs, consistent with our
commitment to a quality academic offering, and to pursue graduate students because we believe they represent an attractive segment of the population.
Our institutions seek to offer programs in disciplines in which there is strong demand for education and significant opportunity for employment. Our
institutions' current program portfolio includes offerings at the associate's, bachelor's, master's and doctoral levels in the disciplines of business, education,
psychology, social sciences and health sciences. Our institutions follow a defined process for identifying new degree program opportunities that incorporates
student, faculty and market feedback, as well as macro trends in the relevant disciplines, to evaluate the expected level of demand for a new program prior to
developing the content and marketing it to potential students.
Potential new programs and specializations are determined based on proposals submitted by faculty and staff and on an assessment of overall market
demand. Our institutions' faculty and academic leadership work in collaboration with our marketing team to research and select new programs that are expected to
have strong demand and that can be developed at a reasonable cost. Programs are reviewed by the respective institution and must also receive approval through the
normal governance process at the relevant institution.
Once a program is selected for development, a subject matter expert is assigned to work with curriculum development staff to define measurable programlevel student learning objectives. Each course in a program is designed to include learning activities that address the program objectives, foster student engagement
and assess learning outcomes. All courses undergo

9

extensive quality assurance review before they are offered to students. A new program is reviewed for approval through the appropriate governance structures.
Following the approval, online programs are conformed to the standards of our online learning management system and the marketing department creates a
marketing plan for the program. In most cases, the time frame to identify, develop and approve a new program is approximately six months.
Assessment
Each institution has developed and implemented a comprehensive assessment plan focused on student learning and effective instruction. The plans stipulate
assessment of learning outcomes at the course, program and institutional levels. Learning outcomes are unique to each institution and demonstrate the skills that
graduates should be able to demonstrate upon completion of their respective program. With the assistance of our dedicated assessment team, our institutions'
faculty routinely evaluates and revises courses and learning resources based upon outcomes and institutional research data. Using direct and indirect
measurements, student performance is assessed on an ongoing basis to ensure student success.
We utilize Waypoint Outcomes, our proprietary assessment platform, which is an innovative, web-based assessment system of interactive rubrics, to gather
data from specific learning activities. Data results from Waypoint Outcomes are shared with the student and are also accessible by the faculty and program
administrators.
In addition to course and program assessments, faculty performance is continuously assessed by the institutional deans and instructional specialists and by
results of student surveys at the completion of each course. The results of all of our assessment practices are reviewed by an assessment team, including faculty,
and, based on their conclusions, recommendations may be made to add to or modify our institutions' programs.
Branding and Marketing
We have invested significant resources in developing processes and implementing technologies that allow us to effectively identify, recruit and retain
qualified students. We develop and participate in various marketing activities to generate leads for prospective students and to build the Bridgepoint Education,
Ashford University and University of the Rockies brands. For our institutions' online student population, we align ourselves with working adults, many of whom
have already completed some postsecondary courses and are seeking an accessible, affordable education from a quality institution. The admissions policies that
require the minimum age of 22 for online students at Ashford University are focused at attracting more mature students with a greater commitment to completing
their degrees. The Ashford University campus-based student population attracts traditional college students, typically between the ages of 18 and 24.
Our branding campaign utilizes TV and digital channels to communicate the Ashford University message. Additionally. leads are generated from online
sources, with the main source of leads being third party online lead aggregators. We also purchase keywords from search providers to generate online leads
directly, rather than acquiring them through aggregators. Additionally, we have a team internally who focuses on generating online leads through search engine
optimization techniques.
Recruiting and Admissions
Our institutions employ a team structure in their recruiting operations. Each team consists of admissions counselors, financial service advisors and academic
advisors. The teams provide a single point of contact and facilitate all aspects of enrollment and integration of a prospective student into a program of study. The
team structure promotes internal accountability among employees involved in identifying, recruiting, enrolling and retaining new students.
All leads are managed through our proprietary customer relations management, or CRM, system, which directs a lead for a prospective student to a recruiting
team and assigns an admissions counselor within that team to serve as the primary liaison for that prospective student. Once contact with a prospective student is
established, admissions counselors, along with the academic and financial service advisors, begin an assessment process to determine if our institutions' program
offerings match the student's needs and objectives. Additionally, admissions counselors communicate other criteria, including expected duration and cost of the
programs, to prospective students. Through our proprietary systems, admissions counselors are able to generate a comparison of tuition levels across our
competitors in order for prospective students to make more informed decisions.
Each admissions counselor undergoes a comprehensive training program that addresses our institutions' academic offerings, financial aid options and the
regulatory environment in which we operate, including the restrictions that regulations impose on the admissions process. We place significant emphasis on
regulatory requirements and demand an environment of strict compliance.
Military and corporate channel relationships are developed and managed by channel development teams. Our military development specialists and corporate
liaisons work with representatives in these organizations to demonstrate the quality, impact and value that our institutions' programs can provide to individuals in
the organizations, as well as to the organizations
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themselves. We believe our institutions' educational offerings are attractive to potential students in these markets. Military students may frequently change
locations or may seek to complete a program intermittently over the course of several years. As of December 31, 2013 , approximately 23.6% of our institutions'
students were affiliated with the military, being either service members, veterans or their spouses. In the corporate channel, employers value our institutions'
traditional campus heritage, while our institutions' affordability allows employer tuition reimbursement to be used more efficiently.
The admissions process is designed to offer access to prospective students who seek the benefits of a postsecondary education. Ashford University
undergraduate students may qualify in various ways, including by having a high school diploma or a General Educational Development, or GED, equivalent.
Graduate level students at Ashford University and University of the Rockies are required to have an undergraduate degree from an accredited college and may be
required to have a minimum grade point average or meet other criteria to qualify for admission to certain programs.
Retention
Once a student enrolls in an online program, the institution provides consistent, ongoing support to assist the student in acclimating to the online environment
and to address challenges that arise in order to increase the likelihood that the student will persist through graduation.
Providing a superior learning experience to every student is a key component in retaining students at our institutions. We feel that our team-based approach
to recruitment and the robust student services we provide enhance retention because of each student's interaction with his or her contact in the team and the
accountability inherent in the team structure. We also incorporate a systematic approach to contacting students at key milestones during their experience at our
institutions, providing encouragement and highlighting their progress. Additional contact points include quarterly updates on the school and campus life. There are
frequent personal interactions between academic advisors and students, which we view as a key component to our retention strategy. Additionally, we employ a
retention committee that monitors performance metrics and other key data to analyze student retention rates, as well as the causes and potential risks for student
drops. Also, our dispute resolution department serves as a neutral third party for students to raise any concerns or complaints. Such concerns and complaints are
then elevated to the appropriate department so we may proactively address certain issues potentially affecting retention.
Beginning in the second half of 2012, Ashford University implemented various new initiatives focused on academic quality and student success that we
believe will help students succeed in their programs, help retain higher quality students and ultimately increase student retention. In the area of academic quality,
Ashford University increased the size of its student support team, increased the number of full-time faculty and implemented a smaller class size initiative. In the
area of student success, Ashford University has expanded its orientation program, broadened its refund policy, redefined the minimum age for all students, and has
made the decision to eliminate certain associate programs.
Ashford University previously had a free two-week orientation course, which became mandatory in the fourth quarter of 2012, for all incoming students that
have not earned any previous college credits. The orientation is designed to provide students with a complete overview of the online classroom experience, prepare
them for success in their courses, and help them self-evaluate their readiness to succeed in an online college setting. The experience provides a realistic, up-front
overview of expectations so that students are aware of what is expected of them as they prepare for their studies. They also gain an understanding of how to access
and navigate within the online classroom, so they can feel confident when they move to their first course in their respective programs. Successful completion of all
orientation activities is a requirement before students can enroll in their first class.
During the fourth quarter of 2012, Ashford University implemented the “Ashford Promise.” This initiative allows an individual to experience the first three
weeks of his or her first class before incurring any financial obligation. At any time during these first three weeks, those individuals who do not demonstrate
satisfactory academic progress, or those who simply opt out, will not be admitted as students into the University. Such individual will not be responsible for any
tuition or fees, and therefore will not incur any debt. We believe that the Ashford Promise initiative will help increase student retention as well as to help improve
student loan debt.
Technology
We have created a scalable technology system that is secure, reliable and redundant and permits our institutions' courses and support services to be offered
online.
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Online course delivery and management
We use the eCollege online learning platform, provided by Pearson eCollege, a third-party software and services provider, as our online platform. The
platform provides an online learning management system and provides for the storage, management and delivery of course content. The platform includes
collaborative spaces for student communication and participation with other students and faculty, grade and attendance management for faculty and assessment
capabilities to assist us in maintaining quality. Pearson eCollege hosts the software for us in its data center to allow us to efficiently scale the applications to meet
the needs of our institutions' student population. Access to our systems is provided through student portals, an extension of our institutions' respective websites.
These portals are dynamic destinations for students to securely access personal information and services and also serve as vehicles for student communications,
activities and student support services.
Internal administration
Ashford University utilizes Talisma, a CRM application from Campus Management Corp., for lead management, workflow, analytics, reporting, and a
complete view of our students. This tool enables Ashford University to view the entire student history from the lead to graduation, individually or in cohorts, and
to respond appropriately. University of the Rockies utilizes an internally developed proprietary CRM system for lead management, document management,
workflow, analytics and reporting. Both institutions utilize online application portals to accept, integrate and process student applications.
Both institutions utilize CampusVue, a student information system provided by Campus Management Corp., to manage student data (including grades,
attendance, status and financial aid) and to generate periodic management reports. This system interfaces with our online learning management system, e-College.
Constellation
Constellation is our proprietary learning platform that takes the best features of traditional textbooks and combines them with the best features of the Web to
create a premium student experience. Constellation gives students access to their digital course materials across platforms without sacrificing time-tested studying
tools like highlighting and note taking. Constellation includes customized content geared to our institutions' courses and students, combined with a robust set of
features that make course materials engaging and accessible to students of various learning styles and abilities. Constellation is cloud-based and is compatible
across operating systems, browsers and mobile technologies. We have developed Constellation-enabled courses primarily in core classes to attempt to reach as
many students as possible. We plan to continually expand the features of Constellation in future releases.
The editorial team for Constellation consists of editors with extensive experience at leading textbook publishing firms. Highly qualified subject matter
experts are recruited to author content that addresses course and institutional outcomes. Constellation digital texts are organized around our institutions' accelerated
courses. As of December 31, 2013 , approximately 83% of our institutions' students have taken a Constellation-enabled course. As of December 31, 2013 , we had
more than 110 Constellation titles available.
We have also expanded the features of Constellation to an external learning platform called Thuze, which launched in early 2012. We partnered with several
leading publishers to offer Thuze to a limited number of students outside of our institutions. Thuze enables students to share notes and highlights with their peers,
and to utilize the social networking aspect of the platform by having conversations with other students and posting their thoughts on discussion boards. The
notebook feature within Thuze allows students to create their own study guides from their annotations, and to instantly search for key terms.
Mobile application technology
Each of our institutions offers mobile applications compatible with most mobile phones and tablet computers in order to increase the accessibility of the
student learning experience. The applications enable students to use their mobile device to contact support staff, complete discussion posts, and review important
information regarding their academic status. We have received positive feedback from students indicating that these mobile applications further their learning
experience and we have incorporated feedback received into the periodic updates to them.
Employees
Throughout fiscal year 2013, our institutions have increased the size of their student support teams, and have increased the number of full-time faculty. As of
December 31, 2013 , our institutions had approximately 320 full-time faculty members and approximately 4,300 adjunct faculty members. Adjunct faculty are
part-time employees engaged on a course-by-course basis. Adjunct faculty are compensated a fixed amount per course, which varies among faculty members
based on each individual's experience and background. In addition to teaching assignments, adjunct faculty may also be asked to serve on student committees, such
as comprehensive examination and dissertation committees, or assist with course development.
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As of December 31, 2013 , we, along with our institutions, also employed more than a combined 3,400 non-faculty staff in university services, academic
advising and academic support, enrollment services, university administration, financial aid, information technology, human resources, corporate accounting,
finance and other administrative functions. None of our employees is a party to any collective bargaining or similar agreement with us.
Competition
The postsecondary education market is highly fragmented and competitive, with no private or public institution representing a significant market share. Our
institutions compete primarily with public and private degree-granting regionally accredited colleges and universities. Many colleges and universities enroll
working adults in addition to traditional 18 to 24 year-old students. In addition, many of those colleges and universities offer a variety of distance education and
online initiatives.
We believe that the competitive factors in the postsecondary education market include the reputation of the college or university among students and
employers; the number of qualified and experienced faculty; the program costs; the relevant and accredited program offerings; the regulatory approvals; the
convenient, flexible and dependable access to programs and classes; the relative marketing and selling effectiveness; the time necessary to earn a degree; and the
level of student support services.
We do expect to encounter increased competition as a result of new entrants to the online education market, including traditional colleges and universities
that had not previously offered online education programs.
Intellectual Property
We rely on a combination of copyrights, trademarks, service marks, trade secrets, domain names and agreements with third parties to protect our intellectual
property rights. We have trademark and service mark registrations and pending applications in the United States and select foreign jurisdictions. We also own the
domain name rights for our institutions, as well as other words and phrases important to our business. Additionally, we have applied for patent protection for
certain technology developed by us; and registered copyrights for exemplary business course materials. In many instances, our institutions' course content is
produced by faculty and other content experts under work-for-hire agreements pursuant to which we own the course content in return for a fixed development fee.
In certain limited cases, course content is licensed from third parties on a royalty fee basis.
Environmental Matters
We believe our facilities are in compliance with federal, state and local laws and regulations that have been enacted or adopted regulating the discharge of
materials into the environment, or otherwise relating to the protection of the environment. Compliance with these laws and regulations has not had, and is not
expected to have, a material effect on our capital expenditures, results of operations or competitive position.
Financial Information about Segments and Geographic Areas
We operate our business in one reportable segment, and we have no foreign operations or assets located outside of the United States. For information about
our revenues from external customers, measures of profits and losses and total assets, see our annual consolidated financial statements which are included
elsewhere in this report.
Executive Officers of the Registrant
Our management team possesses extensive experience in postsecondary education, in many cases with other large online postsecondary providers. Prior to
launching Bridgepoint Education, Andrew Clark, our CEO and President, served in senior management positions at such institutions for 12 years and has
significant experience with online education businesses. The other members of our executive management team also bring a combination of academic, operational,
legal, technological and financial expertise that we believe has been critical to our success. The continuity of our executive management team demonstrates the
strong relationship between functional areas within our business and the team's belief in the potential of our business model. Additionally, our executive
management team has been critical to establishing and maintaining our corporate culture.
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The names of our executive officers and their ages, titles and biographies as of February 1, 2014, are set forth below:
Name

Age

Position

Andrew S. Clark
Daniel J. Devine
Jane McAuliffe
Rodney T. Sheng
Ross L. Woodard
Charlene Dackerman
Thomas Ashbrook
Diane L. Thompson
Douglas C. Abts
Vickie L. Schray

48
49
47
47
48
53
49
58
40
53

CEO and President and Director
Executive Vice President/Chief Financial Officer
Executive Vice President/Chief Academic Officer
Executive Vice President/Chief Administrative Officer
Senior Vice President/Chief Marketing Officer
Senior Vice President of Human Resources
Senior Vice President/Chief Information Officer
Senior Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel
Senior Vice President/Strategy and Corporate Development
Senior Vice President of Regulatory Affairs and Public Policy

Our executive officers are appointed by, and serve at the discretion of, our board of directors. Each executive officer is a full-time employee. There is no
family relationship between any of our executive officers or directors.
Andrew S. Clark has served as our Chief Executive Officer and a director since November 2003 and as our President since February 2009. Mr. Clark also
served from March 2005 to December 2008 on the Board of Trustees for Ashford University and served on the University of the Rockies Board of Trustees from
September 2007 to August 2010. Prior to joining us in November 2003, Mr. Clark consulted with several private equity firms examining the postsecondary
education sector. Prior to 2003, Mr. Clark worked for Career Education Corporation as Divisional Vice President of Operations and Chief Operating Officer for
American InterContinental University in 2002. From 1992 to 2001, Mr. Clark worked for Apollo Group, Inc. (University of Phoenix), where he served in various
management roles, culminating in his position as Regional Vice President for the Mid-West region from 1999 to 2001. Mr. Clark earned an M.B.A. from the
University of Phoenix and a B.A. from Pacific Lutheran University.
Daniel J. Devine joined us in January 2004 and currently serves as our Executive Vice President/Chief Financial Officer. Prior to Mr. Devine's appointment
as Executive Vice President/Chief Financial Officer in January 2011, Mr. Devine served as our Senior Vice President/Chief Financial Officer, from November
2008 to December 2010, and as our Chief Financial Officer, from January 2004 to November 2008. Mr. Devine has over 20 years of senior finance experience.
From March 2002 to December 2003, Mr. Devine served as the Chief Financial Officer of A-Life Medical. From 1994 to 2000, Mr. Devine served in various
management roles for Mitchell International Inc. culminating in his position as Chief Financial Officer from 1998 to 2000. From 1987 to 1993, Mr. Devine served
in various management roles for Foster Wheeler Corporation, culminating in his position of divisional Chief Financial Officer from 1990 to 1993. Mr. Devine
earned a B.A. from Drexel University and is a certified public accountant.
Jane McAuliffe joined us in July 2005 and currently serves as our Executive Vice President of External Affairs/Chief Academic Officer. Prior to
Dr. McAuliffe's appointment as in January 2011, Dr. McAuliffe served as our Senior Vice President/Chief Administrative Officer, from November 2008 to
December 2010, and as our Vice President of Academic Affairs, from September 2007 to November 2008. Dr. McAuliffe also served as Chancellor/President of
Ashford University from July 2005 to December 2010. From 2003 to 2005, Dr. McAuliffe served as President of Argosy University/Sarasota Campus in Sarasota,
Florida. Prior to 2003, Dr. McAuliffe served in various management roles including Vice President for Academic Affairs at American InterContinental University
in 2002, and prior to that Dean, Associate Dean and Program Director in the College of Education at the University of Phoenix from 1996 to 2002. Dr. McAuliffe
earned a Ph.D., M.A. and B.A. from Arizona State University.
Rodney T. Sheng joined us in January 2004 and currently serves as our Executive Vice President/Chief Administrative Officer. Prior to Mr. Sheng's
appointment as Executive Vice President/Chief Administrative Officer in January 2011, Mr. Sheng served as our Senior Vice President/Chief Administrative
Officer, from November 2008 to December 2010, and as our Vice President of Operations, from January 2004 to November 2008. Mr. Sheng has over 20 years of
experience in the postsecondary sector, during which time he has worked for four different colleges and universities and served in a variety of management roles.
From 1995 to 2003, Mr. Sheng worked for Apollo Group, Inc. (University of Phoenix). From 2000 to 2002, Mr. Sheng served as Vice President/Campus Director
and opened two campuses for the University of Phoenix in the state of Ohio. In 2002, Mr. Sheng was responsible for the marketing and recruitment for 12 learning
centers throughout the Southern California metropolitan area. Mr. Sheng earned an M.A. from the University of Phoenix and a B.A. from San Diego State
University.
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Ross L. Woodard joined us in June 2004 and has served as our Senior Vice President/Chief Marketing Officer since November 2008. From June 2004 to
February 2005, Mr. Woodard served as our Director of E-Commerce and from March 2005 to October 2008 he served as our Vice President of Marketing. From
June 1992 to May 2004, Mr. Woodard held multiple senior management positions with Road Runner Sports. From 1998 to 2004, Mr. Woodard served as Director
of E-Commerce for Road Runner Sports and was responsible for the internet sales and marketing channel. From 1992 through 1997, Mr. Woodard served in
various management roles with Road Runner Sports, including Director of Sales. From 1989 to 1992, he served as a Regional Manager for Nike, Inc. in San
Diego. Mr. Woodard earned a B.A. from San Diego State University.
Charlene Dackerman joined us in September 2004 and has served as our Senior Vice President of Human Resources since November 2008. From September
2004 to December 2005, Ms. Dackerman served as our Director of Human Resources, and from January 2006 to October 2008, she served as our Vice President of
Human Resources. Ms. Dackerman has worked in the postsecondary sector for over 18 years. From 1986 to 2002, Ms. Dackerman served in various management
roles for Kelsey Jenney College, including College Director, Campus Director, Dean and Director of Admissions. Ms. Dackerman earned an M.S. from National
University and a B.S. from Humboldt State University.
Thomas Ashbrook joined us in November 2008 and has served as our Senior Vice President/Chief Information Officer since that time. From March 2005 to
March 2008, Mr. Ashbrook served as the Divisional Information Officer for Fremont Investment & Loan, a California industrial bank and lending institution,
where he led information technology strategy for the residential business. From 2001 to 2005, Mr. Ashbrook served as the Senior Vice President of Technology
Solutions for Fidelity National Information Solutions, a subsidiary of Fidelity National Financial. Mr. Ashbrook earned a B.S. in Electrical Engineering from
California State University, Long Beach and an MBA from Ashford University, Clinton Iowa.
Diane L. Thompson joined us in December 2008 and has served as our Senior Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel since that time. From
September 1997 to November 2008, Ms. Thompson served in various management roles for Apollo Group, Inc. (University of Phoenix). From November 2000 to
February 2006, Ms. Thompson served as Vice President/Counsel for Apollo Group, Inc. (University of Phoenix) and from March 2006 to November 2008,
Ms. Thompson served as Chief Human Resources Officer. From October 1992 to July 1996, Ms. Thompson served as an attorney in the Pima County Attorney's
Office in Tucson Arizona. Ms. Thompson earned a B.A. from St. Cloud University, an M.A. from Antioch University and a J.D. from the University of Arizona
College of Law.
Douglas C. Abts joined us in August 2010 and has served as our Senior Vice President, Strategy and Corporate Development since that time. He is
responsible for setting the strategic direction of the company, mergers and acquisitions activity, data intelligence capabilities, and new learning product
development. Previously, Mr. Abts spent seven years at Science Applications International Corporation, most recently serving as Corporate Vice President for
Mergers and Acquisitions. He earlier held the titles of Vice President for Strategic Development and Business Development Manager. For six years, Mr. Abts
served with distinction as an Officer in the United States Navy SEAL Teams. Mr. Abts holds an M.B.A. from Harvard Business School and a B.A. from Stanford
University.
Vickie L. Schray joined Bridgepoint Education in January 2011 and currently serves as the Senior Vice President, Regulatory Affairs and Public Policy. Prior
to Ms. Schray's appointment as the Senior Vice President Regulatory Affairs and Public Policy in December 2012, Ms. Schray served as the Vice President
Regulatory Affairs. Ms. Schray has over 20 years of experience in postsecondary education and has worked at the federal, state and institutional level. From 1998
to 2010, Ms. Schray served in various leadership positions with the U.S. Department of Education, including Acting Deputy Assistant Secretary in the Office of
Postsecondary Education, Senior Policy Analyst in the Office of the Under Secretary, and as the Deputy Director for the Secretary of Education's Commission on
the Future of Higher Education. Before her work with the Department of Education, Ms. Schray consulted for the National School-to-Work Opportunities Office
and was Deputy Director of the National Skill Standards Board. Ms. Schray earned a M.S. at Portland State University and a B.S. at Oregon State University.
In June 2003, Mr. Clark acquired and subsequently hired the management to operate Foundation College, an education provider which conducted campusbased training programs through the California Employment Training Panel. From November 2003 to August 2004, Ms. Dackerman served as President and Chief
Financial Officer of Foundation College. Due to a significant decrease in state funding, the business filed for bankruptcy in December 2005.
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Additional Information
We were incorporated in Delaware in May 1999 under the name TeleUniversity, Inc. and we changed our name to Bridgepoint Education, Inc. in February
2004. Our website is located at www.bridgepointeducation.com. We make available free of charge on our website our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as
reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The website for the SEC
is located at www.sec.gov. Further, a copy of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is located at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington,
D.C. 20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room can be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The reference to our website is
intended to be an inactive textual reference and the contents of our website are not intended to be incorporated into this report.
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REGULATION
Ashford University and University of the Rockies are accredited institutions of higher education which are subject to extensive regulation by a variety of
agencies. These agencies include the Accrediting Commission for Senior Colleges and Universities of the Western Association of Schools and Colleges, or
WASC, the agency that accredits Ashford University, and the Higher Learning Commission of the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools, or HLC, the
agency that accredits University of the Rockies. Accrediting agencies provide an independent assessment of educational quality. Our institutions are also subject to
regulation by educational licensing authorities in states where our institutions are physically located or conduct certain operations. We are also subject to
regulation by the U.S. Department of Education, referred to as the Department, due to our participation in federal student financial aid programs authorized by
Title IV of the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended (the “Higher Education Act”), which we refer to in this report as Title IV programs. To participate in
Title IV programs, a school must maintain authorization by the state education agency or agencies where it is physically located, be accredited by an accrediting
agency recognized by the Department and be certified by the Department as an eligible institution. Institutions that participate in the Title IV programs are subject
to an extensive set of laws and regulations. The laws, regulations and standards of WASC, HLC, the Department and state agencies affect the vast majority of our
institutions' operations.
Accreditation
From 1950 until being institutionally accredited by WASC in December 2013, Ashford University was accredited by HLC. University of the Rockies has
been institutionally accredited since 2003 by HLC. WASC and HLC are two of six regional accrediting agencies that accredit colleges and universities in the
United States. Most traditional, public and private non-profit, degree-granting colleges and universities are accredited by one of these six agencies.
Accreditation by WASC and HLC is recognized by the Department and by prospective students as a reliable indicator of educational quality. Accreditation is
a private, non-governmental process for evaluating the quality of an educational institution and its programs and an institution's effectiveness in carrying out its
mission in areas including integrity, student performance, curriculum, educational effectiveness, faculty, physical resources, administrative capability and
resources, financial stability and governance. To be recognized by the Department, an accrediting agency, among other things, must adopt specific standards to be
maintained by educational institutions, conduct peer-review evaluations of institutions' compliance with those standards, monitor compliance through periodic
institutional reporting and the periodic renewal process and publicly designate those institutions that meet the agency's criteria. An accredited institution is subject
to periodic review by its accrediting agency to determine whether it continues to meet the performance, integrity, quality and other standards required for
accreditation. An institution that is determined not to meet the standards of accreditation may have its accreditation revoked or not renewed.
Accreditation is important to our institutions as it establishes comprehensive criteria designed to promote educational quality and effectiveness. Accreditation
also represents a public acknowledgment by a recognized independent agency of the quality and effectiveness of our institutions and their programs. It also
facilitates the transferability of educational credits when students transfer to or apply for graduate school at other regionally accredited colleges and universities.
The Department relies on accreditation as an indicator of educational quality and effectiveness in determining an institution's eligibility to participate in Title IV
programs, as do certain corporate and government sponsors in connection with tuition reimbursement and other student aid programs.
We believe that regional accreditation is viewed favorably by certain students when choosing a school, by other schools when evaluating transfer and
graduate school applications and by certain employers when evaluating the credentials of candidates for employment.
In addition, by approving our institutions' offerings of approved campus-based programs through online delivery modalities and by approving increased
transfer credit allowance and prior learning assessments, accreditation supports our mission of serving students by providing innovative online programs and
allowing student accessibility through increased transfer of credit for prior traditional and non-traditional education.
Evaluations and renewals of accreditation
On July 10, 2013, WASC granted Initial Accreditation to Ashford University for five years, until July 15, 2018. As part of a continuing WASC monitoring
process, Ashford University will host WASC in a special visit in spring 2015. University of the Rockies was granted its initial accreditation from HLC in 2003 for
a period of five years. Its accreditation was renewed by HLC in 2008 for a period of seven years, with a comprehensive evaluation scheduled during the 2015-2016
academic year. In November 2009, as a result of our initial public offering, both Ashford University and University of the Rockies participated in a change of
control accreditation visit from HLC, which continued the accreditation of both institutions at that time. Upon the recommendation of the visiting team, HLC
determined that both institutions (i) continued to meet the commission's eligibility
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requirements and accreditation criteria and (ii) should receive their next comprehensive evaluations in 2014-2015, per the commission policy that states an
institution must have a comprehensive review no later than five years following a change in control visit. University of the Rockies will undergo this
comprehensive review in September 2014; HLC has informed Ashford University that the 2015-2016 visit will not occur. As Ashford University is now accredited
by WASC, the institution is only subject to evaluation by WASC.
Beginning in 2014, WASC will institute “Mid-Cycle Reviews” of its accredited institutions near the midpoint of their periods of accreditation. The purpose
of the Mid-Cycle Review is to identify problems with an institution's or program's continued compliance with agency standards while taking into account
institutional or program strengths and stability. The Mid-Cycle Review will focus particularly on student achievement, including indications of educational
effectiveness, retention and graduation data.
For information regarding the current status of the accreditation of Ashford University see “WASC Grant of Initial Accreditation of Ashford University”
below. For information regarding the current status of the accreditation of University of the Rockies see “HLC Notification regarding University of the Rockies
Non-Financial Indicator Conditions” below.
WASC Grant of Initial Accreditation of Ashford University
On July 10, 2013, WASC granted Initial Accreditation to Ashford University for five years, until July 15, 2018. This WASC action permitted Ashford
University to designate WASC as its accreditor of record for purposes of eligibility to participate in the Title IV programs following approval by the Department,
the university's withdrawal from HLC and the transfer of relevant records to WASC. Ashford University formally submitted its request for such approvals to the
Department on July 17, 2013.On November 4, 2013, the Department notified Ashford University that the Department would approve the university’s change in
accreditor, recognizing WASC as Ashford University’s accreditor, along with the renewal of certification for continued participation in the Title IV, HEA
programs. In December 2013, Ashford University completed its transition to WASC accreditation, received provisional certification from the Department until
2016 and designated its San Diego, California facilities as its main campus and its Clinton, Iowa campus as an additional location. As part of a continuing WASC
monitoring process, Ashford University will host WASC in a special visit in spring 2015.
Application for Licensure by California BPPE
To be eligible to participate in Title IV programs, an institution must be legally authorized to offer its educational programs by the states in which it is
physically located. Effective July 1, 2011, the Department established new requirements to determine if an institution is considered to be legally authorized by a
state. See “Department Regulation of Title IV Programs - State Authorization” below. In connection with its transition to WASC accreditation, Ashford University
designated its San Diego, California facilities as its main campus for Title IV purposes. WASC-accredited institutions operating in California are not required,
under state rules, to obtain approval from the State of California, Department of Consumer Affairs, Bureau for Private Postsecondary Education, or BPPE, in order
to operate in the state. Under the Department’s state authorization rule, an institution must be approved or licensed on a basis other than accreditation in instances
in which it is not established by name as an educational institution by a state through a charter, statute, constitutional provision, or other action issued by an
appropriate state agency or entity. On May 21, 2013, the Department published a notice stating that it would provide an extension of the effective date of the state
authorization rule until July 1, 2014 to qualifying institutions that obtain from a state an explanation of how the extension of time would permit the state to comply
with the regulations. The California Department of Consumer Affairs has issued a letter explaining the need for an extension. As it is uncertain how the
Department will interpret the state authorization rule or the applicability of the extension of time, the university submitted an Application for Approval to Operate
an Accredited Institution to BPPE on September 10, 2013. If BPPE approves the university’s application, the university will no longer be exempt from certain laws
and regulations applicable to private, post-secondary educational institutions. These laws and regulations entail certain California reporting requirements, including
but not limited to, graduation, employment and licensing data, certain changes of ownership and control, faculty and programs, and student refund policies, as well
as the triggering of other state and federal student employment data reporting and disclosure requirements.
Negotiated Rulemaking
The Department held public hearings in May and June 2013 inviting the submission of topics for consideration in a series of rulemaking efforts to achieve a
long-term agenda in higher education focused on access, affordability, academic quality and completion. Recent hearings have focused on topics including, but not
limited to, cash management of Title IV program funds, state authorization for programs offering distance or correspondence education, gainful employment,
credit and clock hour conversions, changes made to the Clery Act by the Violence Against Women Act of 2013 (P.L. 113-4), and the definition of “adverse credit”
for PLUS borrowers.
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In June 2013, the Department announced its intention to establish a negotiated rulemaking committee to prepare proposed regulations that would establish
standards for programs that prepare students for gainful employment in a recognized occupation. The committee met for three sessions between September and
December 2013, but did not reach consensus on the content of the proposed regulations. On March 14, 2014, the Department published proposed regulations for
public comment . See “Regulation - Gainful Employment.”
In January 2014, the Department held the first of three negotiated rulemaking sessions to implement the changes to the Clery Act required by the enactment
of the Violence Against Women Act, or VAWA. Two other sessions are scheduled for February 2014 and March-April 2014. While the final regulations will
likely not be implemented prior to July 1, 2015, the Department notified institutions in an Electronic Announcement in May 2013 that until the regulations go into
effect, it expects institutions to make a good faith effort to comply with the statutory requirements. Among other things, VAWA requires institutions to compile
statistics for certain crimes reported to campus security authorities or local police agencies. Under the statute, an institution must include the new required
information in its Annual Security Report issued no later than October 1, 2014.
In February 2014, the Department held the first of three negotiation sessions related to various new program integrity initiatives, including the potential
reintroduction of the Distance Education Rule (34 C.F.R. § 600.9(c)) which was vacated by a federal court in 2011. The February sessions produced no substantive
outcomes, but sessions in March 2014 plan to address the Department’s draft of a proposed regulation on distance education that could materially impact our
business.
Additional topics to be considered at March and April sessions are expected to include, but may not be limited to, the following: cash management of Title IV
funds, including the use of debit cards and the handling of Title IV credit balances; state authorization for foreign locations; clock to credit hour conversion; the
definition of “adverse credit” for borrowers in the Federal Direct PLUS Loan Program; and the application of the repeat coursework provisions to graduate and
undergraduate programs.
We cannot predict the scope and content of the regulations that may emerge from these or other rulemaking activities that the Department initiates.
Compliance with additional regulations, or with modifications to existing regulations, and/or regulatory scrutiny that results in the Company's institutions being
allegedly out of compliance with these regulations, could result in direct and indirect costs of compliance, fines, liabilities, sanctions or lawsuits, which could have
a material adverse effect on enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
HLC Notification regarding University of the Rockies Non-Financial Indicator Conditions
On July 24, 2012, HLC notified University of the Rockies that it had been identified for further inquiry based on certain non-financial data the institution
provided in its 2012 Institutional Annual Report. University of the Rockies was identified for further inquiry because it met two of the indicator conditions: (1) the
number of degrees awarded increased 40% or more compared to the prior year; and (2) the number of full-time faculty increased 25% or more compared to the
prior year. Accordingly, HLC requested that University of the Rockies provide a report to HLC demonstrating the institution's ability to continue meeting the Core
Components in light of the conditions at the institution that led to the indicators being identified. This report was provided on August 29, 2012. HLC notified the
University in 2013 that its staff accepts the University’s explanatory report and no further action is needed at this time.
Authorization by U.S. Congress of Title IV Programs
The U.S. Congress must periodically reauthorize the Higher Education Act and annually determine the funding level for each Title IV program. In 2008, the
Higher Education Act was reauthorized through September 2014. The U.S. Congress may propose and pass revisions to the Higher Education Act between
reauthorizations, by using other legislative vehicles such as budget bills and appropriations bills. The U.S. Congress also determines the funding levels for Title IV
programs annually through the budget and appropriations process.
Any action by the U.S. Congress that significantly reduces Title IV program funding or the eligibility of our institutions or students to participate in Title IV
programs could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. Congressional action could also
require us to modify our practices in ways that could increase our administrative costs and reduce our profit margin, which could have a material adverse effect on
enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
For example, as the federal Pell Grant program is one of the largest non-defense discretionary spending programs in the federal budget, it is a potential target
for reduction as the U.S. Congress addresses unprecedented budget deficits. Under the Pell Grant program, the Department of Education makes grants to
undergraduate students who demonstrate financial need. On December 23, 2011, the “Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2012,” among other provisions, eliminated
federal student aid
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eligibility, with some exceptions, for ability-to-benefit students who first enroll on or after July 1, 2013. The same law limited Pell Grant eligibility to 18 semesters
or equivalent, a provision that went into effect for all students beginning with the 2012-2013 award year.
Subsidized Stafford loans are also a potential target for reduction. Subsidized Stafford loans are federally guaranteed loans based on financial need. Interest
does not accrue on subsidized Stafford loans while a student is in school at least half time, or during any future grace or deferment periods; the federal government
pays the interest on such loans during these times. However, under the “Budget Control Act of 2011,” all subsidized Stafford loans were eliminated for graduate
and professional students, who are now only eligible for unsubsidized Stafford loans. Further, with the enactment of the “Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2012,”
the payment of the interest subsidy to students receiving subsidized Stafford loans during the six-month grace period by the federal government was eliminated
from July 1, 2012 through June 30, 2014. In addition, when the law, “Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21 st Century Act,” was enacted to extend the 3.4% interest
rate for subsidized Stafford loans for loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 2012 through June 30, 2013, another limitation on subsidized Stafford loans was
established. For new borrowers on or after July 1, 2013, borrowers will no longer be eligible for subsidized Stafford loans when the borrower reaches 150 percent
of the published length of the borrower’s program. Moreover, if the borrower continues enrolling in the program beyond the 150 percent point of the same or a
different program, or a shorter program, the borrower will be responsible for any interest that accrues on his or her subsidized Stafford loans.
If in the future, funding is reduced for the Pell Grant program (such as a reduction in the maximum award amount), if fewer students or programs are deemed
eligible for the Pell Grant Program or if loan interest subsidies are eliminated for Stafford loans (e.g., eligibility for such loans has been eliminated for graduate
students effective July 1, 2012), our institutions might become less affordable for certain students at our institutions, which could negatively impact enrollments,
revenue, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
Additionally, there has been increased focus by some in the U.S. Congress on the role that for-profit educational institutions play in higher education. In
particular, the Health, Education, Labor and Pensions Committee of the U.S. Senate (“HELP Committee”) held a series of hearings regarding the for-profit
education sector and Title IV programs, including a March 2011 hearing specifically about us and Ashford University entitled “Bridgepoint Education, Inc.: A
Case Study in For-Profit Education and Oversight.” The hearings, and those of other Congressional committees, have focused on various aspects of the for-profit
education sector including student debt, recruitment practices, educational quality, student outcomes, the effectiveness of accrediting bodies, and the amount of
Title IV funding received by the for-profit education sector.
In connection with these hearings, members of Congress have requested a broad range of detailed information from various for-profit institutions, including
Ashford University and University of the Rockies. Most recently, on July 29, 2012, the majority staff of the HELP Committee issued a report entitled “For Profit
Higher Education: The Failure to Safeguard the Federal Investment and Ensure Student Success,” which contains the majority staff's findings from the committee's
two-year investigation of the for-profit education sector. The report is critical of the sector generally and of us and our institutions specifically, expressing concerns
surrounding the amount of Title IV and other federal funds received, the amount of money spent on marketing and recruiting, student retention and default rates,
staffing levels, learning outcomes and accreditation, among other items.
Certain members of Congress have proposed legislation that could have an adverse impact on our institutions. For example, Senators Dick Durbin (D-IL),
Jack Reed (D-RI), Elizabeth Warren (D-MA), and Barbara Boxer (D-CA) introduced the “Protect Student Borrowers Act,” which would assess penalties against
institutions if their cohort default rate exceeds 15 percent. A bill introduced by the late Senator Frank Lautenberg (D-NJ) and Senator Tom Harkin (D-IA), titled
the “Student First Act,” would require Department of Education program reviews of institutions engaging in “risky” behavior, such as serial forbearance and
default rate manipulation, spending more than 20 percent of revenue on recruiting and marketing, and deriving more than 85 percent of revenue from federal
student aid sources. Senator Kay Hagan (D-NC) introduced the “Protecting Financial Aid for Students and Taxpayers Act,” which would prohibit institutions from
using revenues derived from federal educational assistance funds for advertising, marketing, or recruiting. While these bills will not likely pass during this session,
they may serve as a basis of discussion during the reauthorization of the Higher Education Act.
We cannot predict what legislation, if any, will emanate from the HELP Committee hearings, the reauthorization of the Higher Education Act, or other
Congressional deliberations, or what impact any such legislation might have on the for-profit education sector and our business in particular.
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Department Regulation of Title IV Programs
To be eligible to participate in Title IV programs, an institution must comply with the Higher Education Act and regulations thereunder that are administered
by the Department. Among other things, the law and regulations require that an institution (i) be licensed or authorized to offer its educational programs by the
states in which it is physically located, (ii) maintain institutional accreditation by an accrediting agency recognized for such purposes by the Department and
(iii) be certified to participate in Title IV programs by the Department. Our institutions' participation in Title IV programs subjects them to extensive oversight and
review pursuant to regulations promulgated by the Department. Those regulations are subject from time to time to revision and amendment by the Department.
The Department's interpretation of its regulations likewise is subject to change. As a result, it is difficult to predict how Title IV program requirements will be
applied in all circumstances.
An institution must periodically seek recertification from the Department to continue to participate in Title IV programs and may, in certain circumstances,
be subject to review by the Department prior to seeking recertification. The current certification for University of the Rockies is scheduled to expire on June 30,
2016. Ashford University is provisionally certified until September 30, 2016. The Department typically places an institution on provisional certification following
a change in ownership resulting in a change of control and also may provisionally certify an institution for other reasons including but not limited to failure to
comply with certain standards of administrative capability or financial responsibility. During the time when an institution is provisionally certified, it may be
subject to adverse action with fewer due process rights than those afforded to other institutions and must apply for and receive approval from the Department for
substantial change, which includes, but is not limited to, the establishment of an additional location, an increase in the level of academic offerings, or the addition
of any nondegree or short-term training programs. However, provisional certification does not otherwise limit an institution's access to Title IV funds.
The 90/10 rule
Under the Higher Education Act, a for-profit institution loses its eligibility to participate in Title IV programs if the institution derives more than 90% of its
revenues (calculated in accordance with applicable Department regulations) from Title IV program funds for two consecutive fiscal years. This rule is commonly
referred to as the “90/10 rule.” Any institution that violates the 90/10 rule for two consecutive fiscal years becomes ineligible to participate in Title IV programs
for at least two fiscal years. In addition, an institution whose rate exceeds 90% for any single year will be placed on provisional certification and may be subject to
other enforcement measures. In the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011, Ashford University derived 85.6% , 86.4% and 86.8% , respectively, and
University of the Rockies derived 87.6% , 87.3% and 85.0% , respectively, of their respective revenues (calculated in accordance with applicable Department
regulations) from students who participate in Title IV funds.
Revenue derived from government tuition assistance for military personnel, including veterans, is considered not to be federal student aid for purposes of the
90/10 rule calculation, and accordingly helps our institutions satisfy the 90/10 rule. As of December 31, 2013, approximately 23.6% of our institutions' students
were affiliated with the military, some of whom are eligible to receive tuition assistance from the government which they may use to pursue postsecondary
degrees.
Incentive compensation
The Higher Education Act prohibits an institution from providing any commission, bonus or other incentive payments based directly or indirectly on success
in securing enrollments or financial aid to any persons or entities engaged in student recruiting or admissions activities, or in making decisions about the award of
student financial assistance. Under prior Department regulations, there were 12 “safe harbor” provisions. The Department eliminated all 12 safe harbors, effective
July 1, 2011, taking the position that any commission, bonus or other incentive payment based in any part, directly or indirectly, on securing enrollments or
awarding financial aid is inconsistent with the incentive payment prohibition in the Higher Education Act. The Department issued a Dear Colleague Letter dated
March 17, 2012 that attempted to clarify and provide interpretive guidance regarding certain aspects of the regulations. There remains uncertainty as to how the
Department will interpret them.
Qui tam complaints against us and our institutions were unsealed on December 26, 2012 and January 2, 2013. These complaints allege, among other things,
that our institutions violated the Federal False Claims Act by falsely certifying to the Department that Ashford University and University of the Rockies, in the
case of the qui tam unsealed in 2012, and Ashford University, in the case of the qui tam unsealed in 2013, were in compliance with the prior regulations regarding
the payment of incentive compensation to enrollment personnel in connection with the institutions' participation in student financial aid programs. The U.S.
Department of Justice has declined to intervene in the qui tam complaints. For more information regarding claims and lawsuits, see the risk factor entitled “ We
face litigation and legal proceedings that could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations ” in Part I,
Item 1A of this report and “Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3 of this report.
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Cohort default rate
For each federal fiscal year, the Department calculates a rate of student defaults over a two-year measuring period for each educational institution which is
known as a “cohort default rate.” An institution may lose its eligibility to participate in the Direct Loan and Pell programs if, for each of the three most recent
federal fiscal years for which information is available, 25% or more of its students who became subject to a repayment obligation in that federal fiscal year
defaulted on such obligation by the end of the following federal fiscal year. In addition, an institution may lose its eligibility to participate in the Direct Loan
program if its cohort default rate exceeds 40% in the most recent federal fiscal year for which default rates have been calculated by the Department. Ashford
University's two-year cohort default rates for the 2011, 2010 and 2009 federal fiscal years, were 10.1% , 10.2% , and 15.3% , respectively. The two-year cohort
default rates for University of the Rockies for the 2011, 2010 and 2009 federal fiscal years, were 4.8% , 4.0% and 3.3% , respectively.
The August 2008 reauthorization of the Higher Education Act included significant revisions to the requirements concerning cohort default rates. Under the
revised law, the period for which students' defaults on their loans are included in the calculation of an institution's cohort default rate was extended by one
additional year, which has increased the cohort default rates for most institutions. That change was effective with the calculation of institutions' cohort default rates
for the federal fiscal year ending September 30, 2009, which rates were calculated and issued by the Department in September 2012. The Department will not
impose sanctions based on rates calculated under this new methodology until three consecutive years of rates have been calculated, which is expected to occur in
September 2014. Until that time, the Department will continue to calculate rates under the old calculation method and impose sanctions based on those rates. The
revised law also increases the threshold for ending an institution's participation in the relevant Title IV programs from 25% to 30%, effective for final three-year
cohort default rates published on or after the 2012 federal fiscal year. The revised law changes the threshold for placement on provisional certification to 30% for
two of the three most recent fiscal years for which the Department has published official three-year cohort default rates. Ashford University's three-year cohort
default rates for the 2010 and 2009 federal fiscal years, were 16.3% and 19.8% , respectively. The draft three-year cohort default rate for the 2011 federal fiscal
year for Ashford University is 15.4%. The three-year cohort default rates for University of the Rockies for the 2010 and 2009 federal fiscal years, were 8.0% and
3.3% , respectively. The draft three-year cohort default rate for the 2011 federal fiscal year for University of the Rockies is 7.4%.
Substantial misrepresentation
The Higher Education Act prohibits an institution participating in Title IV programs from engaging in substantial misrepresentation of the nature of its
educational programs, financial charges or graduate employability. Under the Department's rules, a “misrepresentation” is any false, erroneous or misleading
statement an institution, one of its representatives, or any ineligible institution, organization, or person with whom the institution has an agreement to provide
educational programs, or marketing, advertising, recruiting, or admissions services makes directly to a student or prospective student or any member of the public,
or to an accrediting agency, to a state agency or the Department. The Department's rules define a “substantial misrepresentation” as any misrepresentation on
which the person to whom it was made could reasonably be expected to rely, or has reasonably relied, to that person's detriment. Considering the broad definition
of “substantial misrepresentation,” it is possible that, despite our training efforts and compliance programs, our institutions' employees or service providers may
make statements that could be construed as substantial misrepresentations. If the Department determines that one of our institutions has engaged in substantial
misrepresentation, the Department may attempt to revoke the institution's program participation agreement if the institution is provisionally certified, impose
limitations on the institution's participation in Title IV programs if the institution is provisionally certified, deny applications from the institution for approval of
new programs or locations or other matters, or initiate proceedings to fine the institution or limit, suspend, or terminate its eligibility to participate in Title IV
programs. The institution could also be exposed to increased risk of action under the federal False Claims Act. The qui tam complaint that was unsealed on
December 26, 2012 alleges, among other things, that Ashford University and University of the Rockies have failed to make required disclosures readily available
to students, have misled students as to the true cost of attending the schools, the quality and reputation of their academic programs, and their job placement rates.
For more information regarding claims and lawsuits, see the risk factor entitled “ We face litigation and legal proceedings that could have a material adverse effect
on enrollments, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations ” in Part I, Item 1A of this report and “Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3 of this report.
Return of Title IV funds for students who withdraw
If a student who has received Title IV funds withdraws, the institution must determine the amount of Title IV program funds the student has earned, pursuant
to applicable regulations. If the student withdraws during the first 60% of any payment period (which, for our undergraduate online students, typically is a 20-week
term consisting of four five-week courses and, for our campus-based students, is a 16-week semester), the amount of Title IV funds that the student has earned is
equal to a pro rata portion of the funds the student received or for which the student would otherwise be eligible for the payment period. If the
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student withdraws after the 60% threshold, then the student is deemed to have earned 100% of the Title IV funds received. If the student has not earned all of the
Title IV funds disbursed, the institution must return the unearned funds to the appropriate lender or the Department in a timely manner, which is generally no later
than 45 days after the date the institution determined that the student withdrew. If an institution's annual financial aid compliance audit in either of its two most
recently completed fiscal years determines that 5% or more of such returns were not timely made, the institution may be required to submit a letter of credit in
favor of the Department equal to 25% of the Title IV funds that the institution should have returned for withdrawn students in its most recently completed fiscal
year. For the year ended December 31, 2013, our institutions did not exceed the 5% threshold for late refunds sampled.
State authorization
To be eligible to participate in Title IV programs, an institution must be legally authorized to offer its educational programs by the states in which it is
physically located. Effective July 1, 2011, an institution is considered to be legally authorized by a state if, among other things, it meets one of the following sets
of requirements:
•

the state establishes the institution by name as an educational institution through a charter, statute, constitutional provision or other action issued by an
appropriate state agency or state entity and is authorized to operate educational programs beyond secondary education, including programs leading to a
degree or certificate; the institution complies with any applicable state approval or licensure requirements, except that the state may exempt the
institution from any state approval or licensure requirement based on the institution's accreditation by one or more accrediting agencies recognized by
the Department or based upon the institution being in operation for at least 20 years; and the state has a process to review and appropriately act on
complaints concerning the institution including the enforcement of state laws;

•

the institution is established by the state on the basis of an authorization to conduct business in the state or to operate as a nonprofit charitable
organization; the institution, by name, is approved or licensed by the state to offer programs beyond secondary education, including programs leading to
a degree or certificate; and the institution is not exempt from the state's approval or licensure requirements based on accreditation, years in operation, or
other comparable exemption; and the state has a process to review and appropriately act on complaints concerning the institution including the
enforcement of state laws; or

•

the institution is exempt from state authorization as a religious institution under the state constitution or by state law, and the state has a process to
review and appropriately act on complaints concerning the institution and to enforce applicable state laws.

The Department has stated that it will not publish a list of states that meet, or fail to meet, the above requirements, and it is uncertain how the Department
will interpret these requirements in each state.
The regulations that were scheduled to take effect July 1, 2011, also provide that, if an institution is offering postsecondary education through distance or
correspondence education to students in a state in which it is not physically located or in which it is otherwise subject to state jurisdiction as determined by the
state, the institution must meet any state requirements for it to be legally offering postsecondary distance or correspondence education to students in that state.
Additionally, upon request by the Department, an institution must be able to document that it has the applicable state approval. Although our institutions have a
process for evaluating the compliance of their online educational programs with state requirements regarding distance and correspondence learning, and have
experienced no significant restrictions on their educational activities to date as a result of such requirements, state regulatory requirements for online education
vary among the states, are not well developed in many states, are imprecise or unclear in some states and are subject to change. For more information, see “State
Education Licensure and Regulation” below. Moreover, it is also unclear whether and to what extent state agencies may augment or change their regulations in this
area as a result of new Department regulations and increased scrutiny. Any failure to comply with state requirements, or any new or modified regulations, could
result in our inability to enroll students or receive Title IV funds for students in those states and could result in restrictions on growth and enrollments.
On June 5, 2012 the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit vacated the new state authorization regulation with respect to
distance and correspondence education. The Court affirmed a 2011 order of a Federal District Court in the District of Columbia vacating the regulation requiring
an institution to meet state requirements in a state in which it has distance education students, but in which it is not physically located or otherwise subject to state
jurisdiction. The Department subsequently issued a Dear Colleague Letter acknowledging the Court's decision and stating that the Department would not enforce
the requirements of the regulation and commenting that institutions continue to be responsible for complying with all state laws as they relate to distance
education. In February 2014, the Department held the first of three negotiation sessions related to various new program integrity initiatives, including the potential
reintroduction of the Distance Education Rule that was vacated. The February sessions produced no substantive outcomes, but sessions in March 2014 plan to
address
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the Department’s draft of a proposed regulation on distance education that could materially impact our business. See “ Application for Licensure by California
BPPE ” above for further discussion.
Ashford University has a campus that is physically located in Iowa. During the time period in which Ashford University was accredited by the Higher
Learning Commission, the Iowa College Student Aid Commission, or ICSAC, advised Ashford University that the institution was exempt from a requirement to
register with the State of Iowa to offer postsecondary degree programs in Iowa by virtue of its accreditation by the Higher Learning Commission. In anticipation of
its transition to WASC accreditation, Ashford University applied for registration with ICSAC. In November 2011, ICSAC determined Ashford University met all
requirements to offer postsecondary education in Iowa and approved the institution's registration in Iowa for a four-year period ending November 2015. However,
in light of the findings and recommendations contained in the final audit report of the Department's Office of Inspector General, or the OIG, ICSAC stated that it
would immediately reconsider the institution's registration for possible revocation if the Department ruled to limit, suspend or terminate the institution's
participation in Title IV programs. For more information about the OIG's final audit report, see “Regulation-Department Regulation of Title IV ProgramsCompliance reviews, audits and reports” below.
University of the Rockies is located in the State of Colorado and has Full Authorization by the Colorado Commission on Higher Education. Such
authorization may be lost or withdrawn if University of the Rockies fails to comply with requirements under Colorado statutes and rules for continued
authorization.
Gainful employment
Under the Higher Education Act, schools operated on a for-profit basis are eligible to participate in Title IV programs only to the extent that their educational
programs lead to gainful employment in a recognized occupation, with the limited exception of qualified programs leading to a bachelor's degree in liberal arts.
In June 2011, the Department published final regulations to establish minimal debt measures for determining whether certain postsecondary educational
programs lead to gainful employment in recognized occupations, and the conditions under which such programs are eligible for Title IV funding. The debt
measures established by these regulations consisted of two debt-to-earnings ratios, based on comparisons of graduate earnings with annual loan payments, and an
annual loan repayment rate, based on the rate certain borrowers reduced the outstanding balances on certain Title IV loans.
On June 30, 2012, the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia nullified most of the gainful employment regulations and returned the regulations to
the Department for further action. On July 6, 2012, the Department issued an electronic announcement acknowledging that the Court had vacated the debt
measures, that institutions would not be required to comply with related regulations regarding gainful employment reporting requirements and adding new gainful
employment educational programs, and that institutions would be required to comply with requirements to disclose certain information about gainful employment
educational programs.
In June 2013, the Department announced its intention to establish a negotiated rulemaking committee to prepare new gainful employment regulations that
would replace those vacated by the Court. The Department held negotiating rulemaking sessions with the committee beginning in September 2013 and concluding
in December 2013. Before each session, the Department distributed draft regulatory language marked as draft for discussion purposes.
The draft regulatory language distributed by the Department to the committee for discussion purposes in December 2013 would require each educational
program covered by the rule to achieve threshold rates in three debt measure categories related to an annual debt to annual earnings ratio, an annual debt to
discretionary income ratio, and a program cohort default rate. The various formulas are calculated under complex methodologies and definitions outlined in the
draft regulatory language and, in some cases, are based on data that may not be readily accessible to institutions. The draft language outlines various scenarios
under which programs could lose Title IV eligibility for failure to achieve threshold rates in one or more measures over certain periods of time ranging from two to
four years. The draft language also would require an institution to provide warnings to students in programs which may lose Title IV eligibility at the end of an
award year, limit its Title IV enrollment in these programs, and submit a letter of credit or set aside funds to provide borrower relief to students in the event the
programs become ineligible. The draft regulatory language contains other provisions that, among other things, include disclosure, reporting and new program
approval requirements.
On March 14, 2014, the Department published proposed regulations for comment by the public for a sixty day period. The proposed regulatory language
released by the Department to the public for comment would cause each educational program covered by the rule to fail if their graduates’ student-loan debt
payments exceeded 12% of their incomes and 30% of their discretionary incomes, the same ratios as in the original rule and the draft considered by negotiators in
the fall of 2013. Also unchanged from the 2013 draft, programs whose graduates have debt-to-income ratios of 8% to 12% or debt-to-discretionary-income ratios
of 20% to 30% would fall in a “zone”, and the institution would have to warn students that they might become
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ineligible for aid. Programs that fail both debt-to-income tests twice in any three-year period or are in the zone for four consecutive years would be ineligible for
federal student aid. Different from the draft 2013 rule and in response to the 2 012 Court ruling, the Department now proposes programmatic cohort default rates
rather than loan-repayment rates as an additional test. Programs whose borrower cohort default rates exceed 30% for three consecutive years would be ineligible
for federal student aid.
The various formulas are calculated under complex methodologies and definitions outlined in the proposed regulatory language and, in some cases, are based
on data that may not be readily accessible to institutions. The proposed language contains other provisions that, among other things, include disclosure, reporting
and certification requirements. We cannot predict the ultimate content or effective date of any new regulations that may emerge from this process or the potential
impact of such regulations on us or our institutions and have had minimal time to review and analyze the proposed regulation. Any new regulations that reduce or
eliminate our students’ access to Title IV federal student aid, that require us to change or eliminate certain programs, or that increase our costs of compliance could
have an adverse effect on our business .
Financial responsibility
The Higher Education Act and Department regulations establish standards of financial responsibility which an institution must satisfy to participate in Title
IV programs. The Department evaluates compliance with these standards annually upon receipt of an institution's annual audited financial statements and also
when an institution applies to the Department to reestablish its eligibility to participate in Title IV programs following a change in ownership. One financial
responsibility standard is based on the institution's composite score, which is derived from a formula established by the Department. The composite score is a
number between negative 1.0 and positive 3.0. It must be at least 1.5 for the institution to be deemed financially responsible without the need for further
Department financial oversight. In addition to having an acceptable composite score, an institution must, among other things, meet all of its financial obligations
(including required refunds to students and any Title IV liabilities and debts), be current in its debt payments and not receive an adverse, qualified or disclaimed
opinion by its accountants in its audited financial statements.
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, the composite score calculated was 3.0 , satisfying the composite score requirement of the Department's
financial responsibility test, which institutions must satisfy in order to participate in Title IV programs. We expect the consolidated composite score to be 3.0 for
the year ended December 31, 2013 . However, the consolidated calculation is subject to determination by the Department once it receives and reviews our audited
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013 .
Administrative capability
The Department specifies extensive criteria by which an institution must establish that it has the requisite administrative capability to participate in Title IV
programs. To meet the administrative capability standards, an institution must, among other things: comply with all applicable Title IV program requirements;
have an adequate number of qualified personnel to administer Title IV programs; have acceptable standards for measuring the satisfactory academic progress of its
students; have procedures in place for awarding, disbursing and safeguarding Title IV funds and for maintaining required records; administer Title IV programs
with adequate checks and balances in its system of internal control over financial reporting; not be, and not have any principal or affiliate who is, debarred or
suspended from federal contracting or engaging in activity that is cause for debarment or suspension; provide financial aid counseling to its students; refer to the
OIG any credible information indicating that any student, parent, employee, third-party servicer or other agent of the institution has engaged in any fraud or other
illegal conduct involving Title IV programs; timely submit all required reports and financial statements; and not otherwise appear to lack administrative capability.
Potential effect of noncompliance with Title IV regulations
The Department can impose sanctions for violating the statutory and regulatory requirements of Title IV programs, including:
•

transferring an institution from the advance method or the heightened cash monitoring level one method of Title IV payment, which permit the
institution to receive Title IV funds before or concurrently with disbursing them to students, to the heightened cash monitoring level two method of
payment or to the reimbursement method of payment, which delay an institution's receipt of Title IV funds until student eligibility has been verified by
the Department;

•

imposing a monetary liability against an institution in an amount equal to any funds determined to have been improperly disbursed or improperly not to
have been returned upon student withdrawal;
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•

requiring an institution to post a letter of credit in favor of the Department as a condition for continued Title IV eligibility;

•

initiating proceedings to impose a fine or to limit, suspend or terminate an institution's participation in Title IV programs;

•

referring a matter for possible civil or criminal investigation;

•

failing to grant an institution's application for renewal of its certification to participate in Title IV programs or imposing conditions on its participation in
Title IV programs; or

•

taking emergency action to suspend an institution's participation in Title IV programs without prior notice or a prior opportunity for a hearing.

If sanctions were imposed resulting in a substantial curtailment or termination of our institutions' participation in Title IV programs, enrollments, revenues,
financial condition, cash flows and results of operations would be materially and adversely affected. If our institutions lost their eligibility to participate in Title IV
programs, or if the amount of available Title IV program funds were reduced, we would seek to arrange or provide alternative sources of financial aid for students.
There is no assurance that any private organizations would be willing to provide financial assistance to our institutions' students. Additionally, the interest rate and
other terms of such financial aid would likely not be as favorable as those for Title IV program funds, and we might be required to guarantee all or part of such
alternative assistance or might incur other additional costs in connection with securing such alternative assistance. It is unlikely that we would be able to arrange
alternative funding to replace all the Title IV funding our institutions' students receive.
In addition to the actions that may be brought against us as a result of participation in Title IV programs, we are also subject to complaints and lawsuits
relating to regulatory compliance brought not only by the regulatory agencies that oversee our institutions but also by other federal and state governmental
agencies and third parties, such as current or former students or employees and other members of the public, including lawsuits filed pursuant to the federal False
Claims Act and similar state laws. For more information regarding claims and lawsuits, see the risk factor entitled “ We face litigation and legal proceedings that
could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations ” in Part I, Item 1A of this report and “Legal
Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3 of this report.
Compliance reviews, audits and reports
Our institutions are subject to reviews in connection with periodic renewals of certification to participate in Title IV programs, as well as announced and
unannounced compliance reviews and audits by various external agencies, including the Department and the OIG. State licensing agencies, the U.S. Department of
Veterans Affairs and accrediting bodies may also conduct audits and reviews of a similar fashion. In addition, as part of the Department's ongoing monitoring of
institutions' administration of Title IV programs, the Higher Education Act requires institutions to submit to the Department an annual Title IV compliance audit
conducted by an independent certified public accounting firm. In addition, to enable the Department to make a determination of an institution's financial
responsibility, each institution must annually submit audited financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S.
and Department regulations.
The OIG is responsible for, among other things, promoting the effectiveness and integrity of the Department's programs and operations. With respect to
educational institutions that participate in Title IV programs, the OIG conducts its work primarily through an audit services division and an investigations division.
The audit services division typically conducts general audits of institutions to assess their administration of federal funds in accordance with applicable rules and
regulations. The investigation services division typically conducts focused investigations of particular allegations of fraud, abuse or other wrongdoing against
institutions by third parties, such as a lawsuit filed under seal pursuant to the federal False Claims Act.
In January 2011, Ashford University received a final audit report from the OIG regarding the compliance audit commenced in May 2008 and covering the
period July 1, 2006 through June 30, 2007. The audit covered Ashford University's administration of Title IV program funds, including compliance with
regulations governing institutional and student eligibility, awards and disbursements of Title IV program funds, verification of awards and returns of unearned
funds during that period, and its compensation of financial aid and recruiting personnel during the period May 10, 2005 through June 30, 2009.
The final audit report contained audit findings, in each case for the period July 1, 2006 through June 30, 2007 (award year 2006-2007), which are
summarized as follows:
•

Finding 1-The university designed a compensation plan for enrollment advisors that provided incentive payments based on success in securing
enrollments and did not establish that its plan and practices qualified for the regulatory safe harbors.
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•

Finding 2-The university did not always perform return of Title IV aid calculations properly, resulting in the improper retention of a total of $29,036 of
Title IV program funds for 38 students in the OIG's sample sets of 85 students.

•

Finding 3-The university did not in all instances return Title IV program funds timely for Title IV students who withdrew or went on a leave of absence
from school.

•

Finding 4-The form formerly used by the university to obtain authorizations to retain student credit balances did not comply with applicable regulations.

•

Finding 5-The university did not in all instances disburse Title IV program funds in accordance with applicable regulations or university policy because
they were made prior to the students being eligible to receive them.

•

Finding 6-The university did not in all instances maintain documentation to support online students' leaves of absence due to the lack of support for the
start dates for 19 leaves of absence.

Each finding was accompanied by one or more recommendations to the Department's Office of Federal Student Aid, or FSA, as summarized below:
•

For Finding 1, the OIG recommended that the FSA require the university to provide records of all salary adjustments made to enrollment advisors during
award year 2006-2007 and any documentation, not disclosed to the OIG, that demonstrates that any specific adjustments made during that period
qualified for the regulatory safe harbors.

•

For Findings 2 and 5, the OIG recommended that the FSA require the university (i) to remit to the Department and appropriate lenders certain amounts
identified by the OIG ($29,036 for Finding 2) and (ii) undertake a file review for award year 2006-2007 to identify the amount of Title IV funds that
were improperly retained or disbursed and to remit such amounts to the Department or appropriate lenders.

•

For Finding 4, the OIG recommended that the FSA require the university to cease drawing, disbursing and holding credit balances of Title IV program
funds for which there are no currently assessed institutional charges.

•

For Findings 2, 3, 5 and 6, the OIG recommended that the FSA require the university to develop and implement certain remedial policies and
procedures.

•

For Findings 2, 3 and 5 generally, and for Finding 1 in the event the university cannot establish that its salary adjustments for enrollment advisors
qualified for the safe harbor, the OIG recommended that the FSA consider whether to take appropriate action under Subpart G of 34 C.F.R. Part 668.
Under Subpart G, the FSA may seek to impose a fine against the university or to limit, suspend or terminate the university's participation in Title IV
programs.

The findings and recommendations of the final audit report represent the opinions of the OIG, and the issuance of final audit determinations and corrective
action to be taken, if any, will be made by the FSA.
Ashford University expects that the FSA will consider the findings and recommendations in the final audit report and engage in a dialog with the university
prior to determining what, if any, action to take and issuing a Final Audit Determination Letter concluding the audit. The OIG requested that Ashford University
provide a response to the FSA regarding the final audit report, and the university responded in a timely manner.
In June 2011, in connection with Findings 2 and 3, the FSA requested that Ashford University conduct a file review of the return to Title IV calculations for
all Title IV recipients who withdrew from distance education programs during the 2006-2007 award year. The institution cooperated with the request and supplied
the information within the time frame required.
If the FSA were to determine to assess a monetary liability or commence an action under Subpart G or other procedures, Ashford University would have an
opportunity to contest the assessment or proposed action through administrative proceedings, with the right to seek review of any final administrative action in the
federal courts. Although we believe Ashford University operates in substantial compliance with Department regulations that are applicable to the areas under
review, we cannot predict the ultimate findings, potential liabilities or remedial actions, if any, that the FSA may include in the Final Audit Determination Letter,
or the result of any administrative proceedings, including Subpart G or other proceedings, that may arise out of the Final Audit Determination Letter.
FSA periodically reviews institutions participating in Title IV programs for compliance with applicable standards and regulations. On July 25, 2012, FSA
notified University of the Rockies that it had scheduled an on-site program review, which took place August 20, 2012 through August 24, 2012. In June 2013,
University of the Rockies was provided with FSA’s preliminary program review report and has filed a timely response. Following consideration of the response,
the FSA will issue a Final Program Review Determination, or FPRD, letter. If the FPRD were to include findings of non-compliance, University
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of the Rockies could be required, subject to administrative review procedures, to pay a fine, return Title IV funds previously received, or be subjected to other
administrative sanctions. While we cannot currently predict the final outcome of the Department review, any such final adverse finding could damage the
institution's reputation in the industry and negatively impact enrollment, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
Adding teaching locations and implementing new educational programs
The requirements and standards of accrediting agencies, state education agencies and the Department limit our institutions' ability in certain instances to
establish additional teaching locations or implement new educational programs. WASC, the HLC and state education agencies that may authorize or accredit our
institutions or their programs generally require institutions to notify them in advance of adding certain new locations or implementing certain new programs, and
upon notification may undertake a review of the quality of the facility or the program and the financial, academic and other qualifications of the institution. If an
institution participating in Title IV programs plans to add a new location or educational program, the institution must apply under certain circumstances to the
Department to have the additional location or educational program designated as within the scope of the institution's Title IV eligibility.
Ashford University is provisionally certified for Title IV eligibility until September 30, 2016. The Department typically places an institution on provisional
certification following a change in ownership resulting in a change of control and also may provisionally certify an institution for other reasons including but not
limited to failure to comply with certain standards of administrative capability or financial responsibility. During the time when an institution is provisionally
certified, it may be subject to adverse action with fewer due process rights than those afforded to other institutions and must apply for and receive approval from
the Department for any substantial change, which includes, but is not limited to, the establishment of an additional location, an increase in the level of academic
offerings, or the addition of any nondegree or short-term training programs. However, provisional certification does not otherwise limit an institution's access to
Title IV funds.
Change in ownership resulting in a change of control
The Department and most state and accrediting agencies require institutions of higher education to report or obtain approval of certain changes of control and
changes in other aspects of institutional organization or operations. Transactions or events that constitute a change of control may include significant acquisitions
or dispositions of an institution's common stock and significant changes in the composition of an institution's governing board. The types of thresholds for such
reporting and approval vary among the states and among accrediting agencies. The Department regulations provide that a change of control occurs for a publicly
traded corporation if either (i) a person acquires such ownership and control of the corporation so that the corporation is required to file a current report on Form 8K with the SEC disclosing a change of control, or (ii) the corporation's largest stockholder who owns at least 25% of the total outstanding voting stock of the
corporation, ceases to own at least 25% of such stock or ceases to be the largest stockholder owning at least 25% of the total stock. A significant purchase or
disposition of our voting stock, including a disposition of voting stock by Warburg Pincus, could be determined by the Department to be a change of control under
this standard. In such event, the regulatory procedures applicable to a change in ownership and control would have to be followed in connection with the
transaction. Similarly if such a disposition were deemed a change of control by the applicable accreditor or state educational licensing agency, any required
regulatory notifications and approvals would have to be made or obtained.
Privacy of student records
The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974, or FERPA, and the Department's FERPA regulations require educational institutions to protect the
privacy of students' educational records by limiting an institution's disclosure of a student's personally identifiable information without the student's prior written
consent. FERPA also requires institutions to allow students to review and request changes to their educational records maintained by the institution, to notify
students at least annually of this inspection right and to maintain records in each student's file listing requests for access to and disclosures of personally
identifiable information and the interest of such party in that information. If an institution fails to comply with FERPA, the Department may require corrective
actions by the institution or may terminate an institution's receipt of further federal funds. In addition, educational institutions are obligated to safeguard student
information pursuant to the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, or GLBA, a federal law designed to protect consumers' personal financial information held by financial
institutions and other entities that provide financial services to consumers. The applicable GLBA regulations require an institution to, among other things, develop
and maintain a comprehensive, written information security program designed to protect against the unauthorized disclosure of personally identifiable financial
information of students, parents or other individuals with whom such institution has a customer relationship. If an institution fails to comply with the applicable
GLBA requirements, it may be required to take corrective actions, be subject to monitoring and oversight by the Federal Trade Commission, or the FTC, and be
subject to fines or penalties imposed by the FTC. For-profit educational institutions are also subject to the general deceptive practices jurisdiction of the FTC and
the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB). The FTC and CFPB are intensifying
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their regulatory scrutiny of our industry and related vendors, sometimes in coordination with the US Department of Education and state Attorneys General.
State Education Licensure and Regulation
California, Iowa and Colorado
Our campuses are located in California, Iowa, and Colorado. We do not have campuses in any other states. Ashford University has designated its San Diego,
California facilities as its main campus for Title IV purposes. The university submitted an Application for Approval to Operate an Accredited Institution to BPPE
on September 10, 2013. See “ Application for Licensure by California BPPE ” above for further discussion.
The University also has a campus located in Iowa. Ashford University is registered as a postsecondary school in the state of Iowa by ICSAC. To maintain our
Iowa registration, we must comply with applicable requirements under Iowa statutes and rules.
University of the Rockies' campus is located in Colorado. The University is authorized to operate by the Colorado Commission on Higher Education. To
maintain our Colorado authorization, we must comply with applicable requirements under Colorado statutes and rules.
The Higher Education Act requires Ashford University and the University of Rockies to be legally authorized in the states in which they are physically
located in order to participate in Title IV programs. Effective July 1, 2011, the Department regulations imposed new Title IV program requirements for an
institution to be considered legally authorized by a state. Our failure to hold required authorizations in California, Iowa, or Colorado could cause Ashford
University or University of the Rockies, as applicable, to lose their authorization to deliver educational programs and to grant degrees and other credentials and
lose their eligibility to participate in Title IV programs. See “Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-State authorization” above.
Request for information from Ashford University by Iowa College Student Aid Commission
On September 22, 2012, the Iowa College Student Aid Commission requested that Ashford University provide the commission with certain information and
documentation related to, among other matters, the denial of Ashford University's application for WASC accreditation, the university's compliance with HLC
criteria and policies, a teach-out plan in the event that Ashford University were to be unsuccessful in obtaining a WASC accreditation and sanctioned by HLC, and
information relating to admissions employees, receipt of financial aid, availability of books, credit balance authorizations, and academic and financial support and
advisement services to students. The commission requested that Ashford University provide the requested information by November 12, 2012 and make an inperson presentation during the commission's meeting on November 16, 2012. Ashford University made the presentation and has notified the commission of its
successful accreditation by WASC.
Additional state regulation
Most state education agencies impose regulatory requirements on educational institutions operating within their boundaries. Some states have sought to assert
jurisdiction over out-of-state educational institutions offering online programs that have no physical location or other presence in the state but that have some
activity in the state, such as enrolling or offering educational services to students who reside in the state, employing faculty who reside in the state or advertising to
or recruiting prospective students in the state. In addition to California, Iowa and Colorado, we have determined that our activities in certain states constitute a
presence requiring licensure or authorization under the requirements of the state education agency in those states, and in other states we have obtained state
education agency approvals as we have determined necessary in connection with our marketing and recruiting activities. We review state licensure requirements
when appropriate to determine whether our activities in those states constitute a presence or otherwise require licensure or authorization. Because we enroll
students from all 50 states and from the District of Columbia, we may have to seek licensure or authorization in additional states in the future. State regulatory
requirements for online education vary among the states, are not well developed in many states, are imprecise or unclear in some states and are subject to change.
Consequently, a state education agency could disagree with our conclusion that we are not required to obtain a license or authorization in the state and could
restrict one or more of our business activities in the state, including the ability to recruit or enroll students in that state or to continue providing services or
advertising in that state. If we fail to comply with state licensing or authorization requirements for any state, we may be subject to the loss of state licensure or
authorization by that state, or be subject to other sanctions, including restrictions on our activities in that state, fines and penalties. The loss of any required license
or authorization in states other than California, Iowa and Colorado could prohibit us from recruiting prospective students or from offering services to current
students in those states. Effective July 1, 2011, the Department regulations imposed new Title IV state authorization requirements for institutions that offer
postsecondary education through distance education to students in states in which it is not physically located or in which it is otherwise subject
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to state jurisdiction as determined by the state. The regulations have been the subject of a federal court challenge and a subsequent announcement by the
Department regarding their enforcement. See “Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-State authorization” above.
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, or Dodd-Frank, created the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or the CFPB,
to implement various federal consumer financial laws, and granted direct supervisory authority to the CFPB over, among others, providers of private education
loans as that term is defined in the Truth in Lending Act. Dodd-Frank also expands existing prohibitions against unfair or deceptive practices in the Federal Trade
Commission Act to prohibit abusive practices. Ashford University and University of the Rockies offer institutional loans that may be deemed private education
loans as defined in the Truth in Lending Act. As non-depository institution private educational loan lenders, Ashford University and University of the Rockies may
be deemed covered persons under the Dodd-Frank Act and subject to the CFPB's supervisory authority, which includes the authority to require reports and
compliance examinations.
The Iran Threat Reduction and Syria Human Rights Act of 2012
In 2013, Endurance International Group (“EIG”) and Santander Asset Management Investment Holdings Limited, (“SAMIH”), engaged in certain activities
that are subject to disclosure pursuant to Section 219 of the Iran Threat Reduction and Syria Human Rights Act of 2012 and Section 13(r) of the Exchange Act and
which are disclosed in Exhibit 99.1 to this annual report. Affiliates of Warburg Pincus, LLC: (i) beneficially own more than 10% of our outstanding common stock
and are members of our board of directors and (ii) beneficially own more than 10% of the equity interests of, and have the right to designate members of the board
of directors of, EIG and SAMIH. We will be required to separately file, concurrently with this annual report, a notice that such activities have been disclosed in
this annual report, which notice must also contain the information required by Section 13(r) of the Exchange Act.
Department of Justice
On October 10, 2012, we received a letter from the U.S. Department of Justice, Civil Division, Commercial Litigation Branch, or the Justice Department,
informing us that the Justice Department was investigating the compensation of our admissions personnel. In November 2012, we met with the Justice Department
in connection with their investigation. In December 2012 and January 2013, we were notified that the Justice Department had declined to intervene in two separate
qui tam complaints filed by private relators under the Federal False Claims Act and unsealed on December 26, 2012 and January 2, 2013. For more information
regarding claims and lawsuits, see the risk factor entitled “ We face litigation and legal proceedings that could have a material adverse effect on enrollments,
financial condition, cash flows and results of operations ” in Part I, Item 1A of this report and “Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3 of this report.

30

Item 1A. Risk Factors.
Investing in our common stock involves risk. Before making an investment in our common stock, you should carefully consider the following risks, as well as
the other information contained in this report, including our annual consolidated financial statements and Part II, Item 7, “Management's Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” The risks described below are those which we believe are the material risks we face. Any of the risks described
below could significantly and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. As a result, the trading price of
our common stock could decline and you could lose part or all of your investment. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or not believed by
us to be material could also impact us.
Risks Related to the Extensive Regulation of Our Business
If our institutions fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, they could face monetary liabilities or penalties, operational restrictions, or loss of
access to Title IV programs from which we derive most of our revenue.
In the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011, Ashford University derived 85.6% , 86.4% and 86.8% , respectively, and University of the Rockies
derived 87.6% , 87.3% and 85.0% , respectively, of their revenues (in each case calculated in accordance with applicable regulations of the U.S. Department of
Education, which we refer to as the Department) from federal student aid programs administered by the Department, which programs we refer to as Title IV
programs. If our institutions were to lose eligibility to participate in Title IV programs or were to have such participation substantially curtailed, enrollments,
revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations would be materially and adversely affected.
To participate in Title IV programs, an institution must be (1) legally authorized to operate in the state in which it is physically located, (2) accredited by an
accrediting agency recognized by the Department as a reliable indicator of educational quality, and (3) certified as an eligible institution by the Department. As a
result, we are subject to extensive regulation by state education agencies, our institutions' accrediting agencies and the Department. These regulatory requirements
cover many aspects of our operations; they also restrict our ability to acquire or open new schools, to add new or expand existing educational programs, to change
our corporate structure or ownership, and to make other substantive changes. If one of our institutions fails to comply with these regulatory requirements, the
Department could impose sanctions on that institution, including (depending on the nature of the noncompliance):
•

transferring an institution from the advance method or the heightened cash monitoring level one method of Title IV payment, which permit the
institution to receive Title IV funds before or concurrently with disbursing them to students, to the heightened cash monitoring level two method of
payment or to the reimbursement method of payment, which delay an institution's receipt of Title IV funds until student eligibility has been verified;

•

imposing monetary liability against the institution in an amount equal to any funds determined to have been improperly disbursed or improperly not to
have been returned upon student withdrawal;

•

requiring the institution to post a letter of credit in favor of the Department as a condition for continued Title IV eligibility;

•

initiating proceedings to impose a fine or to limit, suspend or terminate the institution's participation in Title IV programs;

•

referring a matter for possible civil or criminal investigation;

•

failing to grant the institution's application for renewal of its certification to participate in Title IV programs or imposing conditions on its participation
in Title IV programs; or

•

taking emergency action to suspend the institution's participation in Title IV programs without prior notice or a prior opportunity for a hearing.

Given that state education agencies, the Department and our institutions' accrediting agencies, the Accrediting Commission for Senior Colleges and
Universities of the Western Association of Schools and Colleges, or WASC, and the Higher Learning Commission of the North Central Association of Colleges
and Schools, or HLC, periodically revise their requirements and modify their interpretations of existing requirements, we cannot predict with certainty how all of
these regulatory requirements will be applied or whether we will be able to comply with all of the requirements. In the following paragraphs, we have described
some of the most significant risks related to our ability and that of our institutions to comply with regulations issued by state education agencies, the Department,
WASC and HLC.
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The Department's Office of Inspector General conducted a compliance audit of Ashford University and issued a final audit report that contains findings of
noncompliance and recommendations for certain administrative remedies.
On January 21, 2011, Ashford University received a final audit report from the Department's Office of Inspector General, or the OIG, regarding the
compliance audit commenced in May 2008 and covering the period July 1, 2006 through June 30, 2007. The audit covered Ashford University's administration of
Title IV program funds, including compliance with regulations governing institutional and student eligibility, awards and disbursements of Title IV program funds,
verification of awards and returns of unearned funds during that period, and its compensation of financial aid and recruiting personnel during the period May 10,
2005 through June 30, 2009.
The final audit report contained audit findings, in each case for the period July 1, 2006 through June 30, 2007 (award year 2006-2007), and related
recommendations to the Department's Office of Federal Student Aid, or the FSA. For more information regarding the OIG's final audit report and the findings and
recommendations contained therein, see “Regulation-Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-Compliance reviews, audits and reports” in Part I, Item 1 of this
report.
Ashford University expects that the FSA will consider the findings and recommendations in the final audit report and engage in a dialog with the university
prior to determining what, if any, action to take. In June 2011, in connection with Findings 2 and 3, the FSA requested that Ashford University conduct a review of
the return to Title IV calculations for all Title IV recipients who withdrew from distance education programs during the 2006-2007 award year. Ashford
cooperated with the FSA's request and supplied information within the time frame required. If the FSA were to determine to assess a monetary liability or
commence an action to limit, suspend or terminate the university's participation in Title IV programs, Ashford University would have an opportunity to contest the
assessment or proposed action through a series of administrative proceedings, with the right to seek review of any final administrative action in the federal courts.
Although we believe Ashford University operates in substantial compliance with Department regulations that are applicable to the areas under review, we cannot
predict the ultimate extent of the potential liability or remedial actions, if any, that might result from the recommendations by the OIG in the final audit report.
Such findings and related remedial action could have a material adverse effect on our reputation in the industry, our financial condition, cash flows and results of
operations, the ability to recruit students and our business.
Our institutions' failure to maintain accreditation would denigrate the value of our institutions’ educational programs and result in a loss of eligibility to
participate in Title IV programs.
An institution must be accredited by an accrediting agency recognized by the Department to participate in Title IV programs. Ashford University is
accredited by WASC and University of the Rockies is accredited by HLC. Each of WASC and HLC is recognized by the Department as a reliable authority
regarding the quality of education and training provided by the institutions it accredits. To remain accredited, our institutions must continuously meet accreditation
standards relating to, among other things, performance, governance, institutional integrity, educational quality, faculty, administrative capability, resources and
financial stability. If either of our institutions fails to satisfy any of the standards of their respective accrediting agencies, it could lose its accreditation.
As part of a continuing monitoring process relating to WASC's grant of initial accreditation to Ashford University, the university will host WASC in a special
visit in spring 2015. University of the Rockies will host HLC for a comprehensive visit in September 2014.
On July 24, 2012, HLC notified University of the Rockies that it had been identified for further inquiry based on certain non-financial data the institution
provided in its 2012 Institutional Annual Report. Under HLC's Institutional Update process, all accredited and candidate institutions are required to provide certain
financial and non-financial data to the commission annually; the commission then screens the non-financial data for seven indicator conditions and requests an
institutional report from institutions that meet certain of these conditions. The purpose of the screening process is to identify institutions that may be at risk of not
meeting certain of HLC's Criteria for Accreditation. HLC has requested that University of the Rockies provide a report to the commission demonstrating the
institution's ability to continue meeting the Core Components in light of the conditions at the institution that led to the indicators being identified. This report was
provided on August 29, 2012. HLC notified University of the Rockies in 2013 that its staff accepts the institutions' explanatory report and no further action is
needed at this time.
Loss of accreditation would denigrate the value of our institutions' educational programs and would cause them to lose their eligibility to participate in Title
IV programs, which would have a material adverse effect on enrollment, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
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In connection with its transition to WASC accreditation, Ashford University has submitted an application to the California Bureau for Private Postsecondary
Education. Denial or undue delay of the application could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, Title IV eligibility, revenues, financial condition,
cash flows and results of operations. Approval of the application will entail a greater reporting burden on the university and could result in increased
regulatory or political scrutiny of the university.
To be eligible to participate in Title IV programs, an institution must be legally authorized to offer its educational programs by the states in which it is
physically located. Effective July 1, 2011, the Department established new requirements to determine if an institution is considered to be legally authorized by a
state. See “Regulation - State Authorization” in Part I, Item 1 of this report. In connection with its transition to WASC accreditation, Ashford University has
designated its San Diego, California facilities as its main campus for Title IV purposes. WASC-accredited institutions operating in California are not required to
obtain approval from the State of California, Department of Consumer Affairs, Bureau for Private Postsecondary Education, or BPPE, in order to operate in the
state. Under the Department’s state authorization rule, an institution must be approved or licensed on a basis other than accreditation in instances in which it is not
established by name as an educational institution by a state through a charter, statute, constitutional provision, or other action issued by an appropriate state agency
or entity. On May 21, 2013, the Department published a notice stating that it would provide an extension of the effective date of the state authorization rule until
July 1, 2014 to qualifying institutions that obtain from a state an explanation of how the extension of time would permit the state to comply with the regulations.
The California Department of Consumer Affairs has issued a letter explaining the need for an extension. It is uncertain how the Department will interpret the state
authorization rule or the applicability of the extension of time. The university submitted an Application for Approval to Operate an Accredited Institution to BPPE
on September 10, 2013. If the university’s licensing application were denied or subject to undue delay, either event could have a material adverse effect on
enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
If the application is granted, the university will no longer be exempt from certain laws and regulations applicable to private, post-secondary educational
institutions. These laws and regulations entail certain California reporting requirements, including but not limited to, graduation, employment and licensing data,
certain changes of ownership and control, faculty and programs, and student refund policies, as well as the triggering of other state and federal student employment
data reporting and disclosure requirements. The additional reporting and disclosure could result in material additional costs to comply with regulatory requirements
and increased regulatory or political scrutiny of the university.
As a result of changes that have been made, or may be required by the accreditors of our institutions, to our operational relationships with our institutions and
to their operations and business models, our historical financial and business results may not necessarily be representative of future results.
In connection with the transition of Ashford University to WASC accreditation and our efforts to structure our operations to meet evolving regulatory expectations,
our institutions have made operational changes and launched various new business initiatives, and additional changes may be required. These changes and
initiatives included hiring new leadership, implementing smaller class sizes, requiring minimum age-levels for students, implementing the Ashford Promise (an
initiative that allows students a full refund for all tuition and fees through the third week of a student's first class), hiring additional full-time faculty, and
implementing new program review models. Many of these initiatives result in higher expense to the organization, primarily in the areas of instructional costs and
services. In addition, we have made changes in our organizational structure and operational relationships with our academic institutions to ensure their academic
independence and satisfaction of accreditation-related requirements. Some of these changes and initiatives have contributed to declines in new student enrollments.
Accordingly, our historical results and trends, including enrollments, admissions advisory and marketing expenses and instructional costs and services, may not be
indicative of our future results and there can be no assurance that changes to our operational relationship with our institutions or other changes we have made, or
may make in the future, will not have an adverse impact on regulatory compliance, satisfaction of accreditation-related standards, or our financial condition, cash
flows and results of operations.
The Department of Education is conducting a program review of University of the Rockies, which may result in the repayment of Title IV funds and may lead
to fines, penalties, or other sanctions, and damage to the institution's reputation in the industry.
The Department periodically reviews institutions participating in Title IV programs for compliance with applicable standards and regulations. On July 25,
2012, the Department notified University of the Rockies that it had scheduled an on-site program review. This review occurred from August 20, 2012 through
August 24, 2012. The review is to assess the institution's administration of Title IV programs and initially covers the 2010-2011 and 2011-2012 award years, but
may be expanded if deemed appropriate by the Department. The Department has begun this review and University of the Rockies was provided with the
Department's initial Program Review Report and has responded. Following consideration of the response, the FSA will
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issue a Final Program Review Determination (“FPRD”) letter. If the FPRD were to include significant findings of non-compliance, University of the Rockies could
be required, subject to administrative review procedures, to pay a fine, return Title IV funds previously received, or be subjected to other administrative sanctions.
While we cannot currently predict the final outcome of the Department review, any such final adverse finding could damage the institution's reputation in the
industry and negatively impact enrollment, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
Additional regulations or regulatory scrutiny resulting from negotiated rulemaking by the Department of Education could result in increased compliance
costs, fines, sanctions or lawsuits, which could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of
operations.
The Department held public hearings in May and June 2013 inviting the submission of topics for consideration in a series of rulemaking efforts to achieve a
long-term agenda in higher education focused on access, affordability, academic quality and completion. Recent hearings have focused on topics including, but not
limited to, cash management of Title IV program funds, state authorization for programs offering distance or correspondence education, gainful employment,
credit and clock hour conversions, changes made to the Clery Act by the Violence Against Women Act of 2013 (P.L. 113-4), and the definition of “adverse credit”
for PLUS borrowers.
In June 2013, the Department announced its intention to establish a negotiated rulemaking committee to prepare proposed regulations that would establish
standards for programs that prepare students for gainful employment in a recognized occupation. The committee met for three sessions between September and
December 2013, but did not reach consensus on the content of the proposed regulations. On March 14, 2014, the Department published proposed regulations for
public comment. See “Regulation - Gainful Employment.”
In January 2014, the Department held the first of three negotiated rulemaking sessions to implement the changes to the Clery Act required by the enactment
of the Violence Against Women Act, or VAWA. Two other sessions are scheduled for February 2014 and March-April 2014. While the final regulations will
likely not be implemented prior to July 1, 2015, the Department notified institutions in an Electronic Announcement in May 2013 that until the regulations go into
effect, it expects institutions to make a good faith effort to comply with the statutory requirements. Among other things, VAWA requires institutions to compile
statistics for certain crimes reported to campus security authorities or local police agencies. Under the statute, an institution must include the new required
information in its Annual Security Report issued no later than October 1, 2014.
In February 2014, the Department held the first of three negotiation sessions related to various new program integrity initiatives, including the potential
reintroduction of the Distance Education Rule (34 C.F.R. § 600.9(c)) that was vacated by a federal court in 2011. The February sessions produced no substantive
outcomes, but sessions in March 2014 plan to address the Department’s draft of a proposed regulation on distance education that could materially impact our
business.
Additional topics to be considered at March and April sessions are expected to include, but may not be limited to, the following: cash management of Title
IV funds, including the use of debit cards and the handling of Title IV credit balances; state authorization for foreign locations; clock to credit hour conversion; the
definition of “adverse credit” for borrowers in the Federal Direct PLUS Loan Program; and the application of the repeat coursework provisions to graduate and
undergraduate programs.
We cannot predict the scope and content of the regulations that may emerge from these or other rulemaking activities that the Department initiates.
Compliance with additional regulations, or with modifications to existing regulations, and/or regulatory scrutiny that results in the Company's institutions being
allegedly out of compliance with these regulations, could result in direct and indirect costs of compliance, fines, liabilities, sanctions or lawsuits, which could have
a material adverse effect on enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
Action by the U.S. Congress to revise the laws governing Title IV programs or to reduce funding for these programs could negatively impact our business.
The U.S. Congress must periodically reauthorize the Higher Education Act and annually determine the funding level for each Title IV program. In 2008, the
Higher Education Act was reauthorized through September 2014. The U.S. Congress may propose and pass revisions to the Higher Education Act between
reauthorizations, by using other legislative vehicles such as budget bills and appropriations bills. The U.S. Congress also determines the funding levels for Title IV
programs annually through the budget and appropriations process.
Any action by the U.S. Congress that significantly reduces Title IV program funding or the eligibility of our institutions or students to participate in Title IV
programs could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. Congressional action could also
require us to modify our practices in ways that could
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increase our administrative costs and reduce our profit margin, which could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash
flows and results of operations.
For example, as the federal Pell Grant program is one of the largest non-defense discretionary spending programs in the federal budget, it is a potential target
for reduction as the U.S. Congress addresses unprecedented budget deficits. Under the Pell Grant program, the Department of Education makes grants to
undergraduate students who demonstrate financial need. On December 23, 2011, the “Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2012,” among other provisions, eliminated
federal student aid eligibility, with some exceptions, for ability-to-benefit students who first enroll on or after July 1, 2013. The same law limited Pell Grant
eligibility to 18 semesters or equivalent, a provision that went into effect for all students beginning with the 2012-2013 award year.
Subsidized Stafford loans are also a potential target for reduction. Subsidized Stafford loans are federally guaranteed loans based on financial need. Interest
does not accrue on subsidized Stafford loans while a student is in school at least half time, or during any future grace or deferment periods; the federal government
pays the interest on such loans during these times. However, under the “Budget Control Act of 2011,” all subsidized Stafford loans were eliminated for graduate
and professional students, who are now only eligible for unsubsidized Stafford loans. Further, with the enactment of the “Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2012,”
the payment of the interest subsidy to students receiving subsidized Stafford loans during the six-month grace period by the federal government was eliminated
from July 1, 2012 through June 30, 2014. In addition, when the law, “Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21 st Century Act,” was enacted to extend the 3.4% interest
rate for subsidized Stafford loans for loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 2012 through June 30, 2013, another limitation on subsidized Stafford loans was
established. For new borrowers on or after July 1, 2013, borrowers will no longer be eligible for subsidized Stafford loans when the borrower reaches 150 percent
of the published length of the borrower’s program. Moreover, if the borrower continues enrolling in the program beyond the 150 percent point of the same or a
different program, or a shorter program, the borrower will be responsible for any interest that accrues on his or her subsidized Stafford loans.
If in the future, funding is reduced for the Pell Grant program (such as a reduction in the maximum award amount), if fewer students or programs are deemed
eligible for the Pell Grant Program or if loan interest subsidies are eliminated for Stafford loans (e.g., eligibility for such loans has been eliminated for graduate
students effective July 1, 2012), our institutions might become less affordable for certain students at our institutions, which could negatively impact enrollments,
revenue, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
Additionally, there has been increased focus by some in the U.S. Congress on the role that for-profit educational institutions play in higher education. In
particular, the Health, Education, Labor and Pensions Committee of the U.S. Senate, referred to as the HELP Committee, held a series of hearings regarding the
for-profit education sector and Title IV programs, including a March 2011 hearing specifically about us and Ashford University entitled “Bridgepoint Education,
Inc.: A Case Study in For-Profit Education and Oversight.” The hearings, and those of other Congressional committees, have focused on various aspects of the forprofit education sector including student debt, recruitment practices, educational quality, student outcomes, the effectiveness of accrediting bodies, and the amount
of Title IV funding received by the for-profit education sector.
In connection with these hearings, members of Congress have requested a broad range of detailed information from various for-profit institutions, including
Ashford University and University of the Rockies. Most recently, on July 29, 2012, the majority staff of the HELP Committee issued a report entitled “For Profit
Higher Education: The Failure to Safeguard the Federal Investment and Ensure Student Success,” which contains the majority staff's findings from the committee's
two-year investigation of the for-profit education sector. The report is critical of the sector generally and of us and our institutions specifically, expressing concerns
surrounding the amount of Title IV and other federal funds received, the amount of money spent on marketing and recruiting, student retention and default rates,
staffing levels, learning outcomes and accreditation, among other items.
Certain members of Congress have proposed legislation that could have an adverse impact on our institutions. For example, Senators Dick Durbin (D-IL),
Jack Reed (D-RI), Elizabeth Warren (D-MA), and Barbara Boxer (D-CA) introduced the “Protect Student Borrowers Act,” which would assess penalties against
institutions if their cohort default rate exceeds 15 percent. A bill introduced by the late Senator Frank Lautenberg (D-NJ) and Senator Tom Harkin (D-IA), titled
the “Student First Act,” would require Department of Education program reviews of institutions engaging in “risky” behavior, such as serial forbearance and
default rate manipulation, spending more than 20 percent of revenue on recruiting and marketing, and deriving more than 85 percent of revenue from federal
student aid sources. Senator Kay Hagan (D-NC) introduced the “Protecting Financial Aid for Students and Taxpayers Act,” which would prohibit institutions from
using revenues derived from federal educational assistance funds for advertising, marketing, or recruiting. While these bills will not likely pass during this session,
they may serve as a basis of discussion during the reauthorization of the Higher Education Act.
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We cannot predict what legislation, if any, will emanate from the HELP Committee hearings, the reauthorization of the Higher Education Act, or other
Congressional deliberations, or what impact any such legislation might have on the for-profit education sector and our business in particular. Congressional action
could also require us to modify our practices in ways that could increase our administrative costs and reduce our profit margin, which could have a material
adverse effect on enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
If WASC or the Higher Learning Commission lose recognition by the Department, our institutions could lose their ability to participate in Title IV programs.
In order to participate in the Title IV programs, an institution must be accredited by an accrediting body recognized by the Department. Both WASC and
HLC are recognized by the Department. If the Department ceased to recognize WASC or HLC for any reason, Ashford University and University of the Rockies,
respectively, would not be eligible to participate in Title IV programs unless the Department continued to certify the eligibility of the institutions to participate in
the Title IV programs. The Department may continue to certify an institution for a period not later than 18 months after the date such recognition ceased. The
ineligibility of our institutions to participate in Title IV programs would have a material adverse effect on enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows
and results of operations.
Our institutions could lose eligibility to participate in Title IV programs or face other sanctions if they derive more than 90% of their respective revenues from
these programs.
Under the Higher Education Act, a proprietary institution loses eligibility to participate in Title IV programs if the institution derives more than 90% of its
revenues (calculated in accordance with the Higher Education Act) from Title IV programs for two consecutive fiscal years. This rule is commonly referred to as
the “90/10 rule.” Any institution that violates the 90/10 rule for two consecutive fiscal years becomes ineligible to participate in Title IV programs for at least two
fiscal years. In addition, an institution whose rate exceeds 90% for any single year will be placed on provisional certification and may be subject to other
enforcement measures. In the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011, Ashford University derived 85.6% , 86.4% and 86.8% , respectively, and
University of the Rockies derived 87.6% , 87.3% and 85.0% , respectively, of their respective revenues (calculated in accordance with applicable Department
regulations) from Title IV funds.
Recent changes in federal law that increased Title IV grant and loan limits, and any additional increases in the future, may result in an increase in the
revenues we receive from Title IV programs, which could make it more difficult for our institutions to satisfy the 90/10 rule.
Revenue derived from government tuition assistance for military personnel, including veterans, is considered not to be federal student aid for purposes of the
90/10 rule calculation, and accordingly helps our institutions satisfy the 90/10 rule. As of December 31, 2013 , approximately 23.6% of our institutions' students
were affiliated with the military, some of whom are eligible to receive tuition assistance from the government which they may use to pursue postsecondary
degrees. If there were a reduction in funding in government tuition assistance for military personnel, including veterans, if revenue derived from such funding were
otherwise to decrease significantly, or if there were changes in the treatment of such funding for purposes of the 90/10 rule calculation, it could be significantly
more difficult for our institutions to satisfy the 90/10 rule, which could result in our institutions losing eligibility to participate in Title IV programs.
Congress also could propose and adopt legislation that amends the 90/10 rule in ways that make it more difficult for our institutions to satisfy the 90/10 rule.
For example, in late 2011, the “Ensuring Quality Education for Veterans Act,” was introduced, which proposes to treat government tuition assistance for military
personnel, including veterans, as federal student aid for purposes of calculations under the 90/10 rule. Similarly, in January 2012, Sen. Richard Durbin introduced
the “The Protecting Our Students and Taxpayers Act,” which proposes to have a proprietary institution lose eligibility to participate in Title IV programs if the
institution derives more than 85% its revenues (calculated in accordance with applicable Department regulations) from federal funds (including Title IV programs,
government tuition assistance for military personnel, including veterans, and other sources of federal funds) for one fiscal year; the bill would also make it harder
for institutions to use institutional loans (i.e., loans they make themselves to students) to help satisfy the 90/10 rule. Most recently, on November 6, 2013, Senators
Dick Durbin and Tom Harkin re-introduced “The Protecting Students and Taxpayers Act of 2013,” which proposes to have a for-profit institution lose eligibility to
participate in Title IV funds if the institution derives more than 85% of its revenues from federal funds, including Title IV programs, revenue from the GI Bill and
Department of Defense Tuition Assistance funds. If one or more of these or similar bills were to be enacted and signed into law, it could be significantly more
difficult for our institutions to satisfy the 90/10 rule (or, potentially, 85/15 rule), which could result in our institutions losing eligibility to participate in Title IV
programs.
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Our institutions could lose eligibility to participate in Title IV programs or face other sanctions if they pay incentive compensation to persons or entities
involved in certain recruiting, admissions or financial aid awarding activities.
The Higher Education Act prohibits an institution from making any commission, bonus or other incentive payment based directly or indirectly on securing
enrollments or financial aid to any persons or entities involved in student recruiting or admissions activities, or in making decisions about the award of student
financial assistance. For more information, see “Regulation-Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-Incentive compensation” in Part I, Item 1 of this report.
The criteria for compliance with the Department's rules prohibiting incentive compensation are not clear in all circumstances, and the Department will not review
or approve compensation plans prior to their implementation.
In Finding 1 of the OIG's final audit report related to its compliance audit of Ashford University, the OIG asserted that Ashford University, during the 20062007 award year, designed a compensation plan for admissions counselors that provided incentive payments based on success in securing enrollments and did not
establish that its plan and practices qualified for certain regulatory safe harbors. To the extent Ashford University cannot establish that its salary adjustments for
admissions counselors in the 2006-2007 award year qualified for the regulatory safe harbors, the OIG recommended that the FSA take appropriate action to impose
a fine on the university or to limit, suspend or terminate the institution's eligibility for Title IV programs. For more information regarding the OIG's final audit
report, see “Regulation-Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-Compliance reviews, audits and reports” in Part I, Item 1 of this report.
On October 10, 2012, we received a letter from the U.S. Department of Justice, Civil Division, Commercial Litigation Branch, or the Justice Department,
informing us that the Justice Department was investigating the compensation of our admissions personnel. In December 2012 and January 2013, we were notified
that the Justice Department had declined to intervene in separate qui tam complaints unsealed on December 26, 2012 and January 2, 2013. The qui tam complaints
allege, among other things, that our institutions violated the Federal False Claims Act by falsely certifying to the Department that, Ashford University and
University of the Rockies, in the case of the qui tam unsealed in 2012, and Ashford University, in the case of the qui tam unsealed in 2013, were in compliance
with various regulations regarding the payment of incentive compensation to enrollment personnel in connection with the institutions' participation in student
financial aid programs. The qui tam complaint unsealed in December 2012 was voluntarily dismissed on June 12, 2013. The qui tam complaint unsealed in January
2013 is proceeding to discovery.
If one of our institutions were to be determined to have violated the incentive compensation rule, it could be subject to monetary liabilities or to
administrative action to impose a fine or to limit, suspend or terminate its eligibility to participate in Title IV programs, which could have a material adverse effect
on enrollment, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
Changes in compensation practices for admissions counselors and other covered employees may negatively impact our business and growth prospects.
Effective July 1, 2011, the Department eliminated 12 safe harbors which described compensation arrangements not violating the incentive compensation rule,
including the payment and adjustment of salaries and bonuses under certain conditions. For more information regarding the elimination of the safe harbors, see
“Regulation-Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-Incentive compensation” in Part I, Item 1 of this report. Our institutions modified some of their
compensation practices as a result of the elimination of the safe harbors. These changes have affected, and may continue to affect, the ability of our institutions to
compensate admissions counselors and other covered employees in a manner that appropriately reflects their relative merit, which in turn (1) has reduced, and may
continue to reduce, employee effectiveness and our ability to attract and retain staff with the desired talent and motivation to succeed and (2) has impaired, and
may continue to impair, our ability to sustain and grow our business, either of which could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, revenues, financial
condition, cash flows and results of operations.
Our institutions may lose eligibility to participate in Title IV programs if too many students default on their loans.
For each federal fiscal year, the Department calculates a rate of student defaults for each educational institution which is known as a “cohort default rate.” An
institution may lose its eligibility to participate in the Direct Loan and Pell programs if, for each of the three most recent federal fiscal years for which information
is available, 25% or more of its students who became subject to a repayment obligation in that federal fiscal year defaulted on such obligation by the end of the
following federal fiscal year. In addition, an institution may lose its eligibility to participate in the Direct Loan Program if its cohort default rate exceeds 40% in
the most recent federal fiscal year for which default rates have been calculated by the Department. Ashford University's two-year cohort default rates for the 2011,
2010 and 2009 federal fiscal years, were 10.1% , 10.2% , and 15.3% , respectively. The two-year cohort default rates for University of the Rockies for the 2011,
2010 and 2009 federal fiscal years, were 4.8% , 4.0% and 3.3% , respectively. An institution with a cohort default rate that equals or exceeds 25% in any one
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of the three most recent fiscal years for which rates have been issued by the Department may be placed on provisional certification by the Department.
The August 2008 reauthorization of the Higher Education Act included significant revisions to the requirements concerning cohort default rates. Under the
revised law, the period for which students' defaults on their loans are included in the calculation of an institution's cohort default rate was extended by one
additional year, which is expected to increase the cohort default rates for most institutions. That change was effective with the calculation of institutions' cohort
default rates for the federal fiscal year ending September 30, 2009. The Department will not impose sanctions based on rates calculated under this new
methodology until three consecutive years of rates have been calculated, which is expected to occur in September 2014. Until that time, the Department will
continue to calculate rates under the old calculation method and impose sanctions, if necessary, based on those rates. The revised law also increases the threshold
for ending an institution's participation in the relevant Title IV programs from 25% to 30%, effective for final three-year cohort default rates published on or after
the 2012 federal fiscal year. The revised law changes the threshold for placement on provisional certification to 30% for two of the three most recent fiscal years
for which the Department has published official three-year cohort default rates. Ashford University's three-year cohort default rates for the 2010 and 2009 federal
fiscal years, were 16.3% and 19.8% , respectively. The three-year cohort default rates for University of the Rockies for the 2010 and 2009 federal fiscal years,
were 8.0% and 3.3% , respectively.
Loss of eligibility to participate in Title IV programs would have a material adverse effect on enrollment, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results
of operations.
Our institutions may lose eligibility to participate in Title IV programs or face other sanctions if the Department or other federal agencies determine they have
misrepresented the nature of educational programs, financial charges or graduate employability.
The Higher Education Act prohibits an institution participating in Title IV programs from engaging in substantial misrepresentation of the nature of its
educational programs, financial charges or graduate employability. Under the Department's rules, a “misrepresentation” is any false, erroneous or misleading
statement an institution, one of its representatives, or any ineligible institution, organization, or person with whom the institution has an agreement to provide
educational programs, or marketing, advertising, recruiting, or admissions services makes directly to a student or prospective student or any member of the public,
or to an accrediting agency, to a state agency or the Department. The Department's rules define a “substantial misrepresentation” as any misrepresentation on
which the person to whom it was made could reasonably be expected to rely, or has reasonably relied, to that person's detriment. Considering the broad definition
of “substantial misrepresentation,” it is possible that, despite our training efforts and compliance programs, our institutions' employees or service providers may
make statements that could be construed as substantial misrepresentations. For-profit educational institutions are also subject to the general deceptive practices
jurisdiction of the Federal Trade Commission, or the FTC and the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or CFPB. The FTC and CFPB are intensifying their
regulatory scrutiny of our industry and related vendors, sometimes in coordination with the Department and state Attorneys General. If the Department determines
that one of our institutions has engaged in substantial misrepresentation, the Department may attempt to revoke the institution's program participation agreement if
the institution is provisionally certified, impose limitations on the institution's participation in Title IV programs if the institution is provisionally certified, deny
applications from the institution for approval of new programs or locations or other matters, or initiate proceedings to fine the institution or limit, suspend, or
terminate its eligibility to participate in Title IV programs. The loss of eligibility to participate in Title IV programs would have a material adverse effect on
enrollment, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
The institution could also be exposed to increased risk of additional private actions under the federal False Claims Act. The qui tam complaint that was
unsealed on December 26, 2012 alleges, among other things, that Ashford University and University of the Rockies have failed to make required disclosures
readily available to students, have misled students as to the true cost of attending the schools, the quality and reputation of their academic programs, and their job
placement rates. For more information regarding claims and lawsuits, see the risk factor below entitled “ We face litigation and legal proceedings that could have
a material adverse effect on enrollments, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations ” and “Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3 of this report.
Our institutions may lose eligibility to participate in Title IV programs or face other sanctions if they fail to correctly calculate and return Title IV program
funds timely for students who withdraw before completing their educational program.
An institution participating in Title IV programs must correctly calculate the amount of unearned Title IV program funds that have been disbursed to students
who withdraw from their educational programs before completion and must return those unearned funds in a timely manner, generally within 45 days of the date
the school determines that the student has withdrawn. For more information, see “Regulation-Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-Return of Title IV
funds for students who withdraw” in Part I, Item 1 of this report. Failure to make timely returns of Title IV program funds for 5% or more of students
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sampled in the institution's annual compliance audit in either of its two most recently completed fiscal years can result in an institution having to post a letter of
credit in an amount equal to 25% of its prior year returns of Title IV program funds. If unearned funds are not properly calculated and returned in a timely manner,
an institution is also subject to monetary liabilities or an action to impose a fine or to limit, suspend or terminate its participation in Title IV programs.
In Finding 3 of the OIG's final audit report pertaining to its compliance audit of Ashford University, the OIG asserted that Ashford University, during the
2006-2007 award year, did not in all instances return Title IV funds timely for students who withdrew or went on a leave of absence from school. Accordingly, the
OIG recommended that the FSA (1) require Ashford University to develop and implement certain remedial policies and procedures and (2) take appropriate action
to impose a fine on the university or to limit, suspend or terminate the institution's eligibility for Title IV programs. For more information about the OIG's final
audit report, see “Regulation-Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-Compliance reviews, audits and reports” in Part I, Item 1 of this report.
Our institutions may lose eligibility to participate in Title IV programs or face other sanctions if they are not legally authorized to operate in the states in which
they are physically located.
To be eligible to participate in Title IV programs, an institution must be legally authorized to offer its educational programs by the states in which it is
physically located. For more information, see “Regulation-State authorization” in Part I, Item 1 of this report. Although our institutions have a process for
evaluating the compliance of their online educational programs with state requirements regarding distance and correspondence learning, and have experienced no
material restrictions on their educational activities to date as a result of such requirements, state regulatory requirements for online education vary among the
states, are not well developed in many states, are imprecise or unclear in some states and are subject to change. For more information, see “Regulation-State
Education Licensure and Regulation” in Part I, Item 1 of this report. Moreover, it is also unclear whether and to what extent state agencies may augment or change
their regulations in this area as a result of new Department regulations and increased scrutiny. Any failure to comply with state requirements, or any new or
modified regulations, could result in our inability to enroll students or receive Title IV funds for students in those states and could result in restrictions on growth
and enrollments.
Ashford University has a campus that is physically located in Iowa. During the time period in which Ashford University was accredited by the Higher
Learning Commission, the Iowa College Student Aid Commission, or ICSAC, advised Ashford University that the institution was exempt from a requirement to
register with the State of Iowa to offer postsecondary degree programs in Iowa by virtue of its accreditation by the Higher Learning Commission. In anticipation of
its transition to WASC accreditation, Ashford University applied for registration with ICSAC. In November 2011, ICSAC determined Ashford University met all
requirements to offer postsecondary education in Iowa and approved the institution's registration in Iowa for a four-year period ending November 2015. However,
in light of the findings and recommendations contained in the final audit report of the Department's Office of Inspector General, or the OIG, ICSAC stated that it
would immediately reconsider the institution's registration for possible revocation if the Department ruled to limit, suspend or terminate the institution's
participation in Title IV programs. For more information about the OIG's final audit report, see “Regulation-Department Regulation of Title IV ProgramsCompliance reviews, audits and reports” in Part I, Item 1 of this report.
University of the Rockies is located in the State of Colorado and has Full Authorization by the Colorado Commission on Higher Education. Such
authorization may be lost or withdrawn if University of the Rockies fails to comply with requirements under Colorado statutes and rules for continued
authorization.
Our institutions may be required to modify or eliminate certain programs if they do not lead to gainful employment in a recognized occupation, as determined
by the Department.
Under the Higher Education Act, schools operated on a for-profit basis are eligible to participate in Title IV programs only to the extent that their educational
programs lead to gainful employment in a recognized occupation, with the limited exception of qualified programs leading to a bachelor's degree in liberal arts.
In June 2011, the Department published final regulations to establish minimal debt measures for determining whether certain postsecondary educational
programs lead to gainful employment in recognized occupations, and the conditions under which such programs are eligible for Title IV funding. The debt
measures established by these regulations consisted of two debt-to-earnings ratios, based on comparisons of graduate earnings with annual loan payments, and an
annual loan repayment rate, based on the rate certain borrowers reduced the outstanding balances on certain Title IV loans.
On June 30, 2012, the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia nullified most of the gainful employment regulations and returned the regulations to
the Department for further action. On July 6, 2012, the Department issued an electronic announcement acknowledging that the Court had vacated the debt
measures, that institutions would not be required to comply with related regulations regarding gainful employment reporting requirements and adding new gainful
employment
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educational programs, and that institutions would be required to comply with requirements to disclose certain information about gainful employment educational
programs.
In June 2013, the Department announced its intention to establish a negotiated rulemaking committee to prepare new gainful employment regulations that
would replace those vacated by the Court. The Department held negotiating rulemaking sessions with the committee beginning in September 2013 and concluding
in December 2013. Before each session, the Department distributed draft regulatory language marked as draft for discussion purposes.
The draft regulatory language distributed by the Department to the committee for discussion purposes in December 2013 would require each educational
program covered by the rule to achieve threshold rates in three debt measure categories related to an annual debt to annual earnings ratio, an annual debt to
discretionary income ratio, and a program cohort default rate. The various formulas are calculated under complex methodologies and definitions outlined in the
draft regulatory language and, in some cases, are based on data that may not be readily accessible to institutions. The draft language outlines various scenarios
under which programs could lose Title IV eligibility for failure to achieve threshold rates in one or more measures over certain periods of time ranging from two to
four years. The draft language also would require an institution to provide warnings to students in programs which may lose Title IV eligibility at the end of an
award year, limit its Title IV enrollment in these programs, and submit a letter of credit or set aside funds to provide borrower relief to students in the event the
programs become ineligible. The draft regulatory language contains other provisions that, among other things, include disclosure, reporting and new program
approval requirements.
On March 14, 2014, the Department published proposed regulations for comment by the public for a sixty day period. The proposed regulatory language
released by the Department to the public for comment would cause each educational program covered by the rule to fail if their graduates’ student-loan debt
payments exceeded 12% of their incomes and 30% of their discretionary incomes, the same ratios as in the original rule and the draft considered by negotiators in
the fall of 2013. Also unchanged from the 2013 draft, programs whose graduates have debt-to-income ratios of 8% to 12% or debt-to-discretionary-income ratios
of 20% to 30% would fall in a “zone”, and the institution would have to warn students that they might become ineligible for aid. Programs that fail both debt-toincome tests twice in any three-year period or are in the zone for four consecutive years would be ineligible for federal student aid. Different from the draft 2013
rule and in response to the 2 012 Court ruling, the Department now proposes programmatic cohort default rates rather than loan-repayment rates as an additional
test. Programs whose borrower cohort default rates exceed 30% for three consecutive years would be ineligible for federal student aid.
The various formulas are calculated under complex methodologies and definitions outlined in the proposed regulatory language and, in some cases, are based
on data that may not be readily accessible to institutions. The proposed language contains other provisions that, among other things, include disclosure, reporting
and certification requirements. We cannot predict the ultimate content or effective date of any new regulations that may emerge from this process or the potential
impact of such regulations on us or our institutions and have had minimal time to review and analyze the proposed regulation. Any new regulations that reduce or
eliminate our students’ access to Title IV federal student aid, that require us to change or eliminate certain programs, or that increase our costs of compliance could
have an adverse effect on our business.
The failure of our institutions to demonstrate financial responsibility may result in a loss of eligibility to participate in Title IV programs or require the posting
of a letter of credit in order to maintain eligibility to participate in Title IV programs.
To participate in Title IV programs, an eligible institution must, among other things, satisfy specific measures of financial responsibility prescribed by the
Department or post a letter of credit in favor of the Department and possibly accept other conditions to the institution's participation in Title IV programs. For more
information regarding the Department's financial responsibility requirements, see “Regulation-Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-Financial
responsibility” in Part I, Item 1 of this report. If our institutions are found not to have satisfied the Department's financial responsibility requirements, they could be
limited in their access to, or lose, Title IV program funding, which could have a material adverse effect on enrollment, revenues, financial condition, cash flows
and results of operations.
The failure of our institutions to demonstrate administrative capability may result in a loss of eligibility to participate in Title IV programs.
Department regulations specify extensive criteria by which an institution must establish that it has the requisite administrative capability to participate in Title
IV programs. For more information regarding the Department's administrative capability standards, see “Regulation-Department Regulation of Title IV ProgramsAdministrative capability” in Part I, Item 1 of this report. If we are found not to have satisfied the Department's administrative capability requirements, we could
be limited in our access to, or lose, Title IV program funding, which could have a material adverse effect on enrollment, revenues, financial condition, cash flows
and results of operations.
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Our institutions must periodically seek recertification to participate in Title IV programs and may, in certain circumstances, be subject to review by the
Department prior to seeking recertification.
An institution must periodically seek recertification from the Department to continue to participate in Title IV programs and may, in certain circumstances,
be subject to review by the Department prior to seeking recertification. The current certification for University of the Rockies is scheduled to expire on June 30,
2016. Ashford University is provisionally certified until September 30, 2016. The Department typically places an institution on provisional certification following
a change in ownership resulting in a change of control and also may provisionally certify an institution for other reasons including but not limited to failure to
comply with certain standards of administrative capability or financial responsibility. During the time when an institution is provisionally certified, it may be
subject to adverse action with fewer due process rights than those afforded to other institutions and must apply for and receive approval from the Department for
expansion or of any substantial change. Substantial change includes, but is not limited to, the establishment of an additional location, an increase in the level of
academic offerings, or the addition of any nondegree or short-term training programs.
The Department may also review our institutions' continued certification to participate in Title IV programs if we undergo a change of control. In addition,
the Department may take emergency action to suspend an institution's certification without advance notice if it determines the institution is violating Title IV
requirements and determines that immediate action is necessary to prevent misuse of Title IV funds. If the Department did not renew or if it withdrew our
institutions' certifications to participate in Title IV programs, their students would no longer be able to receive Title IV funds, which would have a material adverse
effect on enrollment, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
Governmental proceedings or other claims and lawsuits asserting regulatory noncompliance could result in monetary liabilities or penalties, injunctions, or
loss of Title IV programs for students at our institutions.
Because we operate in a highly regulated industry, we and our institutions are subject to compliance reviews and claims of noncompliance and lawsuits by
government agencies, regulatory agencies and third parties, including claims brought by third parties on behalf of the federal government under the federal False
Claims Act. If the results of these reviews or proceedings are unfavorable to us or if we are unable to defend successfully against such lawsuits or claims, we may
be required to pay money damages or be subject to fines, limitations, loss of Title IV funding, injunctions or other penalties. Even if we adequately address issues
raised by an agency review or successfully defend a lawsuit or claim, we may have to divert significant financial and management resources from our ongoing
business operations to address issues raised by those reviews or to defend against those lawsuits or claims. Claims and lawsuits brought against us may damage our
reputation or adversely affect our stock price, even if such claims and lawsuits are eventually determined to be without merit.
As discussed in the risk factors above entitled “ Our institutions could lose eligibility to participate in Title IV programs or face other sanctions if they pay
incentive compensation to persons or entities involved in certain recruiting, admissions or financial aid awarding activities ” and “ Our institutions may lose
eligibility to participate in Title IV programs or face other sanctions if the Department determines they have substantially misrepresented the nature of educational
programs, financial charges or graduate employability ,” we have been named in two qui tam complaints that allege we and our institutions violated the Federal
False Claims Act. Defending a federal False Claims Act lawsuit can be costly and divert management's time and attention from our business, regardless of whether
the claim has merit. The adverse resolution of such a lawsuit could lead to monetary liability, including treble damages and attorneys' fees, and other sanctions,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
For more information regarding the incentive compensation rule, see “Regulation-Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-Incentive compensation” in
Part I, Item 1 of this report. For more information regarding claims and lawsuits, see the risk factor below entitled “ We face litigation and legal proceedings that
could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations ” and “Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3 of this
report.
If we fail to maintain adequate systems and processes to detect and prevent fraudulent activity in student enrollment and financial aid, our business could be
adversely impacted.
We are susceptible to an increased risk of fraudulent activity by outside parties with respect to student enrollment and student financial aid programs. We
cannot be certain that our systems and processes will always be adequate in the face of increasingly sophisticated and ever-changing fraud schemes. The potential
for outside parties to perpetrate fraud in connection with the award and disbursement of Title IV program funds, including as a result of identity theft, may be
heightened due to our nature as an online education provider. We must maintain systems and processes to identify and prevent fraudulent applications for
enrollment and financial aid.
The Department's regulations require institutions that participate in Title IV programs to refer to the OIG credible information indicating that any applicant,
employee, third-party servicer or agent of the institution that acts in a capacity that
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involves administration of the Title IV programs has been engaged in any fraud or other illegal conduct involving Title IV programs. If the systems and processes
that we have established to detect and prevent fraud are inadequate, the Department may find that we do not satisfy its “administrative capability” requirements.
This could result in our being limited in our access to, or our losing, Title IV program funding, which would adversely affect enrollment, revenues, financial
condition, cash flows and results of operations. In addition, our institutions' ability to participate in Title IV programs is conditioned on their maintaining
accreditation by an accrediting agency that is recognized by the Secretary of Education. Any significant failure to adequately detect fraudulent activity related to
student enrollment and financial aid could cause them to fail to meet their accrediting agencies' standards. Furthermore, under the Higher Education Act,
accrediting agencies that evaluate institutions that offer distance learning programs, as our institutions do, must require such institutions to have processes through
which the institution establishes that a student who registers for a distance education program is the same student who participates in and receives credit for the
program. Failure to meet applicable accrediting agencies' standards could result in the loss of accreditation at the discretion of such accrediting agencies, which
could result in a loss of our institutions' eligibility to participate in Title IV programs and adversely affect our business, financial condition, cash flows and results
of operations.
Our institutions cannot offer new programs, expand their physical operations into certain states or acquire additional schools if such actions are not approved
in a timely fashion by the applicable regulatory agencies, and Title IV funds disbursed to students enrolled in any such programs, states or acquired schools
may have to be repaid if prior approval is not obtained.
Our plans may include our institutions offering new educational programs, some of which may require regulatory approval. In addition, we or our institutions
may increase physical operations in additional states or seek to acquire additional schools. If we or our institutions are unable to obtain the necessary approvals for
such new programs, operations or acquisitions from the Department, WASC, HLC or any applicable state education agency or other accrediting agency, or if we or
our institutions are unable to obtain such approvals in a timely manner, the ability to consummate such actions and provide Title IV funds to any affected students
would be impaired, which could have a material adverse effect on our plans. If we or our institutions were to determine erroneously that any such action did not
need approval or have all required approvals, our institutions could be liable for repayment of the Title IV program funds provided to students in that program or at
that location.
If regulators do not approve or if they delay their approval of transactions involving a change of control of our company, our ability to participate in Title IV
programs may be impaired.
If we or either of our institutions undergoes a change of control under the standards of applicable state education agencies, WASC, HLC or the Department,
we must seek the approval of each such regulatory agency. For more information, see “Regulation-Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-Change in
ownership resulting in a change of control” in Part I, Item 1 of this report. A failure by us or one of our institutions to reestablish its state authorization,
accreditation or Department certification, as applicable, following a change of control could result in a suspension or loss of operating authority or the ability to
participate in Title IV programs, which would have a material adverse effect on enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
Our failure to comply with regulations of various states could preclude us from recruiting or enrolling students in those states or result in such students being
ineligible for Title IV financial aid.
Various states impose regulatory requirements on educational institutions operating within their boundaries. Several states have sought to assert jurisdiction
over online educational institutions that have no physical location or other presence in the state but that offer educational services to students who reside in the
state or that advertise to or recruit prospective students in the state. State regulatory requirements for online education are inconsistent between states and are not
well developed in many jurisdictions. As such, these requirements are subject to change and in some instances are unclear or are left to the discretion of state
employees or agents. Our changing business and the constantly changing regulatory environment require us to regularly evaluate our state regulatory compliance
activities. If we are found not to be in compliance and a state seeks to restrict one or more of our business activities within that state, we may not be able to recruit
students from that state and may have to cease recruiting or enrolling students in that state. See “Regulation-Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-State
authorization” in Part I, Item 1 of this report. Our failure to comply with these requirements in one or more states could result in our inability to provide Title IV
funds to students in those states.
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Our regulatory environment and our reputation may be negatively influenced by the actions of other postsecondary institutions.
In recent years, Congressional, federal, state and accrediting agency investigations and civil litigation have been commenced against several postsecondary
educational institutions. These investigations and lawsuits have alleged, among other things, deceptive trade practices and noncompliance with Department
regulations. These allegations have attracted adverse media coverage and have been the subject of federal and state legislative hearings. Although the media,
regulatory and legislative focus has been primarily on the allegations made against these specific companies, broader allegations against the overall postsecondary
sector may negatively impact public perceptions of postsecondary educational institutions, including Ashford University and University of the Rockies. Such
allegations could result in increased scrutiny and regulation by the Department, Congress, accrediting bodies, state legislatures or other governmental authorities
on all postsecondary institutions, including ours.
Risks Related to Our Business
Our financial performance depends on our ability to continue to develop awareness among, to recruit and to retain students; adverse publicity may negatively
impact demand for our institutions' programs.
Building awareness among potential students of Ashford University and University of the Rockies and the programs they offer is critical to their ability to
attract prospective students. It is also critical to our success that these prospective students are converted to enrolled students in a cost-effective manner and that
these enrolled students remain active in our institutions' programs. Some of the factors that could prevent the successful recruiting and retention of students in their
programs include:
•

the emergence of more and better competitors;

•

factors related to our marketing efforts, including the costs of Internet advertising and broad-based branding campaigns;

•

performance problems with our online systems;

•

our institutions' failure to maintain accreditation, state licensure and eligibility for Title IV programs;

•

student dissatisfaction with our institutions' services and programs;

•

a decrease in the perceived or actual economic benefits that students derive from our institutions' programs or programs provided by private sector
postsecondary education companies generally;

•

adverse publicity regarding us or online or private sector postsecondary education generally;

•

price reductions by competitors that we are unwilling or unable to match; and

•

a decline in the acceptance of online education or education provided by private sector postsecondary education companies.

We face litigation and legal proceedings that could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
We and our institutions are subject to lawsuits, investigations and claims covering a wide range of matters. We are the subject of complaints alleging
violations of various laws, including but not limited to federal securities laws, including a securities class action, the federal False Claims Act and state
employment laws, as well as investigations by state attorneys general in California, Iowa, New York and North Carolina. Derivative shareholder complaints have
also been asserted on our behalf against certain of our current and former officers and directors alleging breaches of fiduciary duties, waste of corporate assets and
unjust enrichment. We could incur significant defense costs related to these or other matters and, in the event of adverse outcomes, monetary losses or restrictions
on our business could result, any of which could have a material adverse effect on enrollments, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
For more information regarding current material legal proceedings involving us and our institutions, including investigations by state attorneys general in
California, Iowa, New York and North Carolina, see “Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3 of this report.
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Our bad debt expense as a percentage of revenues is high relative to our competitors. If we are unable to remedy the underlying causes, our bad debt expense
could increase, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
Our bad debt expense is high relative to our competitors and has increased from 7.6% of revenues for the year ended December 31, 2012 to 9.4% for the year
ended December 31, 2013. We believe our bad debt expense is primarily driven by operational policies, timing of financial aid processing and collection
management. If we are unable to make appropriate changes, or if our changes are not as effective as anticipated, our bad debt expense could increase, which could
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
Our growth may place a strain on our resources.
We experienced significant growth from the time of our initial public offering through 2012. Such historical growth, as well as any further growth that we
may experience, may place a significant strain on our resources. Such growth increased demands on our management information and reporting systems, data
analytics, and financial management controls. If we are unable to maintain appropriate internal controls, we may experience operating inefficiencies that could
increase our costs. Additionally, if we and our institutions fail to hire and retain appropriate levels of personnel in critical areas, we could experience increased
student complaints, delays in completing critical business projects, system down-time for both internal and student-facing applications, and potential regulatory
noncompliance, any of which could materially and adversely affect our business and prospects.
A failure of our information systems to properly store, process and report relevant data may reduce our management’s effectiveness, interfere with our
regulatory compliance and increase our operating expenses.
We are heavily dependent on the integrity of our data management systems. If these systems do not effectively collect, store, process and report relevant data
for the operation of our business, whether due to equipment malfunction or constraints, software deficiencies, or human error, our ability to effectively plan,
forecast and execute our business plan and comply with applicable laws and regulations will be impaired, perhaps materially. Any such impairment could
materially and adversely affect our financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
Our institutions rely on a third party vendor for financial aid processing and are responsible for any errors, delays or instances of regulatory noncompliance
which may be made by this vendor.
Our institutions have engaged Xerox Business Services, LLC, or XBS, formerly called Affiliated Computer Services, Inc., to provide call center and
transactional processing services for their online financial aid student populations, including services related to disbursement eligibility review and Title IV fund
returns. Although our institutions monitor the work done by XBS for quality assurance and compliance with Department regulations, our institutions are ultimately
responsible for any errors, delays or instances of regulatory noncompliance which may be made by XBS, some of which could potentially affect the eligibility of
our institutions to participate in Title IV programs. Additionally, if XBS ceases to operate or is unwilling or unable to work with our institutions, or if the
engagement with XBS is otherwise terminated, our institutions would be required either to handle financial aid processing services using their own resources or to
engage another third party vendor, which transition could be economically disadvantageous, present a distraction to management and applicable business units,
and increase the risk of errors and regulatory noncompliance during the transition period, any of which could negatively impact our business.
Our institutions rely on a third-party vendor to provide the online learning platform for students and related support and hosting.
We have a license agreement with Pearson eCollege, or eCollege, pursuant to which we agreed to license from eCollege an online learning platform for
students at our institutions. The eCollege platform is an online learning management system which provides for the storage, management and delivery of course
content. This platform also includes collaborative spaces for student communication and participation with other students and faculty as well as grade and
attendance management for faculty and assessment capabilities to assist us in maintaining quality. Our institutions rely on eCollege for administrative support and
hosting of the applicable systems. If eCollege ceases to operate or is or is unwilling or unable to work with our institutions, or if the license agreement with
eCollege and related agreements were otherwise to be terminated, the online learning platform for students at our institutions and related administrative support
and hosting could be interrupted or become unavailable, any of which could have a material and adverse effect on our business.
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We are subject to laws and regulations as a result of our collection and use of personal information, and any violations of such laws or regulations, or any
breach, theft or loss of such information, could adversely affect us.
Possession and use of personal information in our operations subjects us to risks and costs that could harm our business. We collect, use and retain large
amounts of personal information regarding our applicants, students, faculty, staff and their families. We also collect and maintain personal information about our
employees in the ordinary course of our business. Our services can be accessed globally through the Internet. Therefore, we may be subject to the application of
national privacy laws in countries outside the United States from which applicants and students access our services. Such privacy laws could impose conditions
that limit the way we market and provide our services. Our computer networks and the networks of certain of our vendors that hold and manage confidential
information on our behalf may be vulnerable to unauthorized access, employee theft or misuse, computer hackers, computer viruses and other security threats.
Confidential information may also inadvertently become available to third parties when we integrate systems or migrate data to our servers following an
acquisition of a school or in connection with periodic hardware or software upgrades. Due to the sensitive nature of the personal information stored on our servers,
our networks may be targeted by hackers seeking to access this data. A user who circumvents security measures could misappropriate sensitive information or
cause interruptions or malfunctions in our operations. Although we use security and business controls to limit access and use of personal information, a third party
may be able to circumvent those security and business controls, which could result in a breach of student or employee privacy. In addition, errors in the storage,
use or transmission of personal information could result in a breach of privacy for current or prospective students or employees. Possession and use of personal
information in our operations also subjects us to legislative and regulatory burdens that could require notification of data breaches and could restrict our use of
personal information, and a violation of any laws or regulations relating to the collection or use of personal information could result in the imposition of fines
against us or lawsuits brought against us. As a result, we may be required to expend significant resources to protect against the threat of these security breaches or
to alleviate problems caused by these breaches. A major breach, theft or loss of personal information regarding our institutions' students and their families or our
employees that is held by us or our vendors, or a violation of laws or regulations relating to the same, could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, result
in lawsuits and could result in further regulation and oversight by federal and state authorities and increased costs of compliance.
System disruptions and vulnerability from security risks to our technology infrastructure could damage the reputation of our institutions and negatively impact
our business.
The performance and reliability of our technology infrastructure (including the software and related hosting and maintenance services for our online learning
platform, student information system, and lead management system) is critical to our reputation and the ability to attract and retain students. Any system error or
failure, or a sudden and significant increase in bandwidth usage, could result in the unavailability of systems to us or our institutions' students and negatively
impact our business and reputation. Our computer networks may also be vulnerable to unauthorized access, computer hackers, computer viruses, denial of service
attacks and other security problems. Although we continually monitor the security of our technology infrastructure and take proactive measures to prevent
potential threats, we cannot assure you that these efforts will protect our computer networks against all threats of security breaches, which could damage the
reputation of our institutions and negatively impact our business and prospects.
Our expenses may cause us to incur operating losses if we do not realize our expected revenues.
Our spending is based, in significant part, on our estimates of future revenue and is largely fixed in the short term. As a result, we may be unable to adjust our
spending in a timely manner if our revenue falls short of our expectations. Accordingly, any significant shortfall in revenues in relation to our expectations would
have an immediate and material adverse effect on our profitability. In addition, we anticipate increasing operating expenses to expand program offerings and
marketing initiatives. Any such expansion could cause material losses to the extent we do not generate additional revenues sufficient to cover those expenses.
Strong competition in the postsecondary education market, especially in the online education market, could decrease our market share, increase our cost of
recruiting students and put downward pressure on our tuition rates.
Postsecondary education is highly competitive. We compete with traditional public and private two- and four-year colleges as well as with other
postsecondary schools. Traditional colleges and universities may offer programs similar to those offered by our institutions at lower tuition levels as a result of
government subsidies, government and foundation grants, tax-deductible contributions and other financial sources not available to for-profit postsecondary
institutions. In addition, our institutions face continued scrutiny from their accreditors, and some of our competitors, including both traditional colleges and
universities, have substantially greater brand recognition and financial and other resources than we have, which may enable them to compete more effectively for
potential students. We also expect to face increased competition as a result of new
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entrants to the online education market, including traditional colleges and universities that had not previously offered online education programs.
We may not be able to compete successfully against current or future competitors and may face competitive pressures that could adversely affect our
business. We may be required to reduce our tuition or increase marketing spending in order to retain or to attract students or to pursue new market opportunities.
We may also face increased competition in maintaining and developing new marketing relationships with corporations, particularly as corporations become more
selective as to which online universities they will encourage their employees to attend and from which they will hire prospective employees.
We may not be able to retain our key personnel or hire and retain the personnel we need to sustain and grow our business.
Our success depends largely on the skills, efforts and motivations of our executive officers, who generally have significant experience with our company and
within the education industry. Due to the nature of our business, we face significant competition in attracting and retaining personnel who possess the skill sets we
seek. In addition, key personnel may leave us and may subsequently compete against us. We do not carry life insurance on our key personnel for our benefit. The
loss of the services of any of our key personnel, or our failure to attract and retain other qualified and experienced personnel on acceptable terms, could impair our
ability to sustain and grow our business. In addition, because we operate in a highly competitive industry, our hiring of qualified executives or other personnel may
cause us or such persons to be subject to lawsuits alleging misappropriation of trade secrets, improper solicitation of employees or other claims.
If we are unable to hire and to continue to develop new and existing employees responsible for student recruitment, the effectiveness of our student admissions
efforts would be adversely affected.
We intend to (i) hire, develop and train additional employees responsible for student admissions and (ii) retain and continue to develop and train our current
student admissions personnel. Our ability to develop and maintain a strong student admissions function may be affected by a number of factors, including our
ability to integrate and motivate our admissions counselors, our ability to effectively train our admissions counselors, the length of time it takes those new
counselors to become productive, regulatory restrictions on the method of compensating admissions counselors and the competition in hiring and retaining them.
Enrollment and revenues could decrease if government tuition assistance offered to military personnel is suspended, or if such assistance is reduced or
eliminated, if scholarships which we offer to military personnel are reduced or eliminated or if our relationships with military bases deteriorate.
As of December 31, 2013, approximately 23.6% of our institutions' students were affiliated with the military, some of whom are eligible to receive tuition
assistance from the government, which they may use to pursue postsecondary degrees. From October 1, 2013 until October 16, 2013, the U.S. federal government
entered into shutdown resulting in the suspension of military tuition assistance. In response, Ashford University implemented a Military Tuition Assistance Grant
that covered the equivalent of tuition assistance payments for impacted students starting courses during that period. Although governmental tuition assistance
programs were resumed following the shutdown, if such programs are again suspended or otherwise reduced or eliminated, or if our relationship with any military
base deteriorates, enrollment could suffer, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. Reductions
in tuition assistance could also negatively affect our compliance with the 90/10 rule. See the risk factor entitled, “ Our institutions could lose eligibility to
participate in Title IV programs or face other sanctions if they derive more than 90% of their respective revenues from these programs ” above. Additionally, if in
response to future reductions or suspensions in military tuition assistance, we determine to reinstitute our Military Tuition Assistance Grant or a similar program,
our per student revenue from military affiliated personnel would decline.
We also provide scholarships to students who are affiliated with the military. If we reduce or eliminate our scholarships, enrollment by military personnel
may suffer. Conversely, if we increase our scholarships, our per student revenue from military affiliated personnel will decline.
A decline in the overall growth of enrollment in postsecondary institutions, or in the number of students seeking degrees online or in our core disciplines,
could cause us to experience a further decline in enrollment at our schools.
We have experienced overall growth in institutional enrollments and revenues since we acquired Ashford University in 2005. However, enrollment at our
institutions declined to 63,624 at December 31, 2013 as compared to 81,810 at December 31, 2012. Additionally, the growth rate of our revenues has declined in
recent periods and may continue to decline in the future. In order to maintain the current growth rate of our revenues and increase enrollment at our institutions,
our institutions will need to attract and retain a larger percentage of students in existing markets and expand their markets by creating new academic
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programs. In addition, if job growth in the fields related to their core disciplines is weaker than expected, fewer students may seek the types of degrees that our
institutions offer.
Our success depends in part on our institutions' ability to update and expand the content of existing programs and to develop new programs and
specializations on a timely basis and in a cost-effective manner.
The updates and expansions of existing programs and the development of new programs and specializations may not be accepted by existing or prospective
students or employers. If we do not adequately respond to changes in market requirements, our business will be adversely affected. Even if our institutions are able
to develop acceptable new programs, they may not be able to introduce these new programs as quickly as students require or as quickly as our competitors
introduce competing programs. To offer a new academic program, our institutions may be required to obtain appropriate federal, state and accrediting agency
approvals, which may be conditioned or delayed in a manner that could significantly affect our plans. In addition, to be eligible for federal student financial aid
programs, a new academic program may need to be approved by the Department.
Establishing new academic programs or modifying existing programs requires investments in management and capital expenditures, additional marketing
expenses and reallocation of other resources. We and our institutions may have limited experience with the programs in new disciplines and may need to modify
existing systems and strategy or enter into arrangements with other educational institutions to provide new programs effectively and profitably. If our institutions
are unable to increase enrollment in new programs, offer new programs in a cost-effective manner or are otherwise unable to manage effectively the operations of
newly established academic programs, our revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations could be adversely affected.
Our failure to keep pace with changing market needs could harm our institutions' ability to attract students.
Our success depends to a large extent on the willingness of employers to hire, promote or increase the pay of our institutions' graduates. Increasingly,
employers demand that their new employees possess appropriate technical and analytical skills and also appropriate interpersonal skills, such as communication
and teamwork. These skills can evolve rapidly in a changing economic and technological environment. Accordingly, it is important that our institutions'
educational programs evolve in response to those economic and technological changes.
The expansion of existing academic programs and the development of new programs may not be accepted by current or prospective students or by the
employers of our institutions' graduates. Even if our institutions develop acceptable new programs, they may not be able to begin offering those new programs in a
timely fashion or as quickly as our competitors offer similar programs. If we are unable to adequately respond to changes in market requirements due to regulatory
or financial constraints, unusually rapid technological changes or other factors, the rates at which our institutions' graduates obtain jobs in their fields of study
could suffer, the ability to attract and retain students could be impaired and our business could be adversely affected.
We may be unable to protect our proprietary rights sufficiently and we may encounter disputes from time to time relating to our use of the intellectual property
of third parties.
We rely on a combination of copyrights, trademarks, service marks, trade secrets, domain names and agreements with third parties to protect our proprietary
rights. We have trademark and service mark registrations and pending applications in the United States and select foreign jurisdictions. We also own the domain
name rights for our institutions, as well as other words and phrases important to our business. Additionally, we have applied for patent protection for certain
technology developed by us; and registered copyrights for exemplary business course materials. Nonetheless, as new challenges arise in protecting these
proprietary rights online, we cannot assure you that these measures will be adequate to protect our proprietary rights, that we have secured, or will be able to
secure, appropriate protections for all of our proprietary rights in the United States or select foreign jurisdictions or that third parties will not infringe upon or
violate our proprietary rights. Despite our efforts to protect these rights, unauthorized third parties may attempt to duplicate or copy the proprietary aspects of our
technology, curricula, and online resource material, among others. Our management's attention may be diverted by these attempts, and we may need to use funds
in litigation to prevent the potential for all occurrences and protect our proprietary rights against any infringement or violation.
We may also encounter disputes from time to time over rights and obligations concerning intellectual property, and we may not prevail in these disputes. In
certain instances, we may not have obtained sufficient rights in the content of a course. Third parties may raise a claim against us alleging an infringement or
violation of the intellectual property of that third party. Some third party intellectual property rights may be extremely broad, and it may not be possible for us to
conduct our operations in such a way as to avoid those intellectual property rights. Any such intellectual property claim could subject us to costly litigation and
impose a significant strain on our financial resources and management personnel regardless of whether
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such claim has merit. Our insurance may not cover potential claims of this type adequately or at all, and we may be required to pay monetary damages, which may
be significant, or our institutions may be required to alter the content of their classes to be non-infringing.
We may incur liability for the unauthorized duplication or distribution of class materials posted online for class discussions.
In some instances our institutions' faculty members or students may post various articles or other third-party content on class discussion boards. We may
incur liability for the unauthorized duplication or distribution of this material posted online for class discussions. Third parties may raise claims against us for the
unauthorized duplication of this material. Any such claims could subject us to costly litigation and could impose a significant strain on our financial resources and
management personnel regardless of whether the claims have merit. Our general liability insurance may not cover potential claims of this type adequately or at all,
and we may be required to alter the content of our courses or pay monetary damages.
Government regulations relating to the Internet could increase our cost of doing business, affect our ability to grow or otherwise have a material adverse effect
on our business.
The increasing popularity and use of the Internet and other online services has led and may lead to the adoption of new laws and regulatory practices in the
United States or in foreign countries and to new interpretations of existing laws and regulations. These new laws and interpretations may relate to issues such as
online privacy, copyrights, trademarks and service marks, sales taxes, fair business practices and the requirement that online education institutions qualify to do
business as foreign corporations or be licensed in one or more jurisdictions where they have no physical location or other presence. New laws, regulations or
interpretations related to doing business over the Internet could increase our costs and materially and adversely affect enrollments.
Failure to comply with the terms of our Credit Agreement with Comerica Bank could impair our rights to the assets we pledged as collateral under this
agreement.
On April 13, 2012, we entered into a $50 million revolving line of credit, or the Facility, pursuant to an Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement,
or the Revolving Credit Agreement, with the lenders signatory thereto and Comerica Bank, as administrative agent for the lenders. At our option, we may increase
the size of the Facility up to $100 million (in certain minimum increments), subject to the terms and conditions of the Revolving Credit Agreement. Additionally,
we may request swing-line advances under the Facility up to $3 million in the aggregate.
To secure our obligations under the Credit Agreement (and related documents), we granted Comerica Bank a first priority security interest in substantially all
of our assets, including our real property. If an event of default occurs or if we otherwise fail to comply with any of the negative or affirmative covenants of the
Credit Agreement (and related documents), including the failure of either of our institutions to maintain Title IV eligibility, Comerica Bank may declare all of the
obligations and indebtedness under the Credit Agreement (and related documents) due and payable.
For more information about the Credit Agreement and related documents, see Note 11 , “ Credit Facilities ,” to our annual consolidated financial statements,
which are included elsewhere in this report. In such a scenario, we may lose our right, title and interest in the property that secures such obligations and
indebtedness.
We may require additional financing in the future and if such financing is not available on terms acceptable to us, it could adversely affect our ability to grow.
We believe that cash flow from operations will be adequate to fund our current operating plans for the foreseeable future. However, we may need additional
financing in order to finance our plans, particularly if we pursue any acquisitions. The amount, timing and terms of such additional financing will vary principally
depending on the timing and size of new program offerings, the timing and size of acquisitions we may seek to consummate and the amount of cash flows from
our operations. To the extent that we require additional financing in the future, such financing may not be available on terms acceptable to us or at all and,
consequently, we may not be able to fully implement our plans.
A protracted economic slowdown and rising unemployment could harm our business.
We believe that many students pursue postsecondary education to be more competitive in the job market. However, a protracted economic slowdown could
increase unemployment and diminish job prospects generally. Diminished job prospects and heightened financial worries could affect the willingness of students
to incur loans to pay for postsecondary education and to pursue postsecondary education in general. As a result, enrollment could suffer.
In addition, many of our institutions' students borrow Title IV loans to pay for tuition, fees and other expenses. A protracted economic slowdown could
negatively impact their ability to repay those loans which would negatively impact our
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institutions' cohort default rates. Our institutions' students also are frequently able to borrow Title IV loans in excess of their tuition. The excess is received by such
students as a stipend. However, if a student withdraws, we must return any unearned Title IV funds including stipends. A protracted economic slowdown could
negatively impact such students' ability to repay those stipends. As a result, the amount of Title IV funds we would have to return without reimbursement from
students could increase, and our results could suffer.
If we fail to effectively identify, pursue and consummate acquisitions, either in the U.S. or outside of the U.S., our ability to grow could be impacted and our
profitability may be adversely affected.
Acquisitions are one component of our overall long-term growth strategy. From time to time, we engage in evaluations of, and discussions with, possible
domestic and international acquisition candidates. We may not be able to identify suitable acquisition opportunities, complete acquisitions on favorable terms, or
successfully integrate or profitably operate acquired institutions or businesses. If we use debt to finance future acquisitions or issue securities in connection with
future acquisitions, such actions could dilute the holdings of our stockholders.
An acquisition related to an institution or other educational business often requires one or multiple regulatory approvals. If we are unable to obtain approvals,
or receive them on unfavorable terms, our ability to consummate transactions may be impaired or we may be unable to operate the acquired entity in a manner that
it to our favor.
We may acquire in international markets in the future. There may be difficulties and complexities (regulatory or otherwise) associated with our expansion
into international markets, and our strategies may not succeed beyond our current markets. If we do not effectively address these risks, our ability to grow and
compete may be impaired.
If we are not able to integrate or grow acquired institutions or businesses, our business could be harmed.
Integrating acquired operations into our business involves significant risks and uncertainties, including:
•

inability to maintain uniform standards, controls, policies and procedures;

•

distraction of management's attention from normal business operations during the integration process;

•

inability to attract and/or retain management talent to operate the acquired entity;

•

inability to obtain, or delay in obtaining, regulatory or other approvals necessary to operate the business;

•

inability to correctly estimate the size of a target market or accurately assess market dynamics;

•

expenses associated with the integration efforts; and

•

unidentified issues not discovered in our due diligence process, including legal contingencies.

An increase in interest rates could adversely affect our institutions' ability to attract and retain students.
Interest rates have reached relatively low levels in recent years, creating a favorable borrowing environment for students. However, if Congress increases
interest rates on Title IV loans, or if private loan interest rates rise, our institutions' students would have to pay higher interest rates on their loans. Any future
increase in interest rates will result in a corresponding increase in educational costs to existing and prospective students. Higher interest rates could also contribute
to higher default rates with respect to students' repayment of their education loans. Higher default rates may in turn adversely impact our institutions' eligibility to
participate in some or all Title IV programs, which could have a material adverse effect on enrollment, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of
operations.
We face risk in connection with institutional loan programs implemented at our academic institutions. If students participating in such programs fail to repay
their loans timely, our business will be negatively impacted.
Both Ashford University and University of the Rockies have institutional loan programs for their online student population. At December 31, 2013 , there
was $12.8 million of net outstanding institutional loans combined. Under these programs, our institutions loan money directly to eligible and qualifying students. If
students participating in these programs fail to repay their loans timely, it could have a negative impact on our financial condition, cash flows and results of
operations.
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We may not earn enough revenue from Constellation, Thuze, Waypoint Outcomes and our other technologies to offset the costs of innovating, developing,
deploying and marketing these technologies.
In recent periods, we have devoted increasing amounts of resources to innovating, developing and marketing new technologies such as Constellation, Thuze,
Waypoint Outcomes, and the mobile application technology for our institutions. If we are unable to earn revenue sufficient to offset the costs of innovating,
developing and marketing such technologies, our financial condition, cash flows and results of operations could be negatively impacted.
Our failure to comply with environmental laws and regulations governing our activities could result in financial penalties and other costs.
We use hazardous materials at our ground campuses and generate small quantities of waste, such as used oil, antifreeze, paint, car batteries and laboratory
materials. Additionally, we purchased real property nearby our Ashford University campus in Clinton, Iowa, for purposes of future campus expansion and student
housing at which we have identified minor environmental issues. We are subject to a variety of environmental laws and regulations governing, among other things,
the use, storage and disposal of solid and hazardous substances and waste and the clean-up of contamination at our facilities or off-site locations to which we send
or have sent waste for disposal. If we do not maintain compliance with any of these laws and regulations, or are responsible for a spill or release of hazardous
materials, we could incur significant costs for clean-up, damages and fines or penalties.
Our corporate headquarters are located in a high brush fire danger area and near major earthquake fault lines.
Our corporate headquarters are located in San Diego, California in a high brush fire danger area and near major earthquake fault lines. We could be
materially and adversely affected in the event of a brush fire or major earthquake, either of which could significantly disrupt our business.
We have a limited operating history. Accordingly, our historical and recent financial and business results may not necessarily be representative of what such
results will be in the future.
We have a limited operating history on which you can evaluate our business strategy, our financial results and trends in our business. As a result, our
historical results and trends, including bad debt expense and our institutions' enrollments and cohort default rates, may not be indicative of future results.
Risk Related to Our Common Stock
The price of our common stock has fluctuated significantly and you could lose all or part of your investment.
Volatility in the market price of our common stock may prevent you from being able to sell your shares at or above the price you paid for your shares. The
market price of our common stock has fluctuated significantly in the past, and there is no assurance it will not continue to fluctuate significantly for a variety of
different reasons, including, without limitation:
•

developments regarding the accreditation or state licensing of our academic institutions, particularly Ashford University;

•

our quarterly or annual earnings or those of other companies in our industry;

•

public reaction to our press releases, corporate communications and SEC filings;

•

changes in earnings estimates or recommendations by research analysts who track our common stock or the stocks of other companies in our industry;

•

seasonal variations in our student enrollment;

•

new laws or regulations or new interpretations of laws or regulations applicable to our industry or business;

•

negative publicity, including government hearings and other public lawmaker or regulator criticism, regarding our industry or business;

•

changes in enrollment;

•

changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations or principles;

•

litigation involving our company or investigations or audits by regulators into the operations of our company or our competitors;

•

sales of common stock by our directors, executive officers and significant stockholders; and
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•

changes in general conditions in the United States and global economies or financial markets, including those resulting from war, incidents of terrorism
or responses to such events.

In addition, in recent years, the stock market has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. This volatility has had a significant impact on the
market price of securities issued by many companies, including companies in our industry. Changes may occur without regard to the operating performance of
these companies. The price of our common stock could fluctuate based upon factors that have little or nothing to do with our company.
Sales of outstanding shares of our stock into the market in the future could cause the market price of our stock to drop significantly, even if our business is
doing well.
If our stockholders sell, or indicate an intention to sell, substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, the trading price of our common stock
could decline. At December 31, 2013 , 44.8 million shares of our common stock were outstanding.
In July 2011, we filed a registration statement on Form S-3 with the SEC to register the resale of 34.6 million shares of our common stock held by our
majority stockholder, Warburg Pincus Private Equity VIII, L.P., or Warburg Pincus. Under the registration statement, which the SEC has declared effective,
Warburg Pincus, and its permitted transferees or other successors-in-interest, may offer the shares, of which Warburg Pincus continues to hold 27.7 million shares,
from time to time through public or private transactions at prevailing market prices, at prices related to prevailing market prices or at privately negotiated prices. If
these remaining shares held by Warburg Pincus are sold, or if it is perceived that they will be sold in the public market, the trading price of our stock could decline.
In addition, as of December 31, 2013 , there were 5.5 million shares underlying outstanding options and 1.1 million shares underlying restricted stock units.
All shares subject to outstanding options are eligible for sale in the public market to the extent permitted by the provisions of various option agreements and
Rule 144 under the Securities Act. If these additional shares are sold, or if it is perceived that they will be sold in the public market, the trading price of our stock
could decline. Under Rule 144, shares held by non-affiliates for more than six months may generally be sold without restriction, other than a current public
information requirement, and may be sold freely without any restrictions after one year. Shares held by affiliates may also be sold under Rule 144, subject to
applicable restrictions, including volume and manner of sale limitations.
If securities or industry analysts change their recommendations regarding our stock adversely or if our operating results do not meet their expectations, our
stock price could decline.
The trading market for our common stock is influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about us or our business. If one
or more of these analysts cease coverage of our company or fail to publish reports on us regularly, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn
could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline. Moreover, if one or more of the analysts who cover our company downgrade our stock or if our operating
results do not meet their expectations, our stock price could decline.
Our principal stockholder has significant influence over matters requiring stockholder approval and access to our management.
As of December 31, 2013 , Warburg Pincus beneficially owned 61.9% of our outstanding common stock. Accordingly, Warburg Pincus may exercise
significant influence over the election of our directors, amendments to our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and other actions requiring the vote or consent of
our stockholders, including mergers, going private transactions and other extraordinary transactions. The ownership position of Warburg Pincus may have the
effect of delaying, deterring or preventing a change of control or a change in the composition of our board of directors.
In February 2009, we entered into a nominating agreement with Warburg Pincus. Under the nominating agreement, as long as Warburg Pincus beneficially
owns at least 15% of the outstanding shares of common stock, we will, subject to our fiduciary obligations, nominate and recommend to our stockholders that two
individuals designated by Warburg Pincus be elected to our board of directors. Additionally, if Warburg Pincus beneficially owns less than 15% but more than 5%
of the outstanding shares of common stock, we will, subject to our fiduciary obligations, nominate and recommend to our stockholders that one individual
designated by Warburg Pincus be elected to our board of directors. Two directors affiliated with Warburg Pincus, Patrick T. Hackett and Adarsh Sarma, currently
serve on our board of directors.
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We currently do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock and, consequently, your only opportunity to achieve a return on your investment is if the
price of our common stock appreciates.
We do not expect to pay dividends on shares of our common stock in the foreseeable future and we intend to use our cash position to grow our business.
Consequently, your only opportunity to achieve a positive return on your investment in us will be if the market price of our common stock appreciates.
Your percentage ownership in us may be diluted by future issuances of capital stock, which could reduce your influence over matters on which stockholders
vote.
Subject to NYSE rules, our board of directors has the authority, without action or vote of our stockholders, to issue all or any part of our authorized but
unissued shares of capital stock. At December 31, 2013 , 300.0 million shares of common stock were authorized for issuance under our certificate of incorporation,
44.8 million shares of which were outstanding. At December 31, 2013 , 20.0 million shares of preferred stock were authorized for issuance under our certificate of
incorporation, no shares of which were outstanding. Issuances of common stock or voting preferred stock would reduce your influence over matters on which our
stockholders vote and, in the case of issuances of preferred stock, likely would result in your interest in us being subject to the prior rights of holders of that
preferred stock.
Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law may discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our company or changes
in our management and, therefore, may depress the trading price of our stock.
Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could depress the trading price of our stock by acting to discourage, delay or prevent a
change of control of our company or changes in our management that the stockholders of our company may deem advantageous. These provisions:
•

authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that our board of directors could issue to increase the number of outstanding shares to discourage
a takeover attempt;

•

provide for a classified board of directors (three classes);

•

provide that stockholders may only remove directors for cause;

•

provide that any vacancy on our board of directors, including a vacancy resulting from an increase in the size of the board, may only be filled by the
affirmative vote of a majority of our directors then in office, even if less than a quorum;

•

provide that a special meeting of stockholders may only be called by our board of directors or by our chief executive officer;

•

provide that action by written consent of the stockholders may be taken only if the board of directors first approves such action, except that if Warburg
Pincus holds at least 50% of our outstanding capital stock on a fully diluted basis, whenever the vote of stockholders is required at a meeting for any
corporate action, the meeting and vote of stockholders may be dispensed with, and the action taken without such meeting and vote, if a written consent is
signed by the holders of outstanding stock having not less than the minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at
the meeting of stockholders; provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing, we will hold an annual meeting of stockholders in accordance with NYSE
rules, for so long as our shares are listed on the NYSE, and as otherwise required by the bylaws;

•

provide that the board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter or repeal our bylaws; and

•

establish advance notice requirements for nominations for elections to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by
stockholders at stockholder meetings.

Additionally, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which generally prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in
any of a broad range of business combinations with any “interested” stockholder for a period of three years following the date on which the stockholder became an
“interested” stockholder.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
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Item 2. Properties.
We own over 160 acres of property in Clinton, Iowa, on which various academic, athletic, administrative, housing and student services buildings are situated,
comprising 475,000 square feet of space. The properties we own in Iowa are used for campus operations.
We also lease property in California, Colorado, Iowa, Pennsylvania and Washington D.C. for campus operations, corporate functions, enrollment services
and student support services. Below is a table summarizing our leased properties:
Number of
Buildings

Location

Total Square
Footage

Lease Expiration

Primary Use

5

San Diego, CA

625,000

2017-2020

Enrollment services, student support services and corporate functions

2

Denver, CO

260,000

2021-2023

Enrollment services, student support services and corporate functions

2

Colorado Springs, CO

34,000

2015

Campus operations

2

Clinton, IA

37,000

2016

Campus operations, enrollment services and student support services

1

Philadelphia, PA

3,000

2015

Corporate functions

1

Washington, D.C.

2,000

2014

Corporate functions

As security for the performance of our obligations under the loan documents in connection with our $50 million revolving line of credit with Comerica Bank,
we granted the lenders a first priority security interest in substantially all of the Company's assets, including its real property, having a book value of $7.1 million
as of December 31, 2013. For more information regarding this line of credit, see Note 11 , “ Credit Facilities ,” to our annual consolidated financial statements,
which are included elsewhere in this report.
Our facilities are utilized consistent with management's expectations and we believe such facilities are suitable and adequate for current requirements, and
that additional space can be obtained on commercially reasonable terms to meet future requirements.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
Refer to Note 20, “Commitments and Contingencies,” to our annual consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this report, for legal
proceedings, which note is incorporated by reference into this Item 3 of Part I.
Item 4. Not Applicable.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases
of Equity Securities.
Market Information
Our common stock is listed on the NYSE under the symbol “BPI.” The following table sets forth, for each full quarterly period in 2013 and 2012, the high
and low sale prices of our common stock as reported on the NYSE.
High ($)

2012
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter
2013
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

Low ($)

27.26
25.56
22.19
11.44

20.31
17.87
8.11
8.51

11.38
13.32
18.13
20.33

9.51
9.62
11.89
15.64

Holders of Record
As of March 10, 2014 , the closing sales price of our common stock on the NYSE was $19.01 per share and there were 18 holders of record of our common
stock, including the Depository Trust Company, which holds shares on behalf of an indeterminate number of beneficial owners.
Dividend Policy
We have not yet declared a cash dividend and do not anticipate paying a cash dividend in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay cash
dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon our financial condition, operating results, capital requirements, any contractual
restrictions and such other factors as our board of directors may deem appropriate.
In connection with our $50 million revolving credit agreement with the lenders signatory thereto and Comerica Bank, as administrative agent for the lenders,
we are not permitted to make dividend payments, stock redemptions, permitted acquisitions and other specified cash expenditures exceeding an aggregate of
$300 million during the term of the agreement. For more information regarding this line of credit, see Note 11 , “ Credit Facilities ,” to our annual consolidated
financial statements, which are included elsewhere in this report.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
On November 8, 2013, we issued 666 shares of common stock to an investor upon the exercise of a warrant to purchase common stock at an exercise price of
$1.125 per share for total proceeds to us of $749.25. The shares were offered and sold in reliance on the exemption from registration provided by Section 4(2) of
the Securities Act and Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated thereunder. An appropriate restrictive legend was placed on the stock certificate.
On November 13, 2013, we issued 11,111 shares of common stock to an investor upon the exercise of a warrant to purchase common stock at an exercise
price of $1.125 per share for total proceeds to us of $12,499.88. The shares were offered and sold in reliance on the exemption from registration provided by
Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated thereunder. An appropriate restrictive legend was placed on the stock certificate.
On November 14, 2013, we issued 1,111 shares of common stock to an investor upon the exercise of a warrant to purchase common stock at an exercise
price of $1.125 per share for total proceeds to us of $1,249.88. The shares were offered and sold in reliance on the exemption from registration provided by Section
4(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated thereunder. An appropriate restrictive legend was placed on the stock certificate.
On November 26, 2013, we issued 666 shares of common stock to an investor upon the exercise of a warrant to purchase common stock at an exercise price
of $1.125 per share for total proceeds to us of $749.25. The shares were offered and sold in
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reliance on the exemption from registration provided by Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated thereunder. An appropriate
restrictive legend was placed on the stock certificate.
Purchases of Equity Securities
For information regarding our tender offer authorized by a special committee of our board of directors, see Note 16, “Stock Repurchase Programs,” to our
annual consolidated financial statements, which are included elsewhere in this report. Other than as set forth in the table and discussed in footnote 1 below, we
repurchased no common stock during the fourth quarter of 2013.

Period

Total Number of Shares
Purchased (1)

Total Number of Shares
Approximate Dollar Value of
Purchased as Part of Publicly
Shares that May Be
Announced Plans or
Purchased Under the Plans
Average Price Paid per Share
Programs
or Programs

October 1, 2013 through October 31, 2013
November 1, 2013 through November 30, 2013
December 1, 2013 through December 31, 2013

—
—
10,249,766

—
—
$19.50

—
—
—

—
—
—

Total

10,249,766

$19.50

—

—

(1) In December 2013, we repurchased 10,249,766 shares of our common stock, including all “odd lots” properly tendered, shares tendered through the conditional exercise of options and shares
tendered by Warburg Pincus Private Equity VIII, L.P. and its affiliates, the Company’s major stockholder, at a purchase price of $19.50 per share, for a total cost of approximately $199.9 million. Shares
tendered through the conditional exercise of options represented 173,409 of the number of shares accepted for purchase. Our board of directors created and empowered a special committee to review and
decide upon, with the assistance of management, alternatives for using the Company’s available financial resources. The special committee, consisting of independent directors Dale Crandall, Marye Anne
Fox and Robert Hartman, considered the Company’s existing and anticipated capital structure and financial position, including the Company’s outstanding common stock, financial ratios, the market price
of its common stock and the Company’s operations, strategy and expectations for the future. The tender offer was approved by the special committee of our board of directors.
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Performance Graph
The following graph compares the cumulative total return provided to stockholders on Bridgepoint Education Inc.'s common stock relative to the cumulative
total returns of the Russell 3000 Index, and a customized peer group of four postsecondary education companies that includes: American Public Education, Inc.,
Capella Education Company, Grand Canyon Education, Inc. and Strayer Education, Inc. An investment of $100 (with reinvestment of all dividends) is assumed to
have been made in our common stock, in the peer group, and in the index, on April 15, 2009 (the date our stock began trading on the NYSE), and the investment's
relative performance is tracked through December 31, 2013 .

*

This performance graph shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or incorporated by reference into any filing of
Bridgepoint Education, Inc. under the Securities Act, or the Exchange Act, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing.
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Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data.
The following selected consolidated financial and other data should be read in conjunction with Part II, Item 7, “Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and our audited consolidated financial statements, which are included elsewhere in this report. The consolidated
statement of income data, consolidated balance sheet data, and consolidated other data set forth below as of and for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 ,
2011 , 2010 , and 2009 , have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results to be
expected for future periods; the risk factors set forth in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” of this report also discuss material uncertainties that could cause the data
reflected below not to be indicative of our future financial condition or results of operations. We declared no cash dividends during the periods presented.
Year Ended December 31,
2013

2012

2011

2010

2009

(In thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statement of Income Data:
Revenue

$

768,623

$

968,171

$

933,349

$

713,233

$

454,324

Operating income(1)

60,443

195,464

273,747

216,421

81,730

Net income

41,010

123,421

172,764

127,580

47,105

—

—

—

—

41,010

123,421

172,764

127,580

Accretion of preferred dividends(2)
Net income available to common stockholders

(645)
46,460

Earnings per common share:
Basic

$

0.76

Diluted

$

2.33

0.74

$

3.30

2.21

$

2.37

3.02

$

0.85

2.14

0.74

As of December 31,
2013

2012

2011

2010

2009

(In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and investments

$

Total assets

356,435

514,670

$

407,207

$

299,129

$

170,550

750,787

613,636

471,225

—

—

—

—

635

348,039

491,570

353,648

238,241

134,609

Total indebtedness (including short-term indebtedness)
Total stockholders' equity

$

573,979

295,231

Year Ended December 31,
2013

2012

2011

2010

2009

(In thousands, except enrollment data)

Consolidated Other Data:
Cash flows provided by (used in):
Operating activities

$

75,538

$

143,185

$

220,808

$

189,949

$

131,727

Investing activities

115,196

(23,009)

(208,048)

(94,472)

(70,030)

Financing activities

(197,227)

1,868

(67,357)

(32,521)

7,382

62,668

80,791

85,527

77,033

53,048

956

1,019

1,115

859

640

63,624

81,810

86,642

77,892

53,688

Period-end enrollment (unaudited)(3):
Online
Campus-based
Total

(1)

In 2009, we recorded (i) an expense of $11.1 million related to the settlement of a stockholder claim (of which $10.6 million was non-cash) and (ii) we
recorded a non-cash expense of $30.4 million related to the acceleration of exit options which occurred in connection with our initial public offering.

(2)

The holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock earned preferred dividends, accreting at the rate of 8% per year, compounding annually.
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(3)

We define enrollments as the number of active students on the last day of the financial reporting period. Prior to July 1, 2011, a student was considered active
if the student had attended a class within the prior 30 days unless the student had graduated or had provided us with notice of withdrawal. Effective July 1,
2011, a student is considered active if the student has attended a class within the prior 15 days or is on an institutionally-approved break not to exceed 45
days, unless the student has graduated or has provided us with notice of withdrawal.
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our annual consolidated financial statements, which are included elsewhere in this report. In
addition to historical information, this discussion includes forward-looking information that involves risks and assumptions which could cause actual results to
differ materially from management's expectations. See Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” and “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” at the
beginning of this report.
Overview
We are a provider of postsecondary education services. Our academic institutions, Ashford University and University of the Rockies, offer associate's,
bachelor's, master's and doctoral programs online as well as at their traditional campuses located in Iowa and Colorado, respectively. As of December 31, 2013 ,
our institutions offered approximately 1,570 courses, 80 degree programs and 145 specializations. We are also focused on developing innovative new technologies
to improve the way students learn, such as the mobile learning platforms for our institutions, Constellation, Thuze and Waypoint Outcomes. For more information
on our business, see “Business-Overview” in Part I, Item 1 of this report.
Key operating data
In evaluating our operating performance, our management focuses in large part on (i) revenue, (ii) operating income and (iii) period-end enrollment at our
academic institutions (online and campus-based). The following table, which you should read in conjunction with our annual consolidated financial statements,
contained elsewhere in this report, presents our key operating data for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 (in thousands, except for enrollment
data):
Year Ended December 31,
2013

Consolidated Statement of Income Data:
Revenue
Operating Income
Consolidated Other Data:
Period-end enrollment (unaudited)(1)
Online
Campus-based

$

$

968,171
195,464

62,668
956
63,624

Total
(1)

768,623
60,443

2012

80,791
1,019
81,810

2011

$

933,349
273,747

85,527
1,115
86,642

We define enrollments as the number of active students on the last day of the financial reporting period. A student is considered active if the student has
attended a class within the prior 15 days or is on an institutionally-approved break not to exceed 45 days, unless the student has graduated or has provided us
with notice of withdrawal.

Key enrollment trends
Since our acquisition of Ashford University in March 2005, we have experienced overall growth in enrollments, revenue and operating income. However, in
2013 , enrollment at our institutions declined to 63,624 at December 31, 2013 as compared to 81,810 at December 31, 2012 , representing a decrease of 22.2% .
The following table presents new student enrollments for each quarter in 2013 , with comparisons to the same periods in 2012 :
Q1

Current period
Prior year period
Percentage change

Q2

13,300
24,275
(45.2)%

10,600
19,300
(45.1)%

Q3

12,500
20,500
(39.0)%

Q4

10,200
9,260
10.2%

Total

46,600
73,335
(36.5)%

In recent quarters, we have generally experienced a decline in new student enrollments. We believe a primary driver for the recent decline is lower
productivity levels of our admissions counselors and student inquiry coordinators, as a result of our various operational changes and business initiatives. We
believe that the new student enrollment has been negatively impacted by the student quality and preparedness initiatives we added during fiscal year 2013. Lastly,
we believe that the negative media scrutiny of the private sector postsecondary education industry in general has had a negative impact on new enrollments.
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Trends and uncertainties regarding revenue and continuing operations
Ashford University made changes to its operations and business initiatives as part of its reapplication for initial accreditation from WASC. These initiatives
included hiring new leadership, implementing smaller class sizes, expanding minimum age-levels for students, implementing the Ashford Promise (an initiative
that allows online students a full refund for all tuition and fees through the third week of a student's first class), hiring additional full-time faculty, and
implementing new program review models. Many of these initiatives have resulted in higher expense to the organization, primarily in the areas of instructional
costs and services, as well as contributed to the recent decline in new enrollment and resulting decline in revenue.
There was a reduction in force during the second quarter of 2013 to help better align personnel resources with the impact of previously announced
institutional initiatives regarding enrollments. We recognized $5.9 million of severance costs for wages and benefits during the second quarter for this reduction in
force. The total severance amount was charged as $4.8 million to instructional costs and services, $0.3 million to admissions advisory and marketing expenses, and
$0.8 million to general and administrative expenses. These costs were fully paid during the third quarter of 2013 from existing cash on hand.
Although we continue to see a demand for postsecondary education and Title IV funds continue to be available to current and prospective students, our
historical results and trends, including enrollments, instructional costs and services, and admissions advisory and marketing expenses may not be indicative of our
future results.
Liquidity and capital resources and anticipated capital expenditures
We financed our operating activities and capital expenditures during 2013 and 2012 primarily through cash provided by operating activities. At
December 31, 2013 , we had cash, cash equivalents and investments totaling $356.4 million and no long-term debt. Based on our current level of operations, we
believe that our cash flows from operating activities, our cash and cash equivalents and other sources of liquidity will provide adequate funds for ongoing
operations, planned capital expenditures and working capital requirements for at least the next 12 months. For the year ending December 31, 2014, we expect
capital expenditures to be approximately $20.0 million.
We also repurchased stock under our authorized stock repurchase programs. For more information about stock repurchases, see “Liquidity and Capital
Resources - Stock Repurchase Programs” below.
Key Financial Metrics
Revenue
Revenue consists principally of tuition, technology fees and other miscellaneous fees and is shown net of scholarships and refunds. Factors affecting our
revenue include: (i) the number of students who enroll and who remain enrolled in our courses; (ii) our degree and program mix; (iii) changes in our tuition rates;
and (iv) the amount of the scholarships that we offer.
Enrollments
We define enrollments as the number of active students on the last day of the financial reporting period. A student is considered active if the student has
attended a class within the prior 15 days or is on an institutionally-approved break not to exceed 45 days, unless the student has graduated or has provided us with
notice of withdrawal.
Enrollments are a function of the number of continuing students at the beginning of each period and new enrollments during the period, which are offset by
students who either graduated or withdrew during the period. Our online courses are typically five or six weeks in length and have weekly start dates through the
year, with the exception of a two-week break during the holiday period in late December and early January. Our campus-based courses have one start per term,
with two to five terms per year.
Costs and expenses
Effective in 2012, we made changes in the presentation of our operating expenses and have reclassified prior periods to conform to that new presentation.
Management determined that these changes would better reflect industry practices and would provide more meaningful information as well as increased
transparency to our operations. We believe that the reclassification better represents the operational changes and the business initiatives that have been
implemented. These reclassifications had no effect on previously reported total operating expenses or retained earnings. The following is a description of the
nature of the costs included in each of our current expense categories.
Instructional costs and services. Instructional costs and services consist primarily of costs related to the administration and delivery of our institutions'
educational programs. This expense category includes compensation for campus-based faculty and administrative personnel, costs associated with online faculty,
curriculum and new program development costs, financial
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aid processing costs, technology license costs, bad debt expense and costs associated with other support groups that provide services directly to the students.
Instructional costs and services also include an allocation of information technology, facility, depreciation and amortization costs.
Admissions advisory and marketing. Admissions advisory and marketing costs include compensation of personnel engaged in marketing and recruitment, as
well as costs associated with purchasing leads and producing marketing materials. Our admissions advisory and marketing expenses are generally affected by the
cost of advertising media and leads, the efficiency of our marketing and recruiting efforts, salaries and benefits for our enrollment personnel and expenditures on
advertising initiatives for new and existing academic programs. Advertising costs, consisting primarily of marketing leads, are expensed as incurred or the first
time the advertising takes place, depending on the type of advertising activity. Admissions advisory and marketing costs also include an allocation of information
technology, facility, depreciation and amortization costs.
General and administrative. General and administrative expenses include compensation of employees engaged in corporate management, finance, human
resources, compliance and other corporate functions. General and administrative expenses also include professional services fees, travel and entertainment
expenses and an allocation of information technology, facility, depreciation and amortization costs.
Factors Affecting Comparability
We believe the following factors have had, or can be expected to have, a significant effect on the comparability of recent or future results of operations:
Stock repurchase programs
See “Liquidity and Capital Resources - Stock Repurchase Programs” below.
Seasonality
Our operations are generally subject to seasonal trends. As our growth rate declines, we expect seasonal fluctuations in results of operations to become more
apparent as a result of changes in the level of student enrollment. While we enroll students throughout the year, our fourth quarter revenue generally is lower than
other quarters due to the holiday break in December. We generally experience a seasonal increase in new enrollments in August and September of each year when
most other colleges and universities begin their fall semesters.
Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates
Critical accounting policies are those policies that, in management's view, are most important in the portrayal of our financial condition and results of
operations. The footnotes to the consolidated financial statements also include disclosure of significant accounting policies. The methods, estimates and judgments
that we use in applying our accounting policies have a significant impact on the results that we report in our financial statements. These critical accounting policies
require us to make difficult and subjective judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates regarding matters that are inherently uncertain.
The discussion of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, costs and expenses. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and
assumptions. These estimates are based on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. The
results of our analysis form the basis for making assumptions about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions, and the impact of such differences may be material to our consolidated
financial statements.
Revenue recognition
The majority of our revenue comes from tuition revenue and is shown net of scholarships and refunds. Tuition revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis
over the applicable period of instruction, with the exception of an online student's first course, per degree level, at Ashford University. Effective in the fourth
quarter of 2012, an online student's first course per degree level at Ashford University falls under a three-week conditional admission period in which the revenue
is deferred until the student matriculates into the course.
Our institutions' online students generally enroll in a program that encompasses a series of five to six-week courses that are taken consecutively over the
length of the program. With the exception of those students under conditional admission,
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online students are billed on a payment period basis on the first day of a class. Our institutions' traditional campus-based students enroll in a program that
encompasses a series of nine-week or 16-week courses. These students are billed at the beginning of each term.
Deferred revenue and student deposits represents unearned tuition and fees as well as student payments in excess of charges. We record an account receivable
and corresponding deferred revenue for the amount of tuition and fees for enrolled courses when a student is billed for a payment period. Payments that are
received either directly from the student or from the student's source of funding that exceed amounts billed are recorded as student deposits. At the end of each
accounting period, the deferred revenue and student deposits and related account receivable balances are reduced to present amounts attributable to the current
course.
If a student withdraws from a program prior to certain dates, the student is entitled to a refund of a portion of tuition, depending on the date the student last
attended a class. For those students under conditional admission, the student is not obligated for payment until after their conditional admission period has lapsed,
so there is no required refund. For all subsequent courses, if an online student drops a class and the student's last date of attendance was in the first week of class,
the student receives a full refund of the tuition for that class. If an online student drops a class and the last date of attendance was in the second week of the class,
the student receives a refund of 50% of the tuition for that class. If an online student drops a class and the student's last date of attendance was after the second
week of the class, the student is not entitled to a refund. We monitor student attendance in online courses through activity in the online program associated with
that course. After two weeks have passed without attendance in a class by the student, the student is presumed to have dropped the course as of the last date of
attendance, and the student's tuition is automatically refunded to the extent the student is entitled to a refund based on the refund policy above. We estimate
expected refunds based on historical refund rates and record a provision to reduce revenue for the amount that is expected to be refunded. Refunds issued by us for
services that have been provided in a prior period have not historically been material. Future changes in the rate of student withdrawals may result in a change to
expected refunds and would be accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate.
We also record revenue from technology fees that are one-time start up fees charged to each new online student, other than military, scholarship students or
certain corporate reimbursement students. Technology fee revenue is recognized ratably over the average expected enrollment of a student. The average expected
enrollment of the student is estimated each quarter based upon historical duration of attendance and qualitative factors as deemed necessary. Effective January 1,
2013, Ashford University eliminated the one-time technology fee and replaced it with a per course charge. The per course technology fee revenue is recognized on
a straight-line basis over the applicable period of instruction.
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Accounts receivable consists of student accounts receivable, which represent amounts due for tuition, course digital materials, technology fees and other fees
from currently enrolled and former students. Students generally fund their education through grants and/or loans under various Title IV programs, tuition
assistance from military and corporate employers or personal funds. Payments are due on the respective course start date and are considered past due subsequent to
the respective course start date. An account is considered delinquent 120 days subsequent to the course start date.
Accounts receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding balances. For accounts receivable, an allowance for doubtful
accounts is estimated by management and is principally based on historical collection experience as well as (i) an assessment of individual accounts receivable
over a specific aging and amount, (ii) consideration of the nature of the receivable accounts and (iii) potential changes in the business or economic environment.
The provision for bad debts is recorded within the instructional costs and services line in the consolidated statements of income. We charge off uncollectable
accounts receivable when the student account is deemed uncollectable by internal collection efforts or by a third party collection agency.
Loan loss reserves
Student loans receivable consist of loans to qualified students and have a repayment period of 10 years from the date of graduation or withdrawal from the
Company's institutions. The interest rate charged on student loans is a fixed rate of either 4.5% or 0.0% depending upon the repayment plan selected. If the student
selects the rate of 0.0% , the student must pay $50 per month on the loan while enrolled in school and during the six months of grace period (after graduation or
withdrawal) before the repayment period begins. On the 0.0% student loans, we impute interest using the rate that would be used in a market transaction with
similar terms. Interest income on student loans is recognized using the effective interest method and is recorded within other income in the consolidated statements
of income.
Student loans receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding balances. For tuition related student loan receivables, we
estimate an allowance for doubtful accounts, similar to that of accounts receivable, based

62

on (i) an assessment of individual loans receivable over a specific aging and amount, (ii) consideration of the nature of the receivable accounts, (iii) potential
changes in the business or economic environment and (iv) related FICO scores and other industry metrics. The related provision for bad debts is recorded within
the instructional costs and services line in the consolidated statements of income.
For non-tuition related student loans, we utilize an impairment methodology. Under this methodology, management determines whether a loan would be
impaired if we will be unable to collect all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms of the individual loan agreement. This assessment is based on an
analysis of several factors including aging history and delinquency trending, the risk characteristics and loan performance of the specific loans, as well as current
economic conditions and industry trends. Credit quality is assessed at the outset of a loan, based upon FICO score during the loan application process. We consider
loans to be impaired when they reach a delinquency status that requires specialized collection efforts. We define delinquency for loans as being for students who
are no longer active, having amounts that are past due and having the last activity more than 120 days old. We record a loss reserve for the full book value of the
impaired loans. The loan loss reserve is maintained at a level deemed adequate by management based on a periodic analysis of the individual loans and is recorded
within the instructional costs and services line in the consolidated statements of income.
Impairments of intangible assets
We test indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually, in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year, or more frequently if events and circumstances
warrant. To evaluate the impairment of the indefinite-lived intangible assets, we assessed the fair value of the assets to determine whether they were in excess of
the carrying values. Determining the fair value of indefinite-lived intangible asset is judgmental in nature and involves the use of significant estimates and
assumptions. These estimates and assumptions are inherently uncertain, and can include such items as growth rates used to calculate projected future cash flows,
risk-adjusted discount rates, future economic and market conditions, as well as determination of appropriate market comparables. Our assessment of indefinitelived intangible assets during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013 did not result in any impairment. There have been no impairment losses recognized by us for any
periods presented.
We have definite-lived intangible assets, which primarily consist of purchased intangibles and capitalized curriculum development costs. The definite-lived
intangible assets are recognized at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is computed using the straight-line method based on estimated useful lives of
the related assets when there is evidence that events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. We estimate
that the useful life of the capitalized curriculum development costs is three years and that the useful life of the purchased intangibles is the life of the related
contract.
Impairments of long-lived assets
We assess potential impairment to our long-lived assets when there is evidence that events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
an asset may not be recoverable. Factors we consider important which could cause us to assess potential impairment include significant changes in the manner of
our use of the acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business and significant negative industry or economic trends. An impairment loss is recorded when
the carrying amount of the long-lived asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value. The carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable if it exceeds
the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset. Any required impairment loss is measured as the
amount by which the carrying amount of a long-lived asset exceeds its fair value and is recorded as a reduction in the carrying value of the related asset and an
expense to operating results.
We use various assumptions in determining undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset, including
assumptions regarding revenue growth rates, operating costs, certain capital additions, assumed discount rates, disposition or terminal value and other economic
factors. These variables require management judgment and include inherent uncertainties such as continuing acceptance of our institutions' education offerings by
prospective students, our ability to manage operating costs and the impact of changes in the economy on our business. A variation in the assumptions used could
lead to a different conclusion regarding the realizability of an asset and, thus, could have a significant effect on our conclusions regarding whether an asset is
impaired and the amount of impairment loss recorded in the consolidated financial statements.
Income taxes
We utilize the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Significant judgments are required in determining the consolidated provision for income
taxes. During the ordinary course of business, there are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax settlement is uncertain. As a result, we
recognize tax liabilities based on estimates of whether additional taxes and interest will be due. These tax liabilities are recognized when, despite our belief that our
tax return positions are supportable, we believe that it is more likely than not that those positions may not be fully sustained upon review
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by tax authorities. We believe that our accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open audit years based on our assessment of many factors including past
experience and interpretations of tax law. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of complex judgments about future events.
To the extent that the final tax outcome of these matters differs from our expectations, such differences will impact income tax expense in the period in which such
determination is made.
We evaluate and account for uncertain tax positions using a two-step approach. Recognition (step one) occurs when we conclude that a tax position, based
solely on its technical merits, is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination. Measurement (step two) determines the amount of benefit that is greater
than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. Derecognition of a tax position
that was previously recognized would occur when we subsequently determine that a tax position no longer meets the more-likely-than-not threshold of being
sustained.
We are required to file income tax returns in the United States and in various state income tax jurisdictions. The preparation of these income tax returns
requires us to interpret the applicable tax laws and regulations in effect in such jurisdictions, which could affect the amount of tax paid by us. The income tax
returns, however, are subject to audits by the various federal and state taxing authorities. As part of these reviews, the taxing authorities may disagree with our tax
positions. The ultimate resolution of these tax positions is often uncertain until the audit is complete and any disagreements are resolved. We therefore record an
amount for our estimate of the additional tax liability, including interest and penalties, for any uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in an income
tax return. We review and update the accrual for uncertain tax positions as more definitive information becomes available from taxing authorities, completion of
tax audits and expiration of statutes of limitations. We record interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense.
In addition to estimates inherent in the recognition of current taxes payable, we estimate the likelihood that we will be able to recover our deferred tax assets
each reporting period. Realization of our deferred tax assets is dependent upon future taxable income. To the extent we believe it is more-likely-than-not that some
portion or all of our net deferred tax assets will not be realized, we establish a valuation allowance recorded against deferred tax assets. Significant judgment is
required in determining any valuation allowance recorded against deferred tax assets. In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, we consider all available
evidence including past operating results, estimates of future taxable income and the feasibility of ongoing tax planning strategies. We recognize windfall tax
benefits associated with the exercise of stock options directly to stockholders' equity only when realized. A windfall tax benefit occurs when the actual tax benefit
realized by us upon an employee's disposition of a share-based award exceeds the deferred tax asset, if any, associated with the award that we had recorded. When
assessing whether a tax benefit relating to share-based compensation has been realized, we follow the tax law ordering method, under which current year sharebased compensation deductions are assumed to be utilized before net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes.
Stock-based compensation
We grant options to purchase our common stock and restricted stock units to eligible persons under our equity incentive plans. The benefits provided under
these plans are share-based payments and are recorded in our consolidated statement of income based upon their fair values.
Stock-based compensation cost is measured using the grant date fair value of the award and is expensed over the vesting period. The fair value of restricted
stock units is the stock price on the date of grant multiplied by the number of units awarded. We estimate the fair value of stock options awards on the grant date
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Determining the fair value of stock options at the grant date under this model requires judgment, including
estimating our volatility, employee stock option exercise behaviors and forfeiture rates. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of stock options
represent our best estimates, but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management judgment.
The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield of those maturities that are consistent with the expected term of the stock option in effect on the
grant date of the award. Dividend rates are based upon historical dividend trends and expected future dividends. As we have never declared or paid any cash
dividends and do not presently plan to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future, a zero dividend rate is assumed in our calculation. We have determined that we
now have enough historical option exercise information to be able to accurately compute an expected term for use as an assumption in the Black-Scholes option
pricing model. As such, our computation of expected term was calculated using our own historical data.
We do not have enough historical data on the volatility of our stock to use as a direct assumption in the Black-Scholes option pricing model. As such, we
supplement our own stock volatility data with historical volatility data of comparable public companies, which we refer to as guideline companies, in order to
calculate a volatility estimate for the number of years commensurate with our expected term assumption. In evaluating the comparability of the guideline
companies, we consider
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factors such as industry, stage of life cycle, size and financial leverage. Options awarded under our equity incentive plans have an exercise price that equals or
exceeds the closing price of our common stock on the date of grant.
The amount of stock-based compensation expense we recognize during a period is based on the portion of the awards that are ultimately expected to vest. We
estimate option forfeitures at the time of grant and revise those estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. The effect of a 10%
change in estimates to any of the individual inputs to the Black-Scholes option pricing model would not have a material impact to our consolidated financial
statements.
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Results of Operations
The following table sets forth our consolidated statements of income data as a percentage of revenue for each of the periods indicated:
Year Ended December 31,
2013

Revenue
Costs and expenses:
Instructional cost and services
Admissions advisory and marketing
General and administrative
Total costs and expenses
Operating income
Other income, net
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net income

2012

2011

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

51.5%
30.6%
10.0%
92.1%
7.9%
0.4%
8.3%
3.0%
5.3%

37.5%
35.0%
7.2%
79.7%
20.3%
0.3%
20.6%
7.9%
12.7%

32.6%
31.9%
6.2%
70.7%
29.3%
0.3%
29.6%
11.1%
18.5%

Year Ended December 31, 2013 , Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2012
Revenue. Our revenue for 2013 was $768.6 million , a decrease of $199.5 million , or 20.6% , as compared to $968.2 million for 2012 . The decrease between
periods was primarily due to the decrease in average weekly enrollment between fiscal year 2012 and fiscal year 2013 . Ending student enrollment at our academic
institutions decreased 22.2% , from 81,810 to 63,624 as of December 31, 2012 and 2013 , respectively. The average enrollment during fiscal year 2013 decreased
to 72,500 from 90,838, or by 20.2% over the same period in the prior year, which resulted in an decrease in tuition revenue of approximately $161.7 million.
Additionally, revenue generated from Constellation was $20.8 million in 2013 , compared to $22.4 million in 2012 , which resulted in a decrease in revenue of
approximately $1.6 million. The decrease in revenue was partially offset by the 2.75% tuition increase effective April 1, 2013, which resulted in an increase in
revenue of approximately $20.9 million. The overall decrease in revenue was also impacted by a decrease in technology fees of $44.9 million and a decrease in
institutional scholarships of $9.7 million. We provided institutional scholarships of $114.7 million in 2013 , compared to $124.4 million in 2012 . We earned
technology fees of $15.7 million in 2013 , compared to $60.6 million in 2012 . The decline of $44.9 million in technology fees between periods is primarily due to
the decline in new student enrollments as well as the change in technology fee structure for Ashford University. Effective January 1, 2013, Ashford University
eliminated the one-time technology fee of $1,290 it charged online students, and replaced it with a $50 per course charge.
Instructional costs and services. Our instructional costs and services for 2013 were $395.9 million , an increase of $31.9 million , or 8.8% , as compared to
$364.0 million for 2012 . In the second half of 2012, the Company began to increase its instructional costs and services costs in direct response to WASC
accreditation efforts. These additional costs and services included hiring new leadership, implementing smaller class sizes, hiring additional full-time faculty and
implementing new program review models. The Company continued these efforts and related changes to the cost structure throughout 2013. These increases were
partially offset by decreases in enrollment. Student enrollment at our academic institutions decreased by 22.2% from 81,810 to 63,624 as of December 31, 2012
and 2013 , respectively. The average weekly enrollment during fiscal year 2013 also decreased to 72,500 from 90,838, or by 20.2%, over the same period in the
prior year. Specific increases between periods include increases in corporate support services of $20.7 million, direct compensation in the areas of academic
management, financial aid support and student services of $17.6 million (including $4.8 million of severance charges from the second quarter of 2013), facilities
costs of $6.5 million, loan impairment of $2.0 million and amortization of $1.7 million. These increases are offset by decreases in instructor fees of $9.6 million,
financial aid processing fees of $3.0 million, and bad debt expense of $1.4 million. Instructional costs and services increase d, as a percentage of revenue, to 51.5%
for 2013 , as compared to 37.5% for 2012 , primarily as a result of the decreased revenue. The increase of 14.0% as a percentage of revenue included relative
increases in direct compensation of 5.0%, corporate support services of 3.3%, bad debt expense of 1.8%, facilities costs of 1.6%, information technology costs of
0.7%, instructor fees of 0.4%, loan impairment of 0.3% and amortization of 0.3%. As a percentage of revenue, bad debt expense was 9.4% for 2013 , compared to
7.6% for 2012 . Although we resolved the accounts receivable aging issue, which resulted in the revision of bad debt for fiscal year 2012, we continued to be
indirectly impacted within fiscal year 2013. As a result of the prior aging issue and the prior financial aid packaging issues, a backlog of work resulted for our
financial aid and collections departments. Due to this backlog, the ability to package or collect prospective
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accounts throughout 2013 was reduced and resulted in higher bad debt. Additionally, due to the timing of the aging issue, in certain cases this resulted in the
inability to package students timely in the first half of 2013. Lastly, we had reductions in our collections department workforce which also resulted in higher bad
debt. Although we cannot be certain that these changes will decrease bad debt expense in the future, we continue to focus on enhancing our processes and
procedures around our accounts receivable, including improvements and efficiencies in financial aid processing in order to reduce the processing timeline,
improved collection efforts on accounts receivable, and improved counseling to students about the financial aid process and related eligibility and amounts due
from the student.
Admissions advisory and marketing. Our admissions advisory and marketing expenses for 2013 were $235.4 million , a decrease of $103.9 million , or
30.6% , as compared to $339.2 million for 2012 . Specific factors contributing to the overall decrease between periods were decreases in related compensation of
$39.5 million due to fewer admissions and related personnel, advertising costs of $27.2 million, corporate support services of $25.1 million, facilities costs of $5.6
million, and information technology costs of $5.4 million. Our admissions advisory and marketing expenses, as a percentage of revenue, decrease d to 30.6% for
2013 from 35.0% for 2012 . The decrease of 4.4% as a percentage of revenue was primarily due to the relative decreases in corporate support services of 2.9%,
selling compensation of 0.9%, and advertising costs of 0.8%.
General and administrative. Our general and administrative expenses for 2013 were $76.9 million , an increase of $7.4 million , or 10.6% , as compared to
$69.5 million for 2012 . The overall increase between periods was due to increases in administrative compensation of $6.4 million, corporate support services of
$4.5 million, depreciation of $2.3 million, information technology costs of $0.7 million, and professional fees of $0.5 million. These increases were offset by
decreases in other administrative costs of $4.1 million, legal of $1.7 million and facilities costs of $1.1 million. Our general and administrative expenses, as a
percentage of revenue, increase d to 10.0% for 2013 from 7.2% for 2012 . The 2.8% increase as a percentage of revenue included increases in administrative
compensation of 1.9%, depreciation and amortization of 0.7%, and professional fees of 0.4%. These increases were primarily offset by a decrease in corporate
support services of 0.4%.
Other income, net. Our other income, net, for 2013 was $3.3 million , a decrease of $0.1 million as compared to $3.4 million for 2012 , as a result of decrease
d interest income due to changes in levels of average cash and cash equivalents and investment balances. We believe that other income, net, will be lower in 2014
due to lower levels of cash and cash equivalents and investment balances.
Income tax expense. Income tax expense for 2013 was $22.8 million , a decrease of $52.6 million from $75.4 million for 2012 , at effective tax rates of
35.7% and 37.9% for 2013 and 2012 , respectively. The decrease in our effective tax rate between periods was primarily due to the expiration of the statute of
limitations on a prior tax year which triggered the release of $1.9 million of tax reserve.
Net income. Our net income for 2013 was $41.0 million , a decrease of $82.4 million , as compared to net income of $123.4 million for 2012 , due to the
factors discussed above.
Year Ended December 31, 2012 , Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2011
Revenue. Our revenue for 2012 was $968.2 million , an increase of $34.8 million , or 3.7% , as compared to $933.3 million for 2011 . The increase between
periods was primarily due to the increase in average weekly enrollment between fiscal year 2011 and fiscal year 2012 . Ending student enrollment at our academic
institutions decreased 5.6% , from 86,642 to 81,810 as of December 31, 2011 and 2012 , respectively. However, the average enrollment during fiscal year 2012
actually increased to 90,838 from 87,559, or by 3.7% over the same period in the prior year, which resulted in an increase in revenue of approximately $35.0
million. The increase in revenue was also attributable to the 3% tuition increase effective April 1, 2012, which resulted in an increase in revenue of approximately
$30.0 million. Additionally, revenue generated from Constellation was $22.4 million in 2012 , compared to $17.3 million in 2011 , which resulted in an increase in
revenue of approximately $5.1 million. These increases in revenue were partially offset by an increase in institutional scholarships of $22.8 million and a decrease
in technology fees of $11.7 million. We provided institutional scholarships of $124.4 million in 2012, compared to $101.5 million in 2011 . We earned technology
fees of $60.6 million in 2012 , compared to $71.3 million in 2011 . The decline of $11.7 million in technology fees between periods is primarily due to the decline
in new student enrollments. Although average enrollment was up, new enrollment declined between periods.
Instructional costs and services. Our instructional costs and services for 2012 were $362.5 million, an increase of $58.7 million, or 19.3%, as compared to
$303.9 million for 2011 . This increase was primarily due to $34.4 million of additional instructional costs and services put into place in direct response to WASC
accreditation efforts. These additional costs and services included hiring new leadership, implementing smaller class sizes, hiring additional full-time faculty and
implementing new program review models. Additionally, this increase was also due to costs to support the higher average weekly student enrollment and bad debt
expense. Although student enrollment at our academic institutions decreased by 5.6% from 86,642 to 81,810 as of December 31, 2011 and 2012, respectively, the
average weekly enrollment during fiscal year 2012 actually
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increased to 90,838 from 87,559, or by 3.7%, over the same period in the prior year, which had an impact of approximately $9.1 million. Specific increases
between periods include increases in direct compensation of $20.6 million (which include the areas of academic management, financial aid support and student
services), bad debt expense of $15.2 million, information technology costs of $9.3 million, facilities costs of $7.3 million, instructor fees of $6.9 million, and
support services of $1.9 million. These increases are offset by decreases in financial aid processing fees of $6.8 million. Instructional costs and services increased,
as a percentage of revenue, to 37.4% for 2012, as compared to 32.6% for 2011. The increase of 4.8% as a percentage of revenue included relative increases in
direct compensation of 1.8%, bad debt expense of 1.3%, information technology costs of 0.9%, facilities costs of 0.7%, instructor fees of 0.5% and support
services of 0.1%, offset by relative decreases in financial aid processing of 0.8%. As a percentage of revenue, bad debt expense was 7.6% for 2012, compared to
6.3% for 2011. The increase in bad debt expense as a percentage of revenue is primarily due to internal processing issues involving existing students and the
timeliness of their financial aid packaging for their new academic years.
Admissions advisory and marketing. Our admissions advisory and marketing expenses for 2012 were $339.2 million , an increase of $41.6 million , or
14.0% , as compared to $297.6 million for 2011 . The increase was primarily due to the costs incurred for expanded marketing and branding efforts, as well as
costs incurred to purchase additional leads. Specific factors contributing to the overall increase between periods were increases in the branding of Ashford
University of $16.6 million, selling compensation of $13.8 million, facilities costs of $5.7 million, advertising costs of $3.1 million and support services of $1.8
million. Our admissions advisory and marketing expenses, as a percentage of revenue, increased to 35.0% for 2012 from 31.9% for 2011 . The increase of 3.1% as
a percentage of revenue was mainly driven by the relative increase in branding efforts of 1.7%, selling compensation of 0.9% and facilities of 0.5%.
General and administrative. Our general and administrative expenses for 2012 were $69.5 million , an increase of $11.7 million , or 20.3% , as compared to
$57.8 million for 2011 . The increase was primarily due to the $10.8 million legal expense in 2012, as well as increases in administrative labor of $4.1 million,
professional fees of $1.5 million and facilities costs of $1.0 million. This was primarily offset by decreases due to a higher support service costs allocation of $3.8
million, and other administrative costs of $1.2 million. Our general and administrative expenses, as a percentage of revenue, increased to 7.2% for 2012 from 6.2%
for 2011 . The 1.0% increase as a percentage of revenue was primarily due to the increase in the legal expense of 1.1%, administrative labor of 0.3% and
professional fees of 0.1%. These increases were primarily offset by decreases due to support service costs allocation of 0.3% and other administrative costs of
0.2%.
Other income, net. Our other income, net, for 2012 was $3.4 million , an increase of $0.6 million as compared to $2.8 million for 2011 , as a result of
increase d interest income from increased levels of cash, cash equivalents and investments.
Income tax expense. Income tax expense for 2012 was $75.4 million , a decrease of $28.3 million from $103.8 million for 2011 , at effective tax rates of
37.9% and 37.5% for 2012 and 2011 , respectively. The increase in our effective tax rate between periods was primarily due to an expanded presence in the state of
Colorado.
Net income. Our net income for 2012 was $123.4 million , a decrease of $49.3 million , as compared to net income of $172.8 million for 2011 , due to the
factors discussed above.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Liquidity
We financed our operating activities and capital expenditures during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 , primarily through cash provided by
operating activities. Our cash and cash equivalents were $249.5 million at December 31, 2013 , and $256.0 million at December 31, 2012 . In addition, at
December 31, 2013 and 2012 , we had total investments of $107.0 million and $258.7 million , respectively.
We manage our excess cash pursuant to the quantitative and qualitative operational guidelines of our cash investment policy. Our cash investment policy,
which is managed by our chief financial officer, has the following primary objectives: preserving principal, meeting our liquidity needs, minimizing market and
credit risk, and providing after-tax returns. Under the policy's guidelines, we invest our excess cash exclusively in high-quality, U.S. dollar-denominated financial
instruments. For a discussion of the measures we use to mitigate the exposure of our cash investments to market risk, credit risk and interest rate risk, see Part II,
Item 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.”
Stock repurchase programs
In 2010, our board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to $60.0 million of our outstanding common stock. In 2011, the board of directors authorized
up to an additional $75.0 million of our outstanding common stock, for a total of $135.0 million . The repurchase programs were authorized by our board of
directors with the intention of creating additional value for
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stockholders. Since the inception of the repurchase programs, we have repurchased 7.3 million shares at a weighted average price of $18.62 per share for a total
cost of $135.0 million , substantially completing both programs. During 2011, we repurchased 4.2 million shares at a weighted average price of $21.84 per share
for a total cost of $92.8 million . As a result of the 2011 repurchases, diluted earnings per common share increased $0.11, or 3.8%, as a result of the fewer shares
outstanding.
On April 30, 2012, our board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to $75.0 million of our outstanding shares of common stock over the following 12
months. The repurchase program was authorized by our board of directors with the intention of creating additional value for stockholders. Under the repurchase
program, we were authorized to purchase shares from time to time in the open market, through block trades or otherwise.
In December 2012, we repurchased 0.1 million shares of our common stock from certain senior executives for a cost of $0.6 million. This repurchase was
approved by our board of directors. The shares were repurchased at a price equal to the closing price of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on
the day the repurchase was approved by our board of directors. No shares were sold into the market in connection with this share repurchase.
On November 10, 2013, a special committee of our board of directors approved a plan to purchase up to 10,250,000 shares of our common stock through a
tender offer. In December 2013, we repurchased shares of our common stock through the tender offer at a price of $19.50 per share. The tender offer commenced
on November 13, 2013 and expired on December 11, 2013. The tender offer was oversubscribed, resulting in the purchase of 10.25 million shares, including
0.2 million shares underlying previously unexercised stock options, for a total cost of $199.9 million, exclusive of fees. The repurchased shares were added to
treasury stock.
Available borrowing facilities
On April 13, 2012, we entered into a $50 million revolving line of credit (“Facility”) pursuant to an Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement
(“Revolving Credit Agreement”) with the lenders signatory thereto and Comerica Bank (“Comerica”), as administrative agent for the lenders. At our option, we
may increase the size of the Facility up to $100 million (in certain minimum increments), subject to the terms and conditions of the Revolving Credit Agreement.
Additionally, we may request swing-line advances under the Facility up to $3 million in the aggregate.
Under the Revolving Credit Agreement and the documents executed in connection therewith (collectively, the “Facility Loan Documents”), the lenders have
agreed to make loans to us and issue letters of credit on our behalf, subject to the terms and conditions of the Facility Loan Documents. The Facility has a term of
three years and matures on April 13, 2015. Interest and fees accruing under the Facility are payable quarterly in arrears and principal is payable at maturity. We
may terminate the Facility upon five days notice, without premium or penalty, other than customary breakage fees.
The Facility Loan Documents contain other customary affirmative, negative and financial maintenance covenants, representations and warranties, events of
default, and remedies upon an event of default, including the acceleration of debt and the right to foreclose on the collateral securing the Facility. As security for
the performance of our obligations under the Facility Loan Documents, we granted the lenders a first priority security interest in substantially all of our assets,
including our real property.
As of December 31, 2013 , we used the availability under the revolving credit facility to issue letters of credit aggregating $5.8 million . We were in
compliance with all financial covenants in the Loan Documents and had no borrowings outstanding under the revolving credit facility as of December 31, 2013 .
For more information about the Loan Documents, see Note 11 , “ Credit Facilities ,” to our annual consolidated financial statements, which are included
elsewhere in this report.
Title IV funding
Our institutions derive the substantial majority of their respective revenues from students who enroll and are eligible for various federal student financial
assistance programs under Title IV of the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended. In the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , Ashford University
derived 85.6% , 86.4% and 86.8% , respectively, and University of the Rockies derived 87.6% , 87.3% and 85.0% , respectively, of their respective revenues
(calculated on a cash basis in accordance with applicable statutory provisions and Department regulations) from Title IV funds. Our institutions are subject to
significant regulatory scrutiny on the basis of numerous standards that the institutions must satisfy in order to participate in Title IV programs. For more
information regarding Title IV programs and the regulation thereof, see “Regulation” in Part I, Item 1 of this report. The balance of revenues derived by our
institutions is from government tuition assistance programs for military personnel, including veterans, cash pay and corporate reimbursement, private loans and
internal loan
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programs. For more information regarding these student financing options, see “Business-Student Financing” in Part I, Item 1 of this report.
If we were ineligible to receive Title IV funding, our liquidity would be significantly impacted. The timing of disbursements under Title IV programs is
based on federal regulations and our ability to successfully and timely arrange financial aid for our institutions' students. Title IV funds are generally provided in
multiple disbursements before we earn a significant portion of tuition and fees and incur related expenses over the period of instruction. Students must apply for
new loans and grants each academic year. These factors, together with the timing of our institutions' students beginning their programs, affect our operating cash
flow.
Financial responsibility
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, the composite score calculated was 3.0 , satisfying the composite score requirement of the Department's
financial responsibility test, which institutions must satisfy in order to participate in Title IV programs. We expect the consolidated composite score to be 3.0 for
the year ended December 31, 2013 . However, the consolidated calculation is subject to determination by the Department once it receives and reviews our audited
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013 . For more information, see “Regulation-Department Regulation of Title IV Programs-Financial
responsibility” in Part I, Item 1 of this report.
Internal loan program
We have implemented programs at both of our institutions in which the institution provides direct loans to students. For University of the Rockies, the total
amount of financing provided during 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , was $0.8 million, $2.7 million and $3.1 million, respectively. For Ashford University there was no
additional new internal loan financing to students in 2013, and the total amount of financing provided during 2012 and 2011 , was $6.9 million and $5.8 million,
respectively.
Operating activities
Net cash provided by operating activities was $75.5 million , $143.2 million and $220.8 million for 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively. The decrease of
$67.6 million from 2012 to 2013 was primarily related to the decrease of $82.4 million in net income between periods. Additionally, there was cash used between
periods due to a decrease in deferred revenue and student deposits of $31.2 million , primarily offset by cash provided between periods due to an overall decrease
in accounts receivable of $47.2 million . We expect to continue to generate cash from our operating activities for the foreseeable future.
Investing activities
Net cash provided by investing activities was $115.2 million for 2013 , compared to net cash used in investing activities of $23.0 million and $208.0 million
for 2012 and 2011 , respectively. Our cash used in investing activities is primarily related to the purchases of property and equipment, leasehold improvements,
capitalized costs for intangible assets and purchases of investments. Our cash provided by investing activities is primarily related to sales and maturities of
investments. Capital expenditures were $14.8 million , $25.3 million and $34.5 million for 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively. For the year ending December 31,
2014 , we expect capital expenditures to be approximately $20.0 million.
During 2013 , we purchased $26.8 million of investments and there were sales and maturities of $176.3 million . This is compared to purchases of $179.4
million and sales and maturities of $186.9 million in 2012 , and purchases of $337.1 million and maturities of $167.0 million in 2011 . The decrease of net
purchases of investments in the current year compared to 2012 was due primarily to cash requirements for the stock repurchase which occurred in the fourth
quarter of the current year.
Financing activities
Net cash used in financing activities was $197.2 million for 2013 , compared to net cash provided by financing activities of $1.9 million for 2012 and net
cash used in financing activities of $67.4 million for 2011 . During 2013 , net cash used in financing activities primarily reflects our repurchase of approximately
10.2 million shares of common stock at $19.50 per share under a tender offer for a total of $199.9 million, partially offset by the cash provided by option exercises,
net of any tax withholdings related to net exercise of stock options, as well as the cash provided by the tax benefit of the option exercises. During 2012 , net cash
provided by financing activities primarily reflects the cash provided by option exercises, net of any tax withholdings related to net exercise of stock options, as
well as the cash provided by the tax benefit of the option exercises. During 2011 , net cash used in financing activities was primarily related to our repurchase of
approximately 4.2 million shares of common stock at a weighted average cost of $21.84 per share, for a total of $92.8 million . The cash used in the repurchase of
common stock in 2011 was partially offset by $24.0 million of cash provided by stock option exercises and the tax benefit from those exercises.
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We may utilize commercial financing and lines of credit for the purpose of expansion of our online business infrastructure and to expand and improve our
ground campuses in Iowa and Colorado. We believe that our credit facilities are sufficient for our current level of operations. Based on our current level of
operations, we believe that our cash flow from operations, existing cash and cash equivalents and other sources of liquidity will provide adequate funds for
ongoing operations, planned capital expenditures and working capital requirements for at least the next 12 months.
Significant Cash and Contractual Obligations
The following table sets forth, as of December 31, 2013 , certain significant cash and contractual obligations that will affect our future liquidity:
Payments Due by Period
Total

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

Thereafter

(In thousands)

Operating lease obligations
Other contractual obligations
Uncertain tax positions

$

Total

$

224,638
43,781
7,466
275,885

$

$

36,962
12,410
—
49,372

$

$

37,226
5,618
7,466
50,310

$

$

37,293
3,253
—
40,546

$

$

37,363
2,500
—
39,863

$

$

34,072
2,500
—
36,572

$

$

41,722
17,500
—
59,222

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As part of our normal business operations, we are required to provide surety bonds in certain states where we do business. In May 2009, we entered into a
surety bond facility with an insurance company to provide such bonds when required. As of December 31, 2013 , our total available surety bond facility was $12.0
million and the surety had issued bonds totaling $6.5 million on our behalf under such facility.
Segment Information
We operate in one reportable segment as a single educational delivery operation using a core infrastructure that serves the curriculum and educational
delivery needs of both our campus-based and online students regardless of geography. Our chief operating decision maker, our CEO and President, manages our
operations as a whole, and no expense or operating income information is evaluated by our chief operating decision maker on any component level.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
None.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
Market and credit risk
Pursuant to our cash investment policy, we attempt to mitigate the exposure of our cash and investments to market and credit risk by (i) diversifying
concentration risk to ensure that we are not overly concentrated in a limited number of financial institutions, (ii) monitoring and managing the risks associated with
the national banking and credit markets, (iii) investing in U.S. dollar-denominated assets and instruments only, (iv) diversifying account structures so that we
maintain a decentralized account portfolio with numerous stable, highly-rated and liquid financial institutions and (v) ensuring that our investment procedures
maintain a defined and specific scope such that we will not invest in higher-risk investment accounts, including financial swaps or derivative and corporate
equities. Accordingly, under the guidelines of the policy, we invest our excess cash exclusively in high-quality, U.S. dollar-denominated financial instruments.
Despite the investment risk mitigation strategies we employ, we may incur investment losses as a result of unusual and unpredictable market developments
and we may experience reduced investment earnings if the yields on investments deemed to be low risk remain low or decline further in this time of economic
uncertainty. In addition, unusual and unpredictable market developments may also create liquidity challenges for certain of the assets in our investment portfolio.
We have no derivative financial instruments or derivative commodity instruments.
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Interest rate risk
To the extent we borrow funds under our lines of credit with Comerica, we would be subject to fluctuations in interest rates. See Part II, Item 7,
“Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations-Liquidity and Capital Resources.” As of December 31, 2013 , we had
no borrowings under the line of credit with Comerica.
Our future investment income may fall short of expectations due to changes in interest rates. At December 31, 2013 , a 10% increase or decrease in interest
rates would not have a material impact on our future earnings, fair value or cash flows related to interest earned from cash, cash equivalents or investments.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Bridgepoint Education, Inc.:
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of income, of comprehensive income, of stockholders'
equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Bridgepoint Education, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2013 and
2012, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013 in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company's management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management's
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements and on the
Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists,
and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Los Angeles, California
March 17, 2014

74

BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION, INC.
Notes to Annual Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except par value)
As of December 31,
2013

2012

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

249,472

$

255,965

Investments

65,901

136,967

Accounts receivable, net

28,565

67,371

Student loans receivable, net
Deferred income taxes
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets

1,043

556

15,232

10,936

21,369

19,810

381,582

491,605

Property and equipment, net

91,425

95,966

Investments

41,062

121,738

Student loans receivable, net

11,785

15,143

Goodwill and intangibles, net

26,878

10,739

Deferred income taxes

18,507

13,266

Other long-term assets

2,740
$

Total assets

2,330

573,979

$

5,195

$

750,787

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable

$

Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue and student deposits
Total current liabilities
Rent liability
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities

4,588

54,756

44,640

132,791

175,057

192,742

224,285

23,927

25,173

9,271

9,759

225,940

259,217

—

—

Commitments and contingencies (see Note 20)
Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value:
20,000 shares authorized; zero shares issued and outstanding at both December 31, 2013, and December 31, 2012
Common stock, $0.01 par value:
300,000 shares authorized; 62,331 issued and 44,774 outstanding at December 31, 2013; 61,406 issued and 54,099
outstanding at December 31, 2012

623

614

Additional paid-in capital

168,829

151,709

Retained earnings

515,608

474,598

Accumulated other comprehensive gain

48

222

(337,069)

Treasury stock, 17,557 shares at cost at December 31, 2013, and 7,307 shares at cost at December 31, 2012

(135,573)

348,039

Total stockholders' equity
$

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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573,979

491,570
$

750,787

BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Income
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,
2013

2012

Revenue
Costs and expenses:
Instructional costs and services
Admissions advisory and marketing
General and administrative
Total costs and expenses
Operating income
Other income, net
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense

$

768,623

Net income

$

395,928
235,358
76,894
708,180
60,443
3,346
63,789
22,779
41,010

Earnings per common share:
Basic
$
Diluted
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding used in computing earnings per common share:
Basic
Diluted

0.76
0.74
53,923
55,487

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2011

$

968,171

$

364,001
339,209
69,497
772,707
195,464
3,370
198,834
75,413
123,421

$

2.33
2.21
52,947
55,946

$

933,349

$

304,190
297,619
57,793
659,602
273,747
2,768
276,515
103,751
172,764

$

3.30
3.02
52,291
57,133

BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2013

2012

2011

Net income
Other comprehensive gain (loss), net of tax:
Unrealized gains (losses) on investments

$

41,010

$

123,421

$

172,764

Comprehensive income

$

(174)
40,836

$

817
124,238

$

(595)
172,169

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
(In thousands)

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Common Stock
Shares

Balance at December 31, 2010
Stock-based compensation
Exercise of stock options

Par Value

55,801

$

558

$

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Gain/(Loss)

Retained
Earnings

101,463

$

178,413

$

—

Treasury
Stock

$

Total

(42,193)

$

238,241

—

—

10,595

—

—

—

3,070

31

4,858

—

—

—

10,595
4,889

Excess tax benefit of option exercises
Stock issued under employee stock purchase
plan

—

—

19,096

—

—

—

19,096

67

1

1,329

—

—

—

1,330

Exercise of warrants

43

—

106

—

—

Repurchase of common stock

—

—

—

—

—

Net income

—

—

—

172,764

—

—

Unrealized losses on investments, net of tax

—

—

—

—

(595)

—

58,981

590

137,447

351,177

(595)

Balance at December 31, 2011
Stock-based compensation
Exercise of stock options
Tax withholdings related to net exercise of
stock options

—

106

(92,778)

(92,778)
172,764
(595)

(134,971)

353,648

—

—

13,729

—

—

—

13,729

2,212

22

2,235

—

—

—

2,257

—

—

(10,418)

—

—

—

(10,418)

—

—

8,145

—

—

—

8,145

1,339

1,340

Excess tax benefit of option exercises
Stock issued under employee stock purchase
plan

99

1

—

—

—

Stock issued under restricted stock plan

33

—

(313)

—

—

—

(313)

Exercise of warrants
Tax withholdings related to net exercise of
warrants

81

1

489

—

—

—

490

—

—

(944)

—

—

—

(944)

Repurchase of common stock

—

—

—

—

—

(602)

Net income

—

—

—

123,421

—

—

123,421

Unrealized gains on investments, net of tax

—

—

—

—

817

—

817

61,406

614

151,709

474,598

222

—

—

13,934

—

—

—

13,934

Exercise of stock options
Tax withholdings related to net exercise of
stock options
Excess tax benefit of option exercises and
restricted stock, net of tax shortfall
Stock issued under employee stock purchase
plan

589

6

10,458

—

—

—

10,464

—

—

(9,170)

—

—

—

(9,170)

—

—

1,516

—

—

—

1,516

116

1

1,233

—

—

—

1,234

Stock issued under restricted stock plan

115

1

(1,081)

—

—

—

(1,080)

Exercise of warrants

104

1

230

—

—

—

Repurchase of common stock

—

—

—

—

—

Net income

—

—

—

41,010

Unrealized losses on investments, net of tax

—

—

—

—

Balance at December 31, 2012
Stock-based compensation

Balance at December 31, 2013

62,330

$

623

$

168,829

$

515,608

$

491,570

231

(201,496)

—

—
—

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(135,573)

(174)
48

(602)

$

(337,069)

(201,496)
41,010
(174)
$

348,039

BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2013

2012

2011

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income

$

41,010

$

123,421

$

172,764

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Provision for bad debts

72,313

73,696

58,511

Depreciation and amortization

21,666

17,424

12,743

3,559

6,805

3,969

(10,506)

(9,972)

6,606

Amortization of premium/discount
Deferred income taxes
Stock-based compensation

13,934

13,729

10,595

Excess tax benefit of option exercises

(2,590)

(10,058)

(19,096)

Loss on impairment of student loans receivable

—

—

Net realized gain on sale of marketable securities

1,998
(63)

—

—

Loss on termination of leased space

328

—

—

Loss on disposal of fixed assets

751

1,153

13

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Student loans receivable
Other long-term assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue and student deposits
Other liabilities
Uncertain tax position
Net cash provided by operating activities

(34,348)

(81,577)

(60,587)

(2,411)

(1,056)

(2,104)

291

(3,778)

(8,177)

(412)

2,131

253

13,687

12,100

27,509

(41,607)

(10,389)

11,870

(184)

8,772

5,882

(1,878)

784

57

143,185

220,808

75,538

Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures

(14,825)

(25,296)

(34,492)

Purchases of investments

(26,759)

(179,387)

(337,084)

Restricted cash

—

25

—

Capitalized costs for intangible assets

(19,563)

(5,262)

(3,521)

Sales and maturities of investments

176,343

186,911

167,049

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

115,196

(23,009)

(208,048)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from exercise of stock options

10,464

2,257

Tax withholdings related to net exercise of stock options

(9,170)

(10,418)

Excess tax benefit of option exercises

2,590

10,058

19,096

Proceeds from the issuance of stock under employee stock purchase plan

1,234

1,340

1,330

231

490

106

—

(944)

—

Proceeds from the exercise of warrants
Tax withholdings related to net exercise of warrants
Issuance of restricted stock

4,889
—

(1,080)

(313)

Repurchase of common stock

(201,496)

(602)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

(197,227)

1,868

(6,493)

122,044

(54,597)

133,921

188,518

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

255,965

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
$

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

249,472

$

—
(92,778)
(67,357)

255,965

$

133,921

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid for interest

$

146

$

130

$

56

Cash paid for income taxes

$

38,642

$

65,075

$

76,731

$

136

$

509

$

2,489

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash transactions:
Purchase of equipment included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. Nature of Business
Bridgepoint Education, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, the “Company”), incorporated in 1999, is a provider of postsecondary education services. Its
wholly-owned subsidiaries, Ashford University and University of the Rockies, are regionally accredited academic institutions that offer associate's, bachelor's,
master's and doctoral programs online, as well as at their traditional campuses located in Iowa and Colorado, respectively.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Bridgepoint Education, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Intercompany transactions have
been eliminated in consolidation.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.
Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior years' financial statements to conform to the current year presentation. These reclassifications had no
effect on previously reported total operating expenses or retained earnings.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of cash and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash. The
Company considers all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents.
Investments
As of December 31, 2013 , the Company held short and long-term investments which consisted of demand notes, corporate notes and bonds and certificates
of deposit. The Company's investments are denominated in U.S. dollars, investment grade and readily marketable. The Company considers as current assets those
investments which will mature or are likely to be sold in less than one year.
The Company has classified its investments as either available-for-sale or held-to-maturity. Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value as
determined by quoted market prices, with unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported as a separate component of comprehensive income and stockholders’
equity. Held-to-maturity securities are carried at amortized cost. Amortization of premiums, accretion of discounts, interest and realized gains and losses are
included in other income, net in the consolidated statement of income.
The Company regularly monitors and evaluates the realizable value of its investments. If events and circumstances indicate that a decline in the value of
these assets has occurred and is other-than-temporary, the Company would record a charge to other income, net in the consolidated statement of income.
Fair Value Measurements
The Company uses the three-tier fair value hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value. These tiers include: Level 1, defined as
observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets; Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either observable directly or
indirectly, through market corroboration, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument; and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no
market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions. The Company's Level 2 investments are valued using readily
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available pricing sources which utilize market observable inputs, including the current interest rate for similar types of instruments. During the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012 , there were no transfers in or out of any fair value level of measurement.
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Accounts receivable consists of student accounts receivable, which represent amounts due for tuition, course digital materials, technology fees and other fees
from currently enrolled and former students. Students generally fund their education through grants and/or loans under various Title IV programs, tuition
assistance from military and corporate employers or personal funds. Payments are due on the respective course start date and are considered past due subsequent to
the respective course start date. An account is considered delinquent 120 days subsequent to the course start date.
Accounts receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding balances. For accounts receivable, an allowance for doubtful
accounts is estimated by management and is principally based on historical collection experience as well as (i) an assessment of individual accounts receivable
over a specific aging and amount, (ii) consideration of the nature of the receivable accounts and (iii) potential changes in the business or economic environment.
The provision for bad debts is recorded within the instructional costs and services line in the consolidated statements of income. The Company charges off
uncollectable accounts receivable when the student account is deemed uncollectable by internal collection efforts or by a third party collection agency.
Student Loans Receivable and Loan Loss Reserves
Student loans receivable consist of loans to qualified students and have a repayment period of 10 years from the date of graduation or withdrawal from the
Company's institutions. The interest rate charged on student loans is a fixed rate of either 4.5% or 0.0% depending upon the repayment plan selected. If the student
selects the rate of 0.0% , the student must pay $50 per month on the loan while enrolled in school and during the six months of grace period (after graduation or
withdrawal) before the repayment period begins. On the 0.0% student loans, the Company imputes interest using the rate that would be used in a market
transaction with similar terms. Interest income on student loans is recognized using the effective interest method and is recorded within other income, net in the
consolidated statements of income. Revenue recognized related to student loans was immaterial during each of the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and
2011 , respectively.
Student loans receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding balances. For tuition related student loan receivables, the
Company estimates an allowance for doubtful accounts, similar to that of accounts receivable, based on (i) an assessment of individual loans receivable over a
specific aging and amount, (ii) consideration of the nature of the receivable accounts, (iii) potential changes in the business or economic environment and (iv)
related FICO scores and other industry metrics. The related provision for bad debts is recorded within the instructional costs and services line in the consolidated
statements of income.
For non-tuition related student loans, the Company utilizes an impairment methodology. Under this methodology, management determines whether a loan
would be impaired if the Company will be unable to collect all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms of the individual loan agreement. This
assessment is based on an analysis of several factors including aging history and delinquency trending, the risk characteristics, credit quality and loan performance
of the specific loans, as well as current economic conditions and industry trends. Credit quality is assessed at the outset of a loan, based upon FICO score during
the loan application process. The Company considers loans to be impaired when they reach a delinquency status that requires specialized collection efforts. The
Company defines delinquency for loans as being for students who are no longer active, having amounts that are past due and having the last activity more than 120
days old. The Company records a loss reserve for the full book value of the impaired loans. For the year ended December 31, 2013 , there was $2.0 million
recorded for loan loss reserves. The loan loss reserve is maintained at a level deemed adequate by management based on a periodic analysis of the individual loans
and is recorded within the instructional costs and services line in the consolidated statements of income.
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Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are recognized at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method based on estimated
useful lives of the related assets as follows:
Buildings
Furniture and office equipment
Software
Vehicles

39 years
3 - 7 years
3 years
5 years

Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful lives of the assets. Upon the
retirement or disposition of property and equipment, the related cost and accumulated depreciation is removed and a gain or loss is recorded in the consolidated
statements of income. Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed in the period incurred.
Leases
Leases are evaluated and classified as either operating or capital leases. Leased property and equipment meeting certain criteria are capitalized, and the
present value of the related lease payments is recognized as a liability on the consolidated balance sheets. Amortization of capitalized leased assets is computed on
the straight-line method over the term of the lease or the life of the related asset, whichever is shorter.
If the Company receives tenant allowances from the lessor for certain improvements made to the leased property, these allowances are capitalized as
leasehold improvements and a long-term liability is established. The long-term liability is amortized on a straight-line basis over the corresponding lease term. The
Company records rent expense on a straight-line basis over the initial term of a lease. The difference between the rent payment and the straight-line rent expense is
recorded as either a short-term or long-term liability.
The Company recognizes liabilities for exit and disposal activities on non-cancelable lease obligations at fair value in the period the liability is incurred. For
the non-cancelable lease obligations, the Company records the obligation when the contract is terminated in accordance with the contract terms. For the year ended
December 31, 2013 , there was $1.1 million recorded for lease exit costs.
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
The Company tests goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually, in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year, or more frequently if
events and circumstances warrant.
The Company adopted accounting guidance which simplifies how an entity tests goodwill for impairment. The Company first assesses qualitative factors,
such as deterioration in general economic conditions or negative company financial performance, to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value
of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. The Company's assessment of goodwill during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013 indicated that there were no
significant negative qualitative indicators, and therefore, goodwill was not impaired. There have been no impairment losses recognized by the Company for any
periods presented. If negative qualitative indicators had been noted above, the Company would then need to assess the fair value of its reporting units to determine
whether they were in excess of the carrying values.
To evaluate the impairment of the indefinite-lived intangible assets, the Company assessed the fair value of the assets to determine whether they were in
excess of the carrying values. Determining the fair value of indefinite-lived intangible asset is judgmental in nature and involves the use of significant estimates
and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions are inherently uncertain, and can include such items as growth rates used to calculate projected future cash
flows, risk-adjusted discount rates, future economic and market conditions, as well as determination of appropriate market comparables. The Company's
assessment of indefinite-lived intangible assets during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013 did not result in any impairment. There have been no impairment losses
recognized by the Company for any periods presented.
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The Company also has definite-lived intangible assets, which primarily consist of purchased intangibles and capitalized curriculum development costs. The
definite-lived intangible assets are recognized at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is computed using the straight-line method based on estimated
useful lives of the related assets.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company assesses potential impairment to its long-lived assets when there is evidence that events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recorded when the carrying amount of the long-lived asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair
value. The carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and
eventual disposition of the asset. Any required impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of a long-lived asset exceeds fair value
and is recorded as a reduction in the carrying value of the related asset and an expense to operating results. During the fourth quarter of 2013 , the Company
recognized an impairment charge of $0.7 million to write-off certain fixed assets as part of lease exit costs.
Revenue and Deferred Revenue
The Company's revenue consists of tuition, technology fees, course digital materials and other miscellaneous fees. Tuition revenue is deferred and recognized
on a straight-line basis over the applicable period of instruction net of scholarships and expected refunds, with the exception of an online student's first course, per
degree level, at Ashford University. Effective in the fourth quarter of 2012, an online student's first course per degree level at Ashford University falls under a
three -week conditional admission period in which the revenue is deferred until the student matriculates into the course.
The Company's institutions' online students generally enroll in a program that encompasses a series of five to six -week courses which are taken
consecutively over the length of the program. With the exception of those students under conditional admission, the online students are billed on a payment period
basis on the first day of class. The Company's institutions' campus-based students enroll in a program that encompasses a series of nine -week or 16 -week courses.
Campus-based students are billed at the beginning of each term.
If a student's attendance in a class precedes the receipt of cash from the student's source of funding, the Company establishes an account receivable and
corresponding deferred revenue in the amount of the tuition due for that payment period. Cash received either directly from the student or from the student's source
of funding reduces the balance of accounts receivable due from the student. Financial aid from sources such as the federal government's Title IV programs pertains
to the online student's award year and is generally divided into two disbursement periods. As such, each disbursement period may contain funding for up to four
courses. Financial aid disbursements are typically received during the online student's attendance in the first or second course. Since the majority of disbursements
cover more courses than for which a student is currently enrolled, the amount received in excess effectively represents a prepayment from the online student for up
to four courses. At the end of each accounting period, the deferred revenue and student deposits and related account receivable balances are reduced to present
amounts attributable to the current course.
For those students under conditional admission, the student is not obligated for payment until after their conditional admission period has lapsed, so there is
no required refund. For all subsequent courses, the Company records a provision for expected refunds and reduces revenue for the amount that is expected to be
subsequently refunded. Provisions for expected refunds have not been material to any period presented. If a student withdraws from a program prior to a specified
date, a portion of such student's tuition is refunded.
The Company records technology fees, which are one-time start up fees charged to each new online student, other than military, scholarship students or
certain corporate reimbursement students. Technology fee revenue is recognized ratably over the average expected enrollment of a student. Effective January 1,
2013, Ashford University eliminated the one-time technology fee charged students and replaced it with a per course charge. The per course technology fee revenue
is recognized on a straight-line basis over the applicable period of instruction. Other miscellaneous fees include fees for course content and textbooks and other
services, such as commencements, and are recognized upon delivery of the goods or when the related service is performed.
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Workers Compensation
The Company records a gross liability for estimated workers compensation claims, incurred but not yet reported, as of each balance sheet date. The Company
also records the gross insurance recoverable due for individual claim amounts. This is recorded as an other asset and as an equal accrued liability. The stop-loss
premium is determined annually, but invoiced and paid on a quarterly basis. The related insurance premiums are expensed ratably over the coverage period.
Income Taxes
The Company accounts for its income taxes using the liability method whereby deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on temporary
differences between the bases used for financial reporting and income tax reporting purposes. Deferred income taxes are provided based on the enacted tax rates
expected to be in effect at the time such temporary differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is provided for deferred tax assets if it is more likely
than not that the Company will not realize those tax assets through future operations.
The Company evaluates and accounts for uncertain tax positions using a two-step approach. Recognition (step one) occurs when the Company concludes that
a tax position, based solely on its technical merits, is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination. Measurement (step two) determines the amount of
benefit that is greater than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information.
Derecognition of a tax position that was previously recognized would occur when the Company subsequently determines that a tax position no longer meets the
more-likely-than-not threshold of being sustained.
Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-based compensation expense is measured at the grant date fair value of the award and is expensed over the vesting period. The Company estimates the
fair value of stock options on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Determining the fair value of stock-based awards at the grant date under
this model requires judgment, including estimating volatility, employee stock option exercise behaviors and forfeiture rates. The assumptions used in calculating
the fair value of stock-based awards represent the Company's best estimates, but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management
judgment. The fair value of the Company's restricted stock units is based on the market price of its common stock on the date of grant.
The amount of stock-based compensation expense recognized during a period is based on the portion of the awards that are ultimately expected to vest. The
Company estimates award forfeitures at the time of grant and revises those estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. The
Company's equity plans require that option awards have an exercise price that equals or exceeds the closing price of the Company's common stock, as reported by
the NYSE, on the date of grant.
Stock-based compensation expense for stock awards is recorded in the consolidated statement of income, net of estimated forfeitures, using the graded
vesting method over the requisite service periods of the respective stock awards.
Instructional Costs and Services
Instructional costs and services consist primarily of costs related to the administration and delivery of the Company's educational programs. This expense
category includes compensation for campus-based faculty and administrative personnel, costs associated with online faculty, curriculum and new program
development costs, financial aid processing costs, technology license costs, bad debt expense and costs associated with other support groups that provide services
directly to the students. Instructional costs and services also include an allocation of information technology, facility, depreciation and amortization costs.
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Admissions Advisory and Marketing
Admissions advisory and marketing costs include compensation of personnel engaged in marketing and recruitment, as well as costs associated with
purchasing leads and producing marketing materials. Such costs are generally affected by the cost of advertising media and leads, the efficiency of the Company's
marketing and recruiting efforts, compensation for the Company's enrollment personnel and expenditures on advertising initiatives for new and existing academic
programs. Admissions advisory and marketing costs also include an allocation of information technology, facility, depreciation and amortization costs.
Advertising costs, a subset of admissions advisory and marketing costs, consists primarily of marketing leads and other branding and promotional activities.
These advertising activities are expensed as incurred, or the first time the advertising takes place, depending on the type of advertising activity. Advertising costs
were $76.5 million , $103.7 million and $84.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively.
General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses include compensation of employees engaged in corporate management, finance, human resources, compliance and other
corporate functions. General and administrative expenses also include professional services fees, travel and entertainment expenses and an allocation of
information technology, facility, depreciation and amortization costs.
Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the sum of (i) the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period and (ii) potentially dilutive securities outstanding during the period, if the effect is
dilutive. Potentially dilutive common shares consist of incremental shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of the stock options and warrants and upon
the settlement of restricted stock units.
Segment Information
The Company operates in one reportable segment as a single educational delivery operation using a core infrastructure that serves the curriculum and
educational delivery needs of both its campus-based and online students regardless of geography. The Company's chief operating decision maker, its CEO and
President, manages the Company's operations as a whole, and no revenue, expense or operating income information is evaluated by the chief operating decision
maker on any component level.
Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income consists of net income and other gains and losses affecting stockholders’ equity that, under GAAP, are excluded from net income.
For the year ended December 31, 2013 , such items consisted of unrealized gains and losses on investments.
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The following table summarizes the components of other comprehensive gain (loss) and the related tax effects for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012
and 2011 (in thousands):
December 31, 2013
Before-Tax Amount

Unrealized losses on investments

$

Tax Effect

(280)

$

Net-of-Tax Amount

106

$

(174)

December 31, 2012
Before-Tax Amount

Unrealized gains on investments

$

Tax Effect

1,300

$

Net-of-Tax Amount

(483)

$

817

December 31, 2011
Before-Tax Amount

Unrealized losses on investments

$

Tax Effect

(946)

$

Net-of-Tax Amount

351

(595)

The Company reclassed $63 thousand out of other comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2013 , relating to the net realized gain on the sale
of securities.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2013-11, “ Incomes Taxes (Topic
740): Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists. ” ASU
2013-11 addresses the diversity in practice regarding financial statement presentation of an unrecognized tax benefit when a net operating loss carryforward, a
similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward exists. The guidance requires an unrecognized tax benefit, or a portion of, to be presented in the financial statements as
a reduction to the related deferred tax asset for a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward. To the extent the net operating loss
carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward is not available at the reporting date to settle any additional income taxes that would result from the
disallowance of a tax position. The unrecognized tax benefit should be presented in the financial statements as a liability and not as a reduction of the related
deferred tax asset. The amendments in this standard are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2013, with early adoption permitted. The
Company adopted ASU 2013-11, effective January 1, 2014, and does not believe that such adoption will have a material effect on its consolidated financial
statements.
3. Investments
The following table summarizes the fair value information of short and long-term investments as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 , respectively (in
thousands):
December 31, 2013
Level 1

Demand notes
Corporate notes and bonds
Certificates of deposit
Total

$

$
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Level 2

—
—
—
—

$

$

719
16,244
90,000
106,963

Level 3

$

$

Total

—
—
—
—

$

$

719
16,244
90,000
106,963
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December 31, 2012
Level 1

Demand notes
Corporate notes and bonds

$

Certificates of deposit
Total

Level 2

$

$

—
—
—

$

—

Level 3

$

$

415
148,801
109,489

$

258,705

Total

$

$

—
—
—

$

415
148,801
109,489

$

—

$

258,705

The tables above include amounts related to investments classified as other investments, such as certificates of deposit, which are carried at amortized cost.
The amortized cost of such investments approximated fair value at each balance sheet date. The assumptions used in these fair value estimates are considered as
other observable inputs and are therefore categorized as Level 2 measurements under the accounting guidance. The balances of such other investments were $90.0
million and $109.5 million as of December 31, 2013 , and December 31, 2012 , respectively.
The following table summarizes the differences between amortized cost and fair value of short and long-term investments as of December 31, 2013 and
2012 , respectively (in thousands):
December 31, 2013
Gross unrealized
Maturities in Years

Short-term
Demand notes
Corporate notes and bonds
Certificates of deposit
Long-term
Corporate notes and bonds
Certificates of deposit

Amortized Cost

1 year or less $
1 year or less
1 year or less
3 years or less
3 years or less
$

Total

719
5,132
60,000
11,037
30,000
106,888

Gain

$

Loss

—
50
—
25
—
75

$

$

Fair Value

—
—
—
—
—
—

$

$

$

719
5,182
60,000
11,062
30,000
106,963

December 31, 2012
Gross unrealized
Maturities in Years

Short-term
Demand notes
Corporate notes and bonds
Certificate of deposit
Long-term
Corporate notes and bonds
Certificate of deposit
Total

Amortized Cost

1 year or less $
1 year or less
1 year or less
3 years or less
3 years or less
$

415
126,806
9,489
21,641
100,000
258,351

Gain

$

$

Loss

—
282
—
117
—
399

$

$

Fair Value

—
(25)
—
(20)
—
(45)

$

$

415
127,063
9,489
21,738
100,000
258,705

As of December 31, 2013 , there were no investments that were in an unrealized loss position for either less than, or greater than, 12 months. There was no
impairment considered other-than-temporary as it is more likely than not the Company will hold the securities until maturity or a recovery of the cost basis. The
Company accumulates unrealized gains and losses on the available-for-sale debt securities, net of tax, in accumulated other comprehensive gain (loss) in the
stockholders’ equity section of the Company's balance sheets. As of December 31, 2012 , six of the Company's investments were in an unrealized
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loss position for less than 12 months. There were no investments that were in an unrealized loss position for greater than 12 months.
4. Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable, net, consist of the following (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2013

Accounts receivable
Less allowance for doubtful accounts

$
$

Accounts receivable, net

2012

70,668
42,103
28,565

$

114,039
46,668
67,371

$

There are an immaterial amount of accounts receivable at each balance sheet date with a payment due date of greater than one year.
The following table presents the changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts for accounts receivable for the periods indicated (in thousands):
Beginning
Balance

Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable:
For the year ended December 31, 2013
For the year ended December 31, 2012
For the year ended December 31, 2011
(1)

$

Charged to
Expense

46,668
35,587
28,064

$

72,495
73,581
57,077

Ending
Balance

Deductions(1)

$

(77,060)
(62,500)
(49,554)

$

42,103
46,668
35,587

Deductions represent accounts written off, net of recoveries.

5. Student Loan Receivables
Student loans receivable, net, consist of the following (in thousands):
As of December 31,

Short-term:
Student loans receivable (non-tuition related)
Student loans receivable (tuition related)
Current student loans receivable
Less allowance for doubtful accounts

2013

$

$

Student loans receivable, net

2012

587
621
1,208
165
1,043

$

428
167
595
39
556

$

As of December 31,

Long-term:
Student loans receivable (non-tuition related)
Student loans receivable (tuition related)
Non-current student loans receivable
Less allowance for doubtful accounts

2013

$

$

Student loans receivable, net
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2012

7,347
6,417
13,764
1,979
11,785

$

$

9,279
8,171
17,450
2,307
15,143
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Student loans receivable is presented net of any related discount, and the balances approximated fair value at each balance sheet date. The Company
estimated the fair value of the student loans receivable by discounting the future cash flows using current rates for similar arrangements. The assumptions used in
this estimate are considered unobservable inputs and are therefore categorized as Level 3 measurements under the accounting guidance.
The following table presents the changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts for student loans receivable (tuition related) for the periods indicated (in
thousands):
Beginning
Balance

Allowance for doubtful student loans receivable:
For the year ended December 31, 2013
For the year ended December 31, 2012
For the year ended December 31, 2011
(1)

$

Charged to
Expense

2,346
2,378
930

$

(182)
115
1,434

Ending
Balance

Deductions(1)

$

(19)
(147)
14

$

2,145
2,346
2,378

Deductions represent accounts written off, net of recoveries.

For the non-tuition related student loans receivable, the Company monitors the credit quality using credit scores, aging history and delinquency trending. The
loan reserve methodology is reviewed on a quarterly basis. Delinquency is the main factor in determining if a loan is impaired. If a loan were determined to be
impaired, interest would no longer accrue. For the year ended December 31, 2013 there was $2.0 million of loans that were impaired, and for the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011 , respectively, no loans were impaired. As of December 31, 2013 , an immaterial amount of loans had been placed on non-accrual
status.
As of December 31, 2013 , the delinquency status of gross student loans receivable was as follows (in thousands):
Less than 120 days
From 120 - 269 days
Greater than 270 days
Total gross student loans receivable
Less: Amounts reserved or impaired
Less: Discount on student loans receivable

$

Total student loans receivable, net

$

16,998
1,238
2,132
20,368
(4,143)
(3,397)
12,828

6. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2013

Prepaid expenses
Prepaid licenses
Prepaid insurance
Interest receivable
Other current assets

$

$

Total prepaid expenses and other current assets
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2012

10,814
5,833
1,131
86
3,505
21,369

$

$

9,367
5,864
1,134
2,221
1,224
19,810
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7. Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment, net, consist of the following (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2013

Land
Buildings
Furniture and office equipment
Software
Leasehold improvements
Vehicles
Total property and equipment
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

$

$

Total property and equipment, net

2012

7,091
28,916
84,852
10,075
24,360
147
155,441
(64,016)
91,425

$

$

7,091
25,430
79,656
6,053
23,756
147
142,133
(46,167)
95,966

Depreciation and amortization expense associated with property and equipment totaled $ 18.2 million , $ 15.9 million and $ 12.1 million for the years ended
December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively.
8. Goodwill and Intangibles, Net
Goodwill and intangibles, net, consist of the following (in thousands):
December 31, 2013

Definite-lived intangible assets:
Capitalized curriculum costs
Purchased intangible assets
Total definite-lived intangible assets

Gross Carrying Amount

$
$

14,540
15,857
30,397

Accumulated Amortization

$
$

(5,035)
(1,051)
(6,086)

Net Carrying Amount

$

9,505
14,806

$

24,311

$

2,567
26,878

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles
Total goodwill and intangibles, net

December 31, 2012

Definite-lived intangible assets:
Capitalized curriculum costs
Purchased intangible assets
Total definite-lived intangible assets

Gross Carrying Amount

$
$
$

9,977
857
10,834

Accumulated Amortization

$
$
$

(1,823)
(839)
(2,662)

Net Carrying Amount

$
$
$

8,154
18
8,172

$

2,567
10,739

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles
Total goodwill and intangibles, net

In addition to capitalized curriculum development costs in 2013, on October 31, 2013, the Company entered into an agreement (the “Forbes Agreement”) to
license certain trademarks and print and online content, as well as other intellectual property, for use in Ashford University's bachelor’s and master’s business
programs. The Forbes Agreement has an initial 12 -year term, with an option to renew. During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company made a payment of $15
million as an intangible asset as of December 31, 2013 which will be amortized over the life of the agreement. Additionally, the Company will pay royalties
beginning 2014, based on a percentage of annual revenues attributable to Ashford University’s business-
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related programs, subject to a $2.5 million annual minimum. The Company does not plan to capitalize any future costs to renew or extend the term of the acquired
intangible assets.

For the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 , and 2011 , amortization expense was $3.4 million , $1.6 million , and $0.6 million respectively. The
following table summarizes the estimated remaining amortization expense as of each fiscal year ended below (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
Thereafter

$

Total future amortization expense

$

5,143
3,995
2,234
1,232
1,232
10,475
24,311

9. Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2013

Accrued salaries and wages
Accrued bonus
Accrued vacation
Accrued litigation and fees
Accrued expenses
Rent liability
Accrued income taxes payable

$

Total accrued liabilities

$

2012

12,790
2,277
9,696
8,000
19,081
2,446
466
54,756

$

11,585
1,603
8,993
—
15,924
—
6,535
44,640

$

There was a reduction in force during the second quarter of 2013 to help better align personnel resources with the impact of previously announced
institutional initiatives regarding enrollments. We recognized $5.9 million of severance costs for wages and benefits during the second quarter for this reduction in
force. The total severance amount was charged as $4.8 million to instructional costs and services, $0.3 million to admissions advisory and marketing expenses, and
$0.8 million to general and administrative expenses. These costs were fully paid during the third quarter of 2013 from existing cash on hand.
10. Deferred Revenue and Student Deposits
Deferred revenue and student deposits consist of the following (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2013

Deferred revenue
Student deposits

$
$

Total deferred revenue and student deposits
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2012

29,279
103,512
132,791

$
$

44,967
130,090
175,057
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11 . Credit Facilities
On April 13, 2012, the Company entered into a $50 million revolving line of credit (“Facility”) pursuant to an Amended and Restated Revolving Credit
Agreement (“Revolving Credit Agreement”) with the lenders signatory thereto and Comerica Bank (“Comerica”), as administrative agent for the lenders. At the
Company's option, the Company may increase the size of the Facility up to $100 million (in certain minimum increments), subject to the terms and conditions of
the Revolving Credit Agreement. Additionally, the Company may request swing-line advances under the Facility up to $3 million in the aggregate.
Under the Revolving Credit Agreement and the documents executed in connection therewith (collectively, the “Facility Loan Documents”), the lenders have
agreed to make loans to the Company and issue letters of credit on the Company's behalf, subject to the terms and conditions of the Facility Loan Documents. The
Facility has a term of three years and matures on April 13, 2015. Interest and fees accruing under the Facility are payable quarterly in arrears and principal is
payable at maturity. The Company may terminate the Facility upon five days notice, without premium or penalty, other than customary breakage fees.
For any advance under the Facility, interest will accrue at either the “Base Rate” or the “Eurodollar-based Rate,” at the Company's option. The Base Rate
means, for any day, 0.5% plus the greatest of: (1) the prime rate for such day, (2) the Federal Funds Effective Rate in effect on such day, plus 1.0% , and (3) the
daily adjusting LIBOR rate, plus 1.0% . The Eurodollar-based Rate means, for any day, 1.5% plus the quotient of (1) the LIBOR Rate, divided by (2) a percentage
equal to 100% minus the maximum rate on such date at which the Agent is required to maintain reserves on “Eurocurrency Liabilities” as defined in Regulation D
of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System. For any advance under the swing line, interest will accrue at either the Base Rate or, if made available to
the Company by the swing line lender, at the lender's option, a different rate quoted by such lender. For any letter of credit issued on the Company's behalf under
the New Facility, the Company is required to pay a fee of 1.50% of the undrawn amount of such letter of credit plus a letter of credit facing fee. The Company is
also required to pay a facility fee of 0.25% of the aggregate commitment then in effect under the Facility, whether used or unused.
The Facility Loan Documents contain other customary affirmative, negative and financial maintenance covenants, representations and warranties, events of
default, and remedies upon an event of default, including the acceleration of debt and the right to foreclose on the collateral securing the Facility. The Company
was in compliance with all financial covenants in the Loan Documents as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 .
As security for the performance of the Company's obligations under the Facility Loan Documents, the Company granted the lenders a first priority security
interest in substantially all of the Company's assets, including its real property which is worth $7.1 million as of December 31, 2013 .
As of December 31, 2013 , and up through the date of filing, the Company had no borrowings outstanding under the line of credit. As of December 31,
2013 , the Company used the availability under the line of credit to issue letters of credit aggregating $5.8 million .
Surety Bond Facility
As part of its normal business operations, the Company is required to provide surety bonds in certain states in which the Company does business. As of
December 31, 2013 , the Company's total available surety bond facility was $12.0 million and the surety had issued bonds under the facility totaling $6.5 million
on the Company's behalf.
12. Lease Obligations
Operating leases
The Company leases certain office facilities and office equipment under non-cancelable lease arrangements that expire at various dates through 2023. The
office leases contain certain renewal options. Rent expense under non-cancelable operating lease arrangements is accounted for on a straight-line basis and totaled
$37.1 million , $36.8 million and $31.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively.
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The following table summarizes the future minimum rental payments under non-cancelable operating lease arrangements in effect at December 31, 2013 (in
thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
Thereafter

$

Total minimum payments

$

36,962
37,226
37,293
37,363
34,072
41,722
224,638

13. Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding for the period.
Diluted earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the sum of (i) the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding for the period and (ii) potentially dilutive securities outstanding during the period, if the effect is dilutive. Potentially dilutive securities
for the periods presented may include incremental shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options and warrants and upon the settlement of restricted
stock units.
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per common share for the periods indicated (in thousands, except per share data):
Year Ended December 31,
2013

Numerator:
Net income
Denominator:
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding
Effect of dilutive options and restricted stock units
Effect of dilutive warrants

$

2012

41,010

$

53,923
1,482
82
55,487

Diluted weighted average number of common shares outstanding
Earnings per common share:
Basic earnings per common share
Diluted earnings per common share

$

0.76
0.74

2011

123,421

$

52,947
2,762
237
55,946
$

2.33
2.21

172,764
52,291
4,572
270
57,133

$

3.30
3.02

For the periods indicated, the computation of dilutive common shares outstanding excludes certain stock options to purchase shares of common stock for the
periods indicated because their effect was anti-dilutive.
Year Ended December 31,
2013

(in thousands)

Options
Restricted stock units

3,004
3
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2,524
—

2011

1,332
—
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14 . Stock-Based Compensation
Stock Options
The Company grants stock options from its 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (“2009 Plan”). The compensation committee of the Company's board of directors, or
the full board of directors, determines eligibility, vesting schedules and exercise prices for awards granted under the 2009 Plan. Options granted under the 2009
Plan typically have a maximum contractual term of 10 years , subject to continuing service to the Company. Options are generally granted with a four -year vesting
requirement, under which the option holder must continue providing service to the Company at each vesting period. All options granted in 2013 , 2012 and 2011 ,
were awarded pursuant to the 2009 Plan. Under the 2009 Plan, the number of authorized shares is subject to automatic increase, without the need for further
approval by the Company's board of directors and stockholders each January 1, through and including January 1, 2019, pursuant to a formula contained in the plan.
Before the adoption of the 2009 Plan, the Company awarded options pursuant to the Company's Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (“2005
Plan”). Effective upon the closing of the Company's initial public offering, the 2005 Plan was terminated and no further options may be issued under that plan,
provided that all options then outstanding under the 2005 Plan will continue to remain outstanding pursuant to the terms of the 2005 Plan and applicable award
agreements.
The following table presents a summary of the stock option activity in 2013 , 2012 and 2011 (in thousands, except for exercise prices and contractual terms):

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

Options
Outstanding

December 31, 2010
Granted
Exercised
Forfeitures and expired
December 31, 2011
Granted
Exercised
Forfeitures and expired
December 31, 2012
Granted
Exercised
Forfeitures and expired
December 31, 2013
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2013
Exercisable at December 31, 2013

10,195
1,294
(3,070)
(139)
8,280
1,595
(3,128)
(335)
6,412
483
(1,060)
(345)
5,490

$

5,435
3,809

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Term
(in years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

4.76
17.41
1.59
17.65
7.70
22.59
0.72
19.79
14.17
10.23
9.87
20.65

5.47 $

147,545

5.90

127,308

7.21 $

9,010

$

14.25

6.52 $

28,769

$
$

14.22
12.82

6.50 $
5.80 $

28,588
23,827

The Company has reserved 10.0 million shares of common stock for issuance upon the exercise of stock options and settlement of restricted stock units
(“RSUs”) (including outstanding stock awards) under the Company's equity incentive plans as of December 31, 2013 . Shares issued from option exercises and
settlements of RSUs are drawn from the authorized but unissued shares of common stock. During the year ended December 31, 2013 , there were 1.1 million stock
options exercised with an intrinsic value of $9.4 million . The actual tax benefit realized from these exercises was $2.1 million . The Company also recognized a
tax benefit shortfall of $0.6 million related to stock options exercised at values lower than the related compensation expense, and $0.5 million related to stock
options that expired unexercised during the year. During the year
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ended December 31, 2012 , there were 3.1 million stock options exercised, with an intrinsic value of $45.2 million . The actual tax benefit realized from these
exercises was $10.1 million . The Company also recognized a tax benefit shortfall of $1.5 million related to stock options exercised at values lower than the related
compensation expense, and $0.2 million related to stock options that expired unexercised during the year. During the year ended December 31, 2011 , there were
3.1 million stock options exercised, with an intrinsic value of $58.4 million . The actual tax benefit realized from these exercises was $19.1 million .
During the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 , approximately 137,000 and 53,000 stock options expired.
The fair value of each option award granted during the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , was estimated on the date of grant using the BlackScholes option pricing model. The Company's determination of the fair value of share-based awards is affected by the Company's common stock price as well as
assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables. Below is a summary of the assumptions used for the options granted in the years indicated:
2013

Weighted average exercise price per share
Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend yield
Expected volatility
Expected life (in years)
Forfeiture rate
Weighted average grant date fair value per share

$

$

10.23
$
1.0%
—
58.9%
5.85
5.0%
5.48
$

2012

22.59
$
1.2%
—
54.6%
5.67
4.0%
11.26
$

2011

17.41
2.5%
—
52.7%
6.12
4.0%
9.07

The risk-free interest rate is based on the currently available rate on a U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issue with a remaining term equal to the expected term of
the option converted into a continuously compounded rate. The dividend yield reflects the fact that the Company has never declared or paid any cash dividends on
its common stock and does not currently anticipate paying cash dividends in the future. The volatility of the Company's common stock is based upon a blended
rate of the Company's historical volatility and that of publicly-traded securities of a peer group of comparable companies in the Company's industry. The peer
group volatility supplements the Company's historical volatility in order to calculate a volatility that approximates the expected term used in the Black-Scholes
option pricing model. In evaluating comparability, the Company considered factors such as industry, stage of life cycle and size. The Company now has enough
historical option exercise information to be able to accurately compute an expected term for use as an assumption in the Black-Scholes option pricing model, and
as such, its computation of expected term was calculated using its own historical data.
The Company recorded $13.9 million , $13.7 million and $10.6 million of compensation expense related to equity awards for the years ended December 31,
2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively. The related income tax benefit was $5.2 million , $5.1 million and $3.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012
and 2011 , respectively.
As of December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , there was $5.6 million , $12.9 million and $10.6 million , respectively, of unrecognized compensation costs
related to unvested options.
The Company records stock-based compensation expense over the vesting term using the graded-vesting method. At December 31, 2013 , the unrecognized
compensation costs of stock options are expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.1 years.
Restricted Stock Units
In 2011, the Company began granting RSUs under the 2009 Plan. The Company now primarily grants RSUs to its employees. Each RSU represents a future
issuance of one share of common stock contingent upon the recipient's continued service to the Company through the vesting date. Upon the vesting date, RSUs
are automatically settled for shares of the Company's common stock unless the applicable award agreement provides for delayed settlement. If, prior to the vesting
date, the employee's status as a full-time employee is terminated, then the RSU is automatically canceled on the employment
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termination date. The fair value of an RSU is calculated based on the market value of the common stock on the grant date and is amortized over the applicable
vesting period using the graded-vesting method.
A summary of the Company’s RSU activity and related information is as follows:

Restricted Stock
Units

Balance at December 31, 2010
Awarded
Vested
Canceled
Balance at December 31, 2011
Awarded
Vested
Canceled
Balance at December 31, 2012
Awarded
Vested
Canceled

—
56,855
—
—
56,855
362,199
(56,855)
—
362,199
1,016,035
(181,104)
(98,613)
1,098,517

Balance at December 31, 2013

Weighted Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

$

$

—
23.97
—
—
23.97
9.72
23.97
—
9.72
10.50
9.72
10.39
10.38

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 , there was $6.5 million and $2.6 million , respectively, of unrecognized compensation costs related to unvested RSUs.
The unrecognized compensation costs of RSUs are expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.6 years.
During the year ended December 31, 2013 , 181,104 RSU's vested and were released with a market value of $3.0 million . The actual tax benefit realized
from these RSU's released was $0.5 million . During the year ended December 31, 2012 , 56,855 RSU's vested and were released with a market value of $0.8
million . The Company recognized a tax benefit shortfall of $0.2 million related to restricted stock vesting at values lower than the related compensation expense.
No RSUs vested during the year ended December 31, 2011. There were not any RSUs granted prior to 2011.
15. Warrants
The Company had issued warrants to purchase common stock to various employees, consultants, licensors and lenders. Each warrant represented the right to
purchase one share of common stock. No warrants were issued during the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 . During the years ended December 31,
2013 , 2012 and 2011 , approximately 104,000 , 174,000 and 43,000 warrants to purchase shares of common stock were exercised, respectively. As of
December 31, 2013 , all outstanding warrants were expired.
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The following table summarizes information with respect to all warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2012 (in thousands, except exercise prices):
December 31,
2012

Exercise Price

$1.125
$2.250
$2.835
$2.925
$9.000

41
55
—
19
3
118

Total
16 . Stock Repurchase Programs

The Company's Board of Directors has authorized us to repurchase outstanding shares of our common stock from time to time in the open market through
block trades or otherwise depending on market conditions and other considerations, pursuant to the applicable Securities and Exchange Commission Rules. The
Company's policy is to retain these repurchased shares as treasury shares and not to retire them. The amount and timing of future share repurchases, if any, will be
made as market and business conditions warrant.
In July 2010, the Company's board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to $60.0 million of the Company's outstanding shares of common stock over
the following 12 months (the “2010 Repurchase Program”), and in May 2011, the Company's board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to an additional
$75.0 million of the Company's outstanding shares of common stock over the following 12 months (the “2011 Repurchase Program”). Both of these repurchase
programs were authorized with the intention of creating additional value for stockholders. Under the repurchase programs, the Company was authorized to
purchase shares from time to time in the open market, through block trades or otherwise. The Company repurchased a total of 7.3 million shares at a weighted
average cost of $18.62 , for a total cost of $135.0 million .
On April 30, 2012, the Company's board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to an additional $75.0 million of the Company's outstanding shares of
common stock over the following 12 months . The repurchase program was authorized with the intention of creating additional value for stockholders. Under the
repurchase program, the Company is authorized to purchase shares from time to time in the open market, through block trades or otherwise. As of December 31,
2013 , the Company had completed this authorized repurchase program, and no shares were repurchased under this program.
In December 2012, we repurchased 0.1 million shares of our common stock from certain senior executives in the amount of $0.6 million . The repurchase
was approved by our board of directors following its approval and recommendation by the compensation committee and the audit committee. The shares were
repurchased at a price equal to the closing price of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the day the repurchase was approved by our board of
directors. No shares were sold into the market in connection with the share repurchase. The repurchase related to tax withholding requirements on stock options
exercised and are not part of the repurchase programs described above.
On November 10, 2013, a special committee of our board of directors approved a plan to purchase up to 10,250,000 shares of our common stock through a
tender offer. The tender offer commenced on November 13, 2013 and expired on December 11, 2013. On December 18, 2013, we repurchased shares of our
common stock through the tender offer at a price of $19.50 per share. The tender offer was oversubscribed, resulting in the purchase of 10.2 million shares,
including 0.2 million shares underlying previously unexercised stock options, for a total cost of $199.9 million , exclusive of fees. The repurchased shares were
added to treasury stock.
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17. Income Taxes
The Company uses the asset and liability method to account for taxes. Under this method, deferred income tax assets and liabilities result from temporary
differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements that will result in tax and deductions in future years.
The components of income tax expense are as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2013

Current:
Federal
State

$

Deferred:
Federal
State
$

Total

30,051
3,234
33,285
(9,172)
(1,334)
(10,506)
22,779

2012

$

$

77,720
7,665
85,385
(9,246)
(726)
(9,972)
75,413

2011

$

88,513
8,632
97,145
6,997
(391)
6,606
103,751

$

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are comprised of the following (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2013

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss
Fixed assets
Bad debt
Vacation accrual
Stock-based compensation
Deferred rent
State tax
Bonus accrual
Unearned interest
Accrued expenses
Revenue reserves
Other
Total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Fixed assets and intangibles
Unrealized gain on investments
Total deferred tax liabilities

$

$

Total net deferred tax assets
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235
214
6,855
2,762
15,340
9,944
2,316
849
1,281
4,224
1,145
153
45,318
—
45,318
(11,550)
(28)
(11,578)
33,740

2012

$

$

258
233
7,479
2,815
13,299
9,404
2,541
599
731
52
189
145
37,745
—
37,745
(13,411)
(132)
(13,543)
24,202
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The current year change in net deferred tax assets of $9.5 million is comprised of net deferred expense of $10.5 million recorded through income tax
expense, offset by the $1.1 million tax benefit shortfall recorded to additional paid in capital, and the $0.1 million tax effect of unrealized loss on investments
recorded through other comprehensive income.
Deferred taxes are reflected in the balance sheet as follows (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2013

Current deferred tax assets
Current deferred tax liabilities
Noncurrent deferred tax assets
Noncurrent deferred tax liabilities

$

$

Total

2012

15,232
—
18,508
—
33,740

$

$

10,936
—
13,266
—
24,202

The Company periodically assesses the likelihood that it will be able to recover its deferred tax assets. The Company considers all available evidence, both
positive and negative, including historical levels of income, expectations and risks associated with estimates of future taxable income and ongoing prudent and
feasible profits. Based on the Company's history of earnings, the Company concluded that it is more likely than not that the Company will fully utilize the deferred
tax assets. Accordingly, the Company has not provided any valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets.
At December 31, 2013 , the Company had federal net operating loss carry forwards of $0.7 million , which are available to offset future taxable income. The
federal net operating loss carry forwards will begin to expire in 2022 . Pursuant to Internal Code Section 382, use of the net operating loss carryforwards may be
limited if a cumulative change in ownership of more than 50% occurs within a three-year period. The Company has performed a Section 382 analysis and has
determined that there is no material effect on the net operating loss carryforwards.
A reconciliation of the income tax expense computed using the U.S. federal statutory tax rate of 35% and the Company's provision for income taxes follows
(in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2013

Computed expected federal tax expense
State taxes, net of federal benefit
Permanent differences
Uncertain tax positions
Other
Income tax expense

$

$

22,326
1,183
917
(1,647)
—
22,779

2012

35.0 % $
1.8
1.5
(2.6)
—
35.7 % $

69,592
4,700
1,074
31
16
75,413

2011

35.0% $
2.4
0.5
—
—
37.9% $

96,780
5,434
1,601
(192)
128
103,751

35.0 %
2.0
0.6
(0.1)
—
37.5 %

The Company evaluates and accounts for uncertain tax positions using a two-step approach. Recognition (step one) occurs when the Company concludes that
a tax position, based solely on its technical merits, is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination. Measurement (step two) determines the amount of
benefit that is greater than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information.
Derecognition of a tax position that was previously recognized would occur when the Company subsequently determines that a tax position no longer meets the
more-likely-than-not threshold of being sustained.
The accrual for uncertain tax positions can result in a difference between the estimated benefit recorded in the Company's financial statements and the benefit
taken or expected to be taken in the Company's income tax returns. This difference is generally referred to as an “unrecognized tax benefit.”
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The Company has analyzed filing positions in all of the federal and state jurisdictions where it is required to file income tax returns, as well as all open tax
years in these jurisdictions.
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):
Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2011
Gross increases-tax positions in prior period
Gross decreases-tax positions in prior period
Gross increases-current period tax positions
Settlements
Lapse of statute of limitations
Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2012
Gross increases-tax positions in prior period
Gross decreases-tax positions in prior period
Gross increases-current period tax positions
Settlements
Lapse of statute of limitations

$

Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2013

$

8,070
965
—
231
—
—
9,266
—
(5)
100
—
(1,974)
7,387

Included in the amount of unrecognized tax benefits at both December 31, 2013 and 2012 is $4.8 million and $6.6 million , respectively, of tax benefits that,
if recognized, would affect the Company's effective tax rate. Also included in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits at both December 31, 2013 and 2012 is $2.6
million and $2.7 million , respectively, of tax benefits that, if recognized, would result in adjustments to other tax accounts, primarily deferred tax assets.
The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. At both December 31, 2013 and 2012 , the Company
had approximately $1.7 million respectively, of accrued interest, before any tax benefit, related to uncertain tax positions.
The tax years 2002-2013 are open to examination by major taxing jurisdictions to which the Company is subject. The California Franchise Tax Board is
auditing the Company's 2008 and 2009 California income tax returns. The Company does not expect any significant adjustments resulting from this audit. It is
reasonably possible that the total amount of the unrecognized tax benefit will change during the next 12 months, however the Company does not expect the
potential change to have a material effect on the results of operations or financial position in the next year.
The Company's continuing practice is to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense.
18 . Regulatory
The Company is subject to extensive regulation by federal and state governmental agencies and accrediting bodies. In particular, the Higher Education Act of
1965, as amended (the “Higher Education Act”), and the regulations promulgated thereunder by the U.S. Department of Education (the “Department”) subject the
Company to significant regulatory scrutiny on the basis of numerous standards that institutions of higher education must satisfy in order to participate in the
various federal student financial assistance programs under Title IV of the Higher Education Act.
Ashford University is regionally accredited by the Accrediting Commission for Senior Colleges and Universities of the Western Association of Schools and
Colleges (“WASC”) and University of the Rockies is regionally accredited by the Higher Learning Commission of the North Central Association of Colleges and
Schools (“HLC”).
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WASC Grant of Initial Accreditation of Ashford University
On July 10, 2013, WASC granted Initial Accreditation to Ashford University for five years, until July 15, 2018. This WASC action permitted Ashford
University to designate WASC as its accreditor of record for purposes of eligibility to participate in the Title IV programs following approval by the Department,
the university's withdrawal from HLC and the transfer of relevant records to WASC. Ashford University formally submitted its request for such approvals to the
Department on July 17, 2013.On November 4, 2013, the Department notified Ashford University that the Department would approve the university’s change in
accreditor, recognizing WASC as Ashford University’s accreditor, along with the renewal of certification for continued participation in the Title IV, HEA
programs. On December 13, 2013, the university effected its transition to WASC accreditation and designated its San Diego, California facilities as its main
campus and its Clinton, Iowa campus as an additional location. As part of a continuing WASC monitoring process, the university will host WASC in a special visit
in spring 2015.
Beginning in 2014, WASC will institute “Mid-Cycle Reviews” of its accredited institutions near the midpoint of their periods of accreditation. The purpose
of the Mid-Cycle Review is to identify problems with an institution's or program's continued compliance with agency standards while taking into account
institutional or program strengths and stability. The Mid-Cycle Review will focus particularly on student achievement, including indications of educational
effectiveness, retention and graduation data.
Application for Licensure by California BPPE
To be eligible to participate in Title IV programs, an institution must be legally authorized to offer its educational programs by the states in which it is
physically located. Effective July 1, 2011, the Department established new requirements to determine if an institution is considered to be legally authorized by a
state. In connection with its transition to WASC accreditation, Ashford University designated its San Diego, California facilities as its main campus for Title IV
purposes. WASC-accredited institutions operating in California are not required to obtain approval from the State of California, Department of Consumer Affairs,
Bureau for Private Postsecondary Education, or BPPE, in order to operate in the state. Under the Department’s state authorization rule, an institution must be
approved or licensed on a basis other than accreditation in instances in which it is not established by name as an educational institution by a state through a charter,
statute, constitutional provision, or other action issued by an appropriate state agency or entity. On May 21, 2013, the Department published a notice stating that it
would provide an extension of the effective date of the state authorization rule until July 1, 2014 to qualifying institutions that obtain from a state an explanation of
how the extension of time would permit the state to comply with the regulations. The California Department of Consumer Affairs has issued a letter explaining the
need for an extension. As it is uncertain how the Department will interpret the state authorization rule or the applicability of the extension of time, the university
submitted an Application for Approval to Operate an Accredited Institution to BPPE on September 10, 2013. If BPPE approves the university’s application, the
university will no longer be exempt from certain laws and regulations applicable to private, post-secondary educational institutions. These laws and regulations
entail certain California reporting requirements, including but not limited to, graduation, employment and licensing data, certain changes of ownership and control,
faculty and programs, and student refund policies, as well as the triggering of other state and federal student employment data reporting and disclosure
requirements.
Request for information from Ashford University by Iowa College Student Aid Commission
On September 22, 2012, the Iowa College Student Aid Commission requested that Ashford University provide the commission with certain information and
documentation related to, among other matters, the denial of Ashford University's application for WASC accreditation, the university's compliance with HLC
criteria and policies, a teach-out plan in the event that Ashford University is unsuccessful in obtaining WASC accreditation and is sanctioned by HLC, and
information relating to admissions employees, receipt of financial aid, availability of books, credit balance authorizations, and academic and financial support and
advisement services to students. The commission requested that Ashford University provide the requested information by November 12, 2012 and make an inperson presentation during the commission's meeting on November 16, 2012. The university made the presentation and has notified the commission of its
successful accreditation by WASC.
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Negotiated Rulemaking
The Department held public hearings in May and June 2013 inviting the submission of topics for consideration in a series of rulemaking efforts to achieve a
long-term agenda in higher education focused on access, affordability, academic quality and completion. Recent hearings have focused on topics including, but not
limited to, cash management of Title IV program funds, state authorization for programs offering distance or correspondence education, gainful employment,
credit and clock hour conversions, changes made to the Clery Act by the Violence Against Women Act of 2013 (P.L. 113-4), and the definition of “adverse credit”
for PLUS borrowers.
In June 2013, the Department announced its intention to establish a negotiated rulemaking committee to prepare proposed regulations that would establish
standards for programs that prepare students for gainful employment in a recognized occupation. The committee met for three sessions between September and
December 2013, but did not reach consensus on the content of the proposed regulations. On March 14, 2014, the Department published proposed regulations for
comment by the public for a sixty day period.
In January 2014, the Department held the first of three negotiated rulemaking sessions to implement the changes to the Clery Act required by the enactment
of the Violence Against Women Act, or VAWA. Two other sessions are scheduled for February 2014 and March-April 2014. While the final regulations will
likely not be implemented prior to July 1, 2015, the Department notified institutions in an Electronic Announcement in May 2013 that until the regulations go into
effect, it expects institutions to make a good faith effort to comply with the statutory requirements. Among other things, VAWA requires institutions to compile
statistics for certain crimes reported to campus security authorities or local police agencies. Under the statute, an institution must include the new required
information in its Annual Security Report issued no later than October 1, 2014.
In February 2014, the Department held the first of three negotiation sessions related to various new program integrity initiatives, including the potential
reintroduction of the Distance Education Rule (34 C.F.R. § 600.9(c)) that was vacated by a federal court in 2011. The February sessions produced no substantive
outcomes, but sessions in March 2014 plan to address the Department’s draft of a proposed regulation on distance education that could materially impact our
business.
Additional topics to be considered at March and April sessions are expected to include, but may not be limited to, the following: cash management of Title
IV funds, including the use of debit cards and the handling of Title IV credit balances; state authorization for foreign locations; clock to credit hour conversion; the
definition of “adverse credit” for borrowers in the Federal Direct PLUS Loan Program; and the application of the repeat coursework provisions to graduate and
undergraduate programs.
We cannot predict the scope and content of the regulations that may emerge from these or other rulemaking activities that the Department initiates.
Compliance with additional regulations, or with modifications to existing regulations, and/or regulatory scrutiny that results in the Company's institutions being
allegedly out of compliance with these regulations, could result in direct and indirect costs of compliance, fines, liabilities, sanctions or lawsuits, which could have
a material adverse effect on enrollments, revenues, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
The “90/10” Rule
Under the Higher Education Act, a for-profit institution loses its eligibility to participate in Title IV programs if the institution derives more than 90% of its
revenues (calculated in accordance with applicable Department regulations) from Title IV program funds for two consecutive fiscal years. This rule is commonly
referred to as the “90/10 rule.” Any institution that violates the 90/10 rule for two consecutive fiscal years becomes ineligible to participate in Title IV programs
for at least two fiscal years. In addition, an institution whose rate exceeds 90% for any single year will be placed on provisional certification and may be subject to
other enforcement measures.
For the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , Ashford University derived 85.6% , 86.4% and 86.8% , respectively, and University of the Rockies
derived 87.6% , 87.3% and 85.0% , respectively, of their respective revenues (calculated in accordance with applicable Department regulations) from students
whose source of funding is through Title IV funds.
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Cohort Default Rate
For each federal fiscal year, the Department calculates a rate of student defaults over a two-year measuring period for each educational institution which is
known as a “cohort default rate.” An institution may lose its eligibility to participate in the Direct Loan and Pell programs if, for each of the three most recent
federal fiscal years for which information is available, 25% or more of its students who became subject to a repayment obligation in that federal fiscal year
defaulted on such obligation by the end of the following federal fiscal year. In addition, an institution may lose its eligibility to participate in the Direct Loan
program if its cohort default rate exceeds 40% in the most recent federal fiscal year for which default rates have been calculated by the Department. Ashford
University's two-year cohort default rates for the 2011, 2010 and 2009 federal fiscal years, were 10.1% , 10.2% , and 15.3% , respectively. The two-year cohort
default rates for University of the Rockies for the 2011, 2010 and 2009 federal fiscal years, were 4.8% , 4.0% and 3.3% , respectively.
The August 2008 reauthorization of the Higher Education Act included significant revisions to the requirements concerning cohort default rates. Under the
revised law, the period for which students' defaults on their loans are included in the calculation of an institution's cohort default rate was extended by one
additional year, which is expected to increase the cohort default rates for most institutions. That change was effective with the calculation of institutions' cohort
default rates for the federal fiscal year ending September 30, 2009, which rates were calculated and issued by the Department in September 2012. The Department
will not impose sanctions based on rates calculated under this new methodology until three consecutive years of rates have been calculated, which is expected to
occur in 2014. Until that time, the Department will continue to calculate rates under the old calculation method and impose sanctions based on those rates. The
revised law also increases the threshold for ending an institution's participation in the relevant Title IV programs from 25% to 30%, effective for final three-year
cohort default rates published on or after the 2012 federal fiscal year. The revised law changes the threshold for placement on provisional certification to 30% for
two of the three most recent fiscal years for which the Department has published official three-year cohort default rates. Ashford University's three-year cohort
default rates for the 2010 and 2009 federal fiscal years, were 16.3% and 19.8% , respectively. The three-year cohort default rates for University of the Rockies for
the 2010 and 2009 federal fiscal years, were 8.0% and 3.3% , respectively.
Return of Title IV Funds
An institution participating in Title IV programs must correctly calculate the amount of unearned Title IV program funds that have been disbursed to students
who withdraw from their educational programs before completion and must return those unearned funds in a timely manner, generally within 45 days of the date
the school determines that the student has withdrawn. Under Department regulations, failure to make timely returns of Title IV program funds for 5% or more of
students sampled on the institution's annual compliance audit in either of its two most recently completed fiscal years can result in the institution having to post a
letter of credit in an amount equal to 25% of its required Title IV returns during its most recently completed fiscal year. If unearned funds are not properly
calculated and returned in a timely manner, an institution is also subject to monetary liabilities or an action to impose a fine or to limit, suspend or terminate its
participation in Title IV programs. For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 , the Company's institutions did not exceed the 5% threshold for late refunds
sampled.
Financial Responsibility
The Department calculates an institution's composite score for financial responsibility based on its (i) equity ratio, which measures the institution's capital
resources, ability to borrow and financial viability; (ii) primary reserve ratio, which measures the institution's ability to support current operations from expendable
resources; and (iii) net income ratio, which measures the institution's ability to operate at a profit. An institution that does not meet the Department's minimum
composite score may demonstrate its financial responsibility by posting a letter of credit in favor of the Department and possibly accepting other conditions on its
participation in the Title IV programs.
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, the consolidated composite score calculated was 3.0 , satisfying the composite score requirement of the
Department's financial responsibility test, which institutions must satisfy in order to participate in Title IV programs. We expect the consolidated composite score
to be 3.0 for the year ended December 31, 2013 . However, the consolidated calculation is subject to determination by the Department once it receives and reviews
our audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013 .
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19. Retirement Plans
The Company maintains an employee savings plan that qualifies as a deferred salary arrangement under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Under
the savings plan, participating employees may contribute a portion of their pre-tax earnings up to the Internal Revenue Service annual contribution limit.
Additionally, the Company may elect to make matching contributions into the savings plan in its sole discretion. The Company's total expense related to the 401(k)
plan was $3.3 million , $3.3 million and $2.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively.
20. Commitments and Contingencies
Litigation
From time to time, the Company is a party to various lawsuits, claims and other legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business. When the
Company becomes aware of a claim or potential claim, it assesses the likelihood of any loss or exposure. In accordance with authoritative guidance, the Company
records loss contingencies in its financial statements only for matters in which losses are probable and can be reasonably estimated. Where a range of loss can be
reasonably estimated with no best estimate in the range, the Company records the minimum estimated liability. If the loss is not probable or the amount of the loss
cannot be reasonably estimated, the Company discloses the nature of the specific claim if the likelihood of a potential loss is reasonably possible and the amount
involved is material. The Company continuously assesses the potential liability related to the Company’s pending litigation and revises its estimates when
additional information becomes available. Below is a list of material legal proceedings to which the Company or its subsidiaries is a party.
Compliance Audit by the Department's Office of the Inspector General (“OIG”)
In January 2011, Ashford University received a final audit report from the OIG regarding the compliance audit commenced in May 2008 and covering the
period July 1, 2006 through June 30, 2007. The audit covered Ashford University's administration of Title IV program funds, including compliance with
regulations governing institutional and student eligibility, awards and disbursements of Title IV program funds, verification of awards and returns of unearned
funds during that period, and its compensation of financial aid and recruiting personnel during the period May 10, 2005 through June 30, 2009.
The final audit report contained audit findings, in each case for the period July 1, 2006 through June 30, 2007, which are applicable to award year 2006-2007.
Each finding was accompanied by one or more recommendations to the Department's Office of Federal Student Aid (the “FSA”). Ashford University provided the
FSA a detailed response to OIG’s final audit report in February 2011. In June 2011, in connection with two of the six findings, the FSA requested that Ashford
University conduct a file review of the return to Title IV calculations for all Title IV recipients who withdrew from distance education programs during the 20062007 award year. The institution cooperated with the request and supplied the information within the time frame required. If the FSA were to determine to assess a
monetary liability or commence other administrative action, Ashford University would have an opportunity to contest the assessment or proposed action through
administrative proceedings, with the right to seek review of any final administrative action in the federal courts.
The outcome of this audit is uncertain at this point because of the many questions of fact and law that may arise. At present, the Company cannot reasonably
estimate a range of loss for this action based on the information available to the Company. Accordingly, the Company has not accrued any liability associated with
this matter.
Iowa Attorney General Civil Investigation of Ashford University
In February 2011, Ashford University received from the Attorney General of the State of Iowa (“Iowa Attorney General”) a Civil Investigative Demand and
Notice of Intent to Proceed (“CID”) relating to the Iowa Attorney General’s investigation of whether certain of the university's business practices comply with
Iowa consumer laws. Pursuant to the CID, the Iowa Attorney General has requested documents and detailed information for the time period January 1, 2008 to
present. On June 24, 2013, October 25, 2013, and February 10, 2014, representatives from the Company and Ashford University met with the Iowa Attorney
General to discuss the status of the investigation and the Iowa Attorney General’s allegations against the Company which had been communicated to the Company
several weeks prior to the June 24th meeting. During these meetings, the Iowa Attorney General and Ashford University also discussed the general framework of a
potential resolution of the Iowa Attorney General’s allegations, which involves several components including injunctive relief, nonmonetary remedies and
restitution. Ashford University is cooperating with the investigation and continuing to discuss the potential resolution of the Iowa Attorney
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General’s allegations. Accordingly, the Company estimates that a reasonable range of loss for this matter is between $6.2 million and $9.5 million . The Company
has accrued $9.0 million , which represents its best estimate of a potential resolution, including restitution, the cost of non-monetary remedies and future legal
costs.
New York Attorney General Investigation of Bridgepoint Education, Inc.
In May 2011, the Company received from the Attorney General of the State of New York (“NY Attorney General”) a Subpoena relating to the NY Attorney
General's investigation of whether the Company and its academic institutions have complied with certain New York state consumer protection, securities and
finance laws. Pursuant to the Subpoena, the NY Attorney General has requested from the Company and its academic institutions documents and detailed
information for the time period March 17, 2005 to present. The Company is cooperating with the investigation and cannot predict the eventual scope, duration or
outcome of the investigation at this time.
North Carolina Attorney General Investigation of Ashford University
In September 2011, Ashford University received from the Attorney General of the State of North Carolina (“NC Attorney General”) an Investigative
Demand relating to the NC Attorney General's investigation of whether the university's business practices complied with North Carolina consumer protection laws.
Pursuant to the Investigative Demand, the NC Attorney General has requested from Ashford University documents and detailed information for the time period
January 1, 2008 to present. Ashford University is cooperating with the investigation and cannot predict the eventual scope, duration or outcome of the investigation
at this time.
California Attorney General Investigation of For-Profit Educational Institutions
In January 2013, the Company received from the Attorney General of the State of California (“CA Attorney General”) an Investigative Subpoena relating to
the CA Attorney General’s investigation of for-profit educational institutions. Pursuant to the Investigative Subpoena, the CA Attorney General has requested
documents and detailed information for the time period March 1, 2009 to present. On July 24, 2013, the CA Attorney General filed a petition to enforce certain
categories of the Subpoena related to recorded calls and electronic marketing data. On September 25, 2013, we reached an agreement with the CA Attorney
General to produce certain categories of the documents requested in the petition and stipulated to continue the hearing on the petition to enforce from October 3,
2013 to January 9, 2014. On January 13, 2014, the Company received a second Investigative Subpoena from the CA Attorney General requesting additional
documents and information for the time period March 1, 2009 through the current date. The Company cannot predict the eventual scope, duration or outcome of
the investigation at this time. As a result, the Company cannot reasonably estimate a range of loss for this action and accordingly has not accrued any liability
associated with this action.
Stevens v. Bridgepoint Education, Inc.
In February 2011, the Company received a copy of a complaint filed as a class action lawsuit naming the Company, Ashford University, LLC, and certain
employees as defendants. The complaint was filed in the Superior Court of the State of California in San Diego and was captioned Stevens v. Bridgepoint
Education, Inc. The complaint generally alleged that the plaintiffs and similarly situated employees were improperly denied certain wage and hour protections
under California law.
In April 2011, the Company received a copy of a complaint filed as a class action lawsuit naming the Company and Ashford University, LLC, as defendants.
The complaint was filed in the Superior Court of the State of California in San Diego, and was captioned Moore v. Ashford University, LLC. The complaint
generally alleged that the plaintiff and similarly situated employees were improperly denied certain wage and hour protections under California law.
In May 2011, the Company received a copy of a complaint filed as a class action lawsuit naming the Company as a defendant. The complaint was filed in the
Superior Court of the State of California in San Diego on May 6, 2011, and was captioned Sanchez v. Bridgepoint Education, Inc. The complaint generally alleged
that the plaintiff and similarly situated employees were improperly denied certain wage and hour protections under California law.
In October 2011, the above named cases were consolidated because they involved common questions of fact and law, with Stevens v. Bridgepoint Education,
Inc. designated as the lead case.
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In April 2012, the Company entered into a settlement agreement with the plaintiffs of the above named cases to settle the claims on a class-wide basis. Under
the terms of the settlement agreement, the Company agreed to pay an amount to settle the plaintiffs' claims, plus any related payroll taxes. The Company accrued a
$10.8 million expense in connection with the settlement agreement during the year ending December 31, 2012. On August 24, 2012, the Court granted final
approval of the class action settlement and entered a final judgment in accordance with the terms of the settlement agreement. This settlement was paid out prior to
December 31, 2012.
Securities Class Action
On July 13, 2012, a securities class action complaint was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of California by Donald K. Franke naming
the Company, Andrew Clark, Daniel Devine and Jane McAuliffe as defendants for allegedly making false and materially misleading statements regarding the
Company’s business and financial results, specifically the concealment of accreditation problems at Ashford University. The complaint asserts a putative class
period stemming from May 3, 2011 to July 6, 2012. A substantially similar complaint was also filed in the same court by Luke Sacharczyk on July 17, 2012
making similar allegations against the Company, Andrew Clark and Daniel Devine. The Sacharczyk complaint asserts a putative class period stemming from May
3, 2011 to July 12, 2012. Finally, on July 26, 2012, another purported securities class action complaint was filed in the same court by David Stein against the same
defendants based upon the same general set of allegations and class period. The complaints allege violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder and seek unspecified monetary relief, interest, and attorneys’ fees.
On October 22, 2012, the Sacharczyk and Stein actions were consolidated with the Franke action and the Court appointed the City of Atlanta General
Employees Pension Fund and the Teamsters Local 677 Health Services & Insurance Plan as lead plaintiffs. A consolidated complaint was filed on December 21,
2012 and the Company filed a motion to dismiss on February 19, 2013. On September 13, 2013, the Court granted the motion to dismiss with leave to amend for
alleged misrepresentations relating to Ashford University’s quality of education, the WASC accreditation process, and the Company’s financial forecasts. The
Court denied the motion to dismiss for alleged misrepresentations concerning Ashford University’s persistence rates. The plaintiff did not file an amended
complaint by the October 31, 2013 deadline and therefore the case is now proceeding to discovery.
The outcome of this legal proceeding is uncertain at this point because of the many questions of fact and law that may arise. At present, the Company cannot
reasonably estimate a range of loss for this action based on the information available to the Company. Accordingly, the Company has not accrued any liability
associated with this action.
Shareholder Derivative Actions
In re Bridgepoint, Inc. Shareholder Derivative Action
On July 24, 2012, a shareholder derivative complaint was filed in California Superior Court by Alonzo Martinez. In the complaint, the plaintiff asserts a
derivative claim on the Company's behalf against certain of its current and former officers and directors. The complaint is entitled Martinez v. Clark, et al. , and
generally alleges that the individual defendants breached their fiduciary duties of candor, good faith and loyalty, wasted corporate assets and were unjustly
enriched. The complaint seeks unspecified monetary relief and disgorgement on behalf of the Company, as well as other equitable relief and attorneys' fees. On
September 28, 2012, a substantially similar shareholder derivative complaint was filed in California Superior Court by David Adolph-Laroche. In the complaint,
the plaintiff asserts a derivative claim on the Company's behalf against certain of its current and former officers and directors. The complaint is entitled AdolphLaroche v. Clark, et al. , and generally alleges that the individual defendants breached their fiduciary duties of candor, good faith and loyalty, wasted corporate
assets and were unjustly enriched.
On October 11, 2012, the Adolph-Laroche action was consolidated with the Martinez action and the case is now entitled In re Bridgepoint, Inc. Shareholder
Derivative Action . A consolidated complaint was filed on December 18, 2012 and the defendants filed a motion to stay the case while the underlying securities
class action is pending. The motion was granted by the Court on April 11, 2013. A status conference was held on October 10, 2013, during which the Court
ordered the stay
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continued for the duration of discovery in the securities class action, but permitted the plaintiff to receive copies of any discovery responses served in the
underlying securities class action.
Cannon v. Clark, et al.
On November 1, 2013, a shareholder derivative complaint was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of California by James Cannon. In the
complaint, the plaintiff asserts a derivative claim on the Company's behalf against certain of its current officers and directors. The complaint is entitled Cannon v.
Clark, et al . and is substantially similar to the previously filed California State Court derivative action now entitled In re Bridgepoint, Inc. Shareholder Derivative
Action . In the complaint, plaintiff generally alleges that the individual defendants breached their fiduciary duties of candor, good faith and loyalty, wasted
corporate assets and were unjustly enriched. The complaint seeks unspecified monetary relief and disgorgement on behalf of the Company, as well as other
equitable relief and attorneys' fees. Pursuant to a stipulation among the parties, on January 6, 2014, the Court ordered the case stayed during discovery in the
underlying securities class action, but permitted the plaintiff to receive copies of any discovery responses served in the underlying securities class action.
Di Giovanni v. Clark, et al. , and Craig-Johnston v. Clark, et al .
On December 9, 2013, two nearly identical shareholder derivative complaints were filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of
California. The complaints assert derivative claims on our behalf against the members of our board of directors as well as against Warburg Pincus & Co., Warburg
Pincus LLC, Warburg Pincus Partners LLC, and Warburg Pincus Private Equity VIII, L.P. The two lawsuits are captioned Di Giovanni v. Clark, et al. , and CraigJohnston v. Clark, et al . The complaints allege that all of the defendants breached their fiduciary duties and were unjustly enriched and that the individual
defendants wasted corporate assets in connection with the tender offer commenced by the Company on November 13, 2013. The lawsuits seek unspecified
monetary relief and disgorgement, as well as other equitable relief and attorneys’ fees.
Klein v. Clark, et al.
On January 9, 2014, a shareholder derivative complaint was filed in the Superior Court of the State of California in San Diego. The complaint asserts
derivative claims on our behalf against the members of our board of directors as well as against Warburg Pincus & Co., Warburg Pincus LLC, Warburg Pincus
Partners LLC, and Warburg Pincus Private Equity VIII, L.P. The lawsuit is captioned Klein v. Clark, et al. The complaint alleges that all of the defendants
breached their fiduciary duties and were unjustly enriched and that the individual defendants wasted corporate assets in connection with the tender offer
commenced by the Company on November 13, 2013. The lawsuit seeks unspecified monetary relief and disgorgement, as well as other equitable relief and
attorneys’ fees.
Guzman v. Bridgepoint Education, Inc.
In January 2011, Betty Guzman filed a class action lawsuit against the Company, Ashford University and University of the Rockies in the U.S. District Court
for the Southern District of California. The complaint is entitled Guzman v. Bridgepoint Education, Inc., et al. , and alleges that the defendants engaged in
misrepresentation and other unlawful behavior in their efforts to recruit and retain students. The complaint asserts a putative class period of March 1, 2005 through
the present. In March 2011, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss the complaint, which was granted by the Court with leave to amend in October 2011.
In January 2012, the plaintiff filed a first amended complaint asserting similar claims and the same class period, and the defendants filed another motion to
dismiss. In May 2012, the Court granted University of the Rockies’ motion to dismiss and granted in part and denied in part the motion to dismiss filed by the
Company and Ashford University. The Court also granted the plaintiff leave to file a second amended complaint. In August 2012, the plaintiff filed a second
amended complaint asserting similar claims and the same class period. The second amended complaint seeks unspecified monetary relief, disgorgement of all
profits, various other equitable relief, and attorneys’ fees. The defendants filed a motion to strike portions of the second amended complaint, which was granted in
part and denied in part. On March 14, 2013, the Company filed a motion to deny class certification for students enrolled on or after May 2007 when Ashford
University adopted a binding arbitration policy. On August 23, 2013, the Court denied the motion finding that although “some” absent class members in this case
may have signed an enforceable arbitration agreement, this does not demonstrate an overbroad or
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unascertainable class that forecloses certification at this stage of the proceedings. On September 23, 2013, the Court entered an order bifurcating discovery and
permitting only class certification discovery to take place until the plaintiff’s motion for class certification, which is due to be filed on or before April 30, 2014, is
decided.
The outcome of this legal proceeding is uncertain at this point because of the many questions of fact and law that may arise. At present, the Company cannot
reasonably estimate a range of loss for this action based on the information available to the Company. Accordingly, the Company has not accrued any liability
associated with this action.
Qui Tam Complaints
In December 2012, the Company received notice that the U.S. Department of Justice had declined to intervene in a qui tam complaint filed in the U.S.
District Court for the Southern District of California by Ryan Ferguson and Mark T. Pacheco under the Federal False Claims Act on March 10, 2011 and unsealed
on December 26, 2012. The case is entitled United States of America, ex rel., Ryan Ferguson and Mark T. Pacheco v. Bridgepoint Education, Inc., Ashford
University and University of the Rockies . The qui tam complaint alleges, among other things, that since March 10, 2005, the Company caused its institutions,
Ashford University and University of the Rockies, to violate the Federal False Claims Act by falsely certifying to the U.S. Department of Education that the
institutions were in compliance with various regulations governing the Title IV programs, including those that require compliance with federal rules regarding the
payment of incentive compensation to enrollment personnel, student disclosures, and misrepresentation in connection with the institutions' participation in the Title
IV programs. The complaint seeks significant damages, penalties and other relief. On April 30, 2013, the relators petitioned the Court for voluntary dismissal of
the complaint without prejudice. The U.S. Department of Justice filed a notice stipulating to the dismissal and the Court granted the dismissal on June 12, 2013.
In January 2013, the Company received notice that the U.S. Department of Justice had declined to intervene in a qui tam complaint filed in the U.S. District
Court for the Southern District of California by James Carter and Roger Lengyel under the Federal False Claims Act on July 2, 2010 and unsealed on January 2,
2013. The case is entitled United States of America, ex rel., James Carter and Roger Lengyel v. Bridgepoint Education, Inc., Ashford University . The qui tam
complaint alleges, among other things, that since March 2005, the Company and Ashford University have violated the Federal False Claims Act by falsely
certifying to the U.S. Department of Education that Ashford University was in compliance with federal rules regarding the payment of incentive compensation to
enrollment personnel in connection with the institution's participation in Title IV programs. Pursuant to a stipulation between the parties, the relators filed an
amended complaint on May 10, 2013. The amended complaint is substantially similar to the original complaint and seeks significant damages, penalties and other
relief. On January 8, 2014, the Court denied the Company's motion to dismiss and the case is proceeding to discovery.
The outcome of this legal proceeding is uncertain at this point because of the many questions of fact and law that may arise. At present, the Company cannot
reasonably estimate a range of loss for this action based on the information available to the Company. Accordingly, the Company has not accrued any liability
associated with this action.
Employee Class Actions
On October 24, 2012, a class action complaint was filed in California Superior Court by former employee Marla Montano naming the Company and Ashford
University as defendants. The case is entitled Marla Montano v. Bridgepoint Education and Ashford University . The complaint asserts a putative class consisting
of former employees who were terminated in January 2012 and July 2012 as a result of a mass layoff, relocation or termination and alleges that the defendants
failed to comply with the notice and payment provisions of the California WARN Act. A substantially similar complaint, entitled Dilts v. Bridgepoint Education
and Ashford University , was also filed in the same court on the same day by Austin Dilts making similar allegations and asserting the same putative class. The
complaints seek back pay, the cost of benefits, penalties and interest on behalf of the putative class members, as well as other equitable relief and attorneys' fees.
On January 25, 2013, the Company filed motions to compel binding arbitration with the Court, which were granted on May 20, 2013. The parties
subsequently agreed to settle all of the claims for an immaterial amount and as a result the cases are now concluded.
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21. Concentration of Risk
Concentration of Revenue
In 2013 , Ashford University derived 85.6% and University of the Rockies derived 87.6% of their respective revenues (in each case calculated on a cash basis
in accordance with applicable Department regulations) from students whose source of funding is through Title IV programs. See Note 18 , “Regulatory-The
“90/10” Rule.” Title IV programs are subject to political and budgetary considerations and are subject to extensive and complex regulations. The Company's
administration of these programs is periodically reviewed by various regulatory agencies. Any regulatory violation could be the basis for the initiation of
potentially adverse actions including a suspension, limitation, or termination proceeding, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's
enrollments, revenues and results of operations.
Students obtain access to federal student financial aid through a Department prescribed application and eligibility certification process. Student financial aid
funds are generally made available to students at prescribed intervals throughout their expected length of study. Students typically apply the funds received from
the federal financial aid programs first to pay their tuition and fees. Any remaining funds are distributed directly to the student.
Concentration of Credit Risk
The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents accounts in financial institutions. Accounts at these institutions are insured by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up to $250,000 . The Company performs ongoing evaluations of these institutions to limit its concentrations risk exposure.
Concentration of Sources of Supply
The Company is dependent on a third party provider for its online platform, which includes a learning management system, which stores, manages and
delivers course content, enables assignment uploading, provides interactive communication between students and faculty and supplies online assessment tools. The
partial or complete loss of this source may have an adverse effect on enrollments, revenues and results of operations.
22. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)
The following tables set forth unaudited results of operations and certain operating data for each quarter during 2013 and 2012 . The Company believes that
the information reflects all adjustments necessary to present fairly the information below. Basic and diluted earnings per common share are computed
independently for each of the quarters presented. Therefore, the sum of quarterly basic and diluted per common share information may not equal annual basic and
diluted earnings per common share.
First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

(In thousands, except per share data)

2013
Revenue
Operating income (loss)
Net income (loss)
Earnings (loss) per common share:
Basic
Diluted
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$

221,984
43,420
26,967

$

197,574
16,028
10,368

$

185,612
12,851
10,135

$

163,453
(11,856)
(6,460)

$

0.50
0.49

$

0.19
0.19

$

0.19
0.18

$

(0.12)
(0.12)
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First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

(In thousands, except per share data)

2012
Revenue
Operating income
Net income
Earnings per common share:
Basic
Diluted

$

250,437
50,629
31,971

$

256,302
68,782
43,258

$

252,076
47,109
29,820

$

209,356
28,944
18,372

$

0.61
0.57

$

0.82
0.77

$

0.56
0.53

$

0.34
0.33

23. Subsequent Events
On February 10, 2014, representatives from the Company and Ashford University met with the Iowa Attorney General to discuss the status of the
investigation and the Iowa Attorney General’s allegations against the Company. During this meeting, the Iowa Attorney General and Ashford University discussed
the general framework of a potential resolution of the Iowa Attorney General’s allegations. For additional information, see Note 20, “Commitments and
Contingencies - Iowa Attorney General Civil Investigation of Ashford University.”
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or
submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in the SEC's rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by us in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal
executive officer and principal financial officer, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In
designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the
cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer, we carried out an
evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act, as of
the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of December 31, 2013.
Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act
Rule 13a-15(f). Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only
in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements.
Internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements prepared for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not
prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, we conducted an evaluation
of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework,
management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2013.
The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.
Prior Material Weakness and Remediation
We disclosed in Item 9A, Controls and Procedures of our annual report on Form 10-K/A, for the year ended December 31, 2012, that there were matters that
constituted a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal
control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company's annual or interim financial statements will
not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.
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The previous material weakness in internal control over financial reporting related to not maintaining effective internal controls over the accounting for
accounts receivable. Specifically, we determined 1) that the process for estimating the allowance for doubtful accounts in 2012 was not designed to appropriately
incorporate all relevant qualitative factors and 2) that accounts receivable aging was not correct. These control deficiencies resulted in the revision of the
Company's consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2012 related to the accounting for the valuation of the Company's accounts
receivable.
We committed to remediating the control deficiencies that constituted the material weakness by implementing changes to our internal control over financial
reporting. Throughout 2013, we took actions to improve in the area of accounts receivable including:
•

implementing additional oversight and review;

•

performing additional analytical procedures, including detailed analysis of the accounts receivable aging, and of the allowance for doubtful accounts as a
percentage of the receivables;

•

gathering insights from operational personnel to ensure a better understanding of account balances and reasons for fluctuations;

•

looking at other internal and external factors potentially impacting receivable balances at a more disaggregated level;

•

implementing a look-back analysis to ensure that historical estimates remain appropriate;

•

monitoring the receivable sub-populations to ensure a deeper understanding of how student behavior at the institutions affects related receivable balances;
and

•

engaging a third party to review historical percentage methodology.

We will continue to maintain appropriate focus on this critical accounting area going forward. We believe these measures have remediated the identified
control deficiencies and strengthen internal control over financial reporting.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2013, that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Item 9B. Other Information.
None.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.
See Part I, Item 1, “Business-Executive Officers of the Registrant,” which information is incorporated herein by reference.
The information required by this item regarding our directors and corporate governance matters is included under the captions “Proposal 1-Election of
Directors” and “Corporate Governance” in the Proxy Statement for the 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the
end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 (the “2014 Proxy Statement”) and is incorporated herein by reference. The information required by this item
regarding delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is included under the heading “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in
the 2014 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 11. Executive Compensation.
The information required by this item is included under the captions “Corporate Governance-Director Compensation” and “Executive Compensation” in the
2014 Proxy Statement and incorporated herein by reference.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
The information required by this item is included under the captions “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in the 2014 Proxy
Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
The information required by this item is included under the captions “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” and “Corporate Governance-Director
Independence” in the 2014 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.
The information required by this item is included under the caption “Proposal 2-Ratification of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in the 2014
Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
(a)

The following documents are included as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
(1)

Financial Statements.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements of Income
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to Annual Consolidated Financial Statements

(2)

74
75
76
77
78
79
80

Financial Statement Schedules.
All financial statement schedules have been omitted as they are not required, not applicable, or the required information is otherwise included.

(3)

Exhibits.
Incorporated by
Reference

Form

X

S-1

2.1

February 17, 2009

2.2

Purchase and Sale Agreement dated December 3, 2004, as amended, among The
Franciscan University of the Prairies, the Sisters of St. Francis and the registrant.
Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement dated September 12, 2007 between the
Colorado School of Professional Psychology and the registrant.
Charter Documents and Instruments Defining Rights of Security Holders

X

S-1

2.2

February 17, 2009

3.1

Fifth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

X

10-Q

3.1

May 21, 2009

3.2

Second Amended and Restated Bylaws.

X

S-1

3.4

March 20, 2009

4.1

Specimen of Stock Certificate.

X

S-1

4.1

March 30, 2009

4.2

Second Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement dated August 26,
2009 among the registrant and the other persons named therein.
Employee Benefit Plans

X

S-1

4.4

September 4, 2009

10.1 *

Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Incentive Plan.

X

S-1

10.1

December 22, 2008

10.2 *

2005 Stock Incentive Plan-Form of Stock Option Agreement and Notice of Option
Grant for Founders.
2005 Stock Incentive Plan-Form of Stock Option Agreement and Notice of Option
Grant for Charlene Dackerman, Jane McAuliffe, Ross Woodard and other nonexecutive employees.
2005 Stock Incentive Plan-Form of Stock Option Agreement and Notice of Option
Grant for Andrew S. Clark, Daniel J. Devine, Rodney T. Sheng and Christopher L.
Spohn.
2005 Stock Incentive Plan-Form of Stock Option Agreement and Notice of Option
Grant for Robert Hartman.
Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Incentive Plan-Form of Stock Option
Agreement and Notice of Option Grant for Charlene Dackerman, Jane McAuliffe,
Ross Woodard and other non-executive employees.
Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Incentive Plan-Form of Stock Option
Agreement and Notice of Option Grant for Andrew S. Clark, Daniel J. Devine,
Rodney T. Sheng and Christopher L. Spohn.
Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Incentive Plan-Amendment to Stock Option
Award

X

S-1

10.2

February 17, 2009

X

S-1

10.3

February 17, 2009

X

S-1

10.4

February 17, 2009

X

S-1

10.12

February 17, 2009

X

8-K

10.13

January 12, 2010

X

8-K

10.14

January 12, 2010

X

S-1

10.33

March 30, 2009

Exhibit

Filed
Herewith

Description of Document

Exhibit No.

Date Filed

Acquisition Agreements
2.1

10.3 *

10.4 *

10.5 *
10.6 *

10.7 *

10.8 *
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Incorporated by
Reference

Form

Amended and Restated 2009 Stock Incentive Plan.

X

8-K

10.1

May 16, 2013

X

S-8

99.4

May 13, 2009

X

10-Q

10.3

May 3, 2011

X

S-8

99.5

May 13, 2009

X

8-K

99.1

June 27, 2011

X

8-K

99.2

June 27, 2011

10.15 *

Amended and Restated 2009 Stock Incentive Plan-Form of Nonstatutory Stock
Option Agreement for Executives and Senior Management.
Amended and Restated 2009 Stock Option Plan - Form of Nonstatutory Stock
Option Agreement (effective March 2011).
Amended and Restated 2009 Stock Incentive Plan-Form of Incentive Stock Option
Agreement for Executives and Senior Management.
2009 Stock Incentive Plan - Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement
(Deferred Settlement).
2009 Stock Incentive Plan - Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement
(General).
Form of Non-Plan Stock Option Agreement

X

S-8

99.6

May 13, 2009

10.16 *

Form of Compensatory Warrant Agreement.

X

S-1

4.1

March 20, 2009

10.17 *

Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

X

8-K

99.1

March 22, 2010

10.18 *

Bridgepoint Education Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan

X

10-Q

10.7

May 3, 2010

Exhibit
10.9 *
10.10 *
10.11 *
10.12 *
10.13 *
10.14 *

Filed
Herewith

Description of Document

Exhibit No.

Date Filed

Agreements with Executive Officers, Directors and Warburg Pincus
10.19 *

Employment Agreement between Andrew S. Clark and the registrant.

X

S-1

10.24

March 20, 2009

10.20 *

Employment Agreement between Daniel J. Devine and the registrant.

X

S-1

10.25

March 20, 2009

10.21 *

Employment Agreement between Rodney T. Sheng and the registrant.

X

S-1

10.27

March 20, 2009

10.22 *

Offer Letter to Diane Thompson.

X

S-1

10.28

March 20, 2009

10.23 *

Offer Letter to Thomas Ashbrook.

X

S-1

10.29

March 20, 2009

10.24 *

Offer Letter to Douglas C. Abts.

X

10-K

10.23

March 2, 2011

10.25 *

Executive Severance Plan.

X

S-1

10.31

March 20, 2009

10.26 *

Form of Severance Agreement under the Executive Severance Plan.

X

S-1

10.32

March 20, 2009

10.27 *

Offer Letter to Dale Crandall.

X

S-1

10.30

March 20, 2009

10.28 *

Offer Letter to Marye Anne Fox.

X

10-K

10.30

March 7, 2012

10.29 *

Offer Letter to Andrew Miller.

X

10-K

10.31

March 7, 2012

10.30 *

Form of Indemnification Agreement for Executive Officers and Directors (before
January 1, 2012).
Form of Indemnification Agreement (after January 1, 2012).

X

S-1

X

10-K

10.33

March 7, 2012

X

10-K

10.34

March 7, 2012

10.33 *

Stock Ownership Guidelines (after December 31, 2011 and prior to May 14,
2013).
Stock Ownership Guidelines (effective May 14, 2013).

10.34

Nominating Agreement between Warburg Pincus and the registrant.

X

S-1

10.11

February 17, 2009

10.31 *
10.32 *

10.8

December 22, 2008

X

Bank Documents
10.35

Credit Agreement dated January 29, 2010 with Comerica Bank

X

8-K

99.1

February 3, 2010

10.36

Revolving Credit Note dated January 29, 2010 with Comerica Bank

X

8-K

99.2

February 3, 2010

10.37

Security Agreement dated January 29, 2010 with Comerica Bank

X

8-K

99.3

February 3, 2010

10.38

First Amendment to Loan Documents with Comerica Bank dated July 30, 2010

X

10-Q

10.1

August 3, 2010

10.39

Second Amendment to Loan Documents with Comerica Bank dated August 6,
2010.
Third Amendment to Loan Documents with Comerica Bank dated December 1,
2010.
Fourth Amendment to Loan Documents with Comerica Bank, dated May 2, 2011.

X

10-Q

10.2

November 2, 2010

X

10-K

10.39

March 2, 2011

X

10-Q

10.1

August 2, 2011

Fifth Amendment to Loan Documents with Comerica Bank, dated January 27,
2012.
Sixth Amendment to Loan Documents with Comerica Bank, dated March 30,
2012.

X

10-K

10.43

March 7, 2012

X

10-Q

10.6

10.40
10.41
10.42
10.43
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May 1, 2012

Exhibit

Filed
Herewith

Description of Document

Incorporated by
Reference

Form

Exhibit No.

Date Filed

10.44

Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement with Comerica Bank, dated
as of April 13, 2012.
Material Real Estate Leases

X

10-Q

10.45 †

Office Lease dated January 31, 2008 with Kilroy Realty, L.P., as amended by the
First Amendment thereto dated December 1, 2008, related to the premises located
at 13480 Evening Creek Drive North, San Diego, California.
Second Amendment to Office Lease dated June 3, 2009, with Kilroy Realty L.P.,
related to the premises located at 13480 Evening Creek Drive North, Sand Diego,
California.
Office Lease and Sublease Agreements, related to the premises located at
13500 Evening Creek Drive North, San Diego, California.
First Amendment to Office Lease dated March 12, 2010, with Kilroy Realty, L.P.,
related to the premises located at 13500 Evening Creek Drive North, San Diego,
California.
Second Amendment to Office Lease with Kilroy Realty, L.P., dated February 29,
2012, related to the premises located at 13500 Evening Creek Drive North, San
Diego, California.
Office Lease dated June 26, 2009, with Kilroy Realty, L.P., related to the premises
located at 13520 Evening Creek Drive North, San Diego, California.
Standard Form Modified Gross Office Lease dated October 22, 2008, and
addendum, with Sunroad Centrum Office I, L.P. related to the premises located at
8620 Spectrum Center Lane, San Diego, California.
First Amendment to Standard Form Modified Gross Office Lease dated September
16, 2011, with Sunroad Centrum Office I, L.P., related to the premises located at
8620 Spectrum Center Lane, San Diego, California.
Office Lease dated February 28, 2011 with WSC 1515 Arapahoe Investors V,
L.L.C., related to the premises located at located at 1515 Arapahoe Street, Denver,
Colorado.
Commencement Date Memorandum and First Amendment to Office Lease dated
November 18, 2011 with WSC 1515 Arapahoe Investors V, L.L.C., related to the
premises located at located at 1515 Arapahoe Street, Denver, Colorado.
Lease dated August 8, 2011, with CCP/MS SSIII Denver Tabor Center I Property
Owner LLC, related to the premises located at 1200 17th Street and 1201 16th
Street, Denver, Colorado.
First Amendment dated June 28, 2012, with CCP/MS SSIII Denver Tabor Center I
Property Owner LLC, related to the premises located at 1200 17th Street and 1201
16th Street, Denver, Colorado.
Material Strategic Agreements

X

S-1

X

10-Q

X

S-1

X

10-Q

10.5

May 3, 2010

X

10-Q

10.5

May 1, 2012

X

10-Q

10.1

August 11, 2009

X

S-1

X

10-Q

10.4

December 16, 2011

X

10-Q

10.1

May 3, 2011

X

10-K

10.55

X

10-Q

10.3

November 1, 2011

X

10-Q

10.2

August 7, 2012

Master Services and License Agreement dated September 29, 2009, with
eCollege.com
First Addendum to Master Services and License Agreement dated November 9,
2009 with eCollege.com
Second Addendum to Master Services and License Agreement dated
December 15, 2009 with eCollege.com
Third Addendum to Master Services and License Agreement dated January 12,
2010 with eCollege.com
Fourth Addendum to Master Services and License Agreement dated October 14,
2010 with eCollege.com
Software License Agreement and Campuscare Support Agreement between
Campus Management Corp. and the registrant.
Addenda to Software License Agreement with Campus Management Corp. dated
June 29, 2009.
Addendum to CampusCare Maintenance and Support Agreement dated February
11, 2011 with Campus Management Corporation.
CampusCare Maintenance and Support Renewal dated December 28, 2011, with
Campus Management Corp.
Addendum to Software License Agreement with Campus Management Corp.
dated June 29, 2012.

X

8-K

99.1

October 1, 2009

X

10-K

10.45

March 2, 2010

X

10-K

10.46

March 2, 2010

X

10-K

10.47

March 2, 2010

X

10-K

10.54

March 2, 2011

X

S-1

10.21

March 30, 2009

X

10-Q

10.5

August 11, 2009

X

10-Q

10.2

May 3, 2011

X

10-K

10.67

March 7, 2012

X

10-K

10.72

March 12, 2013

10.46 †

10.47 †
10.48 †

10.49 †

10.50 †
10.51 †

10.52 †

10.53 †

10.54 †

10.55 †

10.56 †

10.57 †
10.58 †
10.59 †
10.60 †
10.61 †
10.62 †
10.63 †
10.64 †
10.65 †
10.66 †
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10.1

August 7, 2012

10.15

April 13, 2009

10.2

10.16

10.17

August 11, 2009

April 13, 2009

March 2, 2009

March 7, 2012

Exhibit

Filed
Herewith

Description of Document

10.67 †
10.68 †
10.69 †
10.70
10.71
10.72 †

10.73
10.74
10.75 †

10.76 †

14.1

Addendum to CampusCare Support Agreement dated June 29, 2012 with Campus
Management Corporation.
CampusCare Maintenance and Support Renewal dated December 10, 2012, with
Campus Management Corp.
CampusCare Maintenance and Support Renewal dated October 24, 2013, with
Campus Management Corp.
General Services Agreement dated January 1, 2009 between Affiliated Computer
Services, Inc. and Ashford University, LLC.
Amendment One to General Services Agreement dated July 14, 2011 between
Affiliated Computer Services, Inc. and Ashford University, LLC.
Amendment One to Task Order One (Central Financial Aid Processing) dated
January 2, 2012 between Affiliated Computer Services, Inc. and Ashford
University, LLC.
General Services Agreement dated January 1, 2009 between Affiliated Computer
Services, Inc. and University of the Rockies, LLC.
Amendment One to General Services Agreement dated July 15, 2011 between
Affiliated Computer Services, Inc. and University of the Rockies, LLC.
Amendment One to Task Order One (Central Financial Aid Processing) dated
January 2, 2012 between Affiliated Computer Services, Inc. and University of the
Rockies, LLC.
License Agreement dated October 31, 2013 between Forbes Education Holdings,
Bridgepoint Education, Inc. and Ashford University, LLC.
Code of Ethics

Incorporated by
Reference

Form

X

10-K

10.73

March 12, 2013

X

10-K

10.68

March 7, 2012

X

10-Q

10.4

August 2, 2011

X

10-K

10.70

March 7, 2012

X

10-K

10.71

March 7, 2012

X

10-Q

10.5

August 2, 2011

X

10-K

10.73

March 7, 2012

X

8-K

14.1

December 1, 2009

X

10-K

21.1

March 12, 2013

X

10-K

24.1

March 12, 2013

Exhibit No.

Date Filed

X
X

X

Amended and Restated Code of Ethics
Subsidiaries

21.1

List of subsidiaries of the registrant.
Consent and Power of Attorney

23.1

Consent of independent registered public accounting firm.

24.1

Power of Attorney (included on signature page).

X

Certifications Required by Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.1

31.2

32.1

99.1

Certification of Andrew S. Clark, CEO and President, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)
or 15d-14(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Daniel J. Devine, Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14
(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, executed by Andrew S. Clark,
CEO and President, and Daniel J. Devine, Chief Financial Officer
Disclosure required pursuant to Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934

X

X

X

X

Interactive Data
101 ‡

*

The following financial information from our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, filed with the SEC on March 17, 2014,
formatted in Extensible Business Reporting Language (“XBRL”): (i) the
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2013, and December 31, 2012;
(ii) the Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31,
2013, 2012 and 2011; (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 (iv) the Consolidated
Statements Stockholder's Equity for the three years ended December 31, 2013;
(v) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31,
2013, 2012 and 2011; and (vi) Notes to Annual Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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X

†

Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment and the non-public information has been filed separately with the
SEC.

‡

XBRL information is furnished and not filed or a part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act, is
deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, and otherwise is not subject to liability under these sections.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION, INC.
/s/ ANDREW S. CLARK
Andrew S. Clark
(CEO and President)

Dated: March 17, 2014
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Andrew S. Clark and Daniel J.
Devine, jointly and severally, as his attorney-in-fact, each with the power of substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Name
/s/ ANDREW S. CLARK

Title

Date

CEO and President (Principal Executive Officer) and a Director

March 17, 2014

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

March 17, 2014

Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and Corporate Controller (Principal Accounting Officer)

March 17, 2014

Director

March 17, 2014

Director

March 17, 2014

Director

March 17, 2014

Director

March 17, 2014

Director

March 17, 2014

Director

March 17, 2014

Andrew S. Clark

/s/ DANIEL J. DEVINE
Daniel J. Devine

/s/ RUSSELL SAKAMOTO
Russell Sakamoto

/s/ RYAN CRAIG
Ryan Craig

/s/ DALE CRANDALL
Dale Crandall

/s/ PATRICK T. HACKETT
Patrick T. Hackett

/s/ MARYE ANNE FOX
Marye Anne Fox

/s/ ROBERT HARTMAN
Robert Hartman

/s/ ADARSH SARMA
Adarsh Sarma
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Exhibit 10.33

BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION, INC.
STOCK OWNERSHIP GUIDELINES
(Effective January 1, 2012, Amended May 14, 2013)

Objective

To create a linkage between stockholders, senior executives and the Board of Directors through a required level
of stock ownership.

Covered Employees Chief Executive Officer, Executive Vice Presidents, Senior Vice Presidents and non-employee members of the
Board of Directors.
Stock Ownership
Guidelines

It is expected that within five years of becoming subject to these guidelines that the covered employee shall
achieve the appropriate stock ownership guideline, as set forth below:
• Chief Executive Officer - A number of shares equal to the quotient of (1) an amount equal to six times base
salary, divided by (2) the stock price at the date of calculation
• Executive Vice Presidents - A number of shares equal to the quotient of (1) an amount equal to three times
base salary, divided by (2) the stock price at the date of calculation
• Senior Vice Presidents - A number of shares equal to the quotient of (1) an amount equal to two times base
salary, divided by (2) the stock price at the date of calculation
• Non-Employee Directors - A number of shares equal to the quotient of (1) an amount equal to three times the
annual retainer for service on the Board of Directors (excluding retainers for committee or chair service),
divided by (2) the stock price at the date of calculation
Initially, the date of calculation for Executives was November 30, 2011 and May 14, 2013 for the Board of
Directors; thereafter, the date of calculation will be the date of annual equity awards or the date of a
contemplated sale by a covered employee.

Shares and
Equivalents

Covered employees and members of the Board of Directors may satisfy their ownership guidelines with:
• Shares owned directly or indirectly by the covered employee’s spouse or minor children, or a trust controlled
by the covered employee;
• Deferred compensation payable in shares;
• Share equivalents (vested and unvested restricted stock units, deferred compensation payable in stock); and
• “In the money” exercisable stock options held directly or indirectly by the covered employee’s spouse or
minor children, or a trust controlled by the covered employee.

Non-employee members of the Board of Directors may also satisfy their ownership guidelines with shares or
other securities beneficially owned through their affiliates.
Compliance
Assurance

Covered employees may not sell shares unless they will satisfy the appropriate ownership guidelines
after the completion of the sale.

Exhibit 10.68
CAMPUSCARE ® MAINTENANCE AND SUPPORT Renewal
RATE SCHEDULE AND TRAINING KEYS FOR CAMPUSCARE PREMIUM SERVICES
This document is made a part of the CampusCare Maintenance and Support Agreement, Master Agreement, Talisma Fundraising Software Maintenance
Agreement or Talisma License and Services Agreement, as applicable , (the “Agreement”) between Campus Management Corp. and Customer dated 02/15/2005.

Customer :

Bridgepoint Education, Inc.

Record Count/Users :

[***] ASRs
[***] CRM Users

Please choose a payment plan by checking the appropriate box below.

Renewal

Products :
CampusVue Student
CampusVue Portal
CampusLink Web Services eLead
CampusLink Web Services Communicator
CampusLink Web Services AppCreator
CampusLink Web Services eLearning

$[***]
$[***]
$[***]
$[***]
$[***]
$[***]

Talisma CRM
250 CRM Users
251 + Unlimited CRM Users (02/28/13 - 12/31/13)

$[***]
$[***]*

Total 2013 Renewal Fees

$[***]

TAM fees for 2013**

$[***]

PSSC fees for 2013**

$[***]
Insight 2013 Passes: [***]
Keys: [***]
Professional Services Hours: [***]***
1-Year Term through December 31, 2013
__ One Annual Payment of $[***] if paid by December 30, 2012
([***]% discount on CampusCare only (including Talisma CRM
Unlimited Users), plus TAM and PSSC)
__ One Annual Payment of $[***] if paid after December 30, 2012
([***] discount; CampusCare (including Talisma CRM Unlimited
Users), plus TAM and PSSC)

*Pursuant to the Addendum dated June 29, 2012.
**See related SOW for details.
***The CampusCare fees above include 300 Professional Services hours to be used during the 2013 calendar year.

Initial payment as indicated above is due and payable simultaneously upon execution.
CampusCare Services are subject to the terms and conditions in the Agreement and this CampusCare Renewal.
CampusCare Premium features off-hour system upgrades and free emergency support, plus [***] free passes to CampusInsight 2013 for CampusVue customers.
CampusCare Premium is not available for CampusLink Web Services.

[***] Confidential portions of this document have been redacted and filed separately with the Commission.

Customer acknowledges and agrees that use of consultants or service providers who are not certified and/or authorized by CMC in advance will void CMC’s
warranties in license and service agreements, and any services and costs incurred by CMC to support or correct third party work will be billed and paid at CMC’s
then current rates.
Support covers production environments and excludes services and support to update and maintain testing and development environments and support of
integrations. Any incremental services will be billed to Customer on a T&M basis and may be contracted for separately.
The annual CampusCare fee includes CMC’s provision of Releases to Talisma ® CRM and Talisma ® Fundraising, but installation and implementation of the
Releases is not included as part of the annual fee, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Agreement and Exhibits thereto. The foregoing does not apply to
Talisma ® Fundraising sold in conjunction with CampusVue ® Student.
NOTE: As of 2012 and thereafter, training keys are to be used exclusively for training through the Learning Center and CampusInsight User Conference preconference training.
Customer acknowledges and agrees that any delinquent payment owed to CMC, under this or any other agreement, may result in suspension of CampusCare and
other services until all outstanding amounts due are paid in full.
Customer shall promptly pay, indemnify and hold CMC harmless from all sales, use, gross receipts, GST, value-added, personal property or other tax or levy
(including interest and penalties) imposed on the services and deliverables which have been or will be provided under any agreements, other than taxes on the net
income or profits of CMC. Subject to any applicable laws, the foregoing shall not apply to the extent Customer is formed as a not for profit organization and promptly
provides CMC an applicable tax exempt certificate. All prices quoted are net of taxes.
PRIVACY PROTECTION: Do not send unsolicited personally identifiable information (“PII”) to CMC, and in any event do not send PII to CMC except by secure
transfer and in a manner officially authorized by CMC.

BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION, INC.

By:
Print:
Title:
Date:

/s/ Thomas Ashbrook
Thomas Ashbrook
SVP/ CIO
12/10/2012

CAMPUS MANAGEMENT CORP.

By:
Print:
Title:
Date:

/s/ Anders Nessen
Anders Nessen
CFO
12/10/2012

Exhibit 10.69
CAMPUSCARE ® MAINTENANCE AND SUPPORT Renewal
RATE SCHEDULE AND TRAINING KEYS FOR CAMPUSCARE SERVICES
This document is made a part of the CampusCare Maintenance and Support Agreement, Master Agreement, Talisma Fundraising Software Maintenance
Agreement or Talisma License and Services Agreement, as applicable , (the “Agreement”) between Campus Management Corp. and Customer dated 02/15/2005.
Customer :

Bridgepoint Education, Inc.

Record Count :

Term :

[***] ASRs
[***] CRM Users

1-Year Term through December 31, 2014

CampusCare Fees :

Licensed Program

CampusCare Premium

CampusVue Student
CampusVue Portal
CampusLink Web Services eLead API
CampusLink Web Services Communicator API
CampusLink Web Services AppCreator API
CampusLink Web Services eLearning API
Talisma CRM

$[***]
$[***]
$[***]
$[***]
$[***]
$[***]
$[***]

Total 2014 CampusCare Renewal Fees

$[***]

TAM fees for 2014*

$[***]

PSSC fees for 2014*

$[***]

*See related SOWs for details.

CampusInsight Passes :
Keys :
Professional Services Hours:

Payment :

[***]
[***]
The CampusCare fees above include 300 Professional Services hours to be used during the 2014 calendar year.
Please choose a support payment plan by checking the appropriate box below.
Initial payment is due and payable simultaneously upon execution of this renewal.
__ One Annual Payment of $[***] if paid by October 31, 2013 ([***]% discount on CampusCare only (including Talisma CRM
Unlimited Users), plus TAM and PSSC)
__ One Annual Payment of $[***] if paid by December 31, 2013 ([***]% discount on CampusCare only (including Talisma CRM
Unlimited Users), plus TAM and PSSC)

_________________________________________________________

[***] Confidential portions of this document have been redacted and filed separately with the Commission.

ADDITIONAL TERMS:
CampusCare Services are subject to the terms and conditions in the Agreement and this CampusCare Renewal. The terms below shall continue in effect for each
renewal term hereafter.
CampusCare Premium . CampusCare Premium features off-hour system upgrades and free emergency support, plus [***] free passes to CampusInsight 2014 for
CampusVue customers.
CampusCare Premium is not available for CampusLink Web Services.
Exclusions . Support covers production environments. Unless otherwise agreed to via a separate addendum, CampusCare Services excludes the following: (i)
services and support to update and maintain non-production environments (such as testing and development environments); (ii) support of integrations, (iii) issues
related to reconfiguration of the Licensed Program as a direct result of sizing/space related issues, restoring/re-installing/re-implementing production server
components, restoring corrupt databases, performance of business functions such as creation/configuration of rules/teams/reports, or modification and/or
manipulation of the Licensed Program including, but not limited to, stored procedures, predefined routines, installation of scripts, standard/custom reports, and data
written to the Licensed Program from Third Parties Products, as applicable.
The annual CampusCare fee includes CMC’s provision of Releases to Talisma® CRM and Talisma® Fundraising, but installation and implementation of the
Releases is not included as part of the annual fee, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Agreement and Exhibits thereto. The foregoing does not apply to
Talisma® Fundraising sold in conjunction with CampusVue® Student.
With respect to Talisma CRM installation of Releases or upgrades, CMC highly recommends Customer engage CMC's professional services organization for
assistance when installing Releases or upgrades for Talisma products. Any issues or problems arising out of Customer configuring and installing a Release or
upgrade are not covered under CampusCare Services. If the software has been customized, the Release or upgrade may cause system failures. Any problems with
customizations that Customer reports to CMC that are related to or caused by the Release or upgrade are not covered under CampusCare Services.
Customer acknowledges and agrees that any issues arising or related to work performed by Customer or any third parties is expressly not covered under the
warranties, remedies and indemnity provisions under the license and service agreements. Any resources expended by CMC with respect to such issues, or
discovered to be caused by such issues (for example, problem analyses, support, re-work, etc.), shall be billed to and paid by Customer at CMC’s standard hourly
rates on a T&M basis commencing from the initial support request, and Customer shall promptly pay such support charges.
Should CMC provide technical support in connection with problems that are beyond the scope of the CampusCare Services, that are not Errors in the Licensed
Programs, or for any incremental services, then Customer shall pay for any such services on a time-and-materials basis and may be contracted for separately.
Keys . As of 2012 and thereafter, training keys are to be used exclusively for training through the Learning Center and CampusInsight User Conference preconference training.
Late Payment . Customer acknowledges and agrees that any delinquent payment owed to CMC, under this or any other agreement, may result in suspension of
CampusCare Services and other services until all outstanding amounts due are paid in full.
Taxes . Customer shall promptly pay, indemnify and hold CMC harmless from all sales, use, gross receipts, GST, value-added, personal property or other tax or
levy (including interest and penalties) imposed on the services and deliverables which have been or will be provided under any agreements, other than taxes on the
net income or profits of CMC. Subject to any applicable laws, the foregoing shall not apply to the extent Customer is formed as a not for profit organization and
promptly provides CMC an applicable tax exempt certificate. All prices quoted are net of taxes.
Privacy Protection . Do not send unsolicited personally identifiable information (“PII”) to CMC, and in any event do not send PII to CMC except by secure transfer
and in a manner officially authorized by CMC.

BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION, INC.

CAMPUS MANAGEMENT CORP.

By:

Print:
Title:

/s/ Thomas Ashbrook
Thomas Ashbrook
SVP/ CIO

Print:
Title:

/s/ Anders Nessen
Anders Nessen
CFO

Date:

10/16/2013

Date:

10/24/2013

By:

[***] Confidential portions of this document have been redacted and filed separately with the Commission.

Exhibit 10.76

LICENSE AGREEMENT
This License Agreement (this “ Agreement ”) is entered into as of October 31, 2013 (the “ Effective Date ”), by and between
Forbes Education Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“ Forbes ”), on the one hand, and Bridgepoint Education, Inc.,
a Delaware corporation (“ Bridgepoint ”) and its wholly-owned subsidiary Ashford University, LLC (“ Ashford ” and, collectively
with Bridgepoint, “ Licensee ”), on the other hand. Each of Forbes and Licensee are referred to herein as a “Party,” and together, the
“Parties.”
WHEREAS, Forbes has certain rights to the Licensed Marks and the Licensed Content in connection with the Licensed Activity
(each, as defined herein);
WHEREAS, Licensee owns and operates Ashford University, a postsecondary educational institution offering programs online
and at a campus located in Clinton, Iowa;
WHEREAS, Licensee wishes to use the Licensed Marks to rebrand its College of Business and Professional Studies (the “
Business School ”) as the “Forbes School of Business at Ashford University”; and
WHEREAS, Licensee wishes to license from Forbes the right to use the Licensed Marks and certain related domain names in
connection with the Licensed Activity, and Forbes has agreed to license to Licensee Forbes’ rights in the Licensed Marks and certain
related domain names solely for such purposes, subject to certain restrictions.
NOW, THEREFORE, In consideration of the agreements of the parties set forth below, and for other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:
1.

Definitions; Interpretation .

1.1
Definitions . The capitalized terms used herein but not defined shall take their respective meanings from Exhibit A
hereto (hereby incorporated into this Agreement by this reference).
1.2

Interpretation .

(a)
In this Agreement, unless provided otherwise or required by context, (i) references to articles, sections (or
subdivisions of sections), recitals, preambles, schedules or annexes are to those of this Agreement, (ii) terms defined in the singular
shall include the plural and vice versa, (iii) references to any Law shall include all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder and all
amendments, modifications, supplements thereto or restatements or replacements thereof subsequently implemented or enacted,
(iv) references to any Contract shall be deemed to include all appendices, schedules, attachments, exhibits, annexes or certificates
furnished pursuant thereto and all subsequent amendments, restatements and other modifications thereof, (v) the words “herein,”
“hereby,” “hereof,” and “hereunder” or other words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole, (vi) the words “or” and
“including” shall not be limiting or exclusive, (vii) references to “dollars” or “$” are to U.S. dollars, (viii) accounting terms which are
not otherwise defined in this Agreement shall have the meanings given to them

under GAAP and (ix) references to days are to calendar days; provided , that any action otherwise required to be taken on a day that is
not a Business Day shall instead be taken on the next Business Day.
(b)
The section headings of this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and shall not form part of, or
affect the interpretation of, this Agreement. This Agreement has been negotiated and drafted jointly by the parties hereto and their
attorneys, and no rule of construction disfavoring the drafting party shall apply.
2.

Trademark License; Restrictions .

2.1
License Grant . Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Forbes hereby grants to Licensee a nontransferable, non-sublicensable, exclusive license, during the Term, to use and display the Licensed Marks, solely in the Territory
(subject to the requirements of Section 7.10 ) and solely for use in connection with the Licensed Activity. All rights of Forbes in and to
the Licensed Marks not expressly granted under this Section 2.1 are reserved by Forbes.

Reservation of Rights . Licensee has not acquired, and shall not acquire, any right, title or interest in or to the
2.2
Licensed Marks or any other FORBES Marks except the limited rights with respect to such Licensed Marks expressly set forth in this
Agreement. Forbes shall not acquire any right, title or interest in or to the ASHFORD or ASHFORD UNIVERSITY marks, or to any
other marks which are registered or in use by Licensee or its Affiliates. As between Forbes and Licensee, all use of the Licensed Marks
by Licensee anywhere, and all goodwill associated with such use, shall inure to the benefit of Forbes except that Licensee reserves all
goodwill associated with the ASHFORD and ASHFORD UNIVERSITY marks as used in conjunction with the Licensed Marks.
2.3

Restrictions . During the Term and after any expiration or termination of this Agreement, the following provisions

shall apply:
(a)
No Unauthorized Use . Licensee shall not use or display (or authorize the use or display of) the Licensed
Marks in any manner whatsoever other than as expressly authorized by this Agreement or as otherwise required by applicable Law in
connection with the Licensed Activity.
(b)
Confusing Similarity . Neither Party nor its Affiliates shall, directly or indirectly, attempt to register, own,
claim to own or claim any right (other than the rights granted in this Agreement) or interest in, the other Party’s Marks, or use or
display (other than as authorized in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement), attempt to register, own, claim to own
or claim any right (other than the rights granted in this Agreement) or interest in, any service mark, service name, trade name,
trademark, domain name, brand, mark, word, translation, combination, abbreviation, logo, design or other designation of origin
(collectively, “ Marks ”) confusingly similar to any of the other Party’s Marks, including any Mark that incorporates, as applicable, the
word “Forbes” or “Ashford” and any variation thereof. Without limiting the foregoing, each Party agrees that, should it or its Affiliates,
directly or indirectly, ever acquire any ownership, right or interest in or to any such Mark of the other Party other than the rights granted
in this Agreement, during or after the life of this Agreement, such Party, as

applicable, shall assign and transfer and hereby does assign and transfer to the other Party, without any additional consideration, all
such rights and all goodwill associated therewith.
(c)
No Challenge . Neither Party shall challenge the validity of the other Party’s Marks or the license thereto
granted herein, nor shall Licensee challenge the Forbes Licensors’ rights in or to, or ownership of, the Licensed Marks or the
enforceability of the Forbes Licensors’ rights therein or assist any third party in doing the same.
(d)
No Tarnishing or Denigration . Licensee shall not, and shall not permit or allow any Subsidiaries and shall
not authorize or cause others, through any act, omission, right or obligation, to tarnish, disparage, denigrate, degrade or dilute the
Licensed Marks, use or display the Licensed Marks in connection with any activity that is illicit, immoral, unethical or would constitute
or cause the existence of a violation of Law by Licensee, the Forbes Licensors or any of their licensees or that would be harmful or
damaging to the reputation or goodwill of the Business School, Licensee, Forbes, the Forbes Licensors or any of their licensees.
Licensee shall, in its use of the Licensed Marks as licensed herein, maintain the validity and distinctiveness of the Licensed Marks.
(e)
No Use with Other Marks . Licensee shall not use, and shall not permit or allow any Subsidiaries and shall
not authorize or cause others to use, through any act, omission, right or obligation, the Licensed Marks in connection with any other
Mark, including the ASHFORD UNIVERSITY mark, except (i) to identify the Business School as specifically set forth in Section 7.12
(ii) to identify the association between the Business School and Licensee, (iii) to identify the Business School in copy as “The Forbes
School of Business at Ashford University,” “Ashford University’s Forbes School of Business,” or “Ashford University Forbes School
of Business” or (iv) with the prior written consent of Forbes with respect to each instance of use (which consent may be granted or
withheld by Forbes in its sole discretion); provided , that once Forbes has provided written approval of such instance of use, Licensee
shall not be required to obtain approval to make substantially similar uses.
(f)
Notice . In connection with the use of the Licensed Marks, Licensee shall, where and as commercially
reasonable, as determined by Forbes in its reasonable business discretion in consultation with Licensee, (i) mark each use with the
appropriate trademark symbol (e.g., “®” or “™” or “SM”) and (ii) include a trademark notice in a form reading, “Licensed Mark is
used under license” or substantially equivalent notice. If any Licensed Marks are used multiple times on or in a particular document,
advertisement or other material, the symbol and notice need only be used in connection with the first prominent use of the Licensed
Mark on or in such document, advertisement or other material. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Licensee’s failure to mark each use in
accordance with this Section 2.3(f) shall not be a breach of Licensee’s obligations under this Agreement; provided , that repeated
failures to do so or the failure to cure any such failure shall be deemed a material breach of Licensee’s obligations under this
Agreement.

Application, Registration, Maintenance, Renewal and Enforcement .

2.4
(a)

Application, Registration, Maintenance and Renewal .

(i)
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, as between Forbes and Licensee, Forbes
(and the other Forbes Licensors) shall retain the exclusive rights throughout the world to apply for, prosecute, obtain registrations for,
maintain and renew the Licensed Marks. Licensee shall cooperate with the Forbes Licensors in the preparation and filing of any
applications, renewals or other documentation necessary or useful to protect the Forbes Licensors’ Intellectual Property rights in the
Licensed Marks.

Licensee may request from Forbes that the Forbes Licensors apply for registration of Licensed Marks
(ii)
or prosecute applications for, or maintain registrations of, Licensed Marks that are pending or registered as of the date hereof. Subject to
the procedures and requirements in Section 7.10 , Forbes may, in its sole discretion, cause the applicable Forbes Licensor to apply for
such registration, prosecute such application or maintain such registration (the “ Licensee-Requested Filings ”). Licensee shall
reimburse Forbes (or, at Forbes’ direction, the applicable Forbes Licensor) for all Expenses, associated with any Licensee-Requested
Filings, including in the jurisdictions set forth in Exhibit C to this Agreement. In the event that Licensee no longer wishes the Forbes
Licensors to continue prosecuting or maintaining a Licensee-Requested Filing, Licensee shall give Forbes notice thereof, and the
applicable Forbes Licensor may (but has no obligation to) prosecute or maintain such filing at its expense.
Notification . Licensee shall notify Forbes promptly of any actual or threatened infringements or imitations or
(b)
unauthorized uses of the Licensed Marks of which Licensee becomes aware.
(c)
Enforcement . As between Forbes and Licensee, Forbes shall have the sole right to bring any action for any
past, present or future infringements of the Forbes Licensors’ Intellectual Property rights in the Licensed Marks, including related to
any domain name infringing upon the Licensed Marks. Licensee shall reasonably cooperate with Forbes in any efforts by the Forbes
Licensors to enforce their rights in the Licensed Marks or to prosecute third party infringers of the Licensed Marks. Forbes shall be
entitled to retain any and all damages and other monies awarded or otherwise paid in connection with any such action. Forbes shall bear
all Expenses associated with such action that Forbes initiates. With respect to any past, present or future infringements of the Forbes
Licensors’ Intellectual Property rights in the Licensed Marks, Licensee may make a written request to Forbes to have an action with
respect to such infringement initiated, and Forbes shall reasonably review and cooperate with any such request. If Forbes does not
institute a trademark action within sixty (60) days of a written request from Licensee to institute an action based on third party
infringement, and such infringement is likely to materially interfere with the rights granted to Licensee under this Agreement, then
Licensee shall be permitted, with Forbes’ prior written approval (not to be unreasonably withheld) to institute and prosecute such action
in its own name as an exclusive licensee of the specific rights granted hereunder against such infringer. Licensee shall be permitted to
credit Expenses in such an action to any Royalty Payment due in such period, including any Minimum Guaranteed Amount, such credit
not to exceed $ [***] in any one calendar year, and not to exceed $ [***] in total during the Term of this Agreement. In any

[***] Confidential portions of this document have been redacted and filed separately with the Commission.

such action or related proceeding, whether brought by Forbes or Licensee, the parties shall reasonably cooperate with each other, and
each shall bear its own expenses, except in the case of a joining party, in which case, the party who is requesting or requiring the other
party to join shall reimburse the reasonable expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) of the joining party. It is specifically
understood and agreed by the Licensee that the limited, provisional right to bring an action to protect the Forbes Mark, as set forth in
this section, does not grant or transfer to Licensee any ownership or Intellectual Property rights in or to the Forbes Mark, other than
those explicitly granted in this Agreement. Licensee shall not settle any such action without the prior written consent of Forbes, which
shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. Licensee acknowledges and agrees that Licensee is not entitled to share in any damages,
proceeds or other monetary relief recovered pursuant to such an action (by settlement, judgment or otherwise) except, in the event
Licensee institutes and prosecutes any litigation or proceeding, it shall be entitled to recover from the adverse party actual expenses
incurred above any [realized credit], together with its provable damages suffered or attributable to the infringement on its use of the
Forbes Mark under this Agreement.
2.5
Domain Names . Forbes shall transfer to Licensee the administrative rights to the domain names related to the
Licensed Marks set forth on Exhibit D hereto. Forbes shall maintain active registrations of all such domain names, at the sole expense
of Forbes. Upon expiration or termination of this Agreement, Licensee shall transfer the administrative rights to such domain names
back to Forbes.
2.6

Website and Conferences. Forbes shall provide the following marketing support to Licensee:

(a)
Website Links . Forbes shall (i) list the Business School as an Affiliate Site in the footer of its home page,
which is accessible from all pages on its website; and (ii) list the Business School on Forbes conference pages for conferences for
which the Business School is an educational sponsor under Section 2.6(b) below in the manner in which other sponsors of the same
level are listed.

Forbes Conferences . To the extent that Forbes remains engaged in the business of producing conferences,
(b)
Forbes shall identify Ashford as the “Educational Sponsor” for at least [***] major Forbes conference [***] as selected by Forbes
following its good faith consultation with Licensee. As to any conference where the Business School is listed as an educational
sponsor, Forbes shall use its best efforts to treat the Business School as a “Partner” level sponsor (i.e., second tier sponsor), including
all relevant associated marketing and promotional benefits, including access for at least [***] ( [***] ) of the Licensee’s representatives
to such conference; provided , however , that Forbes may provide lesser sponsor status or benefits to the Business School in
connection with such conference to accommodate bona fide sponsorship offers from unaffiliated third parties who are not direct
competitors of Licensee in the for-profit postsecondary education sector.
Forbes Support of the Business School . Subject to the terms set forth below, Forbes shall provide the following
2.7
support to the Business School during this Agreement:
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(a)
Business School Website Channel . Forbes and Licensee shall work together, to the extent commercially
feasible, to create a Business School Channel on the Forbes website with the goal of creating such Channel within [***] ( [***] ) [***]
of the Effective Date. Such Channel shall be similar in scope to other ‘branded channels’ that Forbes currently has, but, for the
avoidance of doubt, shall not be used to recruit students for Ashford or the Business School, or for any purpose prohibited by
Education Law.
(b)
Business School Speaker Series . Forbes shall work with Licensee to identify Forbes Contributors to
participate in a periodic Business School Speaker’s Series event. Licensee shall be solely responsible for obtaining the consent of
such Contributors to participate in Speaker’s Series events and for negotiating satisfactory compensation for such Contributors’' work
on such events.

Business School Contributors to Forbes . Forbes shall provide Forbes Contributor privileges to [***] ( [***] )
(c)
active members of the Licensee’s faculty/staff, subject to Forbes’ standard process for review and approval of Contributors. Forbes
shall be responsible for contracting with such Contributors according to standard Forbes practices.
Forbes Participation in Business Plan Competition . Forbes shall identify [***] VP Level or higher Forbes
(d)
Staff members to serve as judges in the Business School’s annual business plan competition during the year and/or an annual Forbes
College of Business at Ashford University annual scholarship. Each such judge shall receive reimbursement of any out-of-pocket
Expenses related to such work.
(e)
Conference Personnel Access . Forbes shall provide [***] ( [***] ) attendee passes for Business School or
Bridgepoint representatives to [***] additional Forbes conferences (beyond those for which the Business School is the Educational
Sponsor) to the extent there is space after other paying attendees, speakers, special guests and sponsors have been accommodated and
the attendance of such representatives is appropriate in light of the criteria for attendance of such conferences.
(f)
Forbes Subscriptions . Licensee shall be entitled to purchase individual six month subscriptions to Forbes
magazine (to include its print and digital editions) for students, staff, and/or faculty of the Business School at a rate of $ [***] per
person.
(g)
Conference Content . Forbes will videotape each major session, including panel discussions, individual
speakers and keynotes from each of its major conferences in accordance with its customary practices with respect to the recording of
conferences, and, if such video is available, will use commercially reasonable efforts to provide full-length sessions to Ashford for
use in higher education and to procure appropriate media releases from individual speakers appearing in conference video footage.
Subject to the terms of Section 4, Licensee may use such videos as part of the Licensed Activities; provided , however , that any
modifications of the videos for such use shall be subject to the prior approval of Forbes and any incremental costs incurred by Forbes
in connection with reviewing, approving and/or monitoring any modifications requested by Licensee shall be payable by Licensee.
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2.8
Educational Laws and Marketing . Forbes acknowledges that as a part of an institution participating in Title IV
Programs, the Business School may only be marketed within the guidelines set forth within certain Educational Laws. Notwithstanding
anything in this Agreement to the contrary, Forbes will not undertake any promotional or marketing activity on behalf of the Business
School without the prior consent and/or in consultation with Licensee.
3.

Quality Control .

3.1
Licensed Marks Guidelines . Use of the Licensed Marks hereunder shall be in accordance with all the terms and
conditions of this Agreement, including this Section 3 , the provisions of Section 2.3 and the Forbes Licensors’ then-current trademark
guidelines, as may be updated from time to time by the Forbes Licensors and provided in writing to Licensee. All Licensed Activity
shall be of such quality as will maintain and/or enhance the goodwill, image and reputation adhering to the Licensed Marks.
3.2
Quality of Products and Services . Licensee acknowledges that the Licensed Marks (and the FORBES Marks) are
associated with services of high quality. Forbes entered into this Agreement based on Licensee’s representations that Licensee will take
such actions as are necessary to preserve such brand image and quality and acknowledges that Licensee, as presently operated, is a first
class brand of high quality. All Licensed Activity hereunder shall meet, at a minimum, a level of quality comparable to the quality
standards generally accepted for other first class brands of similarly situated, for-profit competitors in the education industry. Forbes
shall provide prompt written notice to Licensee of any failure of Licensee to meet the quality requirements set forth in this Section 3.2
and Licensee shall have thirty (30) days from the date of such notice to cure such failure or to submit and implement a plan to cure such
failure reasonably acceptable to Forbes. Licensee specifically acknowledges that appropriate brand positioning is important to the
Forbes Licensors in their management of the Licensed Marks, and that any material, uncured failure by Licensee to abide by the terms
of this Section 3 shall be deemed a material breach of this Agreement by Licensee, and without limiting the generality of Section 12.5 ,
may cause irreparable damage to the Forbes Licensors’ businesses, which also employ marks related to the Licensed Marks.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, an uncured failure to abide by the terms of this Section 3.2 shall only be considered to be a material
breach of this Agreement if, after consultation with a Mediator it is determined that such failure represents a material failure by
Licensee to comply with the foregoing quality standards. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, nothing in this Agreement
shall limit Ashford’s ability, in its sole discretion, to develop and control curriculum and administer programs based upon what is best
for its students and in line with the standards of its accreditor and other regulatory bodies.
3.3
Approval of Uses; Review of Samples . Licensee shall not use any labeling, advertising, marketing or promotional
materials, or other publicly disseminated materials featuring any Licensed Marks without first obtaining Forbes’ written approval
thereof; provided , however , that once Forbes has provided written approval of a particular use, Licensee shall not be required to obtain
approval to make substantially similar uses in connection with materials updated in the ordinary course of business (e.g., for a course
guide that has been modified only to include a current list of courses); provided , further , that (x) if Forbes does not respond to
Licensee’s request for approval of materials within [***] ( [***] ) days after receiving such request, and (y) receipt of such request by
Forbes has been confirmed (by email or telephonically) by
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Licensee, then such request shall be deemed approved. Subject to the other restrictions set forth in this Agreement, the logos and
banners set forth in Exhibit E are deemed to have been approved in writing by Forbes as long as Forbes further approves each intended
use of any such logo or banner in accordance with this Section 3.3 . Any requests for such approval under this Section 3.3 shall be
directed to Amy Berretta at Aberretta@forbes.com. From time to time and upon Forbes’ written request, Licensee shall submit to
Forbes a reasonable number of samples of all materials bearing the Licensed Marks, including labeling, advertising, marketing and
promotional materials, and other publicly disseminated materials.
3.4
Improper Use . If Forbes discovers any use of the Licensed Marks that, in Forbes’ opinion, is improper or
inconsistent with the terms of this Section 3 , and Forbes delivers a writing describing in detail the nature of such use to Licensee,
Licensee shall remedy such use, within [***] ( [***] ) days of receipt of such writing, to the reasonable satisfaction of Forbes, by
submitting a new sample, permitting re-inspection or otherwise informing Forbes of the changed or discontinued use.
3.5
Cooperation . Licensee shall reasonably cooperate with Forbes in enabling Forbes to ascertain that use of the
Licensed Marks in connection with the Licensed Activity meets Forbes’ reasonable quality standards. Such cooperation shall include
promptly providing Forbes with: (a) on Forbes’ request, reasonable information regarding Licensee’s conduct of the Licensed Activity;
and (b) copies of any written communications from third parties regarding the quality of the Licensed Activity (e.g., significant
consumer, student or regulatory complaints) that are likely to have a material adverse effect on Bridgepoint, Ashford, the Business
School or the Forbes Licensors’ Marks; provided , however , that, with respect to written communications from students, Bridgepoint
may redact from such written communications the names of the applicable students and such other information as necessary to comply
with Law.
3.6
Inspection . Forbes shall have the right to monitor the quality of the Licensed Activity offered in connection with the
Licensed Marks. In connection with such right, Licensee shall permit Forbes to enter Licensee’s premises, upon not less than five (5)
business days’ prior written notice, during normal business hours and in a manner that is not disruptive to the business, for the purpose
of conducting inspections to ascertain the quality of the Licensed Activity. Licensee shall cooperate fully with Forbes in such
inspections by rendering such assistance and/or making necessary changes to the Licensed Marks as Forbes may reasonably request.
3.7
Approval Not a Warranty . Forbes’ grant of any license or approval of any Licensed Activity hereunder (including
Foreign Activities) shall not be construed to mean that such Licensed Activity is safe or does not infringe the Intellectual Property
rights of any third party or otherwise conforms to the requirements of applicable Law.
3.8

Third Party Advertising . Licensee will not sell advertising in connection with the Licensed Activity.
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4.

Content License .

License Grant . Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Forbes hereby grants to Licensee, under the
4.1
rights Forbes has in the Licensed Content, a non-transferable, non-sublicensable, non-exclusive license, during the Term, to use and
reproduce Licensed Content, and distribute and publicly display to faculty, staff and students solely for use in connection with the
courses offered by the Business School, solely in the Territory and solely as part of course materials (e.g., in classrooms and as part of
online courses), for educational purposes outside of the classroom, or (subject to Forbes’ prior written approval for each use) in
marketing or promotional materials in connection with the Licensed Activity. All rights of Forbes in and to the Licensed Content not
expressly granted under this Section 4.1 are reserved by Forbes. Licensed Content made available online or otherwise via the Internet
shall be made available in a secure fashion, with access limited to faculty, staff and students of the Business School. No derivative
works shall be created from the Licensed Content except with regard to changing cosmetic print (e.g., changing font) or changing from
print to digital or digital to online (it being agreed that all such derivative works shall be owned by the applicable Forbes Licensors);
provided , however , that the embedding of otherwise unmodified Licensed Content, including excerpts of Licensed Content, into
Licensee’s course material or into marketing and promotional material or microsites, shall not be deemed to be the creation of
prohibited derivative work for purposes of this sentence as long as such Licensed Content is otherwise unmodified and complies with,
and is subject to, the other provisions of this Section 4 .
4.2
Reservation of Rights . Licensee has not acquired, and shall not acquire, any right, title or interest in or to the
Licensed Content except the limited rights with respect to such Licensed Content expressly set forth in this Agreement.
4.3

Restrictions . During the Term and after any expiration or termination of this Agreement, the following provisions

shall apply:
No Unauthorized Use . Licensee shall not reproduce, distribute or display (or authorize the reproduction,
(a)
distribution or display of) the Licensed Content in any manner whatsoever other than as expressly authorized by this Agreement.
No Challenge . Licensee shall not challenge the Forbes Licensors’ right in or to, or ownership of, the
(b)
Licensed Content or the enforceability of the Forbes Licensors’ rights therein.
(c)
Notice . In connection with the use of any Licensed Content, Licensee shall mark each use of such Licensed
Content with the appropriate copyright notice (e.g., “© 2013 Forbes Media LLC. All rights reserved.” or such other notice as may be
specified by Forbes).
4.4
Availability of Licensed Content . In order to utilize Forbes content, Licensee shall submit a written request to
Forbes identifying the specified item of content (e.g., a single print article or a single thread or entry posted online during a twenty-four
(24) hour period) and specifying the intended use. Licensee may request Online Content, as well as Print Content or other content, for
use in accordance with the license granted in Section 4.1 above. Within five

(5) Business Days following Licensee’s request, Forbes shall respond to Licensee by either (i) making such item available to Licensee;
(ii) notifying Licensee that such item requires rights clearance, in which case, Licensee shall inform Forbes whether Licensee would
like Forbes to proceed with such clearance; or (iii) notifying Licensee that Forbes cannot obtain the right to make such content available
to Licensee or that such content is unavailable due to possible claims or other issues in connection with such content . Licensee shall
direct requests for use of Licensed Content to Sradlauer@forbes.com, who will additionally be available to Licensee for consultation
regarding Licensed Content and Licensee’s proposed uses. Licensee shall reimburse Forbes for its reasonable out-of-pocket expenses in
connection with such clearance, even if Forbes is ultimately unable to obtain such clearance. In no event shall Licensee request more
than twenty-five (25) items of content per calendar month; provided , however , that Forbes and Licensee shall use reasonable efforts to
jointly plan in advance and coordinate to accommodate any periodic clearance requests in excess of twenty-five (25) items per calendar
month (e.g., during development of Business School courses) in a manner that does not, in Forbes’ reasonable judgment, unduly burden
Forbes’ existing rights clearance operations. If, in Forbes’ reasonable judgment, certain Licensed Content could potentially be the
subject of an Action, Forbes may provide Licensee with notice identifying such Licensed Content, in which case, Licensee shall
promptly (but in any event, within twenty four (24) hours) cease reproducing, distributing, displaying or otherwise making such
Licensed Content available. Subject to the foregoing, Forbes shall use its good faith efforts to ensure that requests to utilize the
Licensed Content are reviewed and processed in a smooth and timely fashion.
4.5

Application, Registration, Maintenance, Renewal, Notification and Enforcement .

(a)
Application, Registration, Maintenance and Renewal . Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this
Agreement, as between Forbes and Licensee, Forbes (and the other Forbes Licensors) shall retain the exclusive rights throughout the
world to apply for, prosecute, obtain copyright and other applicable Intellectual Property registrations for, and maintain and renew such
registrations with respect to, the Licensed Content. Licensee shall cooperate with the Forbes Licensors in the preparation and filing of
any applications, renewals or other documentation necessary or useful to protect the Forbes Licensors’ Intellectual Property rights in the
Licensed Content.
(b)
Notification . Licensee shall notify Forbes promptly of any actual, threatened or potential infringements or
unauthorized uses of the Licensed Content of which Licensee becomes aware.
(c)
Enforcement . As between Forbes and Licensee, Forbes shall have the sole right, but not the obligation, to
bring any action for any past, present or future infringements of the Forbes Licensors’ Intellectual Property rights in the Licensed
Content. Licensee shall reasonably cooperate with Forbes in any efforts by the Forbes Licensors to enforce their rights in the Licensed
Content or to prosecute third party infringers of the Licensed Content. Forbes shall be entitled to retain any and all damages and other
monies awarded or otherwise paid in connection with any such action. With respect to any past, present or future infringements of the
Forbes Licensors’ Intellectual Property rights in the Licensed Content, Licensee may make a

written request to Forbes to initiate an action with respect to such infringement initiated, and Forbes shall reasonably review and
cooperate with any such request.
4.6
Derivative Works . As to any derivative works created using authorized License Content, the following rules
shall apply during the Term: (i) with respect to any works that constitute integrated course materials (such as tests or textbooks) that are
comprised in part of authorized Licensed Content and in part of content created by Licensee or sourced from a third party, Licensee
shall be the owner of such derivative works free and clear of any further right or lien of Forbes during the Term; and (ii) with respect to
any other type of derivative work that incorporates the Licensed Content, such as a stand-alone article reproduction or Ashford
marketing materials incorporating Forbes Licensed Content, Licensee shall have the exclusive right to use such derivative works during
the Term. In addition, following termination of this Agreement, and subject to the phase-out rules set forth in Section 8.3(b) , no Party
shall continue to use such derivative works including Licensed Content; provided , however , that Licensee may remove any Licensed
Content from such derivative works and otherwise continue to use such works.
5.

Payments .
Required Payments .

5.1

(a)
Signing Payment . Bridgepoint shall pay to Forbes an amount equal to the Signing Payment on the Effective
Date in consideration of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents.
(b)

Royalty Payments .

In consideration for the rights and licenses granted herein, Bridgepoint shall pay to Forbes an amount
(i)
equal to the Annual Minimum Guaranteed Amount for each License Year in four equal quarterly installments. Each quarterly
installment of the Annual Minimum Guaranteed Amount shall be due and payable on the first Business Day of each quarter of the
applicable License Year, with the first payment due on January 2, 2014.
(ii)
In consideration for the rights and licenses granted herein, Bridgepoint shall pay to Forbes, for each
License Year, the Royalty Payment in accordance with Section 5.1(b)(iii) and subject to the terms thereof.
(iii)
Within ninety (90) days after the end of each License Year, Bridgepoint shall calculate the aggregate
accrued Royalties payable to Forbes with respect to such License Year. Such aggregate accrued Royalties shall be compared to the
Annual Minimum Guaranteed Amount already paid for such License Year. Subject to Section 5.1(b)(iv) , if such aggregate accrued
Royalties are less than the Annual Minimum Guaranteed Amount due for the License Year, no Royalty Payment in addition to the
Annual Minimum Guaranteed Amount shall then be payable. Subject to Section 5.1(b)(iv) , if such aggregate accrued Royalties exceed
the Annual Minimum Guaranteed Amount paid for the License Year, Bridgepoint shall pay to Forbes an amount equal to the difference
between (x) such aggregate accrued Royalties minus (y) the Annual Minimum Guaranteed Amount already paid for such License Year
(such

difference, the “ Royalty Payment ”), no later than ninety (90) days after the end of such License Year. The foregoing provisions shall
apply separately to each License Year.
(iv)
Notwithstanding Section 5.1(b)(iii) , in no event shall the amount of the Royalty Payment payable
with respect to any License Year during the Initial Term be less than the Royalty Payment payable with respect to the preceding
License Year (giving effect, in each case, to the Annual Minimum Guaranteed Amount) unless Revenue has declined during [***]
License Years.
5.2

Payment Terms .

(a)
Late Payments . Any sums not paid when due shall automatically accrue interest from the date when due until
actually paid at a per annum interest rate equal to the U.S. prime rate as quoted by The Wall Street Journal on the date payment was due
plus five percent (5%).

Currency . All payments made by Bridgepoint under this Agreement shall be made in U.S. dollars, and such
(b)
payments shall be made by check or wire transfer to one or more bank accounts to be designated in writing by Forbes; provided , that
Bridgepoint shall pay the Signing Payment by wire transfer in same-day funds to one or more bank accounts to be designated in writing
by Forbes. With respect to the determination or valuation of any amounts not denominated in U.S. dollars, such amounts shall be
converted into U.S. dollars by using the exchange rate quoted by The Wall Street Journal on the last day of the applicable fiscal quarter.
(c)
Taxes . As between Forbes and Licensee, Licensee shall be responsible for all Taxes payable in connection
herewith except for Taxes based upon the net income or capital gains of Forbes. Payments by Bridgepoint to Forbes pursuant to Section
5.1 shall be made without deduction or withholding by Bridgepoint, except to the extent required by Law. If any such deduction or
withholding is required, Bridgepoint shall provide to Forbes, at Forbes’ request, a copy of documentary evidence of the payment to
applicable Governmental Authorities of the deducted or withheld amount.
6.

Representations and Warranties .

6.1
Bridgepoint and Ashford Representations . Except as set forth in the correspondingly numbered section or
subsection of the Schedules, each of Bridgepoint and Ashford jointly and severally represent and warrant to Forbes that:
(a)
Organization; Standing . Each of Bridgepoint and Ashford is an entity duly organized, validly existing and
in good standing under the Laws of its jurisdiction of organization and has full company power and authority to own, operate and lease
its properties, as applicable, and carry on its business as currently conducted. Each of Bridgepoint and Ashford is duly licensed or
qualified to do business and, if applicable, is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which such licensing or qualification is necessary,
except where a failure to be licensed or qualified or in good standing could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse
Effect on either Bridgepoint or Ashford or impair the ability of either Bridgepoint or Ashford to fulfill its obligations hereunder.
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(b)
Authorization; Enforceability . Each of Bridgepoint and Ashford has all legal right, power, authority and
capacity to execute and deliver and perform the Transaction Documents to which it is a party and to perform its obligations hereunder
and thereunder. The execution, delivery and performance by each of Bridgepoint and Ashford of the Transaction Documents to which it
is a party have been duly and validly authorized and approved. Each Transaction Document to which either Bridgepoint or Ashford is a
party, when duly executed and delivered by the parties thereto, will be the legal, valid and binding obligation of Bridgepoint or
Ashford, as applicable, enforceable in accordance with its terms.

Defaults; Consents . The execution, delivery and performance of the Transaction Documents to which
(c)
Bridgepoint or Ashford is a party and the consummation of the Transactions by each of Bridgepoint and Ashford does not and will not
require any Required Approvals or constitute a Default under (i) any Law applicable to Bridgepoint, Ashford or the Business School,
(ii) any of Bridgepoint or Ashford’s Organizational Documents or any resolutions adopted by either Bridgepoint or Ashford’s Board, or
(iii) any of Bridgepoint or Ashford’s Contracts or Permits. Except as set forth on Exhibit F, there are no Required Approvals in
connection with the Transactions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that a change of Law results in any additional Required
Approval in connection with the Transactions, Forbes shall cooperate with Licensee to address such change of Law, and Licensee
agrees to pay Forbes its reasonable out of pocket Expenses associated with any such cooperation.
Absence of Certain Changes . Since the date of Bridgepoint’s most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K,
(d)
filed on March 12, 2013 (the “ 10-K Date ”), the business of each of Bridgepoint and Ashford, including the operation of Ashford
University and the Business School, has been conducted only in the Ordinary Course, in compliance with all applicable Law and there
has not been any action, omission, change, effect, event or condition that has had, or would reasonably be expected to have, a Material
Adverse Effect on Bridgepoint, Ashford or the Business School.
Regulatory Matters .

(e)

Except as disclosed in Bridgepoint’s public filings or in the follow-up letter dated October 17, 2013 sent by Bridgepoint to
Forbes prior to the Effective Date:
(i)

Bridgepoint and Ashford have complied in all material respects with all material Educational Laws.

(ii)

Bridgepoint and Ashford currently hold all material Educational Approvals.

There are no proceedings pending to revoke, withdraw, suspend, limit, condition or restrict any
(iii)
Educational Approval of Bridgepoint or Ashford and, to the Knowledge of Bridgepoint and Ashford, there are no facts, circumstances
or omissions concerning Bridgepoint or Ashford that could reasonably be expected to result in such a proceeding.
(iv)
Ashford is not on probation, monitoring, reporting, notice or warning status with any Educational
Agency and is not subject to any show cause or adverse

action by any Educational Agency, and, to the Knowledge of Licensees, there are no facts, circumstances or omissions concerning
Bridgepoint or Ashford that could reasonably be expected to result in such a proceeding.
(v)
No non-routine review, audit, site visit, or investigation by any Governmental Authority or
Educational Agency is being conducted at or in connection with Ashford, except that Ashford anticipates a visit from the Bureau of
Private Postsecondary Education (BPPE) in connection with Ashford’s licensure by the BPPE and transition to WASC accreditation.
(f)
Litigation . Since the 10-K Date, and except as disclosed in that most recent 10-K and in follow up letters
between Forbes and Licensee preceding the Effective Date, to the actual knowledge of Bridgepoint and Ashford, there has been no
Action pending or threatened (i) involving or affecting any of Bridgepoint, Ashford or the Business School or any of their businesses or
assets seeking damages in excess of $2,000,000 and which are not ordinary course employment matters and/or routine vendor disputes,
(ii) that relates to the Transactions or the validity of the Transaction Documents or (iii) which, if adversely determined, would
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on any of Bridgepoint, Ashford or the Business School, or would otherwise
reasonably be expected to cause any of the representations or warranties made by Bridgepoint or Ashford in this Agreement to be or
become inaccurate, incomplete or breached (each, a “ Specified Action ”). To the actual knowledge of Bridgepoint and Ashford, no
fact or circumstance exists that could validly give rise to a Specified Action. There are no outstanding or unsatisfied Orders against or
affecting Licensee, the Business School or any of their businesses, properties or assets.
6.2
Forbes Representations . Except as set forth on the correspondingly numbered section or subsection of the
Schedules, Forbes hereby represents and warrants to Licensee that:
(a)
Organization; Standing . Forbes is an entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the
Laws of the state of its jurisdiction of organization and has full power and authority to own, operate and lease its properties, as
applicable, and carry on its business as currently conducted.

Authorization; Enforceability . Forbes has all legal right, power, authority and capacity to execute and
(b)
deliver this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party and to perform its obligations hereunder and
thereunder. The execution, delivery and performance by Forbes of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a
party have been duly and validly authorized and approved. This Agreement and each of the other Transaction Documents to which it is
a party have been duly executed and delivered by Forbes and, when duly executed and delivered by the parties thereto, will be the legal,
valid and binding obligation of Forbes, enforceable in accordance with their terms.
(c)
Defaults; Consents . The execution, delivery and performance of the Transaction Documents to which Forbes
is a party, the consummation of the Transactions by Forbes, and the anticipated use of the Licensed Marks by Licensee do not and will
not constitute

a Default under (i) any Law applicable to Forbes, (ii) any of Forbes’ Organizational Documents or any resolutions adopted by Forbes’
Board, or (iii) any of Forbes’ Contracts or Permits.
(d)
Termination of Prior Agreements . All prior license agreements and/or joint venture agreements between
and among any of the following parties concerning the Licensed Marks and/or Licensed Content have been terminated prior to or
contemporaneously with this Agreement: Forbes, Forbes Licensors, FBS Education, LLC, SignificantPsychology, LLC, FBS SigPsy,
LLC and SigPsy Holdings, LLC.
(e)
Extent of Rights . Forbes owns or has other rights to all of the Intellectual Property rights necessary to grant
to Licensee the rights granted in this Agreement. Forbes has identified for Licensee on Exhibit B all Forbes Marks owned or controlled
by Forbes, or any Forbes Licensor, Affiliate or Subsidiary, related to higher education. To the actual knowledge of Forbes, Forbes has
the exclusive right to use the FORBES BUSINESS SCHOOL mark in the United States and there are no limitations on its rights to use
the other Licensed Marks in the United States in the manner in which the licensed rights are granted hereunder. Forbes is not aware of
any reason specific to the Licensed Marks why it could not extend use of such Licensed Marks to any other country in the world. No
Forbes Affiliate, Forbes Subsidiary, or Forbes Licensor has any right to use the Licensed Marks in connection with higher education
anywhere in the world in such a way as to frustrate or limit the rights granted by Forbes to Licensee in this Agreement. Forbes
covenants that it will not license any FORBES Mark to any third party or directly use any such mark in connection with higher
education services in such a way as to frustrate or limit the rights granted by Forbes to Licensee under this Agreement, during the Term
of this Agreement and during any restricted period under Section 8.3(d) (it being agreed that sponsorship of a conference or other event
by a third party that conducts activities in connection with higher education and/or use by such third party of any FORBES Mark in
promotion thereof shall not be deemed the grant of a license by Forbes).
(f)
No Unauthorized Use . To the actual knowledge of Forbes, as of the date hereof, there is no material
unauthorized use, infringement or misappropriation of the Licensed Marks in the field of higher education in the United States.
(g)
No Infringement . To the actual knowledge of Forbes, the Licensed Marks do not infringe upon,
misappropriate or violate any Intellectual Property right of any other party in the field of higher education in the United States.
(h)
No Pending Litigation . To the actual knowledge of Forbes, (i) there is no Action pending or threatened
against Forbes or any third party (including, without limitation, arising out of Forbes’ prior license agreements and/or joint venture
agreement with FBS Education, LLC, SignificantPsychology, LLC, FBS SigPsy, LLC, or SigPsy Holdings, LLC), involving or relating
to the Licensed Marks that has or would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Licensee’s ability to use the
Licensed Marks for the Licensed Activity anywhere in the world, (ii) there is no Action pending or threatened against Forbes, any
Forbes Licensor, any Forbes Affiliate or any Forbes Subsidiary that could have a Material Adverse Effect upon the positive reputation
of the FORBES Marks, and (iii) there is no Action pending or threatened against Forbes or any of its officers, directors or shareholders
which, if successfully pursued against Forbes or such officers, directors or shareholders, would prevent

Forbes from performing its obligations under this Agreement, or would cause any of the representations or warranties made by Forbes
in this Agreement to be or become inaccurate, incomplete or breached.
(i)
No Encumbrances . The Licensed Marks are free and clear of any encumbrance that has or would reasonably
be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Licensee’s ability to use the Licensed Marks for the Licensed Activity.
(j)
Excluded List. Forbes represents and warrants that neither it nor its principals is presently debarred,
suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible or voluntarily excluded from participating in the Agreement by any federal
department or agency.
(k)
Federal Funds. Forbes certifies that neither it nor its officers or employees have been convicted of, or pled
nolo contendere or guilty to, a crime involving the acquisition, use, or expenditure of federal, state or local government funds; or
administratively or judicially determined to have committed fraud or any other material violation of law involving federal, state or local
government funds.
7.

Covenants .
7.1

Financial Statements; Royalty Statements .

(a)
During the Term, Bridgepoint shall cause the following financial statements to be prepared in accordance with
GAAP and delivered to Forbes within the applicable time period set forth with respect thereto:

(i) As soon as practicable following the end of each fiscal year (and in any event not later than ninety (90) days
after the end of such fiscal year), a balance sheet of Ashford as of the end of such fiscal year, and the related statements of income, cash
flow and changes in equity for such fiscal year, together with appropriate notes to such financial statements and supporting schedules,
including a supporting schedule detailing the Revenue for the fiscal year, all of which, with the exception of the supporting schedule
detailing the Revenue for the fiscal year, shall be audited and certified by an independent public accountant of national repute selected
by Licensee, and setting forth in comparative form the corresponding figures for the immediately preceding fiscal year end. The
supporting schedule detailing the Revenue for the fiscal year may be unaudited, however, must be a part of the audited financial
statements.
(ii) As soon as practicable following the end of each fiscal quarter (and in any event not later than thirty (30)
days after the end of each such quarter), an unaudited revenue statement of the Business School as of the end of such fiscal quarter.
(b)
As soon as practicable following the end of each License Year (and in any event not later than ninety (90)
days after the end of each such License Year), Licensee shall deliver to Forbes a Royalty Statement for such License Year.

7.2

Records; Audit .

During the term of this Agreement and for a period of no less than two (2) years following the expiration or
(a)
termination hereof (the “ Retention Period ”), Licensee shall maintain and retain complete and accurate books, records, documents and
reports (exclusive of any records that would identify any student or related student records) (the “ Records ”) of its financial operations
and condition, revenues, expenses and deductions, including with respect to Ashford and the Business School, in sufficient detail for
Forbes or its representative to determine the amount of the Royalties due to Forbes hereunder in accordance with GAAP or, in the case
of Foreign Activities, International Financial Reporting Standards (“ IFRS ”), consistently applied.
(b)
At any time during the Retention Period, upon not less than five (5) business days’ prior written notice and
during normal business hours, Licensee shall provide Forbes and its representatives with access (including electronic access), at Forbes’
expense (subject to the last sentence of this paragraph), to the Records. In the event any audit of the Records discloses unpaid amounts
due to Forbes hereunder with respect to an audit period, Licensee shall promptly pay Forbes an amount equal to one hundred and two
percent (102%) of such unpaid amounts. In addition, if any such audit discloses unpaid amounts due to Forbes hereunder equal to or
greater than five percent (5%) of the aggregate Royalties actually paid with respect to such period, then Licensee shall promptly
reimburse Forbes for all of its Expenses in connection with such audit.
7.3

Intentionally Omitted .

Notification of Certain Matters . Each Party shall give notice in writing to the other Party promptly (and in any
7.4
event within five (5) Business Days) of any of the following: (a) the occurrence or failure to occur, or the impending, alleged or
threatened occurrence or failure to occur, of any event or circumstance which occurrence or failure to occur would reasonably be
expected to result in (i) any representations or warranties in this Agreement to be untrue or inaccurate in any material respect if such
representations and warranties were made as of the date of such occurrence or failure to occur, or impending, alleged or threatened
occurrence or failure to occur, (ii) any covenants or agreements in this Agreement to fail to be complied with or (iii) any Regulatory
Event; or (b) the receipt of any notice or other communication (including the commencement of any Action) alleging or implying that
the consent of any Person that has not been obtained is or may be required in connection with the consummation of the Transactions or
that such consummation would otherwise constitute a Default.
7.5

Licensee Deliveries . On the Effective Date, Licensee shall deliver to Forbes:

(a)
certificates, dated as of the date hereof, of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of each of Bridgepoint and
Ashford, (i) attesting to the incumbency of each authorized person executing a Transaction Document on its behalf and (ii) certifying a
complete and accurate copy of the resolutions of the Board of Bridgepoint or Ashford, as applicable, authorizing the execution, delivery
and performance of the Transaction Documents;

(b)
certificates of good standing of each of Bridgepoint and Ashford, issued as of a date no more than ten (10)
Business Days prior to the date hereof, by the Secretary of State of Delaware and the Secretary of State of Iowa, respectively; and
(c)

duly executed counterparts to each other Transaction Document.
Forbes Deliveries . On the Effective Date, Forbes shall deliver to Licensee:

7.6

(a)
a certificate, dated as of the date hereof, of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of Forbes, (i) attesting to the
incumbency of each authorized person executing a Transaction Document on its behalf and (ii) certifying a complete and accurate copy
of the resolutions of the Board of Forbes authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of the Transaction Documents;
(b)
a certificate of good standing of Forbes, issued as of a date no more than ten (10) Business Days prior to the
date hereof, by the Secretary of State of Delaware; and
(c)

duly executed counterparts to each other Transaction Document.

7.7
Advertising Services . During the Term, Forbes shall allow, and shall cause its Affiliates to allow, Licensee to
purchase available Advertising Services [***] via direct sale by Forbes for the applicable media of Forbes or its Affiliate, on terms and
conditions applicable to advertisers in such media.
7.8
Competition . During the Term, neither Party, nor any of its Affiliates or Subsidiaries (including the Forbes
Licensors) shall engage in Competition.
7.9
Online Activities . Licensee may conduct delivery of services to its Business School students via the Internet (“
Online Activities ”) only through (a) Ashford’s official website ( www.Ashford.edu ), (b) related websites used in conduct of the
Licensed Activities that are reasonably approved by Forbes or (c) any domain names selected or owned by the Forbes Licensors related
to the Licensed Marks (the “ Authorized Domain Names ”). For purposes of this Section 7.9, “Online Activities” shall expressly not
include internet-based third-party marketing activities authorized by Licensee related to the Business School. As to domain names
under subdivision (c), Forbes shall, throughout the Term, provide Licensee with administrative control; provided , however , that such
Authorized Domain Names shall be used solely for the purpose of redirecting visitors thereto to Ashford’s official website
(www.Ashford.edu) or such other website as may be agreed upon by the Parties. Any Online Activities must include prominent links to
the applicable terms of use and privacy policy, each of which shall comply with all applicable Laws and be consistent with industry
standards adopted by reputable institutions of higher education. Forbes shall have the right, but not the obligation, to review the terms
of use and privacy policy and to require that Licensee revise said statements to insure compliance with applicable Laws and industry
standards. Licensee shall comply with any such terms of use and privacy policy.
7.10
Foreign Activities . Without the prior written consent of Forbes, Licensee shall not expand the Licensed Activity to
include the active solicitation of students outside of the
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United States and its territories and possessions, other than recruitment of military students who are or may be deployed outside the
United States (“ Foreign Activities ”). Within a reasonable period of time following its receipt of written notice by Licensee seeking
such consent and setting forth the additional jurisdictions in which Licensee would like to conduct active solicitation of students, Forbes
(either itself or through the Forbes Licensors) shall perform a trademark clearance analysis in accordance with its standard procedures,
and upon completion of such analysis, shall either provide Licensee with its approval to conduct such activities or reject such
expansion. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Licensee may expand the conduct of the Foreign Activities into a jurisdiction outside of the
United States and its territories and possessions unless Forbes or the applicable Forbes Licensor reasonably believes that such use in
such jurisdiction presents a non-trivial risk of subjecting Forbes or such Forbes Licensor to an Action or otherwise impairing the
Licensed Marks. Licensee shall reimburse Forbes (or, at Forbes’ direction, the applicable Forbes Licensor) for all Expenses associated
with any trademark clearance analysis conducted pursuant to this Section.
7.11
Services, Resources and Operational Support . During the Term, Licensee shall provide the Business School with
all services, resources and operational support reasonably necessary or advisable in connection with the operation of the business of the
Business School, including as reasonably necessary to meet the Performance Targets and to maintain compliance with all applicable
Laws.
7.12

Program Establishment .

(a)
Licensee shall change the name of the Business School to, and otherwise rebrand the Business School as, the
“Forbes School of Business at Ashford University” on or about December 5, 2013.
(b)
Licensee shall ensure that the Business School continues to operate in accordance with industry standards for
other first class brands of similarly situated, for-profit institutions of higher education.
(c)
Licensee shall conduct the Licensed Activity in compliance, and shall ensure that the Business School
complies, in all material respects with applicable Educational Laws and shall maintain all material Educational Approvals.
8.

Term and Termination.

Term . Unless earlier terminated as provided in Section 8.2 below, the initial term of this Agreement shall begin on
8.1
the Effective Date and end on December 31, 2025 (the “ Initial Term ”). Licensee may elect to renew the Agreement for a subsequent
twelve (12)-year term ( a “ Renewal Term ” and, together with the Initial Term, the “ Term ”) by providing Forbes with written notice
of its intent to renew at least sixty (60) days prior to the end of the Initial Term; provided , that such election shall not be effective
unless (a) the Performance Targets applicable to the Initial Term have been met; and (b) Licensee is in compliance with all material
terms and conditions of this Agreement, including all of its financial obligations hereunder.

8.2

Termination .

For Cause . Forbes may terminate this Agreement immediately upon written notice to Licensee upon the
(a)
occurrence of a Licensee Termination Event. Licensee may terminate this Agreement immediately upon notice to Forbes upon the
occurrence of a Forbes Termination Event.
For Bankruptcy. This Agreement shall terminate immediately upon the occurrence of a Bankruptcy Event
(b)
with respect to Bridgepoint without further action by either Party.
8.3

Effect of Termination .

(a)
Upon expiration or termination of this Agreement, all rights and obligations of Forbes and Licensee shall
terminate, except as provided in this Section 8.3 .
(b)
In the event of any expiration or termination of this Agreement, Licensee shall have no further right to use the
Licensed Marks in any way. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Licensee may not use or display the Licensed Marks for
the purpose of making statements such as “Formerly Forbes Business School” or to otherwise suggest any previous association with the
Licensed Marks or the Forbes Licensors. In the event of any such expiration or termination of this Agreement, Licensee shall, without
cost to Forbes, as promptly as possible and no later than [***] ( [***] ) days following such termination, change the name and branding
of any Licensed Activity, so as to eliminate any use of the applicable Licensed Marks, including any and all Marks which include the
word “Forbes,” or the phrase “FBS” (or any other Marks owned or licensed by Forbes) or words or phrases confusingly similar thereto.
Additionally, Licensee shall, (i) as promptly as possible and no later than [***] ( [***] ) days following such termination, cease use of,
remove all and dispose of all signage, brochures, pamphlets and all other materials or supplies affected by such termination bearing,
consisting of, depicting or making reference to any aspect of the Licensed Marks, and (ii) no later than [***] ( [***] ) days following the
date upon which this Agreement expires or is terminated, return or destroy all Licensed Content and cease use of all Licensed Content
in any derivative works, in each case, in a manner reasonably directed by Forbes and without cost to Forbes.
(c)
Upon the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement, all rights and licenses granted hereunder shall
immediately terminate, except that in all cases the obligations of Licensee under the Surviving Sections shall survive such expiration or
termination, and no such expiration or termination shall relieve any Party from any Liability arising hereunder prior thereto.

If this Agreement expires or is terminated other than as a result of a termination or election not to renew by
(d)
Forbes under Section 8.2(a) or under Section 8.2(b) , Forbes shall not utilize or enter into a license agreement with respect to the
Licensed Mark, in the field of higher education or use any of the Forbes Authorized Domain Names following any termination for a
period that shall run the shorter of (a) [***] ( [***] ) [***] or (b) [***] .
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(e)
Within ninety (90) days following termination of this Agreement for any reason, Forbes shall file a
cancellation of any Licensed Mark including the Ashford University name.
9.

Indemnification .

9.1
Bridgepoint and Ashford shall, jointly and severally, indemnify, defend and hold harmless Forbes, the Forbes
Licensors and their respective Affiliates, employees, officers, directors, members and managers (the “ Forbes Indemnitees ”) from and
against any and all Damages, regardless of any investigation made or knowledge acquired by the Forbes Indemnitees prior to the date
hereof, arising out of (a) a breach of any representation or warranty made by Bridgepoint or Ashford herein or in any other Transaction
Document or any inaccuracy in any certificate delivered by Bridgepoint or Ashford pursuant hereto, (b) a breach of any covenant or
agreement of Bridgepoint or Ashford in this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents, (c) the conduct of the Licensed Activity
(except with respect to Damages arising out of use of the Licensed Marks in accordance with this Agreement), or (d) any failure by
Bridgepoint or Ashford to comply with any Law or any Liabilities, fines or other sanctions imposed by a Governmental Authority
related to Bridgepoint, Ashford or the Business School.

Forbes shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Licensee and its respective Affiliates, employees, officers,
9.2
directors, members and managers (the “ Licensee Indemnitees ”) from and against any and all Damages, regardless of any
investigation made or knowledge acquired by the Licensee Indemnitees prior to the date hereof, arising out of (a) a breach of any
representation or warranty made by Forbes herein or in any other Transaction Document or any inaccuracy in any certificate delivered
by Forbes pursuant hereto, (b) a breach of any covenant or agreement of Forbes in this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents,
(c) any claim that Licensee’s authorized use of the Licensed Marks in the United States in accordance with the terms of this Agreement
infringes the rights of a third party, or (d) any failure by Forbes to comply with any Law or any Liabilities, fines or other sanctions
imposed by a Governmental Authority (in each case, other than Damages arising out of the failure to make or obtain any required
notification or application with, or approval from, any Governmental Authority relating to Ashford or the Business School).
9.3
In order for any Person entitled to indemnity under this Section 9 to validly assert a claim for indemnification under
this Section 9 , such indemnitee shall deliver written notice (a “ Claim Notice ”) to the indemnifying party specifying (to the extent
known) the facts constituting the basis for such claim. Such indemnitee shall deliver to the indemnifying party, promptly following such
indemnitee’s receipt thereof, copies of all notices and documents (including court papers) received by such indemnitee relating to any
claim made by another Person against such indemnitee for which such indemnitee seeks indemnification from the indemnifying party
hereunder (a “ Third Party Claim ”). Failure to deliver a Claim Notice with respect to a Third Party Claim in a timely manner as
specified in the preceding sentence shall not be deemed a waiver of the right of such indemnitee to indemnification in connection
therewith except to the extent the indemnifying party is actually and materially prejudiced as a result of such failure, in which case the
amount of indemnification to which such indemnitee is entitled shall be reduced by the amount, if any, by which such indemnitee’s
Damages would have been lower had such Claim Notice been timely delivered. If the indemnifying party does not notify

such indemnitee in writing within thirty (30) days from its receipt of the Claim Notice that the indemnifying party disputes such claim
(an “ Indemnity Dispute Notice ”), the indemnifying party shall be deemed to have agreed with and accepted such claim.
9.4
Each party shall cooperate in the other’s defense or prosecution of a Third Party Claim, such cooperation to include
the retention and (upon the other’s written request) the provision of records and information that are reasonably relevant thereto, and
making such party’s Representatives available on a mutually convenient basis to provide additional information and explanation of any
such materials. If the indemnifying party wishes to assume the defense of the Third Party Claim, it shall do so by sending notice of the
assumption to the indemnitee. The indemnifying party’s assumption of the defense acknowledges its obligation to indemnify. Promptly
after sending the notice, the indemnifying party shall choose and employ independent legal counsel of reputable standing. An
indemnitee is entitled to participate in the defense of a Third Party Claim, at such indemnitee’s own expense. If the indemnifying party
assumes the defense of a Third Party Claim, it may not effect any compromise or settlement of the Third Party Claim without the
consent of the indemnitee. If the indemnifying party does not elect to assume the defense of a Third Party Claim or the indemnitee
reasonably concludes there is a conflict of interest between it and the indemnifying party, then the indemnitee shall have the right to
control such defense and the indemnifying party shall be liable for the Expenses of counsel selected by the indemnitee to represent it.
10.

Limitation of Warranty .

10.1
EXCEPT FOR THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES SET FORTH HEREIN, FORBES HEREBY
SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS ANY AND ALL WARRANTIES, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, INCLUDING THE
WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, TITLE AND NON-INFRINGEMENT OF
THIRD PARTY RIGHTS, AND ANY WARRANTIES THAT MAY ARISE DUE TO COURSE OF PERFORMANCE, COURSE OF
DEALING OR USAGE OF TRADE, WHETHER RELATED TO THE LICENSED MARKS, LICENSED CONTENT OR
OTHERWISE.
10.2
EXCEPT FOR THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES SET FORTH HEREIN, LICENSEE HEREBY
SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS ANY AND ALL WARRANTIES, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, INCLUDING THE
WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, TITLE AND NON-INFRINGEMENT OF
THIRD PARTY RIGHTS, AND ANY WARRANTIES THAT MAY ARISE DUE TO COURSE OF PERFORMANCE, COURSE OF
DEALING OR USAGE OF TRADE, WHETHER RELATED TO LICENSEE, THE BUSINESS SCHOOL OR OTHERWISE.
11.

Confidentiality; Publicity .

(a)
Neither party nor any of its respective Affiliates shall use, for any purpose other than as necessary to perform
their obligations in accordance with the Transactions, or disclose to any Person other than their Representatives any Confidential
Information of the other or any of its Affiliates without the prior written consent of the other. Notwithstanding the

foregoing, the disclosure of Confidential Information covered by this Section 11 shall be permitted to the extent required by Law;
provided , however , that prior to any such required disclosure, the party subject to the disclosure requirement shall, to the extent
permitted by Law, give the other reasonable advance notice of any such disclosure and, to the extent permitted by Law, shall cooperate
in narrowing the scope of such required disclosure and protecting any such disclosed Confidential Information.
(b)
The parties shall cooperate to jointly develop all public communications related to the Transactions. Neither
party or its affiliates shall issue any press release or other public announcement with respect to the Transactions without the prior
consultation and approval of the other party (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld following the Effective Date), except as
may be required by applicable Law, in which case such party shall consult with the other party regarding the contents of such disclosure
to the extent practicable before issuing such press release or other announcement.

Forbes acknowledges and agrees that it is aware (and that its representatives are aware or, upon receipt of any
(c)
Confidential Information, shall be advised) of the restrictions imposed by the United States federal securities laws and other applicable
foreign and domestic laws on a person possessing material non-public information about a public company and that Forbes and its
representatives shall comply with such laws, including without limitation, prohibitions on purchasing or selling securities of such public
company or communicating non-public information to any other person or entity under circumstances in which it is reasonably
foreseeable that such person or entity is likely to purchase or sell such securities.
12.

Miscellaneous.

12.1
Notices . All notices or other communications required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be in writing and
shall be deemed to have been duly given (i) when delivered personally, (ii) three (3) Business Days after being mailed by certified or
registered mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid, (iii) when received, if sent by overnight delivery service or international
courier or (iv) when sent, if sent by fax provided receipt is confirmed. A party may change its address or fax number for the purposes
hereof upon notice to the other party. Such notices or other communications shall be sent to each party as follows:

If to Licensee:

Bridgepoint Education, Inc.
13500 Evening Creek Drive North, Suite 600
San Diego, CA 92128
Attention: President and Chief Executive Officer
Fax: (877) 230-9129

And to:

Ashford University, LLC
8620 Spectrum Center Blvd.
San Diego, CA 92123
Attention: President
Fax: (858) 391-5724

with a copy (which shall
and constitute notice) to:

with a copy (which shall
and constitute notice) to:

If to Forbes:

with a copy (which shall
and constitute notice) to:

Bridgepoint Education, Inc.
13500 Evening Creek Drive North, Suite 600
San Diego, CA 92128
Attention: General Counsel
Fax: (877) 297-6923

Sheppard, Mullin, Richter & Hampton LLP
650 Town Center Drive, Fourth Floor
Costa Mesa, CA 92626
Attention: Brian M. Daucher, Esq.
Fax: 714-513-5130
Forbes Education Holdings LLC
Forbes Building
60 Fifth Avenue
New York, New York 10011
Attention: MariaRosa Cartolano, Esq.
Fax: 212-620-1890

Morrison & Foerster LLP
1290 Avenue of the Americas
New York, New York 10104
Attention: B. Jeffery Bell, Esq. and Vivian L. Hanson, Esq.
Fax: 212-468-7900

12.2
Governing Law . This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the Laws of the State of
New York, without regard to conflict-of-law provisions.
12.3

Dispute Resolution .

(a)
Arbitration . All disputes, controversies or claims arising out of or relating to this Agreement, the breach,
termination or validity thereof, the subject matter of the Agreement, or any right or obligation created by the Agreement, irrespective of
the underlying legal theory or claims (“ Disputes ”) shall be resolved exclusively according to the procedures set forth in this Section
12.3 through binding arbitration pursuant to the Commercial Arbitration Rules and the Procedures for Complex Cases of the American
Arbitration Association (“ AAA ”) then in effect (the “ Rules ”):
(i)
The arbitration demand shall be delivered to the AAA and respondents in accordance with the Rules. A
single, neutral arbitrator shall be selected by

the joint agreement of the parties, but if they do not so agree within fifteen (15) days of receipt by respondent(s) of a copy of the
arbitration demand, AAA Rule R-11 shall apply except that each party may not strike more than three (3) arbitrators from any AAA
proposed list (of at least 10 potential arbitrators). Any arbitrator appointed by the AAA shall be a practicing attorney admitted for at
least fifteen (15) years, with significant experience as an arbitrator of large, complex commercial cases or be a retired or former federal
judge. In addition, if practicable, any arbitrator appointed by the AAA shall have experience with for-profit higher education and/or
issues relating to trademark licensing. The arbitrator shall have a conference with the parties within ten (10) days of appointment and
shall design and implement a schedule for the prompt and fair adjudication of the Dispute. The hearing shall be held as soon as possible
but, if practicable, no later than ninety (90) days after the appointment of the arbitrator. The arbitrator may extend any time limit
contained herein for good cause shown. The award of the arbitrator shall be made in a written opinion.
(ii)
This provision for arbitration shall be specifically enforceable by the parties and the decision of the
arbitrator in accordance herewith shall be final, conclusive and binding on the parties and there shall be no right of appeal therefrom,
except in accordance with the provisions of the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 1, et seq . The arbitrator shall be empowered to
(A) determine the scope of his jurisdiction and all questions relating to the amenability of a Dispute to arbitration under this Agreement,
whether or not arbitration is the exclusive method of dispute resolution and the authority of the arbitrator to make any award, and
(B) award equitable relief of any nature, including the types of remedies described elsewhere in this Section 12.3 . Any controversy
concerning whether a Dispute is arbitrable shall be determined solely by the arbitrator.
(iii)
Judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrator may be entered by any court having jurisdiction,
and if the award of the arbitrator includes equitable relief, the judgment may include an Order or injunction for such equitable relief.
(iv)
Each party’s Expenses of arbitration shall be borne entirely by that party; provided , that the costs of
the arbitrator shall be borne by the non-prevailing party and, at the discretion of the arbitrator, all or a portion of the prevailing party’s
Expenses shall be reimbursed to it by the non-prevailing party.
(v)

The place of arbitration shall be New York County, New York. The language of the arbitration shall be

English.
(vi)
All aspects of the arbitration proceeding, including the existence of the arbitration, the award rendered
by the arbitrator, all documents prepared for purposes of the arbitration, and all documents produced in the arbitration by either party
shall be deemed by the parties, their counsel and experts and the arbitrator(s) to be confidential information. The parties, their counsel
and experts and the arbitrator(s) shall not disclose, in whole or in part, to any other person or entity any such confidential information,
except to the extent required by Law. In the event either party believes it is legally required to disclose such confidential information to
any other person or entity, the party which believes it has such a legal obligation will promptly notify the other party of all the
circumstances surrounding that belief so that the other party can seek appropriate protections to limit the disclosure of such confidential

information and/or waive compliance with this paragraph in whole or in part. If such protections are not obtained or the other party
waives compliance with this paragraph, in whole or in part, the party disclosing the confidential information shall only disclose the
information it believes it is legally required to disclose and shall take reasonable steps to obtain an Order or other reliable assurances
that confidential treatment will be afforded to the disclosed information.
(b)
Court Proceedings . Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, neither party shall institute a
proceeding in any court or administrative agency to resolve a Dispute, except for a court proceeding to compel arbitration or otherwise
enforce this arbitration provision, or to obtain a court judgment upon any arbitration award rendered hereunder. In any court proceeding
authorized by the preceding sentence, the parties agree to seek leave from the court to file under seal any and all pleadings and papers to
protect the confidential nature of the arbitration.

Relief Allowed . In the case of any Dispute covered under this Section 12.3 , the parties hereto agree that
(c)
either party shall be entitled to seek equitable relief, including relief such as declaratory judgment or judgments, an Order or Orders for
specific performance or one or more temporary or permanent injunctions or restraining orders, and that no bond or other security shall
be required in connection with any such requests for relief. The parties agree that in the event that a party seeks emergency relief, such
party shall not seek such relief in court, but shall seek such relief from the arbitrator or, prior to his appointment, by means of the AAA
Optional Rules for Emergency Measures of Protection. The equitable remedies provided herein are cumulative and not exclusive of any
remedies provided by Law.
12.4
Entire Agreement . This Agreement and the other Transaction Documents (together with all appendices, schedules,
exhibits, annexes and attachments thereto) constitute the entire agreement of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof
and thereof and supersede all prior agreements and undertakings, both written and oral, between the parties with respect to the subject
matter hereof and thereof.

Remedies . Except as set forth herein, the parties agree that the remedy at Law for a breach of this Agreement would
12.5
be inadequate. In addition to legal remedies, each party shall be entitled to specifically enforce the terms hereof and obtain injunctive
relief or any other equitable remedies in the event of any such breach or threatened breach by the other party.
12.6
Amendments; Waivers . This Agreement may not be amended, modified or otherwise altered in any manner, and
the terms and conditions hereof may not be waived, unless in writing signed by the parties hereto. Except as expressly provided to the
contrary, the rights and remedies provided herein shall be cumulative and not exclusive of any other rights or remedies available to a
party and the waiver or failure by a party to exercise a right hereunder shall not operate as a waiver of a breach nor shall it prevent such
party from doing so later with respect to such breach or any subsequent breach.
12.7
Assignment . Forbes may assign this Agreement and its rights and interests hereunder without the consent of
Bridgepoint or Ashford. Neither Bridgepoint nor Ashford may assign this Agreement or any of its rights, interests or obligations
hereunder, whether by operation of law or otherwise, without the prior written consent of Forbes. A Change of Control

of a party shall be deemed an assignment by such party; provided , however , that a Change of Control of Bridgepoint (and a Change of
Control of Ashford resulting therefrom) shall not be considered an assignment by such party for purposes of this Section 12.7 unless
such Change of Control is such that either (a) the Person acquiring control of Bridgepoint is a Forbes Competitor, (b) the acquisition of
control of Bridgepoint by such Person would reasonably be expected to materially and adversely affect the reputation or value of the
Licensed Marks, as determined in consultation with a Mediator, or (c) the acquisition of control of Bridgepoint by such Person would
reasonably be expected to materially impair the ability of Licensee to comply with its financial obligations hereunder. Subject to the
foregoing, this Agreement and the rights and obligations set forth herein shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the parties
hereto, and each of their respective successors and assigns.
12.8
Severability . Any term or provision hereof that is held by a tribunal of competent authority to be invalid or
unenforceable shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining terms and provisions hereof and, within the jurisdiction of
such tribunal, the scope, duration or applicability of the invalid or unenforceable term or provision shall be amended to delete the
necessary words or phrases, and to replace such term or provision with a term or provision that is valid and enforceable, so as to come
as close as possible to achieving the economic, legal or other legitimate purposes of such unenforceable term or provision.

Third Party Beneficiaries . Except as contemplated by Section 9.1 , this Agreement shall not confer any legal or
12.9
equitable rights or remedies upon any Person other than the parties hereto and their permitted successors and assigns.
12.10
Expenses . Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, all Transaction Expenses (whether or not the
Transactions are consummated) shall be paid by the party incurring such Transaction Expense.
12.11
No Partnership or Joint Venture . Nothing contained in this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents will
be deemed or construed as creating a joint venture or partnership between the parties. No party is by virtue of this Agreement
authorized as an agent, employee or legal representative of any other party. No party will have the power to control the activities and
operations of any other, and the parties’ status is, and at all times will continue to be, that of independent contractors with respect to
each other. No party will have any power or authority to bind or commit to any other. No party will hold itself out as having any
authority or relationship inconsistent with this Section 12.11 .
12.12
Further Assurances . Each party shall, without further consideration, take such further action (including the
execution and delivery of such further documents and instruments) as the other party may reasonably request in order to carry out the
purposes of the Transactions.
12.13
Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in counterparts and such counterparts may be delivered in
electronic format (including by fax and email). Such delivery of counterparts shall be conclusive evidence of the intent to be bound
hereby and each such counterpart and copies produced therefrom shall have the same effect as an original.

[ Signature page follows .]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first above written.
LICENSEE
BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION, INC.
By: /s/ Andrew S. Clark
Name: Andrew S. Clark
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
ASHFORD UNIVERSITY, LLC
By: /s/ Dr. Richard Pattenaude
Name: Dr. Richard Pattenaude
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
FORBES
FORBES EDUCATION HOLDINGS LLC
By: /s/ Mike Perlis
Name: Mike Perlis
Title: Chief Executive Officer

[Signature Page to License Agreement]

EXHIBIT A
DEFINITIONS
The capitalized terms set forth below shall have the respective meanings assigned to them.
“ 10-K Date ” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1(d) .
“ AAA ” has the meaning set forth in Section 12.3(a) .
“ Accrediting Body ” means any entity or organization that is recognized as an institutional accrediting body by the DOE that
accredits Ashford University, including HLC and WASC.
“ Action ” means any and all actions, complaints, demands, hearings, audits, subpoenas, suits, arbitrations, mediations or
proceedings, whether civil, criminal, regulatory, administrative or investigative, including any of the foregoing conducted by or pending
before any Governmental Authority.
“ Advertising Services ” means the publication of advertisements meeting the Content Requirements in Forbes digital and print
media.
“ Affiliate ” means, with respect to any Person, any Person directly or indirectly Controlling, Controlled by or under common
Control with such other Person.
“ Agreement ” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
“ Annual Minimum Guaranteed Amount ” means $2.5 million.
“ Ashford ” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble and, for the avoidance of doubt, includes Ashford University.
“ Authorized Domain Names ” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.9 .
“ Bankruptcy Event ” means, with respect to any Person, (i) such Person commencing a voluntary case or other proceeding, or
an involuntary case or other proceeding being commenced against such Person and remaining undismissed and unstayed for a period of
sixty (60) days, in either case seeking liquidation, reorganization or other relief with respect to such Person or its debts under any
applicable bankruptcy, reorganization, composition, insolvency or other similar Law now or hereafter in effect or seeking the
appointment of a trustee, receiver or liquidator, custodian or other similar official of such Person or any substantial part of its property,
(ii) such Person consenting to any such relief set forth in clause (i) of this paragraph or to the appointment of or taking possession by
any such official in an involuntary case or other proceeding commenced against it, (iii) such Person admitting in writing its inability to
pay its debts generally as they become due or generally failing to pay such debts as they become due or (iv) such Person making or
consenting to any assignment of any material portion of its assets for the benefit of creditors.

“ Board ” means, with respect to an entity, the board of directors, board of managers or corresponding governing body of such
entity, including, if duly acting in such capacity, the general partner, managing member or equity holders.
“ Bridgepoint ” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
“ Business Courses ” means any courses or classes offered by Licensee other than through the Business School using resources
or personnel of the Business School.
“ Business School ” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
“ Business Day ” means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or any other day on which commercial banks in New York, New
York are authorized or required by Law to close.
“ Certificate Program ” means an educational program that leads to a certificate.
“ Change of Control ” means, with respect to a Person, the occurrence, directly or indirectly, in one or more related
transactions, of any of the following: (i) any consolidation, merger, share exchange or similar transaction involving such Person unless
(x) the capital stock or other equity of such Person is not converted, reclassified, exchanged or cancelled in such transaction and (y) the
holders of such Person’s capital stock or other equity immediately prior to such transaction hold more than fifty percent (50%) of the
outstanding voting power of the surviving entity (or, if applicable, the ultimate parent Person that directly or indirectly has beneficial
ownership of one hundred percent (100%) of the voting securities of the surviving entity) immediately after such transaction; (ii) any
sale, transfer, lease, exchange or other disposition of all, or substantially all, of the consolidated assets of such Person; (iii) the
acquisition by any Person or group (other than another Person or group who, on the date hereof, was the beneficial owner of thirty-five
percent (35%) or more of the outstanding voting power of such Person) of beneficial ownership of thirty-five percent (35%) or more of
the outstanding voting power with respect to such Person, or the acquisition by any Person or group who, on the date hereof, was the
beneficial owner of thirty-five percent (35%) or more of the outstanding voting power of such Person of beneficial ownership of any
additional voting power with respect to such Person (excluding, in each case, acquisitions resulting from actions taken solely by such
Person which reduce the number of voting securities of such Person outstanding); or (iv) any reorganization, reclassification,
recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution or similar transaction with respect to such Person. Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither of the
following events shall be considered a Change of Control: (a) any action or series of actions that reduces the beneficial ownership of
Warburg Pincus, LLC in Bridgepoint Education, Inc. securities that results in a single Person controlling more than fifty percent (50%)
of the voting or economic control of Bridgepoint, unless (A) the Person acquiring such control of Bridgepoint is a Forbes Competitor,
(B) the acquisition of such control of Bridgepoint by such Person would reasonably be expected to materially and adversely affect the
reputation or value of the Licensed Marks, as determined in consultation with a Mediator, or (C) the acquisition of such control of
Bridgepoint by such Person would reasonably be expected to materially impair the ability of Licensee to comply with its financial
obligations hereunder; and (b) the conversion of Ashford University, LLC, from an Iowa limited liability company to a California
limited liability company, in connection with Ashford’s transition to WASC accreditation.

“ Claim Notice ” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.3 .
“ Competition ” means, with respect to a Person, such Person directly or indirectly, whether on such Person’s own behalf or on
behalf of any other Person (i) participating, sponsoring, organizing, encouraging, investing in or being employed or engaged by any
Person or activity related to higher education that is competitive with the Business School (except to the extent offered by any
Bridgepoint Affiliate, whether now existing or hereafter acquired by Bridgepoint, including University of the Rockies or Denver
Learning Institute), (ii) establishing any school, department, program, unit or subdivision relating to higher education in conjunction
with another Person or soliciting another Person for the purpose of establishing such school, department, program, unit or subdivision
and (iii) causing or permitting any opportunity within the scope of the Business School as of the Effective Date to be usurped, in each
case except for, with respect to Forbes and its Affiliates, such activities as may relate to business education that have been historically
conducted by them, and natural extensions or developments thereof.
“ Conduct Default ” means the discontinuance of all or a significant portion of the Business School other than by force
majeure.
“ Confidential Information ” means any information or material disclosed by one party or its Representatives (the “ Discloser
”) to the other party or its Representatives (the “ Recipient ”) or obtained by Recipient through inspection or observation of Discloser’s
property or facilities (before or after the signing of this Agreement, and whether in writing, or in oral, graphic, electronic or any other
form) in connection with the Transactions that is marked or described as, identified in writing as, or provided under circumstances
reasonably indicating it is, confidential or proprietary; provided , that Confidential Information shall not include any information that (i)
becomes publicly known through no fault of the Recipient (or its Representatives), (ii) is lawfully obtained from a third party that is not
bound by a contractual, legal or other confidentiality obligation to the Discloser or (iii) is independently developed by the Recipient
without reference to the Confidential Information.
“ Content Requirements ” means the applicable requirements set forth in Section 2 and Section 3 .
“ Contract ” of a Person means all agreements, contracts, instruments, obligations, offers, commitments, leases, licenses,
purchase orders, security arrangements and any other understandings to which such Person is a party or by which such Person or any of
such Person’s properties or assets may be bound or affected, in each case as amended, supplemented, waived or otherwise modified.
“ Control ” means, with respect to a Person, the possession, directly or indirectly, of (i) the power to direct or cause the
direction of the management and policies of such Person, including through the election of more than half of such Person’s Board or (ii)
more than fifty percent (50%) of the aggregate voting power with respect to such Person, in each case whether through the ownership of
securities, by Contract or otherwise.
“ Damages ” means any losses, Liabilities, damages, deficiencies, fines, fees, Orders, penalties, charges, Taxes, assessments,
payments (including amounts paid in settlement), costs

and expenses (including costs of investigation, preparation and defense and reasonable attorneys’ fees and disbursements), whether
known or unknown, asserted or unasserted, absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, together with interest with respect to any of
the foregoing. For avoidance of doubt, Damages shall be determined hereunder on the basis of putting the party suffering such Damages
in the same economic position as if the representation, warranty, covenant or other agreement whose breach gives rise thereto had not
been so breached.
“ Default ” means the occurrence or existence of any circumstance which, with the passage of time, the giving of notice or both,
would constitute or give rise to: (i) a breach, default or violation, (ii) the creation of any Lien or the acceleration of any Liability, (iii) a
requirement to obtain the consent of any Person or (iv) any put, call, repurchase, redemption, repayment, adjustment, amendment,
cancellation or termination right.
“ Degree Program ” means an educational program that leads to an Associate’s degree, Bachelor’s degree, Master’s degree or
Doctorate degree.
“ Discloser” has the meaning set forth in the definition of Confidential Information.
“ Disputes ” has the meaning set forth in Section 12.3(a) .
“ DOE ” means the U.S. Department of Education.
“ Educational Agency ” means the DOE, an Accrediting Body or a state licensing agency.
“ Educational Approval ” means any Permit issued by an Educational Agency and necessary and material to Ashford’s
operation of the Business School both on campus and via distance education, and Ashford’s eligibility to participate in Title IV
Programs.
“ Education Law ” means any law issued or administered by any Educational Agency, including any binding standard or
requirement of an Accrediting Body.
“ Effective Date ” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
“ Expenses ” means, with respect to a Person, all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by or on behalf of such Person in
connection with the transactions contemplated hereby (including filing and maintenance fees, employee compensation, fees and
disbursements of counsel and other charges in connection with obtaining and maintaining accreditation and compliance with Law and
the assertion of and defense against any claims arising in connection with the Transactions).
“ Forbes ” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
“ Forbes Competitor ” means a Person that, directly or indirectly, or through an Affiliate or Subsidiary of such Person,
competes with Forbes or of any of its Affiliates in the business media and business publishing industry.
“ Forbes Indemnitees ” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.1 .

“ Forbes Termination Event ” means (i) a material breach by Forbes of this Agreement, which breach is not cured within thirty
(30) days of receipt of notice from Licensee to Forbes, (ii) a Reputation Event, or (iii) a Bankruptcy Event with respect to Forbes.
“ Forbes Licensors ” means Forbes’ direct or indirect licensor(s).
“ FORBES Marks ” means all Marks that include the word “Forbes” that are owned or controlled by Forbes Licensors.
“ Foreign Activities ” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.10 .
“ GAAP ” means the United States generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied.
“ Governmental Authority ” means any domestic or foreign nation or government, any state, province, municipality or other
political subdivision, branch or department thereof, any court, tribunal, arbitrator, agency or other regulatory, administrative or judicial
agency, commission or any other Person exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or relating
to government, including any Educational Agency.
“ HLC ” means the Higher Learning Commission of the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools.
“ IFRS ” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2(a)(i) .
“ Indebtedness ” with respect to a Person means, without duplication, (i) all obligations for borrowed money, (ii) all obligations
evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments, (iii) all obligations under conditional sale, repurchase or other title
retention agreements, (iv) all obligations in respect of the deferred purchase price of property or services, (v) all Indebtedness of others
guaranteed by such Person, (vi) all capital lease obligations (in accordance with GAAP) and (vii) all obligations, contingent or
otherwise, as an account party in respect of letters of credit, letters of guaranty, bankers’ acceptances and similar instruments.
“ Indemnity Dispute Notice ” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.3 .
“ Initial Term ” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.1 .
“ Intellectual Property ” means the following items of intangible property: (a) patents, whether in the form of utility patents or
design patents and all pending applications for such patents; (b) trademarks, trade names, service marks, designs, logos, trade dress and
trade styles, whether or not registered, and all pending applications for registration of the same; (c) copyrights, whether or not
registered, and all pending applications for registration of the same; (d) inventions, research records, trade secrets, confidential
information, product designs, engineering specifications and drawings, technical information, formulae, customer lists, supplier lists
and market analyses; (e) Internet domain names and addresses, general use email addresses and other source identifiers; and (f)
computer programs, including computer programs embodied in semiconductor chips or otherwise embodied, and related flow-charts,
programmer notes, updates and data, whether in object or source code form.

“ Knowledge ” means, with respect to a Person, the knowledge that would be reasonably expected to be obtained after due
inquiry of any Board member or senior executive of such Person responsible for the matter in question.
“ Law ” means any constitution, treaty, statute, law (including principles of common law), code, rule, regulation, ordinance,
Order or agreement with or by any Governmental Authority, including any Education Law.
“ Liability ” means any Indebtedness, commitment, obligation or liability whether or not known, asserted, accrued, contingent
or otherwise, including those arising under any Laws, Actions or Contracts, or any Damages or equitable relief which may be imposed
in connection with the foregoing.
“ License Year ” means any calendar year during the Term of this Agreement, except that the first License Year shall run from
January 2, 2014 through December 31, 2014.
“ Licensed Activity ” means (i) Ashford’s offering through the Business School of online and in-person courses, including as
part of a Degree Program or Certificate Program in the fields of accountancy, economics, finance, management, marketing and any
other business-related field solely to students enrolled in a program culminating in the award of an associate, bachelor’s or master’s
degree or a certificate or enrolled in a course that leads to academic credit, continuing education credit or similar credit, and (ii) such
other activities as may be reasonably necessary in connection with offering such courses or that are ancillary thereto, including
promotional activities (including paid search and social media (such as Twitter/Facebook)), research activities, school store
merchandising activities of a scope that is customary for a high-caliber educational institution, and such other activities as may be
mutually agreed to by the parties from time to time.
“ Licensed Content ” means (i) text from the U.S. edition of the print magazine titled “Forbes,” “Forbes Life” and other Forbes
publications that may be mutually agreed to from time to time (“ Print Content ”), (ii) text and other content, including video, from the
website forbes.com (“ Online Content ”), and (iii) other content in the sole discretion of Forbes, including video content or digital
content located in its archives and databases. No content shall be deemed Licensed Content until Licensee has been notified by Forbes
pursuant to Section 4.4 that the content is available for use by Licensee.
“ Licensed Marks ” means the trademarks, service marks, trade dress, trade names, domain names, logos and designs set forth
in Exhibit B or other marks that Forbes designates in writing by adding such marks to a revised Exhibit B and delivering such revised
Exhibit B to Licensee.
“ Licensee ” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
“ Licensee Indemnitees ” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.2 .
“ Licensee-Requested Filings ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(a) .

“ Licensee Termination Event ” means any (i) material breach by Licensee of this Agreement, which breach is not cured
within thirty (30) days of receipt (or such other time as provided in the Agreement) of notice from Forbes, (ii) a Reputation Event, (iii) a
Conduct Default or (iv) a Regulatory Event.
“ Lien ” means any (i) mortgage, pledge, lien, attachment, charge, hypothecation, right of set-off or counterclaim, security
interest or other encumbrance, security agreement or trust securing any obligation of any Person, (ii) option, right of use, first offer or
first refusal, (iii) easement, servitude, restrictive covenant, encroachment, (iv) subordination agreement or arrangement or (v)
agreements to create or effect any of the foregoing.
“ Marks ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(b) .
“ Material Adverse Effect ” means, when used in connection with any Person, any event, circumstance, change or effect that,
with or without the receipt of notice or the passage of time, is or is reasonably likely to be materially adverse to the business, condition
(financial or other), assets, liabilities or results of operations of such Person.
“ Mediator ” means, an independent and reputable third party selected by the mutual consent of the Parties (not to be
unreasonably withheld or delayed), knowledgeable and experienced in trademark-related matters, who will facilitate a confidential
review of the facts and circumstances and assist the parties with reaching a resolution.
“ Online Content ” has the meaning set forth in the definition of Licensed Content.
“ Ordinary Course ” means the ordinary course of the activities of Licensee consistent with the past practices thereof.
“ Order ” means any order, writ, injunction, award, judgment, decision, directive, decree, ruling or assessment of any
Governmental Authority.
“ Organizational Documents ” means, with respect to an entity, such entity’s certificate or articles of organization, formation,
incorporation or association, bylaws, regulations of the Board and operating agreement (including limited liability company, partnership
and shareholder agreements), in each case as modified and in effect from time to time.
“ Other Required Filings ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(a) .
“ Performance Targets ” means with respect to the Initial Term, Forbes having received an aggregate amount of Royalties
(giving effect to payments of the Minimum Guaranteed Amounts) of at least $ [***] during the Initial Term.
“ Permits ” means all permits, certificates, licenses, approvals, governmental franchises, accreditations and other authorizations
under applicable Law.
“ Person ” means any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, limited liability
company, unlimited liability company, trust, unincorporated organization, nonprofit entity, Governmental Authority or any other legal
entity.
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“ Print Content ” has the meaning set forth in the definition of Licensed Content.
“ Recipient ” has the meaning set forth in the definition of Confidential Information.
“ Records ” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2(a)(i) .
“ Regulatory Event ” means (i) the termination or loss of Ashford’s eligibility to receive Title IV Funds or participate in Title
IV Programs by the DOE, (ii) Ashford is no longer accredited by a regional or national accreditor of higher education institutions, or
(iii) a regulatory development with respect to Bridgepoint, Ashford or the Business School that would reasonably be expected to
prevent the continued conduct of the Licensed Activity.
“ Renewal Term ” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.1 .
“ Representatives ” means, with respect to a Person, such Person’s officers, directors, managers, employees, agents, direct and
indirect equity holders, accountants, counsel, advisors, financing sources and other representatives.
“ Reputation Event ” means any changes, circumstances or events that materially and adversely reflect on the reputation or
value of the Licensed Marks, as determined in consultation with a Mediator.
“ Required Approvals ” means any consent, approval, order, notice, authorization or other filing required to be made with or
obtained from any Educational Agency in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of the Transaction Documents and
the consummation of the Transactions.
“ Required Disclosure ” means any event required to be reported in public filings by Licensee pursuant to either the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
“ Retention Period ” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2(a) .
“ Revenue ” means the revenue recognized by Licensee in accordance with U.S. GAAP during a given time period that is
derived from students of Ashford’s Business School who are enrolled in a program in the fields of accountancy, economics, finance,
management, marketing and any other business-related field, both online and in-person, culminating in the award of an associate,
bachelor’s, master’s, or doctoral degree or a certificate. For avoidance of doubt, U.S. GAAP revenue from students enrolled in a
business program who take classes outside the business school (e.g. general education credits) will be deemed part of Revenue and U.S.
GAAP revenue from students enrolled in non- business program who take classes inside the business school will be deemed not part of
Revenue. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Revenue also includes any income, fees or sales generated through the association of the
Forbes brand with an activity of Licensee, including sale of merchandise, services, non-degree continuing education studies, event
sponsorships, attendee fees and other such activities, even if such income, fees or sales are not derived from students enrolled in degree
or certificate-granting programs of the Business School; provided , however , if the amount of such income, fees and sales generated
through the association of the Forbes brand with the activities of Licensee that are not derived

from students enrolled in degree or certificate-granting programs of the Business School is less than $ [***] in a given License Year,
such income, fees and sales shall not be included in Revenue.
“ Royalties ” means, with respect to a License Year, the sum of (i) the product of (A) the Revenue for such License Year times
(B) the applicable Royalty Percentage for such License Year.
“ Royalty Percentage ” means: (a) with respect to the first four (4) License Years of the Initial Term, [***] percent ( [***] %);
(b) with respect to the next four (4) License Years of the Initial Term, [***] percent ( [***] %); and (c) with respect to the final four (4)
License Years of the Initial Term and all License Years thereafter, [***] percent ( [***] %).
“ Royalty Payment ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(b)(iii) .
“ Royalty Statement ” means, with respect to a License Year, a written statement, certified by an officer of Licensee, setting
forth a detailed computation of the Royalty Payment for such License Year, including (i) a statement of the Revenue for such License
Year and (ii) the applicable Royalty Percentage used to compute the Royalties.
“ Rules ” has the meaning set forth in Section 12.3(a) .
“ Schedules ” means the Disclosure Schedules to this Agreement, in the form agreed to and delivered by the parties at least
three (3) Business Days prior to the date hereof.
“ Signing Payment ” means $15 million.
“ Specified Action ” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1(f) .
“ Subsidiary ” means, with respect to a Person, any other Person Controlled by such Person.
“ Surviving Sections ” means Sections 2.2 , 2.3 , 2.4(c) , 3.7 , 4.2 , 4.3 , 4.5(c) , 5.1 , 5.2 , 7.2 , , 8.2 , 8.3 , 9 , 10 , 11 (for three
(3) years following the end of the Term) and 12 , and any other provision that, by its terms, contemplates survival past the termination
or expiration of this Agreement.
“ Tax ” means (i) all domestic or foreign federal, state, local, provincial, territorial or municipal taxes, charges, fees, imposts,
levies or other assessments, including all net income, alternative minimum, gross receipts, wind-fall profits, production, capital, paid-up
capital, sales, goods and services, use, ad valorem , value-added, transfer, transaction, franchise, profits, inventory, capital stock,
license, greenmail, withholding (including Liability as a withholding agent), payroll, employment insurance, social security,
unemployment, worker’s compensation, welfare, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, premium, escheat, environmental, property and
estimated taxes, customs duties, other taxes, fees, levies, tariffs, assessments and charges of any kind whatsoever; and all interest,
penalties, fines, additions to tax or other additional amounts imposed by any taxing authority with respect thereto, whether disputed or
not, and (ii) any amount described in clause (i) for which a Person is liable (A) as a transferee or successor, (B)
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under Treas. Reg. § 1.1502-6, any comparable provision of Law or otherwise through operation of Law or (C) as a result of any tax
sharing, tax indemnity or tax allocation agreement, or any other express or implied agreement to indemnify any other Person, or by
contract or otherwise.
“ Term ” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.1 .
“ Territory ” means worldwide to the extent that Forbes has the right to grant the licenses set forth herein with respect to the
Licensed Marks or Licensed Content, as applicable, and subject to Section 7.10 .
“ Third Party Claim ” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.3 .
“ Title IV Funds ” means funds disbursed or received under the Title IV Programs.
“ Title IV Programs ” means the programs of student financial assistance authorized by Title IV of the Higher Education Act
of 1965, as amended.
“ Transaction Documents ” means this Agreement and all other documents contemplated hereby, together with all schedules,
exhibits, annexes and appendices thereto.
“ Transaction Expenses ” means all third party fees and other Expenses incurred in connection with the evaluation,
authorization, preparation, negotiation, execution and performance of the Transaction Documents, including making all filings and
notifications and obtaining all consents in connection therewith and the fees and disbursements of investment bankers, financing
sources, accountants, legal counsel, experts and other consultants and advisors.
“ Transactions ” means the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents.
“ WASC ” means the Accrediting Commission for Senior Colleges and Universities of the Western Association of Schools and
Colleges

EXHIBIT B
LICENSED MARKS
FORBES BUSINESS SCHOOL (U.S. Application Serial No. 85/511699)
FORBES SCHOOL OF BUSINESS
FORBES SCHOOL OF BUSINESS AT ASHFORD UNIVERSITY

EXHIBIT C
LICENSEE-REQUESTED FILINGS AND OTHER REQUIRED FILINGS
A. Licensee-Requested Filings :
None
B. Other Required Filings :
None

EXHIBIT D
DOMAIN NAMES
forbesbusinesseducation.biz
forbesbusinesseducation.com
forbesbusinesseducation.net
forbesbusinessschool.biz
forbesbusinessschool.com
forbescollegeofbusiness.com
forbescontinuingeducation.com
forbeseducation.biz
forbeseducation.com
forbeseducation.net
forbesexecutiveeducation.com
forbesmba.com
forbesuniversity.com
forbesschool.net
forbesschool.biz
forbesmba.net
forbescertificate.com
forbescertificate.net
forbesms.com
forbesms.net
forbesschoolofbusiness.biz
forbesschoolofbusiness.com
forbesschool.com*
forbesbusinessschool.co.uk*
forbesbusinessschool.eu*
forbesbusinessschool.net*
forbesbusinessschool.org*
forbesbusinessschool.org.uk*
forbeseducation.org*
* These URLs are in process of being registered by Forbes.

EXHIBIT E
APPROVED LOGOS AND BANNERS
[See attached]

EXHIBIT F
REQUIRED APPROVALS
None.

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (No. 333-159220, No. 333-164405, No. 333-171571, No.
333-179046, No. 333-185944 and No. 333-188738) and Form S-3 (No. 333-175724) of Bridgepoint Education, Inc. of our report dated March 17, 2014 , relating
to the consolidated financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Los Angeles, California
March 17, 2014

EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Andrew S. Clark, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Bridgepoint Education, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: March 17, 2014

/s/ ANDREW S. CLARK
Andrew S. Clark
President and Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Daniel J. Devine, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Bridgepoint Education, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: March 17, 2014

/s/ DANIEL J. DEVINE
Daniel J. Devine
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of Bridgepoint Education, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2013, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), each of the undersigned hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange
Act"); and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: March 17, 2014

/s/ ANDREW S. CLARK
Andrew S. Clark,
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Dated: March 17, 2014

/s/ DANIEL J. DEVINE
Daniel J. Devine,
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

This certification shall not be deemed "filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section. This
certification shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except to the
extent specifically incorporated by the Company into such filing.
A signed original of this certification has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission or its staff upon request.

Exhibit 99.1

Disclosure pursuant to Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
Pursuant to Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Bridgepoint Education, Inc. (the “Registrant”), may be required to disclose in our annual and
quarterly reports to the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), whether the Registrant or any of its “affiliates” knowingly engaged in certain activities,
transactions or dealings relating to Iran or with certain individuals or entities targeted by US economic sanctions. Disclosure is generally required even where the
activities, transactions or dealings were conducted in compliance with applicable law. Because the SEC defines the term “affiliate” broadly, it includes any entity
under common “control” with us (and the term “control” is also construed broadly by the SEC).
The description of the activities below has been provided to the Registrant by Warburg Pincus LLC (“WP”), affiliates of which: (i) beneficially own more than
10% of the Registrant’s outstanding common stock and/or are members of its board of directors and (ii) beneficially own more than 10% of the equity interests of,
and have the right to designate members of the board of directors of, Endurance International Group (“EIG”) and Santander Asset Management Investment
Holdings Limited, (“SAMIH”). EIG and SAMIH may therefore be deemed to be under common “control” with the Registrant; however, this statement is not
meant to be an admission that common control exists.
As to EIG:
The disclosure below relates solely to activities conducted by EIG and its affiliates. The disclosure does not relate to any activities conducted by the Registrant or
by WP and does not involve the Registrant’s or WP’s management. Neither the Registrant nor WP has had any involvement in or control over the disclosed
activities of EIG, and neither the Registrant nor WP has independently verified or participated in the preparation of the disclosure. Neither the Registrant nor WP is
representing as to the accuracy or completeness of the disclosure nor do we or WP undertake any obligation to correct or update it.
The Registrant understands that EIG intends to disclose in their next annual or quarterly SEC report that:
“Our business activities are subject to various restrictions under U.S. export controls and trade and economic sanctions laws, including the U.S. Commerce
Department’s Export Administration Regulations and economic and trade sanctions regulations maintained by the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign
Assets Control, or OFAC. If we fail to comply with these laws and regulations, we could be subject to civil or criminal penalties and reputational harm. In
addition, if our third-party resellers fail to comply with these laws and regulations in their dealings, we could face potential liability or penalties for violations.
Furthermore, U.S. export control laws and economic sanctions laws prohibit certain transactions with U.S. embargoed or sanctioned countries, governments,
persons and entities.
Although we take precautions to prevent transactions with U.S. sanctions targets, we have in the past identified limited instances of non-compliance with these
rules and believe we have taken appropriate corrective actions in such instances. For example, on May 1, 2013, during a routine compliance scan of our new and
existing subscriber accounts, we discovered a new subscriber account that was created on April 6, 2013 with information matching ORT France, identified by
OFAC as a Specially Designated National, or SDN, under the Global Terrorism Sanctions Regulations, 31 C.F.R. Part 594. We had charged the subscriber
$114.10 for web hosting and domain name registration services at the time the account was opened and without knowledge of any SDN issue. Upon discovery of
the potential SDN match, we promptly suspended the subscriber account, deactivated the website, locked the domain name to prevent it from being transferred and
ceased providing services to the subscriber. We also promptly reported the potential SDN match to OFAC. To date, we have not received any correspondence
from OFAC regarding the matter.
Although we have implemented compliance measures that are designed to prevent transactions with U.S. sanction targets, there is risk that in the future we or our
resellers could provide our solutions or services to such targets despite such compliance measures. This could result in negative consequences to us, including
government investigations, penalties and reputational harm.
Changes in our solutions or changes in export and import regulations may create delays in the introduction and sale of our solutions in international markets,
prevent our subscribers with international operations from deploying our solutions or, in some cases, prevent the export or import of our solutions to certain
countries, governments or persons altogether. Any change in export or import regulations, shift in the enforcement or scope of existing regulations, or change in
the countries, governments, persons or technologies targeted by such regulations, could result in decreased use of our solutions or decreased ability to export or sell
our solutions to existing or potential subscribers with international operations. Any decreased use of our solutions or limitation on our ability to export or sell our
solutions could adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.”

As to SAMIH:
The disclosure below relates solely to activities conducted by SAMIH and its non-U.S. affiliates. The disclosure does not relate to any activities conducted by the
Registrant or by WP and does not involve our or WP’s management. Neither the Registrant nor WP has had any involvement in or control over the disclosed
activities of SAMIH, and neither the Registrant nor WP has independently verified or participated in the preparation of the disclosure. Neither the Registrant nor
WP is representing to the accuracy or completeness of the disclosure nor do we or WP undertake any obligation to correct or update it.
The Registrant understands that SAMIH’s affiliates intend to disclose in their next annual or quarterly SEC report that an Iranian national, resident in the U.K.,
who is currently designated by the U.S. and the U.K. under the Iran Sanctions regime, holds two investment accounts with Santander Asset Management UK
Limited, a subsidiary of SAMIH and part of the Banco Santander group. The accounts have remained frozen throughout 2013. The investment returns are being
automatically reinvested, and no disbursements have been made to the customer. Total revenue in connection with the investment accounts in 2013 was £247 and
net profits in 2013 were negligible relative to the overall profits of Banco Santander, S.A.

